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Final Determination, Pauc:atuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

INTRODUCTION 

Administrative History. 

Administrative Hi.itoJ)! a/the Proposed Finding. The Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians of 
Connecticut, the offic ial name of the group (hereinafter cited as PEP) I submitted a letter of intent 
to petition for Federal acknowledgment on June 20, 1989, and was assigned #113 by the Bureau 
ofIndian Affairs (BLA.). After consideration and notification of petitioner #35, the Eastem 
Pequot Indians of Connecticut, and other petitioners on the "ready, waiting for active 
consideration" list, the Assistant Secretary - Indian Affairs (AS-IA) on April 2, 1998, waived the 
priority provisions of 25 CFR 83.1 OC d) in order to consider the petition of the Paucatuck Eastern 
Pequot Indians of =:onnecticut (Petitioner #1 13) simultaneously with petition #35, under the 
authority granted to the Secretary in 25 CFR 1.2, and delegated to the AS-IA in 290 OM 8.1, 
based on a finding that the waiver was in the best interest of the Indians. The proposed finding 
for this case in favJf of acknowledgment was signed March 24, 2000. 2 The administrative 
history of the petit [on to that date was presented in the Summary under the Criteria for the 
proposed finding (PEP PF) and summarized in the notice of the proposed finding published in 
the Federal Regist?r on March 31, 2000 (65 FR 17294-17299). 

Administrative History since the Proposed Finding. 

Extensions. From the date of issuance of the proposed findings, the comment period under the 
regulations expirec September 27,2000. At the request of the State of Connecticut (Blumenthal 
to Gover 8115/2000), the comment period was extended to March 26, 200 I (Bird Bear to 
Blumenthal 9/8/201)0). Upon the request of the State for a second 180-day extension under the 
25 CFR Part 83 repiiations (Schaefer to McDivitt 3/6/2001), the Department extended the 
comment period to J llne 1, 2001 (McDivitt to Blumenthal and Baur 3/22/2001). The actual 
closing of the comment period, August 2, 2001, was established as part of the scheduling order 

IOn July 17, 1973, the "Authentic Eastern Pequot Indians of Stonington, Conn." appointed Helen LeGault 
"to represent the Tribe In the Indian Affairs Council set up by public Act 73-660- ... " Bertha Brown was 
appointed as alternate (Authentic Eastern Pequot Indians 1973). This was the first usage of a specific name for the 
organization in the doc Jments submitted in evidence. 

As of June 12, 1977, the organization was using the name: "The Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut, 
Inc." (Geer to Commis!;ioneT of Environmental Protection 6/12/1977; Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut, Inc. 
Minutes 6/12/1977). Tlis name was still used on September 18, 1978 (LeGault, Brown, and Edwards to CIAC 
9/18/1978 ). 

As ofNoveml:er I, 1979, the group was using the name "Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians of 
Connecticut" (Geer to Grasso 1111/1979). This name has remained in use until the present. 

2It should be nJted that on June 10, 1999, AS-IA Kevin Gover visited petitioner # 113 and spoke with its 
Council (PEP Minutes <;12411 999; PEP Comments 8/4/200 I, Ex. 94). 
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Final Determination, Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

entered by the Fderal District Court for Connecticut as part of the litigation in this case (see 
below). 

On the Record Technical Assistance Meeting. At the request of the State of Connecticut, the 
BIA held an On the Record Technical Assistance Meeting in regard to the EP and PEP proposed 
findings on August 8 and 9, 2000. The proceedings at this meeting were transcribed by a court 
reporter and mad(~ available to both petitioners and the interested parties. Since issuance of the 
proposed finding~, thle BIA has also provided informal technical assistance to both petitioners 
and to the State 0° Connecticut. 

Informal Technical Assistance Conference Calls. At the request of the State of Connecticut, the 
BIA conducted infcJrmal technical assistance, in the form of a telephone conference call, on July 
10 and July 11,2(101, each day from 1:00 - 4:30 p.m. Petitioners and other third parties 
participated in these conference calls. Both the State of Connecticut and attorneys for PEP 
provided transcrir tions of this informal technical assistance to the Department in accordance 
with the Court's s~heduling order. 

The BIA additionally provided informal technical assistance to each of the petitioners and their 
researchers prior t::l the filing of the litigation (for the litigation, see below). 

Provision of Mate "lars Requested under FOIA. The State of Connecticut filed its first request 
under the Freedom ofInformation Act (FOIA) for copies of the petitions, exhibits and other 
materials concerning the petitioners by letter dated January 31, 1992, which was responded to on 
March 25, 1992. During the State's on-site review of the files on March 31, 1998, copies of 
documents were p·ovided. Subsequent requests for documents under the FOIA from the State 
concerning these retitions occurred in 1998 (4/611998; 41911998; 8/2711998), twice in 1999 
(3/2/1999 and 3126/1999) and a number of times in 2000. Through counsel Perkins & Coie, 
certain towns in Cmnlecticut requested documents under the FOIA in March 1998 and 
subsequently, in 2000, joined in the State's requests for documents. The Towns of North 
Stonington, Ledya ~d, and Preston reviewed documents on site on February 10 and 11, 2000. 
Similarly, petitioner PEP requested documents associated with the petitions in 1999 and 2000 
and petitioner EP filed requests under FOIA in 2000. Due to the voluminous nature of the 
documents requested, and the requirements to protect certain privacy interests, the Department 
was providing the·equested documents in installments. 

On January 19, 20(1I, the State of Connecticut and the Towns of North Stonington, Ledyard and 
Preston filed suit Connecticut v. Dept. of the Interior, (D.Conn. 2001) (No. 3:01-CV-88-AVC) 
and both petitioners intervened. Negotiations for a time schedule to produce the remaining 
petition documents ensued, leading to a court ordered schedule for production of documents not 
otherwise exempt from disclosure by May 4, 2001. Final installments of documents were 
provided to the PE? and EP by letters dated April 13, 2001, and to the State and Towns by letter 
dated April 27, 20C1. On May 3, 2001, the Department informed the court that it had complied 
with the schedulin~; order. 

2 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement PEP-V001-D006 Page 8 of 207 



Final Determination, Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

Under the regulations, interested parties must serve their comments on the proposed findings on 
the petitioners. 2: CFR § 83.1 OU). The Department informed the two petitioners that they were 
considered intere!,ted parties in each other's petitions, and must serve their comments on each 
other. The two pditioners agreed among themselves to not serve certain material on each other 
(Stipulation dated July 9, 2001, Durocher, Jr., and Mirro), and the PEP agreed to serve 11011-

confidential copies of its comments on the parties in the litigation (Durocher, Jr., to Coen 
7/30/2001; Duroc ~er, Jr., to Coen 8/28/2001). 

The State of Conne:cticut filed on August 3, 2001, a request under the FOIA for the material 
submitted by the EP on August 2, 2001, as a comment on the proposed findings. The State filed 
an additional request for the reply comments submitted on September 4,2001, by the EP. The 
State also requestfd the comments which PEP withheld from the State as privacy material. The 
Department was n~sponding to these requests in installments (Coen to Blumenthal 8113/2001; 
Coen to Blumenthal 8/28/2001; Co en to Blumenthal 10115/2001) when the State, on 
November 2, 2001, put these requests on hold (except as to "Box 7 of the August 2 comments"), 
as the EP agreed to provide the State access and copies of certain of its submissions (Cobb to 
Coen e-mail 11102/10 I; Cobb to Tobin 11127/200 I). PEP also requested copies of documents 
submitted by EP d llring the week of August L 200 I, which request was narrowed substantially 
on December 13, ~ 00 I, and addressed through subsequent correspondence. 

Petitioner's Comments on the Proposed Finding. 3 Petitioner #113 (PEP) submitted its 
comments on the r:roposed finding on July 31, 200 I (officially dated August 2, 200 I). This 
consisted of Comn: ents on the Proposed Finding to Acknowledge that the Paucatuck Eastern 
Pequot Indian Trilal Nation Exists as an Indian Tribe within the Meaning of the Federal Law, 
Introduction & Chapters 1-4; seven three-ring binders containing 120 exhibits, most of which 
were multi-part; and six three-ring binders containing genealogical reports and documentation. 

EP and PEP Comments on their own Proposed Findings also Utilized as Comments on the 
Proposed Finding 10 the Other Petition. The Department determined that since petition #35, EP, 
and petition #113, PEP, were being considered simultaneously and because the issues in each 
case, such as whetf er there was a single tribe and whether the Sebastians were part of it, directly 
affected the other, each petitioner's response to its own proposed finding would also be treated 
as comments on thf other petitioner's proposed finding. The EP Comments consisted of a 
narrative, Being an Indian in Connecticut: The Eastern Pequot Tribe of Connecticut's Comments 
on the Proposed Fi,1ding of the Branch of Acknowledgment and Recognition of A1arch 2000, 

-----------
3BAR prepared detailed preliminary inventories of all submissions. Copies of these preliminary 

inventories are availabll: to the public upon request. 
Both petitionels and the Towns had also submitted materials which were received by the BIA prior to 

issuance of the proposed findings, but too late to be used by the BIA staff in preparing the evaluations and 
recommendations for those proposed findings. Those materials have been used in preparing the final 
determinations on the E P and PEP petitions. 

3 
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Final Determination, Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticllt 

several supplemc ntary rcports, and several boxes of supporting documentation (for additional 
detail, see the final determination for petitioner #35). 

Third Party Com ?lents. The State of Connecticut submitted State oj Connecticut to United 
States Department oj the Interior. Bureau oj Indian Affairs. Branch oj Acknowledgment and 
Research. In re Federal Acknowledgment Petition oJthe Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut. 
in re Federal Acknowledgment Petition of the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot indians of Connecticut. 
Comments of the State of Connecticut on the Proposed Findings . .. August i. 2001 with an 
appendix and a si ngle binder of supporting documentation. 

The Towns of North Stonington, Ledyard, and Preston, Connecticut, submitted comments 
consisting of a na rrative and a box of exhibits (Analysis of the Eastern Pequot and Paucatuck 
Eastern Pequot T-ibal Acknowledgment Petitions under 25 C.F.R. Part 83 and Comments on the 
Proposed Findin~s. A Report Submitted to the Bureau of Indian Affairs, Branch of 
Acknowledgment '1f1d Research, by the Towns of North Stonington, Ledyard, and Preston, 
Connecticut. August 2001). The Towns of North Stonington, Ledyard, and Preston had 
previously submitted materials which are being considered for the final determinations. 4 

40n Decemt er 18, 1998, the law firm of Perkins Coie submitted comments on both petitions (#35 and 
#113) on behalf of the: Towns of Ledyard, North Stonington, and Preston, Connecticut (Baur and Martin to Fleming 
1211 5/1998). This co Tlmmt consisted primarily of a report by James P. Lynch, "A Report on the Lineage Ancestry 
of the Eastern and Pa'vcatuck [sic] Pequot Indians; An Independent Survey and Analysis .... " (Lynch 1998a). 
Perkins Coie submitted additional material on February 5, 1999, which consisted primarily of an extensive 
reworking of the Brushel family section of the Lynch report (Lynch 1999; Martin and Bauer to Fleming 2/5/1999). 
The towns also submi tted documentary exhibits (Lynch 1998 Ex.). 

The Summaries under the Criteria (EP PF 2000, PEP PF 2000) for the proposed findings took into consideration 
only materials from the petitioners and third parties submitted through AprilS, 1999 (see also Towns August 2001, 
2). The submissions received subsequent to that date but prior to issuance of the proposed findings were held by the 
BIA and are considere d in this final determination. The submissions from the Towns in this category consisted of 
the following, as received by the BfA: 

April 19, 1999: Martir and Baur to Fleming 4/1611 999; "Genealogical Record of the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot 
Indians: An Independnlt Research Report of the Gardner Lineage prepared by Kathleen Siefer On the Behalf of the 
towns of Ledyard, NOith Stonington and Preston. April 1999"; Exhibits, Items 2-58. 

May 26, 1999: Martin and Baur to Fleming 5120/1999; "Genealogical Record of the Eastern Pequot Indians. 
Independent Research report of the Sebastian (Brushel) Lineage Prepared by Kathleen Siefer On the Behalf of the 
Towns of Ledyard, Ncrth Stonington and Preston. May 1999"; Exhibits, Items 1-62. 

July 8, 1999: Martin and Baur to Fleming 7/1/1999; "A Report on the Lineage Ancestry of the Eastern and 
Pawcatuck [sic] Pequot Indians: An Independent Survey and Discussion ofthe Fagins Lineage prepared by James 
P. Lynch On the Behalf of the Towns of Ledyard, North Stonington and Preston. June 1999"; Documents; 
"Historical Chronolog:' Eastern Pequot/Pawcatuck [sic] Pequot 1638-1993 by James P. Lynch (Updated July 1, 
1999). 

July 19, 1999: Martin ~.nd Baur to Fleming 7/1211 999; list of documents; "Chronology of StoningtonlN. Stonington 

4 
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In an undated letter to R. Lee Fleming, Branch Chief, BAR, associated with a submission on its 
own behalf made in September 2001, petitioner #228, the Wiquapaug Eastern Pequot Tribe 
requested "intere~,ted party" rather than "informed party" status in regard to petitions #35 and 
#1 13 (Wiquapau~ to Fleming [c. 9/112001]). The BIA has prepared a preliminary inventory of 
petitioner #228's :;ubmissions on its own behalf.s To the best of the BIA's knowledge, petitioner 
#228 did not serv,~ these items on petitioner #35 and petitioner #113. Therefore, they do not 
constitute forn1al ~ornments on the proposed findings. 

Petitioner's Response to Third Party Comments. The petitioner submitted Response to 
Comments from I'llird Parties on the proposed Finding to acknowledge that the Paucatuck 
Eastern Pequot Ir. dian Tribal Nation Exists as an Indian Tribe within the Meaning of the 
Federal Law, Introduction & Chapters 1-6 accompanied by additional binders containing 
Exhibits 1-50 and 51-70 on September 4, 2001.6 

Impact of Litigati,)ll. On January 19, 2001, the State of Connecticut and the Towns of North 
Stonington, LedYHrd and Preston filed suit against the Department of the Interior in the District 
Court of Connecticut making allegations regarding procedural deficiencies at the proposed 
finding stage oftre Eastern Pequot and Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Federal acknowledgment 
process and allege tions under the Freedom of Information Act. Complaint for Declaratory and 
Injunctive Relief, Connecticut v. Dept. of the Interior, (D.Conn. 2001) (No. 3:01-CV-88-AVC). 

The Paucatuck Eastern Pequot filed a motion to intervene on February 27, 2001, and on March 
2, 2001, filed a motion for a temporary restraining order, seeking to prevent the withdrawal or 
amendment of the proposed findings concerning their tribal status and seeking to prevent an 
extension of the comment period. The Eastern Pequot also filed a motion to intervene as a 
defendant on March 2, 200 I . 

The Department, ~;tate, and Towns proposed to the Court a schedule for the Department to 
respond to the out:;tanding FOIA requests. Under the subsequent March 30, 200 I, court order, 
the Department wa~; to respond to outstanding FOIA requests by May 4 and the comment period 

Pequot Ancestry by y,:ars Reported"; Documents. 

August 2, 1999: Congdon, Johnson and Mullane to Fleming 8/2/1999; attachments. 

sPreliminary Inventory of Material Submitted to BIA. Wiquapaug Eastern Pequot Petition #228. 
Material received by HlA 9115/2000. Supplementary submission received by BIA 9/2012000. Supplementary 
submission received by BIA 1011 012000. Supplementary submission received by BIA 3/29/200 I Compiled by 
Virginia DeMaree, 28 February 2001; updated 3 April 2001. 

6Many ofthe5e exhibits duplicated items that had previously been submitted. The petitioner included a 
numbered listing (PEF Comments to Comments 9/4/2001, List of Exhibits i-vii) which is categorical rather than 
item-by-item in many cases (e.g., "Exhibit #40, CIAC Correspondence Relating to the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot 
Tribe"). This listing does not contain page counts for the individual exhibits. 

5 
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was to close 90 dClys from the FOIA response. The Court ordered defendant intervenors 30 days 
in which to file th;:ir reply to the comments and ordered a final determination within 90 days. 
The Department moved to dismiss the lawsuit on April 16, 2001. The Department responded to 
outstanding FOIA requests by April 27, informed the Court of its compliance on May 3, 200 I, 
and extended the comment period to July 26, consistent with the court order. Federal defendants 
also moved for reconsideration of the March 30, 2001, order. At the initiation of the State of 
Connecticut, the parties stipulated on July 7, 2001, with approval of the Court, that the comment 
period would closl~ August 2, 2001. 

On August 21, Juc ge Covello denied in part the Department's motion for reconsideration of the 
Court's scheduling order. Without addressing any of the legal arguments, the Court left intact 
the requirement th1t the Department start consideration for the final determination within 30 
days of the close of the reply period, but modified the order as to the date for the final 
detemlination. As modified, the order provided that the Department would file a status report 
projecting the date of the final determination. If the date fell beyond 60 days, the report was 
subject to commen t by the parties and a court ordered status conference. 

The Eastern Pequots requested an additional 30 days in which to respond to the comments from 
the State and Towns on August 30, 200l. Judge Covello denied this request. Thus, the response 
period closed on S,~ptember 4, 2001, and the BIA, as obligated by the court order, began 
consideration with: n 30 days of the close of the comment periods. 

On October 24, 2001, the Department submitted a status report to the Court, under the Court's 
modified March 3C'h order, projecting a date of June 4, 2002, for issuance of the final 
determinations on EP and PEP petitions for Federal acknowledgment. The Federal defendants 
agreed to submit a second status report on April 23, 2002, informing the Court whether the 
Department continlled to project June 4, 2002, as the date for issuance of final determinations. 
None of the other parti,;!s objected to the Federal defendants' projected date. 

On March 29, 2002, the Court issued an order denying the Federal defendants' motion to dismiss 
without prejudice to its re-submission after the defendants have issued the final determination on 
the two petitions for Federal acknowledgment. On April 9, 2002, the Department filed a motion 
to amend the March 29, 2002, court order which motion was granted. 

Preparation oj Find Determination. The BIA, upon evaluating other responsibilities and 
obligations to other petlitioners, indicated to the court a projected date of June 4, 2002, for 
issuance of the fina, determinations on petitions #35 (EP) and #113 (PEP). Subsequently, on 
May 23, 2002, the InA notified the Court that the projected date was modified to June 25, 2002. 
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Final Detennination Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

Overview of the Proposed Finding 

Determinations as to Weight a/the Evidence. The AS-lA's decision to recognize PEP and EP 
was based in part on the continuous existence of a state-recognized group with a reservation. On 
this basis, he con:luded that greater weight should be given to the evidence than would 
otherwise be the I:ase. The proposed finding stated this conclusion in part as: 

Impact of Continuous Historical State Acknowledgment since Colonial Times 
upon the Evaluation of the Evidence. Because the petitioners are, singly and 
together, the continuation of a historically state-recognized tribe whose 
relationshp with the state of Connecticut goes back to the early 1600's, 
possessing a common reservation, this evidence provides a common backbone 
and consi~ tent backdrop for interpreting the evidence of continued tribal 
existence. When weighed in combination with this historical and continuous 
circumstance, evidence on community and political influence carries greater 
weight tha t would be the case under circumstances where there was not evidence 
of a contir.uous longstanding relationship with the state based on being a distinct 
political c1)mmunity. Members of the tribe occupied a somewhat different status 
than non-Indians within Connecticut. The greater weight is assigned for the 
following reas.ons in combination: 

• The histc,rical Eastern Pequot tribe has maintained a continuous historical 
governmellt-to-govemment relationship with the State of Connecticut since 
colonial times; 

• The histe rical Eastern Pequot tribe had a state reservation established in colonial 
times, and has retained its land area to the present; 

• The historical Eastern Pequot tribe had members enumerated specifically as 
tribal members on the Federal Census, Special Indian Population Schedules, for 
1900 and 191 O. 

Past Federal acknowledgment decisions under 25 CFR Part 83 provide no 
precedents for dealing with a tribe which is presently state recognized with a state 
recognized reservation and has been so continuously since early colonial times. 
The closes! parallel is Maine, where the Federal government in the 
Passamaquoddy case stipulated to tribal existence, based on the historical state 
relationship.. That precedent provides guidance in this matter. The Department is 
not applyirg a different standard of tribal existence. Rather, the evidence, when 
weighed in the context of this continuous strong historical relationship, carries 
greater weight (PEP PF 2000, 64). 
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Final Determination, Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

The proposed findings invited and urged the petitioners and third parties to comment on the 
added weight giv ~n to evidence based on continuous state recognition under the above narrowly 
defined circumst,nces. 

Conclusions undEr the Mandatory Criteria. In regard to the individual mandatory criteria, the 
proposed finding was summarized in an executive summary (PEP PF 2000, 62-64). The 
conclusions unde· each criterion were as follows: 

• Criterior 83 .. 7(a). The combination of the various forms of evidence, taken in 
historical~ontext, provide sufficient external identification of the Eastern Pequot 
as an Am~rican Indian entity from 1900 until the present, and of the petitioner as 
a group w 1ich has existed within that entity. Therefore, the petitioner meets 
criterion 83.7(a). (PEP PF 2000,67) . 

• Criterion 83.7(b). The historical Eastern Pequot tribe, which includes the 
petitioner 1S one of its component subgroups, meets criterion 83.7(b) through 
1973 (PEF' PF 2000, 97). 

For the pe·iod since 1973, the evidence now in the record is not sufficient to 
determine that there is only one tribe with two factions (these being the Eastern 
Pequot Inc!ians of Connecticut (petitioner #35) and the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot 
Indians of Connecticut (petitioner # 113». The Department consequently makes 
no specific finding for the period 1973 to the present (PEP PF 2000, 63). 

• Criterion 83. 7( c). The historical Eastern Pequot tribe, which includes the 
petitioner as one of its component subgroups, meets criterion 83.7(c) through 
1973. (PEP PF 2000, 120). 

For the period since 1973, the evidence now in the record is not sufficient to 
detennine that there is only one tribe with two factions (these being the Eastern 
Pequot Indians of Connecticut (petitioner #35) and the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot 
Indians of Connecticut (petitioner #113». The Department consequently makes 
no specific finding for the period 1973 to the present (PEP PF 2000, 63). 

• Criterion 83.7(d). The petitioner has submitted its Articles of Government, 
dated July 18, 1993 (Articles of Government of the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot 
Indian Tribe of the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indian Reservation 1993; # 113 Pet. 
1994, Narr. Ex.). Article II of this document contains a statement on membership 
eligibility (pEP PF 2000, 121). 

Therefore, the petitioner meets criterion 83. 7( d) (PEP PF 2000, 121). 
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Final Determination, Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

• Criterion 83.7(e). Extensive genealogical material submitted by the petitioner, 
by petitior er #35, and by the third parties indicates that the petitioner's current 
members Hre descendants of Marlboro and Eunice (Wheeler) Gardner and of 
Rachel (H )xie) Jackson. As those individuals were, during their lives, members 
of the Eas1em Pequot tribe as ascertained by evidence acceptable to the Secretary, 
the descendants of these individuals descend from the historical tribe (PEP PF 
2000, 137:. 

The lines (If descent for individual families from these three key ancestors have 
been verified through the same types of records used for prior petitions: Federal 
census rec1)rds. from 1850 through 1920; public vital records of births, marriages, 
and deaths; and to a lesser extent through church records of baptisms, marriages, 
and burial~, as well as through use of state records concerning the Lantern Hill 
reservatior (PEP PF 2000, 13 7). 

The evider ce indicates that the ancestors of both petitioners, using essentially 
parallel do~umentation acceptable to the Secretary, were members of the 
historical Eastern Pequot tribe in the 19th century, and that the current members of 
both petitioners thus descend from the historical Eastern Pequot tribe. In many 
cases, Con lecticut's state records, overseer's reports, petitions, and similar 
records carried the names of direct and collateral ancestors of both petitioners on 
the same d)cuments. The petitioner meets this criterion (PEP PF 2000,63). 

• Criterion 83.7(f). No members of petitioner #113 appear to be enrolled with any 
other fedenJIy acknowledged tribe .... Therefore, the petitioner meets criterion 
83.7 (f) (PEP PF 2000, 138) . 

• Criterion 83.7(g). There is no evidence that the petitioner is subject to 
congressional legislation that has terminated or forbidden the Federal relationship 
(Resol ution of the Tribal Council of the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe, 
February 2·+, 1996; RS00003I). Therefore, the petitioner meets criterion 83.7 (g) 
(PEP PF 2(100, 138). 

The proposed findings invited and urged the petitioner and third parties to comment on the issues 
of whether there were, for the period since 1973, one or two tribes and whether the Department 
had authority to re,;ognize two tribes, given the situation analyzed for criteria 83.7(b) and 83.7(c) 
(PEP PF 2000,62). The Department provided, in the appendices to the proposed finding, 
suggestions for research and analysis that the petitioners and third parties could pursue in regard 
to the period from 1973 to the present. 

9 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement PEP-V001-D006 Page 15 of 207 



Final Detennination, Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

Bases for the Final Determination 

Evidentiary Basi:~. The evidentiary basis for the final determination consists of all 
documentation ul ilized for preparation of the proposed finding, comments and documentation 
submitted by the petitioner and third parties before the proposed findings were issued but 
received too late fix use in the proposed findings, the petitioner's response to the proposed 
finding, third par:y comments on the proposed finding, the petitioner's response to the third 
party comments, and other pertinent material collected by the BIA staff. 

Nature a/the Reevaluation of the Evidence/or the Final Determination. The proposed finding 
stated: 

The two p~titioners derive from a single historical tribe with a continuous state 
relationshl p since colonial times. As such, the modern conflicts between the two, 
which have focused on their relationship with the State of Connecticut, are 
relevant evidence for political influence, although it is unclear if it is as one tribe, 
or as two. Petitioner #35 (EP) has taken the position that there was only one tribe, 
but has no: presented sufficient evidence to demonstrate that this was the case 
after 1973, although there is some evidence that only one tribe exists within the 
meaning 0 f the regulations. Petitioner # 113 (PEP) has taken the position that the 
EP families were not of Eastern Pequot ancestry and were never part of the tribe. 
The propo:icd finding for EP concludes that the PEP position is not correct. Both 
groups derive from the historical Eastern Pequot tribe which was recognized by 
the State 0 C Connecticut. The State continues to recognize a successor to the 
historical [astern Pequot tribe, but has not taken a position as to the leaders of 
that successor (PEP PF 2000,62). 

The prop05ed positive findings for both petitioners do not prevent the 
Department, in the final determination stage, from recognizing a combined entity, 
or both pet: tioners, or either one of the current petitioners but not the other, or 
neither of Ue current petitioners, depending upon the evidence developed during 
the comme1t periods by both petitioners and all interested and informed parties, 
as verified ,md evaluated by BIA staff (PEP PF 2000, 63). 

In its response to the proposed finding, petitioner # 113, both in its Comments on the proposed 
finding (PEP Comments 8/2/2001) and its Response to third parties (PEP Response to 
Comments 9/4/2001), specifically repudiated the basis upon which the positive proposed finding 
to the year 1973 was issued. This repudiation was neither casual nor made in passing (Austin 
Introduction 8/2/2001, 3, 5, 6; PEP Comments 8/212001; Cunha to McCaleb 9/4/2001, 2; PEP 
Response to Comrr ents 9/4/2001). 7 PEP's Comments state: "The Paucatuck Eastern Pequot 

7For texts oftlte statements cited here, see below in the General Issues section. 

10 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement PEP-V001-D006 Page 16 of 207 



Final Determination, Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

Tribe believes that the Government did not fully understand the temporal and substantive depth 
of the differences between itself and petitioner #35" (Austin Introduction 8/2/2001,6; PEP 
Comments 8/2/20) 1). PEP then expanded upon this: 

Chapter 01e will present evidence demonstrating that the conflict between the 
Paucatuck Eastern Pequot tribe and the members of Petitioner #35 did not begin 
in 1973, but has existed from at least the late 1800s to the present. Collectively, 
PEP tribal members have always held the opinion that Tamar Brushell Sebastian 
was non-Ir.dian. Therefore, those who claim descent from Tamar Brushell have 
never been viewed as members the [sic] historical Eastern Pequot Tribe by the 
Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe's ancestors or current members. In fact, when 
considering all of the available evidence, there is no support for the idea that the 
Pallcatuck Eastern Pequot tribe and Petitioner #35 are two factions of a single 
tribe at an) po:int in time, before or after 1973 .... The misconception in the 
Proposed Finding, that the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe's members and the 
Sebastian family are members of the same tribe through at least 1973, has been 
consistentl/ promoted by the Sebastian family and rejected by the PEP (Austin 
Introduction 8/2/200 I, 7-8; PEP Comments 8/2/200 I). [footnotes in original 
omitted] 

PEP's emphasis w 1S on a denial of common tribal relations, stating: "It [PEP Comments 
8/212001, Austin Report II] will clearly demonstrate that PEP members have been a separate 
tribal community froml the Sebastians from at least the late 1800s to the present" (Austin 
Introduction 8/2/200 I, 9-10; PEP Comments 8121200 I), and maintaining: "There is no reliable 
evidence that provl~s the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot tribe and Petitioner #35 have ever been part 
of the same whole. Petitioner #35's members descend from a woman who never lived in tribal 
relations with the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe" (Austin I 8/2/2001, 49; PEP Comments 
8/2/2001). PEP uqed that the AS - IA acknowledge it separately: 

It is the TriJe's hope that, based upon the evidence in its original petition, the 
analysis in :hese comments on the Proposed Finding, and new evidence included 
with this submission, the AS - lA's Final Determination will respect the right of 
the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe to determine its own membership. The only 
way to do that is to acknowledge the existence of the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot 
Indian Tribal Nation as an Indian tribe in its own right, apart from Petitioner #35 
(Austin I 8/2/2001, 82; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 

Although the petiti,mer specifically repudiated the basis upon which the positive proposed 
finding was issued, it did not submit evidence to show that before 1973 its antecedents met the 
criteria independently of a full tribal unit that also contained the antecedents of petitioner #35. 
Rather, PEP stated: 
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Final Determination, Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

Because lhe Proposed Finding was positive with regard to evidence for the 
continuolls existence of the historical Eastern Pequot Tribe through the late 
I 800s, that period of time is not addressed in the Tribe's comments on the PEP 
Proposed Finding, submitted this day, August 2, 200 I. Rather, the focus in the 
comment:; is on the historical Eastern Pequot Tribe as it has continued to exist 
from the late 1800s to the present (Austin Introduction 8/2/2001, 4; PEP 
Response to Comments 8/2/2001). 

The conclusions in the proposed finding, however, did not distinguish between the bases of the 
positive finding f 'om the colonial period through the late 1800's and the bases of the positive 
finding from the late 1800's through 1973. Therefore, it has been necessary in the final 
determination to reanalyze all the evidence in the record as to whether it pertains to the 
antecedents of PE P separately from any entity which also contained the descendants of Tamar 
(Brushell) Sebastian -- and, logically, any entity which contained the known ancestors of Tamar 
(Brushell) Sebastian or included the individual in question. The responses of petitioner #113 
made only minim 11 rderence to the other family lines antecedent to petitioner #35, namely 
Fagins/Randall and Fagins/Watson.8 

The petitioner staled: "The two petitions (#35 and #113) and their supporting documentation 
should have been rl~viewed under the acknowledgment criteria separately from each other" 
(Austin Introducti:m 8/2/2001, 13; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). The petitioner also asserts that, 
"what happened with the evaluation of the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe's petition was 
unusual in that the evidence from the two petitions was apparently 'pooled' and evaluated from 
the start, under an assumption that the individuals in the two petitioning groups were so socially 
and politically reI, ted to each other that they were really one social community rather than two" 
(Austin Introduction 8/2/2001, 13; PEP Comments 8/2/2001) and that, "the result was that at any 
time a social connl~ction was found between the members of the PEP and Petitioner #35, no 
matter how tenuous, it was used to confirm the erroneous assumption that the two petitioners 
were one social and political group; that is, that they were one tribe" (Austin Introduction 
8/2/200 1, 14; PEP Comments 8/2/200 I). 

On the contrary, the manner in which the Department utilized all available evidence pertinent to 
both petitions in the evaluation process was standard methodology. The AS-IA has never, in the 
review of any petition under 25 CFR Part 83, limited the basis of the decision to supporting 
documentation pre:;ented by the petitioner. The purpose of the evaluation is to make the most 
balanced judgment possible on the basis of all available evidence pertinent to the petition under 
consideration, whe :her that evidence consists of documentation submitted by the petitioner, 
documentation sub llitted by third parties, documentation obtained by BIA researchers, or 
cumulative knowledge based on other petitions from the same geographical area. It should also 

80ne referencl! made in passing implied that PEP regards the Fagins/Watson line as having been part of the 
historical Eastern Pequ)t tribe in the 19th century (Austin Introduction 8/2/200 I, 15; PEP Comments 8/2/2001), but 
does not state the basis on which it reached this conclusion. 
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be noted (see administrative history, above) that the two petitions wcre considcred 
simultaneously at the request of PEP. 

The explanation br the pooling of genealogical information into a combined data base (Austin 
Introduction 8/2/~OOI, 13-14; PEP Comments 8/2/2001) was provided at the On the Record 
Technical Assistance Meeting (Austin Introduction 8/2/2001,14; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 
Both genealogica data bases, as submitted by petitioners #35 and #113, contained a great deal of 
information on tht~ same individuals. For example, the genealogical data base submitted by PEP 
for the proposed finding listed 121 individuals with the surname Sebastian and numerous other 
Sebastian descenc ants (for example, Alton Smith and Sarah Emeline Swan). It was 
consequently most efficient for the BIA to combine the data. 9 

The petitioner stales that the proposed findings were "issued on the basis of the combined 
database" (Austin Introduction 8/2/2001, 15; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). This is not the case. 
The great majorit~1 of the material used for evaluation of the petition in the proposed finding­
for example, all 0' the: material for criterion 83.7(a) - was not in the genealogical Family Tree 
Maker for Windolvs (FTM) data base at all, because it was not genealogical data. 

The summaries of the Towns' and other parties' comments may not reflect every possible twist, 
tum and variation that the parties put into them, but they have nonetheless been reviewed and 
considered. The ~,tate: and the Towns have reiterated negative specific factual conclusions statcd 
in the proposed findings or the accompanying charts, as part of their argument that continllolls 
state recognition with a reservation should not accord greater weight to the existing evidence. 
Their comments also quote discussions of these conclusions which appear in the transcript of the 
two lengthy techn cal assistance meetings. Each of these specific concl usions, and the data in 
the record for the proposed finding, were reevaluated in the light of the additional data, 
arguments submitle:d, and a more complete review of the BIA interview data. Consequently, this 
final determination's review of the third party comments focuses on the new data and arguments, 
as presented by thl: petitioners and third parties. 

9 Additionally, it is misleading for petitioner # 113 to claim in this context that, "there was only one 
marriage between a St bastian descendant and a member of the historical Eastern Pequot Indian Tribe, and that was 
in the late 1800s; that s, Mary Eliza Watson (an Eastern Pequot Indian) married Calvin Sebastian" (Austin 
Introduction 8/2/200 I. 15; PEP Comments 8/2/200 I). Both the Brushell/Sebastian and the Fagins/Watson lines are 
antecedent to petitiom r #3.5 - the cited marriage, therefore, had no relevance to petitioner # I 13 's assertion that the 
BIA was deliberately lIttempting to "pool" the ancestors of PEP and EP into a single social group. 
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Important 20th Century Figures in Relationship to Family Lines 

Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Petitioner Antecedent Families 

t 
Phebe Jackson = Isaac Williams 

t t 
Agnes 

Marlboro Gardner r Eunice Wheeler 

Elma = William Edwards 
Jackson Barbara Spellman Moore 

Atwood Williams Sr. = 
(Chief Silver Star) 

! 
Atwood Williams, Jr. 

t 
Agnel Cunha, Richard Williams 

James Cunha, Jr. 

[Jackson line] [GardnerlWiIliams line] 

= sign means marriage 
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Hazel Geer Helen LeGault Pat Brown Byron Edwards 

r 
RaYfeer Sr. 

Ray Geer, Jr. 
Linda Strange 

[Gardner/Edwards line] 
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A2.breviations and/or Acronyms Used in the Final Determination 

AS-IA As:istant Secretary - Indian Affairs. 

BAR Branch of Acknowledgment and Research, Bureau of Indian Affairs. 

BIA Bureau of Indian Affairs. 

CIAC Connecticut Indian Affairs Commission. 

DEP Cor necticut Department of Environmental Protection. 

Doc. Doc ument, abbreviation used for Ex. in # 113 Pet. 1996. 

EP Easl ern Pequot Indians of Connecticut (petitioner #35). 

Ex. Documentary exhibit submitted by petitioner or third parties. 

FD Fin21 Determination. 

FR Fed,?ral Register. 

Narr. Petilion narrative. 

NP App. Narragansett Petition for Federal Acknowledgment, Appendix. 

00 Obv ous deficiencies letter issued by the BIA. 

PEP Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut (petitioner #113). 

OTR On the Record technical assistance meeting. 

PF Prop ::>sed Finding. 

TA Technical assistance letter issued by the BIA. 

Standardized Spellings 

When discussing Indian tribes and bands, and names of individuals, this Summary uses the 
current standardized spdIings. Where specific historical documents are quoted, these names are 
spelled as found in the original. 
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Important 20th Century Figures in Relationship to Family Lines 

Brushell/Sebastian 

[By children of Tamer Sebastian] 

Francisco I (brokcn into sub lines) 

Francisco II 

Phebe 
Calvin(som! 

also via Benjamin) 
Katherine 
Charles 
Ella 

Albert 
Solomon 

Moses 
Mary 
Sylvia Steadman 
Emeline Williams 

F aginslRandall 

FaginslW atson 

Eastern Pequot Petitioner 

178 

119 

118 
78 
40 
28 

141 
72 

61 
29 

0 
0 

98 

49 

(85% of total)* 

(57% of total) 

18% 

12% 

12% 
8% 
4% 
3% 

14% 
7% 

6% 
3% 
0% 
0% 

10% (of total) 

5% (of total) 

Important Figures 

Roy Sebastian Sr., Roy Sebastian 
Jr., William Sebastian, Mark 
Sebastian, Larry Sebastian, 
Ashbow Sebastian, Marcia 
Flowers 
Alton Smith, Sr. 

"Aunt Kate" (Catherine Harris) 

Solomon Sebastian, Arthur 
Sebastian Jr., Lillian Sebastian, 
Idabelle Jordan 

Alden Wilson, Lawrence Wilson 
"Aunt Syl" (Sylvia Steadman) 
"Aunt Liney" (Emeline 
Williams) 

* Approximate numbers and percentage of descendants in the present EP membership as of July 18,2001. Figures 
do not reflect ancestry through more than one Sebastian line. Subtotals rounded upwards in the percentages; results 
in a total of greater tha 1 100%. 
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Final Determination, I'aucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

SUMNIARY CONCLUSIONS CONCERNING THE HISTORICAL 
EASTERN PEQUOT TRIBE 

Introductory Statement. 

The proposed findings concluded that EP and PEP met the requirements of the regulations as a 
single tribe until 1 ~)73. They did not reach a conclusion as to whether there was a single tribe or 
two tribes after that point, but did conclude that the two petitioners overall met the requirements 
of 25 CFR Part 83. After a review of the Comments on the proposed findings and the Responses 
to the Comments, the e:vidence demonstrates that the two petitioners comprise a single tribe and 
together meet the r~qujrements for Federal acknowledgment as the historical Eastern Pequot 
tribe which has exi sled from first sustained contact with Europeans until the present. This final 
determination then fore acknowledges that the historical Eastern Pequot tribe, comprised of the 
membership of the two petitioners (EP #35 and PEP #113), exists as a tribe entitled to a 
government-to-government relationship with the United States. 

Although the two petitioners represent portions of the historical tribe which have grown 
somewhat separate socially in recent decades, this partial separation resulted from political 
conflicts which provided some of the strongest evidence in much of the 20th century that the 
tribe as a whole continued to have significant political processes which concerned issues of great 
importance to the e ltire body of Eastern Pequots. 

The Paucatuck Eas1ern Pequot submitted a response to the proposed finding which argued that 
the Secretary did nelt have the authority to merge two tribes together. This determination does 
not merge two tribes, but determines that a single tribe exists which is represented by two 
petitioners. This dEtermination acknowledges that tribe, which has existed continuously since 
first sustained cont,,:t with non-Indians. 

The Department tak es this action of acknowledging two petitioners as a single tribe because that 
is what the evidenc(~ demonstrates concerning the circumstances of these petitioners. Two 
organizations were ~stablished in recent times from the membership of a single historically and 
continuously existir.g state recognized tribe resident on a state reservation which it has occupied 
since 1683. AIthou.:;h the regulations call for the presentation of petitions from groups seeking 
acknowledgment as a tribe, and for the Department to evaluate those petitions, the fundamental 
purpose of the regulations is to acknowledge the existence of tribes. The Secretary does not 
have the authority to acknowledge a portion of a tribe, where that portion does not substantially 
encompass the body of the tribe. The Secretary does have the authority to recognize a single 
tribe in the circumstance where the tribe is represented by more than one petitioner. 
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Final Determinatioll, Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians ofConnecticlit 

Interpretation o/Evidence about the Two Petitioners. 

The evidence in the combined record shows that there has been from first sustained contact until 
the present only a single Eastern Pequot tribe socially and politically. Evidence about leaders, 
visiting, or gatherings that involve only the ancestors of one or another petitioner is evaluated as 
information about that group, in the context of a single tribe, because the overall body of 
evidence shows a single tribe. This information is not evaluated separately as evidence for or 
against one or th~ other petitioner in this conclusory section because doing so would interpret the 
past in terms of en alignment which only took its present form after the 1970's. 

Consideration of Continuous State Recognition with a Reservation. 

This final determination concludes that the State relationship with the Eastern Pequot tribe, by 
which the State since: colonial times has continuously recognized a distinct tribe with a separate 
land base providfd by and maintained by the State, and which manifested itself in the distinct, 
non-citizen statw of the tribe's members until 1973, provides an additional form of evidence to 
be weighed. Thi~, evidence exists throughout the time span, but is most important during specific 
periods where tIu other evidence in the record concerning community or political influence 
would be insufficil;!nt by itself. The continuous State relationship, although its nature varied 
from time to time, provides additional support in part because of its continuity throughout the 
entire history of t 1e Eastern Pequot tribe. 

There is implicit in this state-tribal relationship a recognition of a distinct political body, in part 
because the relati1mship originates with and derives from the Colony's relationship with a 
distinct political t ody at the time the relationship was first established. Colony and State laws 
and policies direc ~ly reflected this political relationship until the early 1800's. The distinct 
political underpinning of the laws is less explicit from the early 1800's until the 1970's, but the 
Eastern Pequot renained non-citizens of the State until 1973. The State after the early 1800's 
continued the mai n elements of the earlier relationship (legislation that determined oversight, 
established and protected land holdings, and exempted tribal lands from taxation) essentially 
without change or substantial questioning throughout this time period. 

The continuous State relationship with a reservation is not evidence sufficient in itself to meet 
the criteria. It is not a substitute for direct evidence at a given point in time or over a period of 
time. Instead this longstanding State relationship and reservation are additional evidence which, 
when added to the existing evidence, demonstrates that the criteria are met at specific periods in 
time. This is consistent with the approach taken in the regulations that in most circumstances a 
combination of evdence is used to demonstrate that a criterion is met. 
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SUlIlmary Discassloll o/the Evidence Under the Malldatory Criteria 

Criterion 83.7(a) 

External identifications by the State of Connecticut and others have identified a single Eastern 
Pequot tribe from 1900 until the present. There are no identifications of a separate EP or PEP 
entity until the cre,ltion of the now-existing organizations during the 1970's. Before 1973, the 
antecedents of the c:un'ent petitioner were mentioned, if they were distinguished at all, as 
subgroups with internal conflicts within the Eastern Pequot tribe. Since the 1973-1976 period, 
the majority of external identifications, particularly by the State of Connecticut, have continued 
to be identificatior s of a single Eastern Pequot tribe, with internal conflicts. 

Summary Conclusions for Criterion 83.7 (a). The historical Eastern Pequot tribe, comprising 
both petitioners, meets the requirements of 83. 7(a). 

Criterion 83.7(b) 

From the assignment ofMomoho as governor of the Pequots removed from Ninigret (1654) to 
the present, the Ea:;lern Pequot tribe as a whole, but not the individual EP and PEP petitioners, 
has maintained a n lmed, collective Indian identity continuously over a period of more than 50 
years, notwithstanding changes in name, This is evidence for community under section 
83. 7(b)(I )(viii) of 1 he regulations. On the sequence of petitions submitted to the State of 
Connecticut from the 1670's through the 1880's (see the proposed finding for detailed 
descriptions of eac 1), the tribe clearly identified itself, whether as "Mamohoe and the Pequits 
with him" in 1678 )r "wee the subscribers in behalf of ye Rest of Mo-mo-hoe' s men & their 
Posterity" (1723) or "Pequod Indians of ye Tribe of Momohor & living in ye Town of 
Stonington in New London County" (1749). In 1764, the petition was from the" Pequot Indians 
living at Stonington., in behalf of themselves and the rest of said Pequots," while in 1788 the 
petition to the Connecticut legislature came from "Petition of us the Subscribers Indians of the 
pequod Tribe in Stonington." In 1839, the "Petition of the undersigned respectfully sheweth that 
they are of the Peqllot tribe oflndians in the Town of North Stonington," while in 1873, they 
termed themselves the "members of the Pequot tribe of Indians of North Stonington." This 
evidence has been IIsed. throughout in combination with the individual evidence analyzed for 
community each time period. 

Colonia! Period Through 1873. 

The proposed finding concluded, consistent with precedent, using evidence acceptable to the 
Secretary, that the historical Eastern Pequot tribe met criterion 83.7(b) from the colonial period 
through 1873. A review of the evidence in the record at the time of the proposed finding and 
submitted for the final determination indicated that no significant new evidence was submitted in 
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regard to the natu]"(~ of the historical Eastern Pequot community in the colonial period or from 
the era of the Aml!rican revolution into the third quarter of the 19th century. The argumentation 
presented by the tlird parties was essentially the same as at the time of the proposed finding. It 
was not persuasiv<~, in that throughout this time period, there remained a reservation community 
with a majority of the tribal members resident in it, ifnot continuously, at least regularly, with 
the remainder oftle tribe maintaining contact. Such evidence is sufficient under 83.7(b)(2)(i). 
There is evidence, sp~~cifically petitions and overseers' reports, that the direct antecedents of 
both current petiti<Jners were a part of that historical community in the 19th century. The 
proposed finding is affirmed for this period. 

Community 1873 10 1920. 

Significant new e\idenee was submitted for the final determination concerning community 
between 1873 and 1920. New data included a legible copy of the June 26, 1873, petition in 
which the "memb~:rs of the Pequot tribe of Indians of North Stonington" remonstrated against 
sale oflands and rl~quested removal of Leonard C. Williams as overseer. The list of signers 
shows a connectio 1 between Tamar (Brushell) Sebastian and her children and other members of 
the historical Eastern Pequot tribe. Additional overseers' reports were added to the record which 
filled in the time span from the 1880's through the early 20th century. These submissions provide 
further evidence tt at tlhere was a distinct Eastern Pequot community and that this community 
included the Sebastian family. 

This final determination affirms the conclusions of the proposed finding that there was a high 
degree of marriage among the Eastern Pequot and in culturally patterned marriages of Eastern 
Pequots with Namtgansetts, Western Pequots, and other local Indians during this time period. 
No evidence or argun1i~nt was presented which changed the basic conclusions that this pattern 
existed strongly. No substantial evidence or persuasive arguments were submitted to change the 
proposed finding's conclusion that for this time period intermarriage provided substantial 
evidence of community. The kinship ties reSUlting from this intermarriage linked all of the 
component family lines which are represented in the current Eastern Pequot tribe today. 

The proposed findi ng concluded that the geographical concentration of the membership during 
this time period was close enough to facilitate social interaction and that interaction actually 
occurred. Additioral data submitted with the proposed finding concerning the geographical 
distribution of all of the Eastern Pequot confirmed the factual conclusions for this time period. 

Substantial evidenc e showing patterns of social association within the Eastern Pequot was 
presented in new alia lyses submitted in response to the proposed finding and additional 
documentary and interview evidence. New evidence in the form of data from the journals of 
Sarah (Swan) Hollmd and Catherine (Sebastian) Carpenter Harris provided contemporary data 
concerning social imeractions which supported and was consistent with data from interviews. 
This evidence was particularly significant in confirming that the social alignment of the various 

18 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement PEP-V001-D006 Page 28 of 207 



Final Determination, F'21ucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

families, antecedent to the fonnation of the current petitioners, was not strictly divided in the 
pattern that the current petitions indicate. 

Community 1920 to 1940. 

In the time period (rom 1920 to 1940, there continued to be strong evidence for community, with 
additional evidence submitted. This final detennination affinns the conclusions of the proposed 
finding that community was strongly shown by the high degree of marriage among the Eastern 
Pequot and in cuItLrally patterned marriages between Eastern Pequots and Narragansetts, 
Western Pequots, and other southeastern Connecticut and southwestern Rhode Island Indians 
during this time period. No evidence or argument was presented which changed the basic 
concl usions that thi s pattern strongly existed. 

Additional evidenc: about visiting patterns among the Sebastians during this time period 
confinns the existe1ce of social cohesion among that portion of the Eastern Pequot. A review of 
existing and additicnal documentary and interview evidence also clearly indicates social ties 
between the Sebast ans and other major family lines, the Jacksons and Fagins/Randall lines, 
during this period. 

Substantial additior.al evidence concerning Fourth Sunday meetings, prayer and social 
gatherings, was submitted in response to the proposed findings. This evidence demonstrated that 
the meetings occurred regularly and involved a cross section of the Eastern Pequot tribe. 
Attendance by members of the Brushell/Sebastian, Fagins/RandaJl, and Hoxie/Jackson lines was 
independently corrc,borated. The Fourth Sunday meetings were held from the mid 19 I O's 
through at least the later 1930's. They appear, further, to be a continuance of religious meetings 
of a similar charact(~r, which had been held for some time previously, organized by leader Cal vin 
Williams who died in 1913. Although these meetings were not strictly limited to Eastem Pequot 
tribal members, the:1 were essentially meetings of Eastern Pequot, and Westem Pequot and 
Narragansett to whcm they were related or with whom they were otherwise socially affiliated. 
They were not regu: arly attended by non-Indians. The meetings occurred in the context of social 
connections with church affiliated Eastern Pequots in nearby towns, with overlap in attendance. 
The Eastern Pequot!, who attended included Sebastians, Randalls, and to some extent Jacksons, 
though by all evideflee not the other major family line, Gardners. Thus the proposed findings' 
conclusion that Fourth Sunday meetings were evidence of community is affirmed. 

Community 1940 to 1970. 

Community from 1 S40 to 1973 is demonstrated more strongly than for the proposed finding 
because of the submission of new evidence. There was a stronger demonstration of social 
cohesion among the families antecedent to the EP petitioner for the final detennination than for 
the proposed findin~; because substantial new interview and documentary data has been 
presented, and addit onal analyses made, which demonstrates visiting patterns and small scale 
gatherings which crossed family sub lines and which drew in and occurred between residents of 
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the reservation ar cl those in Mystic, Old Mystic, Groton, Westerly and Hartford between the 
1920's and the 1960's, with substantial long tenn connections with Providence. 

Evidence of this type from 1960 to 1970 is less plentiful. Evidence pertained to the annual 
picnics organized by Alden Wilson from 1940 to 1960 and gatherings at the reservation 
residence of Cath ~rine Harris which included substantial portions of the Sebastians and probably 
the Fagins/Randa I line in the same time period. Better and more detailed geographical data 
confirmed the patterns identified in the proposed finding as providing supporting evidence for 
community amon s the EP and PEP memberships and thus for the Eastern Pequot tribe as a 
whole. 

The main antecedent family of the PEP petitioner, the Gardners, was a very small social unit 
during this period and closely related enough to assume social cohesion among them. In 
addition, there was evidence of social gatherings among the Gardners, organized by Atwood I. 
Williams, Sr., and Helen LeGault, for this small kinship group. 

In the 1970's, because there was still a body of adult Jacksons in the tribe, there was not the same 
separation that appears today. Instead, this line played a bridge or connecting role between the 
two lines that tode yare numerically predominant in the two petitioners, the Sebastians (for EP) 
and the Gardners I for PEP), and had done so since at least the early 1900's. The evidence 
reviewed for this 1inal determination demonstrated substantial social links between the 
Sebastians and the Jacksons, and for the Jacksons with the Gardners from the beginning of the 
20th century into the 1970's, indicating one community. 

Additional evidenl:e f(Jr community before 1973 is found in the political events of the 
subsequent decade. These events, in reaction to the formation of the Connecticut Indian Affairs 
Commission (CIAC) and changes in Connecticut policies beginning in 1973, provide substantial 
evidence that com llUnity existed before that time. The social connections, social distinctions, 
and political issue!; shown by events from 1973 through 1983 are of a strength and character that 
indicate they were aln:ady in existence before that time. The events from 1973 through 1983 are 
consistent with the evidence of family line divisions, residence patterns, and conflicts 
immediately befor~ the 1970's. 

In addition, the pwcess by which EP developed its initial membership list, provided to the State 
in 1976, demonstntleS that social ties which had carried over from previous eras continued to 
exist. The process was one of enrolling individuals who were connected to the initially active 
group, rather than Jeing a recruitment of unconnected descendants. The early EP lists 
represented a broad cross section of the Sebastian part of the tribe, with subsequent lists drawing 
on the social ties 0 f this initial group. 

20 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement PEP-V001-D006 Page 30 of 207 



Final Dctennination, Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

Present Commun ity. 

From 1973 to the present, the evidence for community as presented to the Department by the two 
petitioners reflects increasing polarization of social ties. This evidence is delineated for each 
petitioner below. However, the overall picture demonstrated by the evidence is that there 
continues to be one tribe, albeit now with two demarcated subgroups. 

The geographic pattem of residence past and present among the EP portion of the tribe is 
sufficiently close to be supporting evidence of more direct evidence of social connections. 

The regulations, and the precedents in interpreting them, allow evidence of political processes to 
also be used as ev dence to demonstrate community. Community among the EP membership in 
the present day is jernonstrated in part on the basis of the strong political evidence of control of 
and allocation of nosl: of the reservation land by the EP organization. It is also relevant that PEP 
exercises parallel 11.Inctions of allocation ofresources on the portion of the Lantern Hill 
reservation which it occupies. 

Section 83.7(c)(2)\ i) of the regulations defines as sufficient evidence for the existence of 
political authority lOd influence instances where a political mechanism exists which allocates 
"group resources such as land, residence rights and the like on a consistent basis." Although the 
regulations envision that this allocation process would apply to the entirety of the petitioning 
group in order to b~ sufficient evidence, by itself, for political processes, nonetheless this process 
within both portiaLs of the tribe provides strong evidence of community for a substantial por1ion 
of the entire Eastern p(~quot tribe. The precedent in interpreting the regulations allows evidence 
of political processes to be used also as evidence to demonstrate modern community (see 
Snoqualmie PF anc'. FD). In this instance, strong political processes are demonstrated by 
allocation of reservation resources, both among the EP and PEP memberships. This is not 
sufficient evidence of political processes in itself under 83.7(c)(2)(i), because the processes are 
parallel rather than a single process. Although it is therefore not automatically sufficient 
evidence in itself under 25 CFR 83.7(b)(2)(v), which allows evidence which is sufficient in itself 
to demonstrate poli ~ical processes to be used also as sufficient evidence for community, this is 
strong evidence for community within the tribe as a whole. This determination concludes that 
the evidence of con trol and allocation of the Lantern Hill reservation resources by EP and PEP is 
evidence for the existence of political processes and supporting evidence for the existence of 
community. 

The PEP membership is small and fairly closely related, with 90 percent drawn from the two 
Gardner family sublines. 'o There is direct evidence that kinship relations are recognized within 

----------------------
10 The balance of PEP's membership, from the HoxielJackson (not Gardner) line, currently consists of only 

10 persons: an elderly, childless, woman and a niece of the latter who was placed in foster care during childhood 
and did not resume cont let with the tribe until the 1990's, with her children and grandchildren. These numbers are 
too small to require spec die analysis here. 
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its two main subdivisions, the Gardner/Edwards and the Gardner/Williams and to a degree 
between them. T le interview evidence for the proposed finding indicated that there were social 
contacts maintained between the most socially connected portion of the PEP membership and 
those living at a distance. The present geographic pattern of residence of the PEP portion of the 
Eastern Pequot tribe, the Gardner family line, is close enough that significant social interaction is 
feasible but is not 50 concentrated as to provide supporting evidence of community in itself. 
However, there is direct evidence. PEP also presented an analysis of relationships within the 
overall Gardner Ii le, based on defining a core social group with which approximately 90 percent 
had demonstrable close kinship ties and/or social contacts. This analysis was generally 
consistent with available interview information about social contacts. 

Because the politi,~al processes of the entire Eastern Pequot bridge the two petitioning groups in 
that their crucial fi)CU5 of both organizations is on controlling and maintaining access rights to a 
single historical reservation established for a single historical tribe, this final determination 
concludes that the whole tribe, encompassing both current petitioners, meets the requirements 
for demonstrating social community from 1973 to the present, even though, from 1973 to the 
present, the petitioners have developed into increasingly separate social segments. Each of the 
major segments, EP and PEP, has significant internal social cohesion. The segments are united 
by the overall poJi"ical processes, even when these are illustrated primarily by political 
disagreements over the common Lantern Hill reservation. There is no requirement in the 
regulations that sOl;ial relationships be distributed uniformly throughout a community (Cowlitz 
PF Summ. Crit. 1996, 19) nor that they be amicable (see discussion, Cowlitz OTR 11123/1998, 
177). Rather, com munity is to be interpreted in accord with the history and culture of a 
particular group (25 CFR § 83. I). 

Summary Conclusion for Criterion 83.7(b). The evidence demonstrates that the historical 
Eastern Pequot tribe maintained a distinct social community within which significant social ties 
existed historicaIly and continue through the present. These ties within the membership 
encompass the members of both petitioning groups, even after the development of their separate 
fom1al political org anizations. The historical Eastern Pequot tribe, comprising both current 
petitioners, meets t le requirements of criterion 83. 7(b). 

Criterion 83.7(c) 

Political Influence/rom the Colonial Period through 1873. 

The proposed findillg concluded, consistent with precedent and using evidence acceptable to the 
Secretary, that the t istorical Eastern Pequot tribe, which included the antecedents of both current 
petitioners, met crit~rion 83.7(c) from the colonial period through 1873. Much of the 
argumentation presented by the Towns for the final determination reiterated topics which had 
already been considered in the proposed finding (including the nature of an aboriginal tribe; 
whether more than one modern tribe may have evolved from an aboriginal tribe). No significant 
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new evidence in r~gard to this early period was presented for the final determination by either 
petitioner or by the third parties. The conclusions of the proposed finding for this period are 
affirmed. 

Politicallllfluence/rom 1873 to 1913. 

Political influence from 1873 to 1920 is demonstrated in part by a sequence of Eastem Pequot 
petitions from Jun~ 1873 through 1883 which were presented to the Superior Court by the 
"members of the F c:quot tribe of Indians of North Stonington." The first remonstrates against the 
overseer's request for permission from the General Assembly to sell a portion of the Lantern Hill 
reservation and then n~quests his removal. The June 26, 1873, petition contained the name of 
Tamar [(Brushell) Sebastian] and mentioned her nine children without naming them; it was also 
signed by memben of the Hoxie/Jackson family (one of the antecedent family lines of petitioner 
#113) and by members of the other two lines ancestral to EP, Fagins/Watson and Fagins/RandalI, 
all in common with Amanda (Ned son) Williams, Leonard Ned/Nedson/Brown, and other 
members of historical Eastern Pequot families that have since become extinct. 

The March 31, 1874, "Remonstrance to Superior Court, New London, against sale of land" 
contained the names of Calvin Williams, Amanda (Nedson) Williams, Abby (Fagins) Randall 
and her children, d.e children of the late Laura (Fagins) Watson, Rachel (Hoxie) Jackson and her 
children, and Marlboro Gardner. No Brushell/Sebastian family members were among the 
signers of the December 3, 1883, petition, but it did contain the names of Calvin Williams and 
his wife, plus Gard ler, Hoxie/Jackson, Fagins/RandaII, and Fagins/Watson signers. Thus in 
1874 and 1883, the Gardner and Jackson families (antecedent to petitioner # 1 13) appear in 
common with Calvin Williams and the members of the Fagins/Randall, and Fagins/Watson 
families (antecedent to petitioner #35) signing the same document for the same purpose. 

The proposed finding noted that there was no clear evidence of political processes or leadership 
between 1880 and ]920, although the evidence demonstrating community was very strong and 
was thus good supporting evidence. New evidence submitted for the final determination shows 
that during the first decade afthe 20th century Calvin Williams functioned as a leader, dealt with 
by the overseer, representing the Eastern Pequots to the overseer, and consulting with the 
membership on dec sions. 

Supporting evidencl~ that he was a leader came from interviews indicating Williams's relative 
prosperity and from a further analysis of kinship patterns which showed that Williams was 
related by marriage and through callaterallines to many of the Eastern Pequot families. Kinship 
ties often provide a )asis far the position of informal leaders (see, for example, the proposed 
finding concerning the Poarch Band of Creeks) (Poarch PF 1983, 5). 
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Political Influence or Authority from 1913 to 1940. 

The strong character of the community, especially based on intermarriage ties, provides strong 
supporting eviden ~e for the existence of significant pol itical processes between 1913 and 1940. 

Atviood 1. Williams, Sr., was the state-recognized leader for all of the Eastern Pequots from 
1933 until his dealh in 1955. There is limited evidence, from documents and interviews, that he 
was elected, by a portion of the membership at least, and that the State took notice of this 
election. Even thc1ugh Williams took a stance against the membership of the Brushell/Sebastian 
portion of the Easl ern Pequots, he was recognized by and dealt with by the State as leader of the 
entire tribe (which at this point also had a membership list approved at the same time and by the 
same judge through whom Atwood I. Williams's position was formalized). He continued to be 
consulted by State representatives of the Park and Forest Commission on matters concerning the 
tribe and its reservation through the late 1930's. 

For this time period, particularly from 1913 to 1929, between the death of Calvin Williams and 
the appearance of l\twood I. Williams as an influential leader, the continuous State relationship 
with the Eastern PI~quot as an Indian tribe provides additional evidence which, in combination 
with the limited di ~ect evidence, demonstrates continuity of political processes throughout 
periods in which there is not sufficient positive evidence by itself, but in which positive evidence 
does exist. 

That evidence inclldes the role of Tamar Emeline (Sebastian) Swan Williams, the widow of 
Calvin Williams. The EP proposed finding concluded that she was an informal political leader 
for the EP antecedl~nt families during this period. This final determination does not affinn this 
conclusion, which is not supported by much direct evidence. The evidence does, however, 
support a conclusion that she was a social leader whose religious activities were well-known and 
that these activitie~, particularly hosting the Fourth Sunday meetings, provided a focal point for 
the tribe's members to interact with one another (see criterion 83.7(b)). The' few pieces of 
evidence that might directly indicate the exercise of political influence on her part, such as an 
endorsement of an application for residence on the Lantern Hill reservation, are not present in 
sufficient numbers to show that this was the case. 

In its comments fOJ" the final determination, PEP asserted that Phoebe (Jackson) Spellman was an 
informal leader bet ween her return to the reservation from Providence about 1912 and her death 
in 1922. This claim was not supported by direct evidence. Limited evidence indicates that the 
tribe during this pe ~iod was not ignored in matters of membership, even when there was internal 
controversy (in thi~ instance between Phoebe (Jackson) Spellman and her brother) over the 
question of what the membership boundaries should be. An oral history account described an 
occasion when her brother, William Henry Jackson, one of the older reservation residents, 
swore, reportedly ~)r the overseer and before a court, that an individual from the Sebastian 
lineage was an Eas'.ern Pequot and entitled to reside on the Lantern Hill reservation, an action 
which angered his ~,ister and apparently other Jacksons. 
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Political /Jifluel1l~eFom 1940 to 1973. 

Atwood Williams, Sr. continued as the state-recognized leader for all of the Eastern Pequots 
until his death in 1955, although there was no documentation of his activity between 1941 and 
1947. Even though Williams took a position against a portion of the Eastern Pequots, he was 
recognized by and dealt with by the State as leader of the entire tribe, once it was, in the late 
1940's, reminded of the 1933 In re Ledyard Tribe Superior Court order. Although State 
implementation crf his status was inconsistent and varied, it existed throughout the time span. 

Political process(;s during this period were not limited to the activities of Atwood 1. Williams, 
nor to the Easterr Pequot lines with which he identified himself. Additional evidence of 
political processes is provided by a 1953 expedition of Eastern Pequots, mainly Lantern Hill 
reservation residents, to Hartford to oppose a bill to "detribalize" Connecticut's Indians. Tbis 
group was led by Catherine (Sebastian) Carpenter Harris, and included Jacksons as well as 
Sebastians. 

The evidence is nl)t entirely clear that the actions by Helen LeGault in complaining to the State 
authorities about the presence and activities of the Sebastians on the reservation during the 
1950's and 1960's, and her appearance as a witness in 1961 State legislative hearings to seek 
amendments which would have limited their residence, represented only her opinions or also 
those of a body of public opinion among a portion of the Eastern Pequots. She clearly had the 
support of her siblings, effectively the entire Gardner/Edwards portion of the Gardners and there 
is some interview evidence to indicate that her opinions exerted influence among the children of 
the late Atwood 1. Williams, Sr., (whose wife was her aunt) (the Gardner/Jackson subline) as 
well as among the Gardner/Edwards subline. There is also some evidence of opposition to her 
by both Jacksons and Sebastians, evidence which shows political processes. 

This final determination does not find sufficient evidence to support the EP and PEP proposed 
findings' conclusiclIl that Roy Sebastian, Sr., Arthur Sebastian, Jr., Catherine Harris, and Atwood 
Williams, Jr., taken singly, were infonnalleadcrs of various portions of the Eastern Pequot tribe 
between 1940 and 1973. Neither is there clear indication that during this period Paul Spellman 
of the Hoxie/Jackson line served as an informal leader as asserted by PEP, although he was well 
known to outsiders and there is documentation of some limited communication between him and 
the State in regard 0 the management of the Lantern Hill reservation. The data submitted by EP 
for the final deternlination does not provide sufficient evidence that Alden Wilson was an 
influential infonnal leader, as the proposed finding had found. 

Compiled together, the whole complex of individual leaders' activities, sometimes formal, 
sometimes infornla , coming from the antecedent family lines of both petitioners, with 
fluctuating alliance:; of the different family lines supporting them, provides some evidence of 
political influence. 
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The political ever ts of the subsequent era, from 1973 through the 1980's, provide substantial 
evidence that political processes and community existed before that time. The form the political 
processes took in response to the State's legal and policy changes and the intensity of these 
actions in response to the changes indicate preexisting political issues and opinions as well as 
preexisting social connections, distinctions, and alignments. Rather than being newly created, 
they indicate preexisting community and political processes .. In addition, the activities of Helen 
LeGault provide part of the thread connecting the 1970's and the immediately preceding period. 
There is no question that social community, in part defined by significant social divisions based 
on family lines and disputes with considerable historical depth, existed throughout this period. 

For this time period, and particularly from 1955 to the early 1970's, the continuous state 
relationship with 1he Eastern Pequot as an Indian tribe provides additional evidence which, in 
combination with the other evidence, demonstrates continuity of political processes throughout a 
period in which th::re is not otherwise sufficient positive evidence, but in which positive 
evidence does exi;t. When combined with the continuing State relationship and continuing 
existence of the L mtern Hill reservation, these activities demonstrate political influence in the 
Eastern Pequot tri be throughout the span of time. 

Polificallnjluence in the 1970's. 

The political events of the 1970's clearly demonstrate that a single Eastern Pequot tribe with 
political processe~ existed. In the conflict from 1973 onward, three different subgroups sought 
to obtain official approval as representing the Eastern Pequot tribe or as being the Eastern Pequot 
tribe. However, the aIignments were not strictly along family lines, since the Jacksons had the 
support of Alton Smith, a leading Sebastian. At the same time, the conflicts of this period were a 
continuation of th(~ distinctions and political issues that structured the tribe before 1973. 

Because there was still a body of adult Jacksons in the tribe in the 1970's, there was not the same 
separation that appears today. Instead, since this line played a bridge or connecting role between 
the two lines that today are numerically predominant in the two petitioners (Sebastian for EP and 
Gardner for PEP), and had done so since at least the early 1900's, their presence demonstrates 
that there was a single political field in the 1970's within which the conflict was played out, 
rather than a confl iet between two completely separate groups. It was not until 1989 that PEP 
asked the Jacksom~ to join them. The recentness of this request indicates that the alignments 
among the Eastern Pequot subgroups were still being adjusted in 1989. At the same time, the 
Sebastians initially presented themselves as representing the interests of part of a tribe, which 
was being threater:ed by the activities of Helen LeGault's Authentic Eastern Pequots in regard to 
CIAC representatim, rather than as a separate tribe. This was quite clear in the way they 
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defending the position of the Sebastian family within the Eastern Pequot tribe and their rights to 
residence on the Lantern Hill reservation. 

Indicative of the c;:xistence of a single tribe with shifting political alliances is that, in the late 
1970's, the antecedents of the two current organizations were in fact organizations of two of the 
family lines of the Eastern Pequot tribe (Gardner and Sebastian) - neither the Hoxie/Jacksons 
who were not als(, Gardner descendants nor the either of the two Fagins descendant lines were 
initially included in either one. The Sebastians in particular viewed the initial conflict as one in 
which they needed to have their own family's interests represented - demonstrating that the 
conflict was one cf interest groups within a particular political system. 

The events of the 1970's which led to the fonnation of the two organizations demonstrate a high 
level of political Focesses within the tribe which involved the main kinship segments. the 
Sebastians, Jacks(,ns and Gardner/Edwards. The events reflect the on-going political issues of 
access to and control of the reservation lands and the internal dispute over the legitimacy of the 
Sebastians as members. The fonnation of the CIAC and the beginnings of transfer of power 
over the reservation to the Eastern Pequot tribe triggered this high level of political conflict 
because it provided an opportunity, not previously existent, for one of the contending Eastern 
Pequot subgroups to seek to obtain designation as the Eastern Pequot tribe or status as the 
Eastern Pequot tri Je's sole representative. State actions amounted to an opportunity by which 
one of the contenc ing Eastern Pequot subgroups might be recognized by the CIAC as the only 
legitimate group and thereby gain control of the reservation. Helen LeGault's action on behalf 
of her own small ~ egment brought counter-reactions from both the Sebastians and the Jacksons. 
These events moblized large portions of the relatively small number ofaduIt individuals then 
alive. The events were clearly a contest for power, resting on the preexisting social context and 
alignments, and b~r definition show political process. These conflicts, as conflicts typically do, 
showed which iSSllCS are important, how widespread the interest is, and in general provide data 
about political pro~esses and community which a quiet period does not. 

Political Authority and Influence since 1973, Including Present Day Political Processes. 

Both EP and PEP as separate organizations in the modern period demonstrate substantial 
political processes within their own membership. Each petitioner has shown political 
involvement, beyond mere attendance at meetings, by a substantial portion of its adult 
membership, both by percentage and by distribution across family sublines, throughout the entire 
time period from 1973 to the present. Each deals with the same issues -- control over portions of 
the reservation ane whether the Sebastians are part of the tribe. These issues have existed as an 
unbroken continui1 y from at least as early as the 1920's, a point in time for which there is strong 
evidence for the e) istence of a single community. The division into two political organizations 
is a recent development, and the evidence demonstrates a single political entity with strong 
internal divisions. The alignment in its present fonn, which did not exist in the 1970's, 
represents the resu Its of a historical political process which is not now complete. 
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The importance of reservation access and residency rights to the membership of both EP and 
PEP is supported by the history of visiting with reservation residents and association with the 
reservation whicr was widespread among the non-resident Eastern Pequots (both EP and PEP) 
past and present a nd not limited to a small group of reservation residents. Reservation access 
and residency rights are issues of importance because they involve the loss or potential loss of 
significant reSOUNes, membership, and access to the reservation, which are current for the 
membership. Th~y do not represent a claim for lands lost or treaties abrogated long before the 
lifetime of the current membership. There is more than sufficient evidence of visiting the 
reservation, residence there by close relatives, hunting and the like to conclude these are political 
issues of importar:ce. 

In addition, the EJ> council has exercised effective control over much of the reservation, 
regulating residence and land use, from the early 1980's to the present. This function was 
exercised regular! y and consistently, and was followed by the membership. There was evidence 
of political commmic:ation because of regular membership meetings which voted on key issues, 
rather than such issues simply being voted on by the council group itself, although there was not 
strong evidence allout communication from membership to the leadership except for the past 
several years. This is supporting evidence for political influence. 

In the PEP, political processes were shown by dealing with the issues of importance to the 
membership - the same issues as in EP to a considerable extent, and also that of whether the two 
organizations shodd merge. There were also internal conflicts over other issues, specifically the 
method of governcl,nce, which mobilized political support and opposition along the lines of 
family subdivisions. The PEP organization also controls and allocates a portion of the 
reservation land, on a more limited basis than EP, among its membership. 

Section 83.7(c)(2)li) defines as sufficient evidence to show political processes where a group 
political mechanism exists which allocates "group resources such as land, residence rights and 
the like on a consi~;tent basis." Each petitioner has controlled allocation of reservation resources, 
among their respec tive memberships. This is not sufficient evidence of political processes in 
itself under 83.7(c:{2)(i), because the processes are parallel rather than a single process, but it is 
strong evidence of political processes. 

The Eastern Pequot tribe, comprising both petitioners, demonstrates political processes in which 
the same political issues and conflicts that occurred earlier continue today. In this context, the 
evidence for each petitioner, in combination, demonstrates that only a single tribe, a tribe with 
significant politica processes, exists today, notwithstanding the present organization of those 
processes into two distinct segments. One petitioner, the EP, has supported the creation of a 
single tribal organi lation encompassing the membership of both. The PEP from time to time has 
negotiated with the EP on this issue, manifesting an internal division of political opinion within 
its own membership as to whether PEP should organize together with the EP as a single tribe. A 
political issue for the PEP membership is that the larger size of the EP means that the EP 
membership, if it a,~ted as a bloc, would predominate politically in a unified tribal government. 
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The continuous t istorical State recognition and relationship are based on the existence of a 
single Eastern Pequot tribe, resident on a single land base which the tribe has occupied since 
colonial times an::! continues to occupy jointly. These facts provide added evidence that the 
petitioners meet the regulations as a single political body, notwithstanding current divisions and 
organization. 

Summary Conclusions for criterion 83.7(c). The Eastern Pequot have existed as a distinct 
community within which political influence has been exercised since first sustained contact with 
Europeans. The bistorical Eastern Pequot tribe, comprising both current petitioners, meets the 
requirements of83.7(c). 

Criterion 83.7(d) 

Each petitioner m:t the requirements for criterion 83.7(d) separately by submitting a governing 
document which (escribed its membership eligibility provisions. Given the present division into 
two organizations, the historical Eastern Pequot tribe does not presently have an overarching 
governing docume:nt, although all members are covered by the two documents presented. The 
presentation oftw) governing documents is sufficient to meet the requirements of this section of 
the regulations to :;ubmit copies of the governing documents of the group. 

The historical Eastern Pequot tribe, comprising both current petitioners, under the above defined 
provisions, meets criterion 83.7(d). 

Criterion 83.7(e) 

The proposed findings examined the evidence and concluded, on the basis of evidence 
acceptable to the S ~cretary, that the BrushelllSebastian, Fagins/Watson, Hoxie/Jackson, and 
Gardner lines desc(!nd from the historical Eastern Pequot tribe within the meaning of the 

regulations. 

The EP proposed finding postponed examination ofthe evidence in regard to the Fagins/Randall 
line pending identi1ication of descendants within the current membership. For the final 
determination, EP identified such descendants on its membership list. Examination of the 
evidence in regard 10 Abby (Fagins) Randall and her sons leads to the conclusion that, on the 
basis of evidence a<:ceptable to the Secretary, the members of this family line descend from the 
historical Eastern P ;!quot tribe within the meaning of the regulations. The arguments submitted 
by the Towns that tile petitioners' families had not demonstrated Eastern Pequot ancestry within 
the meaning of the regulations are not supported by the evidence. The regulations provide that 
evidence acceptablE to the Secretary includes "State, Federal, or other official records or 
evidence identifying present members or ancestors of present members as being descendants of a 
historical tribe" (83. 7( e)(l )(ii). The Connecticut State overseers' reports are such records. 
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Therefore, this final determination concludes that all the current members of both pctitioners 
descend from the historical Eastern Pequot tribe. The membership lists of both petitioners, as 
submitted to the Department for evaluation for the final determination, shall together form the 
base roll of the Em;tern Pequot tribe acknowledged by the Federal government. 

The historical Ea~ tern Pequot tribe, comprising the membership of both petitioners, meets 
criterion 83.7(e). 

Criterion 83.7(1) 

The proposed finding concluded that a predominant portion of neither petitioner's members were 
enrolled with any federally acknowledged tribe. The same conclusion is applicable to the 
Eastern Pequot tribe as a whole. No new evidence was submitted. The proposed findings' 
conclusions are affirnlcd. 

The historical Eastern Pequot tribe meets criterion 83.7(f). 

Criterion 83.7(g) 

The proposed find ings concluded that neither petitioner had been the subject of legislation 
terminating a Fed(~ral rclationship. The same conclusion is applicable to the Eastern Pequot tribe 
as a whole. No nE W evidence was submitted. The proposed findings' conclusions are affirmed. 

The historical Eas tern Pequot tribe meets criterion 83. 7(g). 

Overall Conclusi'Jn 

The historical Eas:ern Pequot tribe, represented by two petitioners, EP and PEP, meets all of the 
criteria for Federa acknowledgment as a tribe stated in 25 CFR § 83.7 and therefore meets the 
requirements to be acknowledged as an Indian tribe with a government-to-government 
relationship with the United States. 
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GENERAL ISSUES II 

Introduction: Sratus of the Relationship Between the Eastern Pequot and the Colony and 
State of Connecticut. 

The proposed finding characterized the continuous relationship between the Colony and State of 
Connecticut and the historical Eastern Pequot tribe from colonial times to the present as a 
govemment-to-gl)Vernment relationship, indicating that this relationship was one aspect of the 
reasoning used ir the proposed finding to accord greater weight to certain evidence for 
continuous community (criterion 83.7(b)) and political influence (criterion 83.7(c)). 

This final determ ination, after a review of the evidence and the arguments offered by the two 
petitioners and the third parties, revises and clarifies this characterization. The Colony and State 
of Connecticut de fined a distinct status for the Eastern Pequot as a tribe of Indians from the time 
that the Colony e~;tablished a land base for them until the present, without interruption. There is 
implicit in this rei ationship a recognition of a distinct political body, in part because the 
relationship originates with the Colony's relationship with a distinct political body at the time 
the relationship \\-as first established. Colony and State laws and policies directly reflected this 
political basis until the early 1800's. The laws are less explicit after that point until the 1970's, 
but the Eastem Pc quot remained non-citizens of the State until 1973 and the State continued the 
main elements of the earlier relationship essentially without change or substantial questioning. 
This relationship defined the Eastern Pequot tribe as a group with a distinct status not shared by 
any non-Indian gr~)Ups in the State, and was based on their status as a group rather than being a 
racial classification of individuals. By contrast, Connecticut treated individual, non-tribal, 
Indians the same 'IS the remainder of the population. 

This analysis is based on the statutes and on the reports and actions of the Colony or State or 
those exercising authority delegated to them by the State. However, the record for this 
determination doe; not contain documents which give the explicit rationale for the State's 
relationship in the sense of court decisions or other legal analyses. No such evidence was 
offered by any party in support of their various positions. 

Several major elements existed throughout the relationship which define the distinct status of the 
historical Eastern Pequot tribe. First, a separate land base was established in 1683 which 

liThe Towns do not concede the authority of the Executive Branch to acknowledge Indian tribes in the 
absence of delegated j:ower from Congress (Towns August 2001, I nl). The 25 CFR Part 83 regulations have been 
upheld by the courts (~ee Miami and United Houma Nation v. Babbitt). 

The State of Connecticut's argumentation in regard to the role offormer Assistant Secretary - Indian 
Affairs Kevin Gover ill the issuance of the proposed findings (State a/Connecticut Augllst 2001, 1-2,3-5) does not 
fall within the scope ol'this final determination. 

For a summary of the State's overall understanding of the acknowledgment regulations and standards for 
Federal acknowledgmcnt, see State 0/ Connecticut August 2001, 8-14. 
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continues to the 1= resent. This land had special status in that it was not subject to taxation and 
specific provisior was made that it could not be lost through adverse possession as could other 
land in Connecticut. The land and the funds derived from it were defined as the tribe's land and 
funds, although title was effectively held by the State. 

Second, after 1764, the State specifically appointed overseers or other authorities to have 
supervision and authority over the tribe's reservation land and funds and to be responsible for the 
welfare of its members. These obligations varied at different periods. These appointed 
authorities had th,~ power and obligation to protect these resources and use them for the benefit 
of the tribe's merr bers. 

Third, the Indians who were members of the tribes with which the State had a relationship were 
not considered citizens of the State until 1973. They were not, according to the law, eligible to 
vote in State and local elections. This distinction only applied to members of the specific tribes 
recognized by the Colony and State and not to other Indians living within the State. 

Fourth, the earlien laws clearly reflect the idea that the tribes had a distinct political status in that 
it was considered necessary to explicitly legislate that certain of the Colony's laws, such as 
criminal laws, applied to the Indians--i.e., they were not considered to apply otherwise. This 
legislative treatment reflects the tribes' origins as distinct polities outside the Colony. Thc 
Connecticut laws in which the titles refer to "Indians" make clear in the body that they refer to 
tribes. This idea is expressed in law until 1808. After that point, the tribes' distinct status 
continues in the form of the overseers' protection and responsibility, the distinct status of the 
land, and the none itizenship of the members of these tribes. 12 

There are significant periods at the beginning and the end of the historical span which pm1ake of 
a Colony or State relationship with a distinct political community. Through most of the 
intervening perioc from the American Revolution to 1973, the relationship was less explicitly 
based on the statu:; of the tribes as distinct political communities. However, the tribes continued 
to be based on a d :stinct status not shared by non-Indians, and not a welfare relationship as 
argued by the third parties. 

12As late as tle !lDO's, the issue of the extension of state authority over Indian tribes within states was still 
unsettled (Prucha 196~). 
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Whether the Sec rctary Should Issue Amended, Revised, or Supplementary Proposed 
Findings for Cri1{~ria 83.7(b) and 83.7(c) for the Period from 1973 to the Present. 

The proposed finc.ing stated: 

The 25 CF R Part 83 regulations provide that: "A petitioner may be denied 
acknowlec gment if the evidence available demonstrates that it does not meet one 
or more criteria. A petitioner may also be denied if there is insufficient evidence 
that it meets one or more of the criteria" (83.6(d)). The reason that this provision 
of the regL lations is not now resulting in two proposed negative findings is that 
the major question currently remaining to be decided does not pertain to the 
availabilit;, of evidence that the petitioners meet the criteria, but to the nature of 
the potentially acknowledgeable entity for the period from 1973 to the present. 
Following an evaluation of evidence and arguments submitted during the 
comment period, the Department will complete the analysis under criteria 83.7(b) 
and 83.7(c) from 1973 to the present (EP PF 2000, 61-62). 

Comments. The proposed findings did not consider the idea that amended, revised, or 
supplementary pwposed findings should be issued. This issue was raised by the Towns in 
litigation as well as during the comment period. The Towns state as follows: 

Position of the To~yns. 

The propm:ed :findings fail to provide BIA's analysis as to whether the petitioners 
satisfy the acknowledgement [sic] criteria for the period 1973 to the present. As a 
result, ther~ has been no opportunity for the Towns to review and comment on 
findings for the period. It is the Towns' position that a public review opportunity 
still must te held on the BIA's findings for that period. Thus, the Towns assert 
that propm cd findings must still be published on the period from 197~ to the 
present (TclVns August 2001,3). 

Since there has been no proposed finding issued for these criteria for the modern 
period, the HIA should be required to issue such a proposed finding. The 
petitioners and interested parties should then have the same opportunity to 
comment and rebut the proposed finding on the two criteria since 1973 that they 
would have in regard to any usual proposed finding in accordance with the 
Acknowlec.gment regulations (Towns August 200],297). 

Position of the Stae of Connecticut. The State did not address the issue of opportunity to 
comment on amen jed proposed findings specifically. The most relevant passage follows: 

Several asrects of the proposed findings are remarkably unusual: ... Second, 
proposed findings to acknowledge were issued despite the express finding that the 
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Department dJid not have "sufficient information and analysis to determine" 
whether tl' {: p<:titioners satisfied the mandatory criteria for the period from 1973 
to the present (State 0/ Connecticut August 2001, 1). 

Position of EP. The EP Response to Comments 9/4/200 I did not specifically address either the 
issue raised by tht: Towns as to how the proposed finding dealt with the period after 1973 or the 
lack of an opportllflity to comment on the findings for the post-1973 period that would be made 
in the final detem inations. 

Position of PEP. 

The Town~; indicate in their comments that they believe the regulations require 
that the Department provide them with an additional opportunity to comment on 
any evidence adduced for the period from 1973 to present. .. The regulations, 
however, do not provide such an additional comment period (Eberhard and Karns 
25; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 

The regulaions neither require nor authorize the Department to issue a separate 
Proposed Findi;ng on the evidence later submitted which may result in a positive 
or negative Final Determination. In fact, there are several Proposed Findings for 
which the Department found evidence to be lacking during a given time period or 
with respect to a given criterion, and the Department went straight to issuing a 
Final Determination upon the consideration of the comments and other materials 
received afer the Proposed Finding was issued (Eberhard and Karns 25; PEP 
Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 

Analysis a/Comments and Responses. Petitioners and third parties were, in the proposed 
findings and in the appendix to each proposed finding, given sufficient information concerning 
the issues to be corsidered for the period from 1973 to the present in regard to criteria 83.7(b) 
and 83.7(c) that th{y could comment upon them during the regulatory comment period. The 
appendices provided a "road map" of where additional evidence might be located and where 
additional analysis of existing evidence could be useful. Petitioners and third parties did 
comment on these I ssues and submitted additional analysis. 

The State's comment asserts that the proposed findings were not completed through the present 
because there was flot sufficient evidence to determine whether the petitioners met the 
mandatory criteria. However, the focus of the postponement was the need to determine the 
nature of the group:; during that time period in order that the evaluation could be completed on 
the appropriate entity. It was not, as the State phrased it, an "express finding that the 
Department did not have 'sufficient information and analysis to determine' whether the 
petitioners satisfied the mandatory criteria for the period from 1973 to the present" (State of 
Connecticut Augusl 2001, 1). 
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The petitioners and interested parties had the same notice as to the issues and evidence before 
the Department and the same opportunity to comment and present their arguments and analysis 
on this petitioner 1S in other proposed findings which proceed to a final detennination under thc 
regulations. Thewo day fonnal on the record meeting and the infonnal technical assistance 
gave full opportullity for the parties to inquire into the evidence and analysis for the proposed 
findings, thereby :)errnitting the extensive comment, analysis, and new evidence submitted in the 
comment periods on the proposed findings. 

COllclusion. It is appropriate to issue final detemlinations in this matter rather than to issue 
amended, revised, or supplementary proposed findings. 

Whether the Secretary Has Authority to Acknowledge Two Separate Tribes that Have 
Evolved from a Singlle Historical Tribe. Whether the Secretary Has Authority to 
Acknowledge a Single Tribe when Two Separate Petitions Are before the Department. 

The proposed find ing stated: 

In addition to evidence and argument on the proposed findings in general, 
petitioners and interested parties, and infonned parties may submit comments as 
to the Secrdary's authority, under the circumstances of recent separation of the 
two petitioners, to acknowledge two tribes or only one tribe which encompasses 
them both (lS the continuation of the historic tribe. On the basis of the evidence 
currently bdore the Department, the petitioners may be able to present a stronger 
case as one entity rather than as two. However, for the proposed finding, neither 
petitioner presented an analysis of the conflict between the two groups, focused 
around the 'elationship with the state, which might provide uscful evidence of a 
political conflict between two parts of one group or mobilization of political 
sentiment within two separate groups (EP PF 2000, 61). 

Invitation to Comments. The proposed findings specifically invited the submission of comments 
on the issue of the :,ecretary's authority (EP PF 2000, 61). Petitioners and third parties 
submitted commen :S, as follows. 

Position of EP. Th,~ question of the Secretary's authority was not specifically addressed in the 
EP Comments 8121:~00 1 or EP Response to Comments 9/4/2001. 

Position of PEP. 

As explained in further detail below, the Secretary is not authorized to merge 
separate pet tioners, or to require the two petitioners to merge themselves (Ayer 
to McCaleb 8/2/2001, [IJ; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 
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Notably, no statutes pennit the Secretary to merge, terminate or abolish tribes nor 
do any regulations set forth how the Secretary would do so. Thus, the Secretary 
has no such authority. The only regulations on the recognition issue are 25 C.F.R. 
part 83, thl~ ProceduresJor Establishing that an American Indian Group Exists as 
an Indian Tribe. No provisions in those regulations states, or even implies, that 
the Secret<Lry has the authority to merge two petitioners into one tribe (Ayer to 
McCaleb ~12/200 1, 3-4; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 

Quite to the contrary, the regulations limit the Secretary's options in processing 
petitions to making either a positive or a negative Final Detennination [fn 11]. 
There is no allowance for combining petitioning groups; it is simply a positive 
grant of federal recognition or a denial of federal recognition. If a petitioner 
meets the ~even mandatory criteria in 25 C.F.R. § 83.7, the Secretary must 
acknowledge the petitioner's existence as an Indian tribe [fnI2]. Thus, the 
regulatiom make clear that the Secretary must deal with each petitioning group 
and addres5 the merits of each petition separately (Ayer to McCaleb 8/2/200 1,4; 
PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 

Merging P,~titioner #113 and Petitioner #35 would be an egregious violation of 
the recognition regulations extending well beyond the scope of the Secretary's 
legal authority (Ayer to McCaleb 8/2/200 1,4-5; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 

A summary of PEP's argument (Ayer to McCaleb 8/2/2001,5-9) is as follows. The petitioner 
asserts that: (a) PEP meets the common law definition ofa tribe (p. 5); (b) a forced merger 
would require one or both of the petitioners to cease to exist (p, 6); (c) "The petitioners, as they 
currently exist, would be abolished, and since the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe is a tribe, the 
Secretary's act would abolish both a tribal government and independent tribal existence" (p. 6); 
(d) "The Secretary lacks the power to abolish a tribal government" (p. 6); (e) ". , . without an 
unambiguous express delegation of authority from Congress, the Secretary can neither temlinate 
nor abolish a tribe's existence" (p, 7); (f) it would be a taking (p. 7-8); (g) it would be arbitrary 
and capricious (pp 8-9) (Ayer to McCaleb 8/2/2001; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 

Position of the Sta~~ of Connecticut. 

The proposed findings note that the split between the two petitioners "evolved in 
recent time5." ld. At 17295, 17301. Unable to make a finding whether after 1973 
the petitioners became two separate tribes, whether they represented two factions 
of one tribe, or whether they even satisfied the criteria at all for this period, the 
Departmen: expressly declined to make proposed findings as to criteria (b) and 
(c) for the J!ost,-1973 period. Id. At 17297-98, 17302, Despite the absence of a 
finding as tJ these two critical criteria, the Department proposed that 
acknowledgment was appropriate. This flies in the face of the requirement that a 
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petition ~,hould be denied if even one of the criteria is not satisfied. 25 C. F. R. § 
83.6(d) (S'tale a/Connecticut August 2001,2-3). 

The regulations specify that organizations "of any character that have been 
formed in rI~cent times may not be acknowledged." ld. § 83.3(c) (emphasis 
added) (~'tate a/Connecticut August 2001,9). 

There is (lbsolutely no authority to acknowledge two groups that became 
independ~nt of each other only in 1973. "Associations, organizations, 
corporations or groups of any character that have been formed in recent times 
may not k acknowledged under these regulations." 25 C.F.R. § 83.3(c). The 
regulations are "intended to apply to groups that can establish a substantially 
continuous tr:ibal existence and which have functioned as autonomous entities 
throughott history until the present." !d. Groups which have become separate 
and distin::t in relatively recent years have been neither historically autonomous 
(independent of the control of any other Indian entity) as required by mandatory 
criterion (:;) nor historically distinct from nonmembers, as required by mandatory 
criterion () (State a/Connecticut August 2001,55-56). 

Finally, as to the question of whether there are two tribes or one tribe with 
factions, the State submits that the proposed findings actually miss the real 
significance of the serious and continuing factional dispute between the 
petitioners. There is absolutely no basis for recognizing two tribes merely 
because of divisiveness between the two groups. Indeed, the inability of the 
petitioners to internally resolve their disputes - and their repeated efforts to seek 
resolution Jy outside authorities - demonstrates a continuing lack of the political 
autonolUY'cquired for federal recognition [7n3 Discussed below at § VI] (Stale 0/ 
Connectin'l August 2001, 7). 

Position of the Towns. The Towns state: 

Moreover, :here is nothing in the acknowledgment regulations that allows the 
BIA to take such action on its own initiative. The regulations are driven by 
petitions filed by individual groups. While the BIA may consider two petitions 
together, it ::an11ot compel a result that combines two petitioners into a single 
tribe. That is a power that is not vested in the Executive Branch (Towns August 
2001,304). 

The Towns also arple that the Secretary has no authority to acknowledge more than one modem 
tribe that derives frt)m the same historical tribe: 

At the time ,)ffirst sustained contact in the early 1600s, there was no Eastern 
Pequot Tribt~" Although there was a single Pequot Tribe, the existence of that 
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tribe cannot kad to the acknowledgment of splinter groups of Pequots that, even 
if one acc ~pted their claim to Pequot ancestry, did not exist at the point of first 
contact 

To hold oherwise would establish a precedent that allows multiple tribes to foml 
out of a single historical tribe simply because they separated later in time, This 
problem i:; nowhere more apparent than in connection with the Pequot Tribe, 
from whic h two acknowledged tribes (Mashantucket Pequot and Mohegan) have 
already been derived. , . ,(Towns August 2001, 6), 

Analysis oJComments and Responses, The Secretary has authority to acknowledge tribes - not 
to acknowledge petitioners per se -- as defined most pertinently in the following portions of the 
regulations: 

§ 83.1 
Petitioner Means any entity that has submitted a letter of intent to the Secretary 

requesting acknowledgment that it is an Indian tribe (25 CFR § 83,1), 

§ 83.2 Purpose. 
The purpose of this part is to establish a departmental procedure and policy for 
acknowlec ging that certain American Indian groups exist as tribes (25 CFR § 
83.2; see also § 83.10 (a) and § 83.10(k)(2». 

§ 83.3 Scope. 
(a) This Jart applies only to those American Indian groups indigenous to the 

continenta I United States which are not currently acknowledged as Indian tribes 
by the DeI= artrnent It is intended to apply to groups that can establish a 
substantially continuous tribal existence and which have functioned as 
autonomolls entities throughout history until the present (25 CFR § 83.3). 

The function of a petition is to get an Indian group's case before the Department. The intent of 
the regulations is 1I0t to acknowledge a portion or faction of an unacknowledged tribe, apart 
from the remainder of the tribe, simply because the original petitioner excluded the remainder of 
the tribe. In the c,.se of unrecognized groups the regulations do not authorize acknowledgment 
of only part of a group that qualifies as a continuously existing political entity. Substantially all 
of the acknowledgeable group must be acknowledged in order for there to be a complete political 
unit Based on thi; premise, there is an implied limit as to how recent a separation into two or 
more distinct entit es may be, but there is no statement in the regulations as to how recent a 
division may be. 

The State misintefJrets § 83 .3( c) of the regulations which states that groups of any character that 
have been formed in recent times may not be acknowledged under the 25 CFR Part 83 
regulations. This !;ection refers to groups which literally have been formed recently. The 
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division of an exi~ ting historical unacknowledged Indian group into two separate tribes or into 
two petitioners does not mean they are "newly fornled" within the meaning of this section of the 
regulations any mJre than the combination or amalgamation of two historical tribes creates a 
"recently formed" entity within the meaning of the regulations. 

The acknowledgn ent regulations do not speak directly to the issue of historical division of 
tribes, noting only that a group cannot separate from a recognized tribe and now be separately 
recognized as a tribe (83.3(f)). The language of § 83.3(f) pertains to petitions submitted by 
groups whose membership is composed principally of persons who are currently enrolled with 
acknowledged North American Indian tribes. 

Interpretation of tile regulations generally follows precedents established in law and past 
policies, unless thl~ regulations are explicitly different. It is well settled that the U.S. can 
recognize more th 1n one successor to a historical tribe. This precedent is well-established 
among federally a ~knowledged tribes, both those that have not gone through the 
acknowledgment process (the Eastern Band of Cherokee and Cherokee Nation of Oklahoma, for 
example) and those which have (Poarch Creek, Huron Potawatomi, lena Choctaw). 13 

The Poarch Creek Band, which was acknowledged under these regulations, derived from the 
historical Muscogl:e (Creek) Nation. The Snoqualmie Tribe, also acknowledged under these 
regulations, is one band derived from the historical Snoqualmie tribe, the other Snoqualmie 
having merged wii h other tribes to form the Tulalip Tribes. The date at which division took 
place in regard to 1 ribes acknowledged through the 25 CFR Part 83 process has varied. In 
neither of these ca;es was a specific "cut" made concerning when the group which subsequently 
petitioned for ackrlowledgment became separate, but the Poarch Creek separated from the Creek 
Nation in the early part of the 19th century and the Snoqualmie Tribe from the rest of the 
Snoqualmie no lat'~r than the 1920'S.14 Thus neither historical division was recent as the 
proposed findings concluded the Eastern Pequot division might have been. It is additionally 
noted that in cases where more than one tribe deriving from a single historical tribe has been 
acknowledged through 25 CFR Part 83, the historical division was shown to have taken place not 
only over the cour;e of time but also geographically. 

The argument submitted by PEP that the Secretary does not have the authority to merge two 
tribes together mifht apply only if two separate tribes in fact exist. This determination 
concludes that two tribes do not exist within the meaning of the regulations and thus does not 

13These examples are not intended to be an exhaustive list of tribes that fall into these categories. 

14Additionally, there is the distinction, not applicable to these petitions, that both Poarch Creek and 
Snoqualmie separated from tribes recognized at the time--the Snoqualmie continued to be recognized as a separate 
band for some years a 'terwards; the Poarch Creek were not recognized after they separated. See also relevant 
discussion in HPJ and MBPI. 
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merge two tribe~. Rather, this final determination acknowledges a single tribe which is 
represented by two petitioners. 

The precedent ullder the regulations is that the Secretary has the authority to acknowledge more 
than one petitioner deriving from a historical tribe. Existing precedent does not speak directly to 
the issue of the "recentness" of the division in cases to date that involved historical separations. 

Conclusion. The: Secretary has the authority to acknowledge more than one modern tribe that 
derives from a si 19k historical tribe as it existed at the time of first sustained contact with non­
Indians. Such acknowledgment has been done previously in cases when a historical tribe had 
divided into two separate tribes. This issue concerning the Secretary's authority is separate from 
the deternlinatiofl as to whether there are, in this instance, two tribes within the meaning of the 
25 CFR Part 83 regulations. 

Although the pret;edent under the regulations is that the Secretary has the authority to 
acknowledge mO'e than one tribe deriving from a historical tribe, precedent from previous 
acknowledgment decisions does not define a limit as to how recent the separation may be which 
would allow for H:knowledgment of two separate tribes. This final determination does not reach 
the issue of whether the Secretary has the authority to acknowledge two tribes that split in 1973 
or only the authority to acknowledge one, because the evidence demonstrates only that there is a 
di vision within a tribe and that only a single tribe exists within the meaning of the regulations. 

The Secretary's authority to acknowledge is not limited by the format in which the petition or 
petitions were pre sented. 

Whether, in this Instance, One or Two Tribes Exist. 

The proposed finc.ings stated: 

The two pl~titioners derive from a single historical tribe with a continuolls state 
relationship since colonial times. As such, the modern conflicts between the two, 
which havt~ focused on their relationship with the State of Connecticut, are 
relevant e\ idence for political influence, although it is unclear if it is as one tribe, 
or as two. Petitioner #35 (EP) has taken the position that there was only one tribe, 
but has not presented sufficient evidence to demonstrate that this was the case 
after 1973, although there is some evidence that only one tribe exists within the 
meaning 0: the regulations. Petitioner # 113 (PEP) has taken the position that the 
EP familie; w~:re not of Eastern Pequot ancestry and were never part of the tribe. 
The propo~~~d lfinding for EP concludes that the PEP position is not correct. Both 
groups der ve from the historical Eastern Pequot tribe which was recognized by 
the State oj' Connecticut. The State continues to recognize a successor to the 
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historical Eastern Pequot tribe, but has not taken a position as to the leaders of 
that successor (EP PF 2000, 61).15 [footnote added] 

For the period since 1973, the evidence now in the record is not sufficient to 
determine that there is only one tribe with two factions (these being the Eastern 
Pequot Indians of Connecticut (petitioner #35) and the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot 
I ndians of Connecticut (petitioner # 113), or whether the dissensions of the period 
since 191':' have resulted in the evolution of two separate bands frol11 the 
historicallribe (EP PF 2000, 62). 

For the pel'iod since 1973, the evidence now in the record is not sufficient to 
detennine that there is only one tribe with two factions (these being the Eastern 
Pequot Inc ians of Connecticut (petitioner #35) and the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot 
Indians of Connecticut (petitioner #113». The Department consequently makes 
no specific finding for the period 1973 to the present (PEP PF 2000, 63). 

There is insufficient evidence in the record to enable the Department to determine 
that the pel itioners fonned a single tribe after 1973. The Department 
consequen:ly makes no specific finding for the period 1973 to the present because 
there was not sufficient information to determine that there is only one tribe with 
political fa;tions ... (EP PF 2000, 100; PEP PF 2000, 120). 

This appendix contains descriptions and BIA analysis of the material currently in 
the record'()!" petitioner #35 under criteria 83.7(b) and 83.7(c) for the period from 
1973 to the present. It describes what evidence was in the record for the period 
since 1973, with some review of the petitioner's arguments, to provide the 
petitioners and third parties with guidance to prepare comments and evidence in 

15 pEP interpr~ts this State approach as follows: 

Mikki Aganstata (Indian Affairs Coordinator, DEP) wrote a letter to Lawrence Sebastian advising 
him to sit do'vn with Helen LeGault and Richard Williams and talk about their differences 

"coherently alld rationally" (see letter from Mikki Aganstata to Lawrence Sebastian, February 13, 
1979). It is e"ident from the letter to Sebastian that Ms. Aganstata was of the opinion that there 
was one Eastern Pequot Tribe which included both the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe and the 
Sebastians. S he advised the use of a mediator to help the two sides reach an agreement. 

Ms. Aganstatc. was new to her Department of Environmental protection position and the conflict 
between the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe and the Sebastians, and did not realize the historical 
depth or char2cter of the problem. She assumed there could only be one tribe per reservation and 
that the Sebas :ians had a legitimate claim to membership in the Tribe. She was naive in assuming 
a mediator would be able to help the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe resolve a century of conflict 
with the Seba~ tians. This is another instance in which a State official was meddling in the internal 
affairs of the I'aucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/200 I, 29; PEP 
Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 
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response 10 this proposed finding. It gives some of the evidentiary context to the 
proposed f1mding that leaves open the question of whether there is one tribe or 
two. The petitioner's evidence, even in conjunction with that presented by 
petitioner #113, is insufficient for the Department to determine if there is one 
tribe or two. For these reasons, it does not present an evaluation under these 
criteria fo' this time period (EP PF 2000, 135; see also PEP PF 2000, 139). 
[emphasis added] 

Invitation to Comments. The proposed findings specifically invited the submission of comments 
on this issue (EP IF 2000,61). Petitioners and third parties submitted comments, as follow. 

Position of EP. 

In creatin~; thc~ CIAC, Connecticut Public Law 73-660 recognized the existence of 
only one Eastern Pequot Tribe (Marks IIIB, 122; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 

The action s of the state government, in the form of the formation of the CIAC, 
exacerbate d tensions within the tribe, which were largely racial in nature, such 
that a fomlal split resulted between the majority of the tribal members (the 
present Eastern Pequot Tribe) and the LeGault faction (the present Paucatuck 
Eastern Pequots). Since that time, the Eastern Pequots have made repeated efforts 
to reconcile with the Paucatucks, and remain hopeful that the tribe eventually will 
be reunited (Introduction 2; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 

In 1981, the: State Legislature amends Connecticut Public law [sic] 73-660 to 
change the name of the Eastern Pequot Tribe to the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot. 
This chan§ e: was not intended as a recognition of the Paucatuck, but rather use, in 
the State's view of the more historical name of the Eastern Pequot Tribe. The 
State at no time recognized the existence of more than one Eastern Pequot Tribe. 
At a March 30, 1981 [sic], on the 1981 legislation, then called Raise Committee 
Bill No. 7272, Commissioner Stanley Pac of the Connecticut Department of 
Environmental Protection explained; "first, this bill recognizes each tribe by the 
historical name deemed appropriate by the tribe rather than that of a descriptive 
label appli(:d by a state agency in the distant past and continuing in the current 
statutes" (~1arks IIIB, 123; EP Comments 8/2/200 I). 

The specific nature of factionalism in the Eastern Pequot community and the 
nature of rdationships between the Eastern Pequots and the Paucatuck Eastern 
Pequot fac1ion is discussed in Simmons (Report IVC) and Bragdon (Report IV A) 
... political power as control over resources has been the primary cause of this 
factional dispute (see Den Ouden, Report I'VE, this volume). The original leader 
of the faction, Helen LeGault, succeeded in rallying support around these issues, 
largely from members of her own family. Membership in the LeGault or 
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Paucatuck faction has fluctuated, and many Paucatuck members might have 
rejoined Ihe Eastern Pequot group on LeGault's death, had not the animosities 
engender~d by the heavy-handed dealings of the CIAC and other state officials 
prevented it. New economic motivation from outside, has also furthered or 
strcngthe 1ed the original dispute (see Reports IIIG and IIIH, this volume) 
(lntroduc :ion 6-7; EP Comments 8/2/2001; see Bragdon IV A, 490; EP Comments 
8/2/2001 for a restatement of this position). 

The histo:;1 of the LeGaultlCunha group is only the one that they share with the 
Eastern p'!quot Tribe. They claim the same reservation, the same historical 
relationship with the state government, the same oral traditions, the same Fourth 
Sunday meetings, the same leaders, and many ofthc same ancestors ... They 
have provlded no documented evidence of separate identity. They have no 
separate history, and are therefore an Indian entity only insofar as they are a part 
of the Eastern Pequot Tribe (Introduction 12; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 

This report argues that the tribe is a single entity, that leadership has always been 
in the hands of the Eastern Pequot tribe (petitioner #35), and that the racially 
motivated secession of the LeGault/Cunha faction has been wrongfully supported 
by the State of Connecticut (Bragdon Ill, 459-460; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 

Part IV. The Eastern Pequots: One Tribe, Two Factions. (EP Comments 
8/2/2001, IV, [485a]). 

This section, written in response to the finding of the BAR that, with respect to 
the dispute between the Eastern Pequot tribe and petitioner # 113, there was 
"insufficient evidence to determine whether there is a single tribe with two 
factions," reiterates the tribe's longstanding assertion that it alone represents the 
historic Ea:;tem Pequot tribe, and that the dispute with the Cunha group 
(petitioner 1:/ 113) is an example of a factional split of the kind common to tribal 
politics in many parts of North America and elsewhere .... In combination, the 
reports oft;1is section 16 provide evidence that the kinship and social ties between 
the Eastem Pequot tribe and petitioner # 113 are numerous and complex, that they 
share a hist)fY and a reservation, and that their split is typical of those that occur 
in face-to-flee communities around the world (EP Comments 8/2/2001, IV, 486). 
[footnote added] 

16Report IYA. Factionalism in Anthropological Perspective, Kathleen Bragdon; Report lYB. A History of 
Factionalism in Conne\:ticut Indian Tribes, Paul J. Grant-Costa; Report lYe. lnterfactional Cooperation and 
Conflict, William Siml~lOns; Report IYD. Kinship and Controversy over C[AC Seat, with Examples of Kinship 
Charts Showing Relati(lns Between Eastern Pequots and Paucatuck Eastern Pequots, Marcia J. Flowers; Report 
lYE. The Impact of Racism on Political Process and Community among Eastern Pequots in the 20"h Century. 
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This response also addresses BAR queries regarding the factional dispute between 
the Eastem Pequot tribe and petitioner # 113, demonstrating that such a split is 
not evidence that two tribes exist, but rather that the split reflects factional politics 
common in small-scale societies (Conclusions 554; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 

Several branches of evidence merge to suggest that there is, as the Eastern Pequot 
tribe (petitioner 35) has always maintained, only one tribe with two factions. The 
Eastern P;:quots have made repeated, documentable efforts to maintain 
connections with the LeGault/Cunha faction. The two groups share the same 
reservation, the same ancestry, and the same history. The LeGault/Cunha faction 
have servl~d a positive function in mobilizing political action, a function that 
factions often serve. Their persistent racist remarks, however, alienate them from 
the main body of the group, and undermine their claims to separate status 
(Conclusims 557; EP Comments 8/212001). 

Position of PEP. 

The centrd issue requiring clarification is that there is not, and never has been, a 
political, tribal relationship between the PEP and the descendants of Tamar 
Brushell Sebastian, who are presenting a separate petition for Federal 
acknowlec.gment as an Indian tribe, as petitioner #35 (Austin Introduction 
8/2/200 1, J; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 

It is critical that the AS - IA accurately understands the evidence in this case, 
which derr onstrates the fact that the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe and the 
members ( f Petitioner #35 have never, at any point in time, constituted a single 
Indian trih~. Logically, to be considered factions of a single tribe, there would 
have to be some evidence that the two petitioners would have had to have been 
part of the same whole at some point in time. There would have to be evidence 
that the PEP and Petitioner #35 shared a common tribal social community AND a 
common political leadership. Jfthis were a case of two factions within a single 
tribe, the various leaders of the factions would disagree with each other, but at 
some point there would have to be political relations and cooperative social 
interaction between them. This has never been the case. Indeed, the evidence 
clearly demonstrates that there has never been a political relationship between the 
two petitioners and no more than nominal social communication (Austin 
Introductiol 8/2/200 I, 5; PEP Comments 8/2/200 1). [emphasis in original] 

The Paucatlck Eastern Pequot Tribe has always maintained its political and social 
distinctiveness from the individuals currently organized under the name "Eastern 
Pequot Trite" (Petitioner #35), in terms of tribal affairs. The evidence discussed 
in these conments clearly shows that the PEP has always had its own separate 
tribal community and its own political leaders. With regard to the critical 

44 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement PEP-V001-D006 Page 54 of 207 



Final Determination, Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

evidence (Ill political leadership (which is what factions are all about), the fact 
that the PEP and Petitioner #35 have never been unified is particularly clear 
(A ustin In Toduction 8/2/2001, 6; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 

Collective y, PEP tribal members have always held the opinion that Tamar 
Brushell S;!bastian was non-Indian. Therefore, those who claim descent from 
Tamar Brushell have never been viewed as members the [sic] historical Eastern 
Pequot Tribe by the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe's ancestors or current 
members [u14: The Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe's members do not accept that 
the two pelitioners are actually two separate tribes, either. PEP tribal members do 
not think tit at Petitioner #35 has met its burden of proof that it exists as a Tribe on 
its own merits.] In fact, when considering all of the available evidence, there is no 
support for the idea that the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot tribe and Petitioner #35 arc 
two factions of a single tribe at any point in time, before or after 1973. 
Particularly, for those members born since the 1940 [sic], there is no reliable 
evidence that the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot tribe and the Sebastians constituted a 
single soci,:1 and political entity (Austin Introduction 8/2/2001, 8; PEP Comments 
8/2/2001) . 

. . . there is no credible evidence that the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot tribe is a 
faction of petitioner #35, since no single political or social system encompassing 
both memb,~rs of Petitioner #35 and the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe has ever 
existed; ... the Sebastians and the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe have always 
inhabited SE panlte social spheres, and cannot be accurately characterized as two 
factions of a single tribal entity (Cunha to McCaleb 9/4/2001, 2; PEP Response to 
Comments 9/4/200). 

Position of the Stak of Connecticut. 

Section VI. There is only One Eastern Pequot Group with Two Divided Factions 
that Are NOi United in a Community under a Single Leadership or Government 
(State of Co. 1Ilecticut August 200],55-59) . 

. . . the State submits that the evidence, when properly viewed, demonstrates that 
there is but one group. This group is split by two divided factions that are not 
"united in a ~ommunity under one leadership or government," as required for 
tribal existerlce. Montoya v. United States, 180 U. S. 201 (1901). Although there 
is unquestionably a serious, unresolved conflict between the two petitioners, they 
are historica Iy part of the same group, claiming genealogical ties to each other. 
The State an j the Federal government have viewed them as one group that has 
been unable to settle its differences. For the reasons discussed above, neither 
faction, togeher or separately, can satisfy the mandatory criteria for recognition 
(State ofCor.necticut August 2001,55; see also discussion of current Connecticut 
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statues, a Connecticut Appellate Court decision! and HUD's treatment of the 
proposed Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Housing Authority, State a/Connecticut 
August 2701,,56-59). 

Thus, the question is not whether there is one tribe or two. Because of the 
continuing and unresolved factional dispute, as well as the other deficiencies 
discussed above, neither petitioner can meet the judicial or BIA requirements for 
recognition as a tribe (State o/Connecticut August 2001,59). 

Position of the To'wns. 

While the BIA found that there was only one tribe prior to 1973, its consistent 
conclusions in the findings that there were two major subgroups that have not 
interacted socially or politically with each other since the 1920s argue against the 
"one tribe" finding. If the two petitioners were separate and distinct from that 
time on, a; in fact the Paucatuck petitioner claimed, however, the BIA could not 
have mad(: a positive finding up to 1973 (Towns August 2001, 301). 

The Summary Under the Criteria notes that there is "strong evidence" of disputes 
between th~se families "that goes back well before Atwood Williams's action in 
the 1930s d31A, Summary Under the Criteria, EP, p. 86). The Jackson line, the 
family thaI accounted for most of the reservation residents between 1880 and 
1920, had <inship links to both the Gardner and Sebastian lines. Gradually over 
the course of the 20th century, the Jackson line separated from both of the other 
family lines be:fore realigning with the Gardner line and the Paucatuck petitioner 
rather rece:1tIy (BrA, Summary Under the Criteria, EP, pp. 91-96) . .. The 
proposed finding maintains that these were merely internal factional divisions 
prior to the organization of distinct political entities (the two petitioners) in the 
1970s. (BIA, Summary Under the Criteria, EP, pp. 86, 96). But where is there 
evidence oJ'an integrated tribal entity prior to 1973? (Towns August 2001,306-
307). 

Separate E, stem Pequot political organizations emerged in the mid-1970s not 
because the separation took place then, but because of the establishment of the 
CIAC ... the political and cultural climate at that time pem1itted and encouraged 
long-dividd families to establish formal and distinct governing structures (Towns 
August 200.1" 307-308). 

As much as the Assistant Secretary may have desired to effect a merger of the 
petitioners, ~his cannot and will not happen because their separation and 
distinction i ;" in fact, longstanding and because each now also has separate and 
distinct ecollomic backers who have a vested interested in seeing their petitioner 
acknowledg~d (Towns August 2001,304). 
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Analysis of Comm ents and Responses. This analysis begins with a summation of the status as it 
exists after issuance of the proposed findings. 

The threslDld factual issue as posed in the proposed findings on petitioners #35 and # 113 
is whether two separate tribes that have derived from the historical Eastern Pequot tribe 
now exist. 

• If the threshold issue is answered affirmatively, the second question becomes the point in 
the past at .vhi,;;h the two tribes became separate. 

• After deter11ination of the effective date of separation, the third question then becomes 
whether th(! separation is of such depth and significance as to preclude the 
acknowled:~ment of a single Eastern Pequot tribe under the regulatory requirement for 
continuous existence. 

(1) In regard to the threshold issue, the proposed finding concluded, based on the evidence in the 
record, that there vias one tribal unit that comprised the antecedents of both current petitioners 
through 1973. A r~view of the data for the final determination affirms this conclusion. Two 
groups exist, in thE sense that there are currently two petitioners. The determination of whether 
the two petitioners fonn a single North American Indian tribe or are in fact two tribes is more 
complex. 

EP accepts the premis{! that both groups stem from a single historical tribe and that 
acknowledgment of a single tribe comprising both groups would be acceptable. The letter of 
intent submitted b) EP in 1978 referenced Tamar Brushell and Mary Eliza Watson specifically, 
while mentioning several other of the historical Eastern Pequot surnames. It was accompanied 
by a non-exclusive constitution which did not bar descendants of any lines of the historical tribe 
from membership <md a copy of the 1889-1890 and 1890-1891 overseer's reports that listed 
individuals from all the family lines in both current petitioners. 

PEP continues to maintain the position that there was a historical tribe, but that the antecedents 
of EP (which it refers to as the "Sebastian family," without reference to the Fagins/RandalI and 
Fagins/Watson lineages) never belonged to that tribe. In essence, PEP (petitioner #113) defines 
its own direct antecedents as having been the "historical tribe." PEP asserted in its original 
petition and asserts in its comments on the proposed findings both (1) that its antecedents at no 
time were part of an entity that included the antecedents of petitioner #35, and (2) that the 
separation between the two groups, along the current alignments, took place as early as the late 
191h century. The evidence does not support PEP's claim that its antecedents were never part of 
a common historicLi tribe that included the antecedents of petitioner #35. 

(2) The process of !;eparation or division has been gradual, and is not as complete as may appear 
from the petitionen ' present status represented in the petitions, Comments, and Responses to 
Comments. Although there was clearly social separation between the two most distant lineages 
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(Gardner/Edwards and BrushelllSebastian) in 1973, and to some extent from the late 1920's 
onward, the other families (Gardner/Williams, Hoxie/Jackson, Fagins/Randall) continued to 
provide a sequence of linkages between both ends of the spectrum into the 1980's. Throughout, 
the existence oflhe Lantern Hill reservation provides a common focus of concern for both 
groups, which m :!3ns that although each petitioner now has a separate formal organization, the 
concerns of those organizations as reflected in their minutes focus largely on opposition to the 
other petitioner ill regard to issues that impinge on both of them. Connecticut has, historically, 
recognized only a single tribal entity associated with the Lantern Hill reservation. See, for 
example, the 198 ~ statement of the Appellate Court that, "[t ]he named Plaintiff is one faction of 
a tribe and the indi.vidual plaintiffs claim to be the true members" (Paucatllck Eastern Pequot 
Indians of Conne,-:ticut v. Connecticut Indian Affairs Council 55 A.2d 1003 (CL App. 1989); PEP 
Comments 8/2/2C 01, Ex. 60). The essential focus of many of the post-1973 membership 
controversies has been the question of how the representation of that single state-recognized 
tribal entity is to be determined. 

(3) Since 1973, the two petitioning groups have been evolving in different directions, but there 
was not a sudden llld complete split as of that year, nor does the evidence indicate that a 
complete split has occurred. It is the general policy of the Department not to encourage splits 
and divisions within federally acknowledged tribes. Section 83.7(f) reflects this policy. A 
reasonable extrapolation of this policy and of the intent of the regulations to acknowledge 
historical tribal units, is that the Department does not and should not encourage splits and 
divisions within gl'OUpS which may become federally acknowledged. In instances where the 
evidence is ambiguous, or in cases where an apparent split appears to be the result of fluctuation 
in activity levels 0 ~ th(~ existence of factionalism, and yet a single entity continues to exist, the 
Department will acknowledge the entire tribal unit. 

Conclusion. The conclusion reached in the proposed findings that there was a single historical 
tribe that comprisd the antecedents of both current petitioners through 1973 is affirmed. The 
body of each final determination discusses the evidence and reasoning for this conclusion. 

More than 300 years of common history and common occupancy of a single reservation by both 
current petitioners until the present day indicate in this instance that there is only one tribe within 
the meaning of the regulations. Further, the two petitioners define themselves and their issues in 
relation to each oth!r and to their common resources. The separate formal organizations that the 
two petitioning groups have maintained since 1973 do not offer a sufficient reason to conclude 
otherwise. As discllssed under criteria 83.7(b) and 83.7(c) below, these organizations do not 
represent a complete separation into two tribes, but rather an internal division within one tribe. 
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Whether ContinUious State Recognition since Colonial Times, in Combination with the 
Continuous ExisteOll~e of a Reservation since Colonial Times, Adds \Veight to the Evidence. 

The AS-lA's deci; ion to issue positive proposed findings for both EP (petitioner #35) and PEP 
(petitioner # 113), notwithstanding certain evidentiary weaknesses described in the B lA's 
recommendation, relied in part on the continuous existence of a state-recognized tribe with a 
reservation since~olonial times. In light of this, the AS-IA concluded that greater weight should 
be given to the existing evidence than would otherwise be the case. The proposed finding stated 
this conclusion in part as: 

Impact of'='ontinuous Historical State Acknowledgment since Colonial Times 
upon the Evaluation of the Evidence. Because the petitioners are, singly and 
together, the continuation of a historically state-recognized tribe whose 
relationshi p with the state of Connecticut goes back to the early 1600's, 
possessing a common reservation, this evidence provides a common backbone 
and consisent backdrop for interpreting the evidence of continued tribal 
existence. When weighed in combination with this historical and continuous 
circumstance, evidence on community and political influence carries greater 
weight than would be the case under circumstances where there was not evidence 
of a longstanding continuous relationship with the state based on being a distinct 
political community. The greater weight was assigned for the following reasons 
in combination: 

• The historical! Eastern Pequot tribe has maintained a continuous historical 
govemment··to··government relationship with the State of Connecticut since 
colonial times; 

• The histol ical Eastern Pequot tribe had a state reservation established in colonial 
times, and has retained its land area to the present; 

• The historical Eastern Pequot tribe had members enumerated specifically as 
tribal membtTS on the Federal Census, Special Indian Population Schedules, for 
1900 and 1910 (EP PF 2000,63). 

Invitation for COl1l1'zents. The proposed finding specifically invited comment on this issue for 
the final determinat ion (EP PF 2000, 61). Both petitioners, the State, and the Towns provided 
such comments. 

Position of EP . 

. . . we agree that evidence of continuous state recognition since the 1600's should 
be entitled to greater weight, .... (Introduction 15; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 
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... the State's relationship with the Eastern Pequot Tribe mirrors, in many 
respects, :he relationship that the federal government has had with federally 
recognized Indian nations (Marks IIlB 115; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 

A review of Connecticut's Indian statutes and policies reveals striking similarities 
between t 10se State Indian laws and policies and the Indian laws and policies of 
the United States during similar time periods (Marks IIIB, 116; EP Comments 
8/2/2001 ). 

The Easte'n Pequots believe that Government's interpretation of the significance 
of state re(;ognition is both accurate and appropriate, and that a reasoned analysis 
of precedent shows that such recognition is always given weight in BAR 
interpretat.ons (Bragdon [I]; EP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 

Position of PEP. The PEP Comments 8/2/2001 did not address this issue. It is considered in the 
PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001 (Eberhard and Karns 3-21 ).17 

Eastern Pequot leaders interacted with colonial leaders as representatives of one 
government to another (Duryea 17; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 

It is appropriate for the Assistant Secretary and the Bar [sic] to consider state 
recognition issues, in their proper context, as evidence under criteria (a)-(c) 
(Eberhard" nd Karns 6; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 

Position of the State of Connecticut. The State of Connecticut presented a specific section on the 
topic, "The History of State Relations Does Not Support Acknowledgment," which summarized 
the State's interprelation of its relation to the Indian tribes within its borders from the colonial 
period to the preser.t. (State of Connecticut August 2001 Appendix, 1-9). Additionally, the State 
advanced the following statements: 

... the prop )sed findings suggested that, contrary to the regulations and 
precedent, the history of relations between the petitioners and the State could be 
used to mak,~ up for what otherwise would be insufficient evidence under the 
criteria. 65 .:;'ed. Reg. At 17294, 17300. Specifically, the proposed findings assert 
that state recognition and the existence of a state reservation are "unique factors" 

----------------------
17pEP has also addressed the issue of state recognition in contexts that are not relevant to the issue of the 

weight of the evidence br tribal continuity. For example, PEP asserts that the seating of Helen LeGault as Eastern 
Pequot representative or: the CIAC. with Richard Williams as her alternate, on August 2, 1977, "shows that the 
Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe was maintaining a government-to-government relationship with the State, and ... 
[tJhere is no evidence thilt tht: CIAC treated the Sebastian family in the same manner at this time" (Austin, Political 
Authority 9/4/200 I, 28; .1EP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 
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that "provide a defined thread of continuity through periods when other fonns of 
document" tion are sparse or do not pertain directly to a specific criterion." Jd. 
As demon~;trated below, the proposed findings are incorrect both in tenns of their 
characteri2ation of the nature of State relations and of their proper treatment 
under the ,cknowledgment regulations (State of Connecticut August 2001, 3). 

The propo:;ed findings' reliance on state recognition to augment or excuse the 
absence of otherwise insufficient evidence is misplaced. The State's relationship 
with the pt:'titioners was not based on a recognition of the Connecticut Indian 
groups as wvereigns exercising autonomous political authority and having 
bilateral political relationships. Moreover, judicial precedent does not support the 
Departmer t' s misuse of the history of the State's relations with the petitioners. 
Indeed, a l,mg line of judicial decisions demonstrates the distinct difference 
between federal recognition - whieh assumes a government-to-government 
relationshi) - and state recognition, which does not [6n2, Discussed below at 
§ III] (Stat? o.f Connecticut August 2001, 6). 

Section III State Recognition of an Indian Group Cannot Make Up for the Lack 
ofProofR~quired under the Mandatory Criteria (State of Connecticut August 
2001,15-23). 

The evider c:e of the petitioners' relationships with State government does not 
support rec ognition of either petitioner as an Indian tribe under federal standards. 
For most, ifnot all, of the historical period from colonial times to the present, the 
State never treated the Indian groups under its jurisdiction as distinct social 
communities having political authority or sovereignty. Indeed, the evidence 
reflects a profound lack of State standards or evaluation similar to that required 
by the federal acknowledgment regulations (State of Connecticut August 2001, 
15). 

Throughout most of the colonial and state periods, Connecticut lacked a specific 
definition, statutory or otherwise, of "Indian" or "Indian tribe" and had no process 
for making determinations of such status. Instead, the record indicates that 
overseers \/ere appointed on a more or less ad hoc basis for Indian groups. This 
lack of standards - and the lack of relevance to federal standards - continues 
through the present (State of Connecticut August 2001, 16). 

Turning to the present petitioners, there is no evidence that the contacts between 
the colony and the State after the Pequot War with the Eastern Pequot Group were 
based on any determination that they exercised political influence or authority 
within the :11eaning of the acknowledgment regulations. To the contrary, the 
colony vie"led the Eastern Pequot Group as subordinate to English rule. 
Subsequen:ly, the colony and the State regarded the Eastern Pequot Group as 
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unable to ~ovlem, protect or provide for itself without outside assistance. 
Although the colony provided a reservation for the group and the State has 
allowed tI- at reservation to continue, the fact that the land is held in the name of 
the group does not prove political influence or authority. Collective rights in land 
can also e.<ist for religious organizations, estates, trusts and voluntary 
associatio:1s, none of which necessarily exercise any significant governance over 
its members or beneficiaries (State of Connecticut August 2001, 17). 

The State legislation and other colonial and State actions, when properly viewed, 
demonstrates that these petitioners were never viewed as sovereign political 
entities. For a detailed discussion of colonial and State legislation and relations 
with the E:lstern Pequot Group, see Appendix § I (State of Connecticut August 
2001, 17). 

Section 1I1. Subsection B. Under the Regulations, State Recognition does not 
Augment or Supplement Evidence for the Other Mandatory Criteria (State of 
Cannecticia August 2001,20). 

Evidence of re:lationships with state government is considered under the 
regulation~; only with regard to criterion (a), identification as an Indian entity. It 
is not listed as appropriate evidence with regard to any other criteria and cannot 
be used as a substitute for such evidence as a basis for giving greater weight to 
such evidence (State of Connecticut August 2001, 20). 

The acknowledgment regulations reduce the burden of proof as to the other 
criteria only when there was prior federal recognition for a tribe, 25 C.F.R. § 
83.8; 59 Fed. 9282, IIot for state recognition (State of Connecticut August 2001, 
20). 

Most tellingly, if it was intended that state recognition should have a similar role 
in replacin ~ or supplementing evidence required for the other criteria, the 
regulations could and should have expressly provided for such treatment (State of 
Connectin't August 2001, 21). 

The State also sub 11itted an affidavit, dated July 27,2001, from Edward A. Danielczuk (State of 
Connecticut Augw·t 2001, Ex. 60). The document is retrospective rather than being 
contemporary evic ence. In it, DanieIczuk states that in the 1960's and early 1970's, he worked 
for the Connecticut Welfare Department as a supervisor in the Resource Department, with one of 
his responsibilitie~ being "to oversee the State's four Indian Reservations" (Danielczuk 
7/27/2001,1). Da1ickzuk stated: 

8. We did not view the various Connecticut Indians as governments or 
sovereigns but instead viewed them as groups of individuals who could meet the 
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one-eigh h blood requirement and who might need assistance (Danielczuk 
7127/200 1,2: State ojConnecticut August 200!, Ex. 60). 

Position of the Towns. 

The second section (of the Towns' comments] provides an [sic] historical account 
of the relationship between the State of Connecticut and the petitioners. This 
analysis i; in response to the fiction imposed upon the proposed findings by 
former A!isistant Secretary Gover that state recognition is sufficient to cure the 
deficiencies in both petitions ... The second section of this report demonstrates 
that there is no basis upon which the State's relationship with the Eastern Pequots 
can be tra lsformed into a "government-to-government" relationship and used to 
fill gaps ill the petitioners' social and political continuity over time (Towns 
August 200'!, 3-4). 

The BIA r.as never before in its acknowledgment findings used the terms [sic] 
"govern\TII~nt-to-government relationship" to describe the interaction between a 
petitioner lI1d a State. The phrase "government-to-government relationship" is a 
rather recent construct or term-of-art that was coined during the 1970s era of 
tribal self- ietermination to describe the trust relationship between the Federal 
Government and Indian tribal entities that are recognized by the United States 
(Towns Aug·us! 200!, 17-18; see also extensive discussion Towns August 2001, 
22-35, 42-'~4).IS 

Applying t lis interpretation to the State of Connecticut goes beyond a mere 
description of the history and nature of governmental interaction with these tribal 
groups. It mposes a political concept on the State and assumes that its 
government continuously considered Eastern Pequot tribal groups to be separate 
and/or equd sovereigns. This interpretation then takes the additional leap to 
allow that the State relationship should be used to prove continuous tribal 
community and political influence or authority (Towns August 200J, 18). 

This sectioll ... concludes that most of the more than 300-year old relationship 
between the parties neither resembled nor approached the model of a govemment­
to-government relationship on which the BIA's proposed findings are based. As 
a result, thi~ relationship cannot serve as the basis for satisfying acknowledgment 
criteria 83.7(b) and (c) ... Connecticut's relationship was most often that of a 
welfare pro11ider and fiduciary agent to its Indian dependents (Towns Augusl 
200!,19). 

---------------------
ISThe Towns assert that the BlA adopted this language from the EP petition, Bragdon and Simmons July 

1998,3 Ex. 1 (TOI1'I1SAlgust 2001,18). 
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This limi ted contact with the Connecticut government and that government's total 
lack of n~eognition of the existence of a tribal political entity on the Stonington 
reservation throughout the 18th century does not reasonably constitute evidence of 
a continuous government-to-government relationship. To interpret that there was 
such a re ationship, based merely on the continued existence of the Pequot 
reservatioll in Stonington, is to assume erroneously that Connecticut's governance 
of that re;ervation fits the model of the Federal trust relationship. It also 
mistaken y ascribes to the Colony/State an intent to acknowledge the existence of 
a Pequot tribal political entity (Towns August 2001,104). 

In contra~.t to the Federal model, the Stonington reservation was not created by 
any enactment, such as a treaty, which recognized the inherent sovereignty of the 
Pequot. Rather, it was established by the Colony for the welfare of the remnant 
members of a tribe that it considered, since the Pequot War, to no longer exist. 
The land 'Nas set aside largely to protect the towns from having the entire burden 
of providing for the care of these Indian people, not in recognition of the 
existence of a tribal political or social entity (Towns August 2001, 105). 

In the case of Connecticut, an entirely different model was followed than in the 
federal ca:;e. For the colony/State, there was no recognition of tribal 
independence or autonomy. Instead, the colony and then the State was treating 
the Indian; as conquered subjects, appointing their leaders, managing their 
internal amlirs (to the extent the colony/State paid attention), and providing a 
welfare fUlction (Towns August 2001,106; see also discussion Towns August 
2001, 47-~2). 

Thus, durilg the period from the formation of the Articles of Confederation 
through th~ end of the 19th century, considerable documentation evidenced the 
Federal understanding, acceptance and approval of Connecticut's continued 
jurisdictioll over its indigenous Indians. No contemporary documents from this 
period hav ~ been found to describe the nature of this jurisdiction as a 
"governme nt-to-government relationship." To the contrary, it was considered to 
be a welfare or social maintenance function (Towns August 2001, 94). 

Both primary Federal documents and secondary historical accounts provide 
consistent c:vidence of the Federal government's understanding, acceptance, and 
approval of the Connecticut government's continued jurisdiction over Indians 
within the ~;tate. These documents are also consistent in describing the 
relationship between the State and its Indians as a provider-to-dependent 
relationshi~,. No Federal documents have been found for the period prior to 1900 
that describe the nature of the relationship as a government-to-government one or 
one that was based upon the existence of a tribal political entity (Towns August 
2001, 106). 
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In comparison to the evidence of political influence and authority demonstrated 
by the Mchegan during the colonial period, the evidence for the Eastern Pequot is 
almost nOl-existent. Even as interactive as Mohegan representatives were with 
both colonial and English governments, this political contact was never described 
as a government-to-government relationship by either the Mohegan 
acknowledgment petitioner or by the BlA in either its proposed findings [sic] or 
final determination on the Mohegan petition. Certainly, such a relationship 
cannot be ascribed to the Eastern Pequot tribe, which demonstrated no internal 
political a:Tairs or political interaction with Connecticut government during this 
period (Towns August 2001,109). 

Subsidiary Issue: Reliance upon Passamaquoddr v. Mortoll. 

The proposed fincing cited the stipulation of tribal existence by the U.S. in Passamaquoddy v. 

Mortoll (1975) as a precedent for using continuous state recognition to give greater weight to 
evidence of tribal existence. 

The proposed finding stated: 

Past Federal acknowledgment decisions under 25 CFR Part 83 provide no 
precedents for dealing with a tribe which is presently state recognized with a state 
recognized reservation and has been so continuously since early colonial times. 
The c1oses1 parallel is Maine, where the Federal government in the 
Passamaquoddy case stipulated to tribal existence, based on the historical state 
relationship. That precedent provides guidance in this matter. The Department is 
not applying a different standard of tribal existence. Rather, the evidence, when 
weighed in the context of this continuous strong historical relationship, carries 
greater weight (EP PF 2000, 63). 

The Towns and State strongly challenged whether this stipulation provided an adequate 
precedent (Towns August 2001,21,35-41; Towns August 2001, Ex. 6; State ojConnecticut 
August 2001, 22-n). 

Neither the EP Comments 8/2/2001 nor the EP Response to Comments 9/4/2001 addressed this 
matter. 

PEP argues that this is an appropriate precedent (Eberhard and Karns 16- I 9; PEP Response to 
Comments 9/4/200 1). 

Analysis of Comm~nts and Responses re: Passamaquoddy v. Morton. The action in the 
Passamaquoddy ca.;e, which predates the acknowledgment regulations, was cited because of the 
absence of precede lts in previous acknowledgment cases. The Department stated in technical 
assistance meeting: that a detailed consideration of the Passamaquoddy actions had not been 
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made before the :)roposed findings. The Department subsequently provided to the parties 
documentation from that case that was not available at the time the proposed findings were 
issued. 

Conclusion re: Passamaquoddy v. Morton. Because state recognition, even state recognition 
from the colonial era" varies substantially in character from state to state, and because of the 
difference in circumstances of the cited legal action from acknowledgment decisions, the Maine 
case does not cIealy establish a controlling precedent for the Connecticut petitioners under the 
acknowledgment regulations. The EP and PEP final determinations, instead, focus on the 
particular historical relationship of the Eastern Pequot and other Connecticut tribes with the State 
of Connecticut and the significance of that relationship under the acknowledgment regulations. 

Subsidiary Issue: ~Jmlicability of State Recognition as Evidence under Criteria 83.7(b) and 
83.7(c). The Towns present a secondary argument that since state recognition is specifically 
listed as an acceptabk form of evidence only under criterion 83.7(a), it cannot be used for 
criteria 83.7(b) or 83.7(c) (Towns August 2001,20). 

The State also assl:11s that: "Evidence of relationships with state government is considered under 
the regulations on:y with regard to criterion (a), identification as an Indian entity. It is not listed 
as appropriate evidence with regard to any other criteria and cannot be used as a substitute for 
such evidence as a basis for giving greater weight to such evidence" (State a/Connecticut 
August 2001,20); "Instead, the regulations expressly limit the relevance of state relations to 
criterion (a)" (Stat,? a/Connecticut August 2001, 21). 

Analysis and Conclusion with Regard to Use of State Recognition as Evidence under Criteria 
83.7(b) and 83.7(c:1. There is no such express or implied limitation. The regulations do not 
provide exhaustive listings of the only types of evidence acceptable under each criterion, but 
rather adduce examples of the types of evidence acceptable to the Secretary. Both 83.7(b)(l) 
and 83.7(c)(l) proyide that the criterion may be demonstrated by some combination of the listed 
evidence "and/or b yother evidence," while § 83.6(g) states: 

(g) the specific forms of evidence stated in the criteria in § 83.7(a) through (c) 
and § 83.7(:1) are not mandatory requirements. The criteria may be met 
alternativel~' by any suitable evidence that demonstrates that the petitioner meets 
the requirements of the criterion statement and related definitions (83.6(g». 

The evaluation process takes all forms of extant evidence into account for each of the criteria, 
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Survey of the Nmure of the State Relationship under Connecticut Statutes from Colonial Times to 
the Present. 19 Tt is section is organized topically. The purpose of this section is to provide 
information conc ;:rning the nature of the State of Connecticut's historical relationship with its 
recognized Indiall tri bes, to determine whether the nature of that relationship justifies giving 
added weight to t he evidence. Specifically, the question has been raised as to whether the phrase 
"government-to-p)Vernment" used to describe that relationship in the proposed finding is a 
necessary component of assigning added weight to the existing evidence for tribal continuity 
during periods when documentation is sparse. 

General Commenu~. The laws of the Colony and State of Connecticut contain some basic 
elements concern: ng Ithe status of Connecticut tribes and the Colony and State's relationships 
with and responsi Jility for them. The record available for this finding is, for the most part, silent 
as far as discussions of the legal rationale for the relationships. There were no records 
submitted concerr.ing legislative history, legislative debates, or court rulings on Indian tribal 
status before 1935. Overseers' reports, unlike 19th century Federal Office ofIndian Affairs 
reports, do not contain extended discussions of issues concerning individual and tribal status. 
The analysis here n;:sts on the texts of the law themselves, and documentation of how the laws 
were applied. 

The Colony and Sate for the most part passed laws which addressed the status of Connecticut's 
Indian tribes withClUt tmumerating the specific tribes. However, that did not mean that there was 
an undefined field of tribes with which the Colony or the State was dealing. Laws since the 
1750's commonly -efer to tribes for which the State held land, or a similar phrase, thus 
delimiting the field of application. As described, the laws define overseers and their 
responsibility for I md and funds which were for the benefit of particular tribes. However, where 
particular issues arose, tribe-specific legislation was enacted. In the case of the Eastern Pequot, 
there is the1650 act defining governance, the 1675 Laws for the Pequots, and the 1873 act 
authorizing the salt! of all but 100 acres of the reservation. Other tribe-specific legislation 
addressed, for example, the detribalization of the Mohegan and Western Niantic. The Eastern 
Pequot were never detribalized. 

Land Status. A common element in Connecticut legislation is the provision in the 1930 revised 
statutes which statt s that "Except as otherwise expressly provided, all conveyances by an Indian 
of any land belonging to or which has belonged to, the estate of the tribe, shall be void" (Ch. 
272, Sec. 5060, ReF. Stat. Conn., Title 51, 1930). The following section, 5061, states that in any 

19EP presented its own overview of the significance of state relations - for the purpose of this section, 
mostly in the report wri tten by Patty Marks (EP Comments 8/2/200 I, Marks IIIB, 117- 126). 

The State pro'v ided its own survey, "I. The History of State Relations Does Not Support 
Acknowledgment" (Stare a/Connecticut Appendix August 4001, I: 1-9). 

The Towns submitted discussion under the topic bpding "Federal Understanding of Connecticut's 
Jurisdiction Over Indiall Affairs, 1777-1899" (Towns August 2001, 82-94). 
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action brought by an Indian to recover lands owned by Indians, or sequestered for their use by 
the general assembly, "the defendant shall not plead the statute of limitations," unless the 
conveyance is autborized by law. Similar provisions occur in all of the state and colonial laws 
back to 1666: "wi' at land is alloted or set apart for any parcells of Indian within the bounds of 
any plantation, it shall be recorded to them the same shall remain to them and their heirs 
forever. No power of any such Indian to make any alienations thereof' (Pub. Rec. Conn. 56-57, 
item 113). Under the law, if an Englishman purchased "any such lands layd out or allotted to 
said Indian, he sh,:ll forfeit treble the value" to the public treasury and the bargain to be void." 
These provisions continue to be in effect, in some form, until today (Pub. Rec. Conn. 56-57, item 
113). 

In 1717, a law wa~, enacted which said, "all lands .. are holden of the King of great Britain as 
lord of the fee; and that no title to any lands in this Colony can accrue by any purchase made of 
J ndians on pretence of their being native proprietors thereof, with the allowance or approbation 
of this Assembly. So it is hereby resolved, That no conveyance of native right or Indian title, 
without the allowance or approbation of this Assembly as aforesaid, shall be given in evidence 
of any man's title (1[' pleadable in any court" (6 Pub. Rec. Conn. 13-14). These statutes are 
parallel to the Fed(~ral Non-Intercourse acts, requiring the permission of the sovereign for Indian 
lands to be sold anj declaring the ultimate title ofland to be in the Crown in this case, or in the 
United States as successor in the case of the Non-Intercourse Acts. 

The 1866 act in section 12 specifically refers to the reservation lands as tax exempt, stating" All 
the property and funds of said tribe shall be exempt from taxation" (Rev. Stat. Conn., Title 33, 
522-524). The lands remain exempt from taxation. 

The lands set aside for the Eastern Pequot are not defined in current statutes but were without 
question obtained for the tribe through a sequence of actions on the part of the governing body of 
the Colony of Conrt(~ct:icut. On May l3, 1678, Momoho and his Pequots requested from the 
Court of Election held at Hartford, Connecticut: "2. That they may have land assigned to them 
as their own to plan on, and not that they be aIIwayes forced to hire ... To the second 
proposition for lanel certayn, as their own, to plant on, is referred to ye consideration of ye 
Court." Minutes of Committee for hearing Indian complaints; Indians, 1. 36 (Trumbull 1859, 
8n). The same session of the Court of Election appointed "a committee to consider where may 
be a suitable tract 0 f land for Mamohowe and the Pequits wth him to plant in, and to contrive 
that the same may b:~ as convenient as may be, and near the sea if it be to be procured on 
reasonable tearmes, of which they are to make return to the Court in October next" (Trumbull 
1859, 8_9).20 

Negotiations aimed at obtaining land for Mamoho and the Pequots continued for four years. The 
May 1679 Court of Election Held at Hartford recommended to Stonington that the town "layout 

----------------------
20No return by this committee was located in 1761 (IP, II: 118). 
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to Mamohoe and his company a sufficient tract of land for them to plant on as neer the sea as 
may be, five hundred acres at least" (Trumbull 1859, 31 ),21 The town declined to act (Hurd 
1882,32),22 The:'cfore, at the October 1679 session of the Generall Court Held at Hartford, "16, 
This Court appoynts Mr. Willys, Major John Tallcott and Captn John Allyn to treat with Major 
John Pynchon and to purchase of him some land from him for Mamaho to live on" (Trumbull 
1859,42-43 ).23 The efforts of the committee appointed in 1679 failed of result, so Momoho 
revived the issue in May 1680: "Mamoho propoundes to ye Court that their promiss and grant of 
that ground enga~;ed may be layd out to him for his people to liue and plant on, and says he had 
promiss at Court :wice, but nothing done, and if it cannot be obteyned he shall speake noe more 
about it" (Trumbull 1859, 54n; citing Indians, 1. 39, a & b). The General court replied that the 
negotiations had been under way, and would be continued: "2. As to Mamohoe, some of or 
Gentn have been 1 reating with major Pynchon to buy some land for them neer the sea, and he 
hath taken it into consideration. If that can be procured, it will be for them. Ifthat fayles, other 
lands as convenieilt as can be procured them shall be layd out to them" (Trumbull 1859, 54). 

In May 1681 the Court of Election instructed: " ... that Capt. James Avery, Mr. WitherIee, captn 
Mason and Mr. NI~hemya Palmer doe speedily inquire out, seek after and procure a tract of land 
that may be suitable fi)[ the accommodation of Momohoe and the Pequots with him in those 
parts, as comodious as may be, either by exchange or moderate purchase" (Trumbull 1859, 81-
82).24 In May 1682, the court appointed another committee for the same purpose, with 
somewhat more Sf: ecific instructions to purchase "a suitable tract of land for Mamohoe & the 
Pequott's under th ~ sayd mamohoe's government" (Trumbull 1859, 100). In May 1683, the 
General Court's direction was even more precise, "to move the people ofStoneington layout to 
the Pequots under \1awmohoe's government a suitable tract ofland that may be sufficient for 
them to plant upon" (Trumbull 1859, 117).25 Bya deed dated May 24,1683, the committee 

21No return 0 . committee action found in 1761 OP, 11:1 18). 

22This entire ~ eries of negotiations was summarized by Wheeler (Wheeler 1887, 17) and by Hurd, who 
stated that the town refllsed to make any provision that would look to their permanent location in Stonington (Hurd 
1882, 32). 

23Misdated as 1680 by Wheeler (Wheeler 1887, 17). 

24No return by committee located in 1761 (JP, II: I 18). 

25"This Court joth appoynt Capn James Fitch, Captn James Avery and Lnt Tho. Leffingwell to be a 
committee in behalfe oi'this Court to move the people of Stoneington to layout to the Pequots under Mawmohoe's 
goverment a suitable tnlet of land that may be sufficient for them to plant upon; and if they neglect to doe it, the 
sayd committee are herd)y ordered to use utmost endeavoures to suit them with a sufficient tract of land, which if 
they can procure by exc hang of countrey lands they may, or by setleing them on some country land, or on some 
unimproved land in Sto leington if no other provision ofland can be procured for them, the law requireing every 
towlle to provide for t1wir own Indians. If any perticular persons propriety should through the necessity of the case 
be improved for their Sl pply, he shall be repayred out of the country lands or by the towne of Stoneington" 
(Trumbull 1859, 117) 

59 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement PEP-V001-D006 Page 69 of 207 



Final Determination Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

purchased a tract of land from Mr. Isaac Wheeler containing about 280 acres, in Stonington a 
little way south c f Lantern Hill. 26 Wheeler conveyed it to the committee in trust for the benefit 
of said Indians, r,~serving the herbage for Mr. Wheeler (Hurd 1882, 32). The payment was 500 
acres of colony land (Wheeler 1887,17). The committee provided an extensive report to the 
October 1683 General Court: 

Capt. Fitch, Captn James Avery and Lnt Tho. Leffingwell being appoynted to 
procure some lands for Mamohoe and his company, by this Court, May last, 
returned c writeing or deed of two hundred and eighty acres ofland which they 
bought of isack Wheeler, for the use of mamohoe and his company &c. Which 
deed is re ;orded in the records of the towne of Stoneington, ... and this Court 
doth apro{e of the sayd deed, and grant that the land shall be for the use of 
mamohoe and his company dureing the Court's pleasure" (Trumbull 1859, 125). 

"The land was conveyed to 'Capt. James A very and Lieut. Thomas Leffingwell, a committee in 
behalf of the General Court, it being for the use of Momoho and the Indians under him;' May 24, 
1683" (Trumbull 1859, 125n; citing CSL, Towns & Lands 1st Series, Vol. 1, Part 2, Doc. 210. 
"Towns & Lands 1. 210 (original deed); Col. Records of Deeds &c. 11 :228). 

On May 19, 1873, the Eastern Pequot overseer petitioned the General Assembly for permission 
to sell a portion of the Lantern Hill Reservation (Bassett 1938 citing Conn. Special Acts 1873-
1877,8: 53-54; House File No. 29, committee Bill, House Petition No. 99, House of 
Representatives, .rune 6, 1873; Resolution Empowering Overseer of Pequot Indians to sell 
Lands, May Session, A. D. 1873; #35 Pet. Petitions). The legislature enabled the overseer to 
survey and sell all of the Lantern Hill reservation but 100 acres and invest the money for the 
benefit of the Ind ems: 

Upon the Jetition of Leonard C. Williams, overseer of the eastern tribe of Pequot 
Indians, lc,cated in the town of North Stonington, praying for reasons therein 
stated, for power and authority to sell a portion of the lands reserved by the State 
for the USE of said Indians. Therefore: 

Resolved hy this Assembly: 

26The editor of the Public Records ojConnecticlit commented: "The 'utmost endeavors' of this committee 
were crowned with Sllccess, and the miserable remnant of the Pequots and eastern Nianticks, under Mamoho's 
government, at last [c'lmd a resting place. The committee's report will be found in Col. Records of Deeds &c. 
11.228. In exchange lor a grant of five hundred acres of colony land, Isaac Wheeler, of Stonington, conveyed to the 
committee, for the us ~ of Mamoho and the Indians under him, a tract of two hundred and eighty acres in (North) 
Stonington, south of~antem hill. Towns & Lands, 1.210. See Record of October session, page 125, post" 
(Trumbull 1859, 11711). 
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Section 1. That Leonard C. Williams, Esq, of Stonington, the overseer of said 
Pequot Tribe ofIndians, and his successors in said office, be, and are hereby 
authorized and empowered, to sell by public auction, all of the lands reserved by 
the State for said Indians (except one hundred acres of the same), first giving 
notice ... 

Sec. 3. Th~ avails of the sale or sales of said land, when received by the said 
overseer, s lall be invested in one or more of the savings banks in said county, in 
his name a 1d his successor in said office, in trust for the use and benefit of said 
tribe and tre interest and income arising therefrom shall be applied to and for the 
support and comfort of said Indians, as may be, from time to time, needed. 

Sec. 4. Said overseer, and his said successors, shall give bonds to the Treasurer 
of the StatE, to the acceptance of the Superior Court for said county, for the 
benefit of said tribe, conditioned for the faithful discharge of his trust, and in 
complianc~ with the orders of said court in relation to the same, and shall make 
return theruo of his doings in the premises, and shall also make an annual report 
of the condition of his trust to the said Superior court, at its March term in said 
county (House File No. 29, committee Bill, House Petition No. 99, House of 
Representa :ives. June 6, 1873; Resolution Empowering Overseer of Pequot 
Indians to ~e:ll Lands, May Session, A. D. 1873; #35 Pet. Laws). 

A newspaper article covering a minor incident in 1947, involving dogs on the Lantern Hill 
reservation, indical es that someone had notified a North Stonington selectman, who in turn 
notified the dog wU'den, but that, "[t]he dog warden, having previously been advised that he had 
no jurisdiction of the reservation, took the matter to the town legislative representatives, asking 
them to notify the Department of Public Welfare .... " The complaint was referred to Mr. 
Clayton Squires of the Welfare Department, who "heard the complaint and agreed to go down 
and look out for th(: pups" (Stallman 5/511947; PEP Comments 8/2/200 I, Ex. 52). This sequence 
of events, in a minor matter, indicates that the reservation was outside the authority of the Town 
officials. 

The State over the Jears,27 and the Towns in regard to the current petitioners (Towns August 
2001,63-65) have l:xpressed varying interpretations of the nature of the legal title to this land.28 

27John J. Bracken, Attollley General, by Elllest H. Halstedt, Ass!. Attollley General, Leller to Thomas E. 
Rose, Ass/stant Director. Board of Fisheries alld Game. November 4. [opinion] pp. 115-118, Twenty-Ninth 
Biennial Report of the Attorney - General for the two years ended January 5,1957. Connecticut Public Document 
~ol. 40. 

28111 1852, DeForest, in regard to the Pequots, stated: "It was doubtful whether the latter held property in 
fee simple or only had' he right to cultivate. The case had been repeatedly tried and the courts had decided di fferent 
ways. .. . .. the land t lat on which the Pequots lived had not been given them as their own but only to be used for 
their support" (cites Inc ian Papers, vol. II, Doc 123; Colonial Records, Vol. IX). None of the submissions for these 
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The current provisions of the Connecticut statutes, passed in 1989, define it as a "trust in 
perpetuity" respOi1sibility of the State: 

Sec. 21. ~ ection 47-60 of the general statutes is repealed and the following is 
substituted in lieu thereof: 

(a) Any reservation land held in trust by the State on the effective date of 
this act Sh;lll continue to be held in trust in perpetuity to prevent alienation and to 
insure its <tvailability for future generations ofIndians. Except as otherwise 
expressly jJrovided, all conveyances by any Indian of any land belonging to, or 
which has belonged to, the estate of any tribe shall be void. 

A tribe shall exercise on reservation land all rights incident to ownership 
except the power of alienation (CT P.A. 89-368 1989). 

Subsequent sections of the 1989 legislation regulate the management of and jurisdiction over 
reservation land (~;ec. 23,24,25,26,27,28). 

Supervision and C;overnance. In May of 1763, Connecticut appointed Israel Hewit, Jr., of 
Stonington, to act with Ebenezer Backus, Esq., of Norwich, as overseers of the Lantern Hill 
Reservation (lP, II :250). This was the first indication of appointment of overseers by the 
General Assembl) since the 1725 act that had remanded the Indian tribes to the supervision of 
the governor and council (IP, I: 120). In subsequent years, in response to petitions from the 
inhabitants of the 'eservation, the General Assembly appointed overseers (JP, II:251). The 
statute enacted in 1808, and many of those before it, was styled "An Act for well-ordering and 
governing the Indians in this State, and securing their Interest" or in similar language (The 
Public Statute Lm'!s of the State of Connecticut. Book 1. Title XC "Indians" Hartford, CT: 
Hudson and Good.vin; CT FOIA #69; EP PF Com. Notebook H, Ex. 15). 

The subsequent act, in 1821, which first defined an overseer's specific obligations, and 
subsequent acts Uf. til 1961, were titled" An Act for the Protection of Indians, and the 
Preservation of thtir Property" or similar language. The 1821 statute stated: 

Sect. 1 ... That an overseer shall be appointed to each tribe of Indians living 
within the limits of the state, by the county court, in the county in which such 
tribe resides, \vho shall have the care and management of their lands, and shall see 
that they are husbanded for the best interest of the Indians, and applied to their 
use and beIlefit (An Act for the Protection of Indians, and the preservation of their 
property; S'at. Laws Conn., Title 50, 278-279; #113 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS II, 
Doc. 48). 

cases contained stich r,~peated trials and decisions on the nature of land title. 
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State Citizenshin. Connecticut's tribal Indians did not have State citizenship without a specific 
grant thereof. The Historical Technical Report for the Mohegan proposed finding described the 
process of grantng I::itizenship in that instance as follows: 

The Mohegan apparently petitioned the General Assembly in 1872 to tenninate 
the State s guardianship (see Kingsbury 1872, the actual petition has not been 
found). 1n response to this, the legislature passed an act in July of that year 
confening all the privileges of citizenship upon the Mohegans and granting them 
title, in ft e simple, to the individual allotments made in 1861. This action may 
also have been part of a general re-evaluation of citizenship which many states 
experienced during and just after the Civil War. Neighboring Massachusetts, for 
example, had extended citizenship to many of its Indian groups in 1862 ... , The 
stated ain. of this legislation - to make the Mohegans "a part of the people of the 
state, .. entitled to all the rights ... of natural born citizens" - made it clear that 
Connecticu.t had heretofore considered these Indian people to be separate and 
distinct (eT General Assembly 1872). They were, however, the first of the 
State's Indian groups to be granted citizenship (CAG 1985,23) (Mohegan PF, 
HTR 32). 

The detribalizatio1 of the Mohegan was followed by that of the Western Niantic. The other 
tribes under Conn;!cticut's guardianship were not detribalized in the 191h century. In other New 
England states, su ~h as Massachusetts29 and Rhode Island (Narragansett PF 1982,4), it was also 
the case that during the second half of the 19th century, Indians were granted state citizenship 
when detribalized. 

The Towns in thei' comments acknowledge that the Indians were distinct from other residents of 
Connecticut, stating: 

Lack of tovrn citizenship meant, among other things, that Indians could not testify 
against a citizen, bring suit, or secure a bondsman. They could own property, 
including rcal e:state, but they had to pay taxes unless they lived on a reservation. 
Tribal members were not only segregated socially and politically, they were also 
prohibited from conducting certain trade activities for fear that they might impede 
colonial setlement. In effect, Connecticut Indians were not truly considered 
citizens or accepted inhabitants of the State until 1924 when they were finally 
recognized :1:; having full civil rights (Towns August 2001, 61). 

It is not clear, however, that the granting of Federal citizenship to Indians in tribal relations in 
1924 was considered by Connecticut to automatically extend to State citizenship. In 1939, at the 

----------------------
29See: Plane, fll1n Marie, and Gregory Button, The Massachusetts Indian Enfranchisement Act; Ethnic 

Contest in Historical Context, 1849-1869, Ethnohistory 40 (l993): 587-618. 
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hearings in regard to the proposed sales of Lantem Hill reservation land, someone identified as 
"First Representative for Mr. Filley, Secretary of State Park and Forest Commission," presented 
the following statement: "I want to point out that this reservation is held in trust for the Indians .. 
.. This is the Indians land, not the State's. We simply hold it in trust for them .... These 
Indians are not cil izens of the town; they do not get much help from the town in the way of 
relief," subsequer tly adding, "They are not citizens of the town; they are state wards. Weare 
looking after the interests of the Indians, and believe it is contrary to public interest if this sale is 
made" (CT Hearing 1939 re: HB No. 347,6; PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 55). 

In regard to Alfred Boss and Grace (Jackson) Gardner Boss, in 1941 a State official 
distinguished bet\Ieen a member of the Eastern Pequot tribe and her non-Indian husband's 
citizenship status. Noting her residence on the "Eastern Pequot Indian Reservation 1905 to 
date," the author cd'the report added: "Grace is not a voter, however, her husband is a voter and 
has to pay Old Age Asst. Taxes" (Connecticut Office of Commissioner of Welfare, Report 
2/5/41; PEP Comments 8/2/2002, Ex. Ill). During the same year, the General Assembly passed 
an act reimbursinE: the Town of North Stonington $978.91 for sums expended by it for the 
support and care cf Benjamin Sebastian and Family, William Jackson, Mildred Spellman, and 
Grace Boss, which clearly indicates that the tribal members were not considered to be the 
responsibility of the Town in which the reservation was located (State of Connecticut, General 
Assembly, Januar: 1 Session A.D. 1941, An Act Concerning a Claim of North Stonington, against 
the State; Towns August 200], Ex. 124). 

In 1953, Senate Bill 502, sponsored by Sen. Lowell, was introduced into the General Assembly, 
but not passed. Section 2 gave the following "STATEMENT OF PURPOSE: To end the second 
class citizenship 0 ~ Connecticut's few remaining Indians and to reduce the administrative burden 
on the commissior er of welfare by returning their lands to the Indians" (CT Senate Bill 502 
1/3011953, 2) and rurther specified: 

2. On and ifter the first day of October, 1953, the tribe ofIndians known as the 
Eastern Pequot tribe and the several members thereof residing in the town of 
North Stonngton, or in any other town in this state, shall fonn a part of the people 
of this state, and shall be entitled to all of the rights, privileges and immunities 
and subject to all the duties, obligations and liabilities of natural born citizens (CT 
Senate Bill 502 1/3011953, 1; EP Comments 8/2/2001, Box 2, Item 4). 

6. All property, real and personal, belonging to the said Indians, or to any of 
them, and which, if owned by any other person or persons, would be liable to 
taxation, shall be subject to assessment and taxation in the same manner, to the 
same ext en I and for the same purposes, as the real and personal property of other 
persons. Ald all provisions oflaw which exempt the same from taxation are 
hereby repealed (CT Senate Bill 502 113011953,2; EP Comments 8/2/2001, Box 
2, Item 4.) 

64 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement PEP-V001-D006 Page 74 of 207 



Final Determination, Pauc:atuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

The language in this 1953 bill, proposing to extend citizenship to the Eastern Pequot, was 
identical to the language in the 1872 Mohegan bill. The statement by Albert C. Hoover, Acting 
Director, Public Welfare Council, specifically noted: "We have had complaints from the towns 
that if these resenations were to be abolished, they would probably have the responsibility of the 
Indians instead of the State" (CT Hearing 311811953, 4; EP Comments 8/2/2001, Box 2, Item 4). 
Two representatives from North Stonington, Frank White and Irving Main. registered opposition 
to the bill (CT Hearing 3/18/1953,7; EP Comments 8/2/2001, Box 2, Item 4). 

However, it is not clear that all State officials held the views on citizenship in the language of the 
1953 proposed leg islation. On December 19, 1956, an official of the Division of Welfare stated: 
"Tribal members on the Reservations have all the rights of American Citizens and when not on 
the reservations are subject to the same laws as other citizens. Children residing on a 
Reservation attenc public schools in the town wherein the reservation is situated" (Barrell to 
Commissioner 12119/1956; Towns August 2001, Ex. 123). This memorandum referred to the 
transfer of jurisdiction from the Park and Forest Commission to the Welfare Commissioner in 
1941 and commented that: 

since then 10 written policy has been developed and the actual handling of 
reservations, Indian problems and care of needy Indians was limited to what was 
expedient HI the time and with the thought of discouraging tribal members from 
returning to or settling on the reservations even though geneologies [sic] arc 
maintained to prevent imposters from availing themselves of the privileges of the 
reservations (Barrell to Commissioner 12/19/1956; Towns August 2001, Ex. 123). 

In 1961, on the hearing in regard to H.B. 2421, The Management of Indian Reservations, Rep. 
Fisher, speaking a~; Chairman of the Subcommittee of the Interim Committee on Public Welfare, 
stated: "It should [Ie rc~membered that Indians in Connecticut have full citizenship privileges and 
they reside on these reservations only by their own choice. I received numerous letters accusing 
us of herding people on to these reservations which is not the case at all. They do not need to 
live there if they d) not wish to" (CT Hearing 3/2311951,24). 

While practices may have changed, the evidence submitted showed no legal change in the 
citizenship status cf Connecticut's tribal Indians between the 1872 Mohegan Act and 1961, 
however. The 1973 act by which Connecticut established the Indian Affairs Council (CIAC) 
specifically addressed the issue of citizenship: 

Section 1. (NEW) It is hereby declared the policy of the state of Connecticut to 
recognize t 1at all resident Indians of qualified Connecticut tribes are considered 
to be full citizens of the state and they are hereby granted all the rights and 
privileges dforded by law, that all of Connecticut's citizens enjoy. It is further 
recognized that said Indians have certain special rights to tribal lands as may have 
been granted to them in the past by treaty or other agreements (CT Public Acts, 
#660 1973). 
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At the hearing cn Substitute House Bill 1919, Rep. Pugliese, preparing to "quickly explain the 
bill section by s ~ction," stated that it, "establishes a state policy that Connecticut Indians are 
considered to be full citizens with all the rights and privileges of other citizens" (CT Hearing 
511611973,61). 

This 1973 provi!;ion in regard to citizenship was repeated unchanged in Sec. 47-59a of the 1975 
Connecticut Revised Statutes and was still carried in Sec. 16 of the 1989 act (CT Public Acts, 
#368 1989). 

Legal Dejinition.~ of the Nature of the State Relationship. This section is organized 
chronologically. 

Colonial Legislat ion. Essentially all of the legislation in the earliest colonial times concerns the 
period after the defeat of the Pequots and hence does not relate to a period when Connecticut's 
Indian tribes were independent of the Colony and the Crown. The statutes imply that the Colony 
was concerned to legislate for and apply its laws to the tribes and their members. Thus the act of 
1721 directs the authority and selectmen of each town in which Indians resided to assemble and 
convene them annually, acquaint them with the laws for the punishment of "immoralities," and 
inform them that Ihey were not exempted from the penalties (see discussion below). 

The code compile::l under the Commissioners of the United Colonies in 1650 made reference to 
the "Sagamores" of the tribes, requiring that tribes that lived near the English declare who their 
leaders were. It dl~c1ared that satisfaction of debts could be demanded of the Sagamore and if 
not received, the English were then empowered to seize goods. The code in 1650 appears to 
indicate the beginrling of the extension of colony laws into the internal affairs of the Indians, 
specifically providing that for certain crimes, they shall appear before the constables. However, 
the 1650 docuJ11en~ describes itself as a compilation of earlier acts, hence reflects earlier acts. 
None appear in the record for these cases nor does the 1650 compilation indicate specific earlier 
acts or their date o~passage (Conn. Code of Laws, 529-533). The new "Indian governors" in 
1654 received instructions which were a briefer version of the better-known "Laws for the 
Pequots" issued 20 years later, in 1675 (Pulsifer 1968,2:142-143).30 

Just before the outt'reak of King Philip's War,31 on May 31, 1675, Connecticut issued a set of 
"laws" for the Indials under Cassasinamon and Hannon Garret (Wheeler J 887, 16). The act of 
1675 goes on to pJ'CIscribe a variety of behaviors and actions by the Indians (apparently Indians 

30"Captain George Denison and Thomas Stanton were to assist them in the government. This was 
continued ror several ytars. (Haz. 2. 334,345,359,382-7,447-9,465.)" (Potter 1835,64). When Cassicinamon 
and Garrett were reappe inted in 1656, Mr. Winthrop, Maj. Mason, Capt. Denison were appointed to assist them, 
while Thomas Stanton continued to collect the tribute (Hurd 1882,29-30; Pulsifer 1968, 2: 153-154; Pulsifer 1968, 
2:168; see also Wheeler 1887,13) (EP PF 2000, 23). 

31 June 24, 167:, opl~ning of King Philip's War (Swansea, Rhode Island) (Haynes 1976,22). 
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in general) and to lssert that certain actions were punishable according to the colony laws by 
actions of its magistrates, suggesting at least that action and behaviors not specifically mentioned 
were still under thl~ authority of the tribes. Witchcraft and "powwow" were proscribed and 
murder, stealing alld adultery were to be tried by the English. The law also establishes 
constables, under the direction of the leaders appointed by the colony, presumably to carry out 
the dictates of theaw. The act calls for "publishing" the act "at a great concourse" among the 
Pequots (Laws for the Pequots 1675; Trumbull 1852,574). 

The Act of 1675 provided in part for the specific governance of the Pequots, Eastern and 
Western. It was enacted, according to its text, "in answer to Robbin Causacinnamon' s petition 
to the Generall Court ofConnecticott," and provided "order & appoyntment was by the sayd 
Court made ... to draw up some lawes & orders for the present well governing of the Pequitt 
Indians that were captives to the English Colonyes in generall and were by their Commissioners 
put under the gouel11ent of this Colony, to be both ruled and accomodated by them suitably ... " 
(Laws for the Pequots 1675; Trumbull 1852,574). The act declared that Robin Cassacinamon 
was to continue "if. the: place of theire deputy or principle officer amongst & over all those 
Indians who had beene: put under him formerly" and: "In like manner, Herman Garrett be 
principall officer 0 ver those put under him, and Momohow shall be his second or chiefe 
Counsellor (Laws for the Pequots 1675; Trumbull 1852,574-575). The costs of this government 
was to be paid by an annual five-shilling levy on each Indian man over the age of 16. The law 
directed that " ... their lawful! commands are duely to be obeyed and observed by all of the 
Indians respectivel/' (Laws for the Pequots 1675; Trumbull 1852,575). 

The laws after 167:; do not describe tribal leadership functions, although the general court 
subsequently appointed successors to both Cassacinamon and to Harmon Garrett through the end 
of the 171h century. The 1675 "Laws for the Pequots" were republished early in Momoho's 
tenure (i.e., shortly afteT 1677) (Trumbull 1852, 576). 

During the later I TW's, Connecticut passed three pieces oflegislation that pertained to its 
supervision of Indian tribes. The act in 1721 stated that the authority and selectmen of each town 
"wherein there are any Indians living or residing" were directed to assemble and convene such 
annually and acqua int them with the "Law of the government made for punishment of such 
immoralities ... and they are not exempted from such penaIties.,,32 In October 1725, it resolved: 
"That till the Sessicn of this Assembly in May next, the Care of the Indians in their Severall 
Tribes in this government be under the Inspection of the Governr & Council! from time to time 
to regulate, restrain, Set at Large &c as to them shall Seem best" (IP, 1:120). In October 26, it 
passed an act to prevent the quiet title act being used to assert claims to "several tracts of land 
sequestred for several tribes ofIndians within this government ... " (7 Pub. Rec. Conn. 71-72; 

32Similar phra!;(:ology occurs in subsequent laws until 1808, but is not repeated in 1821 (which is the point 
at whieh the titles oflh. acts refer to the protection rather than the governance of the Indians). 
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IP, I: l30). In 1127, it passed an act regulating how Indian children bound out to the English 
were to be instructed in Christianity, to read English, etc. (IP, I: 131). 

Subsequent acts also call for meetings and the like to remind the Indians that English laws apply, 
and the extent to which those laws applied. Two separate acts were passed in 1750 (Acts and 
Laws of Conn. 1750,79,95-99). The first Act of 1750 focused on the subjection of Indians to 
the laws of the Colony, including those of Sabbath observance, and prohibited trade in firearn1s 
with the Indians :there was no specific mention of tribes). It provided that the murder of one 
Indian by anothe' was to be punished under English law, but made an exception where the 
murder was of "t 10S{~ among whom they are at war with." The Act stated that, "no person shall 
be allowed. . .. to recover before any court ... any action of debt .. for any good sold, lent or 
trusted out to any Indians whatsoever.,,33 

The second 1750 Act was titled, "Foreigners Not to Trade with the Indians. An Act for 
Preventing Forei~~ners Trading with, and Corrupting the Indians; and Carrying on Other Evil and 
Dangerous Desig:1s in this Colony" ("Acts and Laws" N.P. A-2, 79; #113 Pet. HIST DOCS I, 
Doc. 38, 79). It s;::eks to avoid sedition or the estrangement of the Indians from the government 
and refers to "evil and dangerous designs" by French and Dutch. The act references "any Indian 
or Indians" and does not specifically use the term "tribe." No historical context was provided for 
the passage ofthi!i act, although the implication is that there was an expectation that the Indians 
might act independently of the colony's authorities. 

Legislation from the American Revolution through the End of the 19th Century. In 1796, the 
Connecticut Assembly passed "An Act for well-ordering and governing the Indians in this State; 
and securing their Intt;~rest," which provided again that it was the responsibility of the civil 
authorities and sel ;::ctmen of such towns in which there was any tribe of Indians to enforce the 
state criminal law~ pertaining to them and reenacted provisions concerning the binding out of 
Indian children an,j for the protection oflndian lands (#113 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS II, Doc. 47; 
Acts and Laws of Conn. 237-239). 

In 1808, the Conm:ctic:ut General Assembly reenacted an "Act for well-ordering and governing 
the Indians in this :State, and securing their interest" with essentially no changes (The Public 
Statute Laws a/thE State a/Connecticut. Book 1. Title XC "Indians" Hartford, CT: Hudson and 
Goodwin; CT FOL\ #69 EP PF Com Notebook H, Ex. 15). In May 1819, it was enacted that 
the overseers of tht~ respective tribes oflndians in this State shall annually settle their accounts 
of the concerns of ~:aid tribes with the respective County Courts in the counties in which said 
tribes are situated ([P, 2nd

, II:167, 167b). The 1821 act required that in the future, overseers were 
to be appointed to each tribe by the County Court (#113 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS II, Doc. 48; 
citing Stat. Laws Conn., Title 50, 278-279, "An Act for the Protection of Indians, and the 

33Sil11ilar langlJage appears in subsequent acts until 1902. The provision in the 1866 act stated in section 5 
that "No judgment sha I be rendered against an Indian, for any debt. or on any contract, except for the rent of land 
hired and occupied by ~ uch Indian." 
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Preservation of their Property"). Shortly after that date, in 1822, annual overseers' reports for 
the Lantem Hill :~eservation began to be recorded. 

During the period between 1822 and the Civil War, Connecticut enacted several pieces of 
legislation that affected the administration ofIndian tribes within the state, without specifying 
the names of the individual tribes. In 1824, Title 5l. "Indians. An Act for the Protection of 
Indians, and the Preservation of their Property" provided that overseers must be bonded, and 
continued the provision for annual settlements with the county court. The remainder of the 
provisions dealt ~'rimarily with property (# 113 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS II, Doc. 49; citing Stat. 
Conn., Title 51, 233-234). The 1849 act of the same title made no significant changes (#113 
Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS II, Doc. 50; citing Rev. Stat. Conn .. Title 26, 441-442), but in 1850 "An 
Act in Addition to and in Alteration of' An Act for the Protection of Indians, and the 
Preservation of their Property'" provided that an overseer should be appointed for each "tribe of 
Indians living within the limits of the state," by the "county court in the county in which such 
tribe resides." The county court of each county should have jurisdiction of applications for the 
sale of lands belonging to members of such tribe, who, at the time of such applications, were 
about to remove from Connecticut or actually resided outside the boundaries of Connecticut 
(# 113 Pet. 1996, IHST DOCS II, Doc. 51; citing Public Acts (1850), Ch. 51, 37-38). 

The 1850 act was repealed two years later. The 1852 act which repealed it (# 113 Pet. 1996, 
HIST DOCS II, Doc. 52; citing Public Acts, eh. 55, 66-67) established provisions under which 
overseers could, under county court jurisdiction, regulate sales or exchanges of land and other 
property by memt ers of the state's tribes. This was, in tum, altered in 1855, voiding any sales 
made by individud Indians of "conveyances of any land ... belonging to or which have 
belonged to the estate of such tribe .... " (#113 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS II, Doc. 53; citing Public 
Acts, Ch. 65, 79-~ 0). The 1866 act was somewhat expanded. The "Pequot" reference in Section 
9 was to the Mash mtucket Pequot, not to the Eastem Pequot (Rev. Stat. Conn., Title 33, 522-
524; #113 Pet. HI~;T DOCS II, Doc. 54). In these mid-19th century statues, the duties of the 
overseers were clearly specified as being to tribes - not to individual Indians. 

The 1888 Connecticut laws re-enacted the prior provisions that in those counties where Indians 
resided, with the e:(ception of Litchfield County, the superior court should annually appoint the 
overseer, who should "have the care and management of their lands and money and see that they 
are used for the bc:;t interests of the Indians, and that the rents, profits, and income thereof are 
applied to their beIlefit" (#113 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS II, Doc. 58; citing Rev. Stat. Conn., Title 
4, Ch. 6). The 1888 legislation made no significant changes in the prior statute. 

The only legisiatio 1 in the 19th century sequence that specifically named the Eastern Pequot was 
the 1873 bill that althorized the sale of part of the Lantern Hill reservation (see discussion above 
under land). 

Legislation and Lel~li Opinions in the 20th Century. In 1902, Connecticut re-enacted the 1888 
legislation that pro'/ided that the superior court "in any county, except the county of Litchfield, 
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in which a tribe (If Indians resides" should annually appoint an overseer for such tribe 
(Connecticut Re\ ised Statutes 1902, Chapter 242, pp. 1063-1064; # 113 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS 
II, Doc. 59). These provisions were contained in the 1918 Connecticut Statutes (see 1930 
statement by overseer, below) and in the 1930 Connecticut Statutes (Connecticut Revised 
Statutes, 1930, Tl tie :51, Chapter 272, Section 5057, pp. 1580-83). In 1930, the Eastern Pequot 
overseer wrote: 

At the corclusion of the hearing I sought the advice of the Honorable Allyn L. 
Brown of the Superior Court and thereafter ruled that Section 5167 of the General 
Statutes, F'"evision of 1918, makes no distinction whatever between several 
branches (If the same tribe, and that a recognized member of this tribe is not 
debarred from the occupational right of the Reservation simply because either for 
convenien::e, or expediency, or other reasons, the tribe may have been divided 
into sepan.te branches. My conclusion was that the petitioner, Franklin C. 
Williams, had the right, with the approval of the overseer, to erect a dwelling on 
the lands l:donging to the Eastern Branch of Pequot Indians (# 113 Pet. 1996, 
HIST DOCS I, Doc. 41). 

It was under the legislation assigning supervision of the State's tribes to the county superior 
courts that Judge Allyn Brown, on June 9, 1933, issued the In re Ledyard Tribe of Pequot 
Indians, Eastern Ihbe of Pequot Indians order: 

Ordered and d(!creed that the persons whose names are listed as members of the 
respective nibt::s as they appear in the Annual Reports of the Overseer on file 
herein, and this day allowed, are hereby recognized by the Court as members of 
said Tribes at this date. Applicants apply to overseer and to Atwood 1. Williams 
of Westerly, R.1. for the Eastern Tribe and Mr. John George of Stonington, Conn. 
for the Led/arcl Tribe (In re Ledyard Tribe 1933). 

The ruling listed fcrty members of the Eastern Pequot tribe, and also stated: 

Ordered and decreed that any person who may hereafter claim to be listed as a 
member of ~ither tribe shall present his or her application in writing to the 
Overseer who shall mail copies thereof to the recognized leaders of the tribes, or 
their succes ;ors, the present leader of the Eastern Tribe being Mr. Atwood 1. 
Williams of Westerly, R.I., and the present leader of the Ledyard Tribe being Mr. 
John Georgl~ of Stonington, Conn. (In re Ledyard Tribe 1933).34 

34Twenty year; later, a memorandum indicates that the Office of the Commissioner of Welfare was aware 
of the 1933 Superior Court decision in regard to the Eastern Pequot. On August 11, 1954, Clayton S. Squires, 
Division Chief, recordd "PROCEDURE to be followed on Applications from Indians to reside or build on any of 
the four Reservations" (Towns August 2001, Ex. 131). It contained the following provision: 
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In June 1934, the Superior Court renamed Raymond as Pequot overseer for another year 
(Renamed Overseer of Pequot Indians, The Day, New London, Connecticut, 6/5/1934). In 
November of the ~;ame year, he met with the State Park and Forest Commission: 

Pequot Inc ians. Mr. Peale introduced their Overseer, Mr. Raymond, who outlined 
in some detail the present condition of the tribe, domiciled on two reservations 
and in oth~T towns of Connecticut and Rhode Island, with complicating 
circumstar c:es.. Their dwindling funds and increasing need for assistance, refused 
by the tow 1S affected, obviously call for the attention of the coming Assembly, 
and after some discussion Mr. Peale was requested to take up the matter with 
Judge Allyn Brown, of the Superior Court, for further investigation and report 
(Connecticut, State of. State Park and Forest Commission. Minutes 1111411934; 
#113 Pet., Folder A-2). 

In 1935, Connecticut placed the Indian tribes under the jurisdiction of the State Parks and Forest 
Commission, usinis the phraseology: 

The state park and forest commission is authorized to act as overseer of all tribes 
of Indians :·esiding in the state, and said commission shall annually settle its 
account of the affairs of each tribe with the comptroller, . .. Said commission, as 
such overSI:er, shall have the care and management of the lands and money of 
sllch Indians and cause the same to be used for their best interest, ... and is 
authorized to sell or exchange any real or personal property belonging to any 
member of any such tribe of Indians (Connecticut General Statutes 1935, Title 
51, chapter 272, Section 1587). 

The State Parks and Forest Commission adopted rules for tribal membership in 1936 
(Connecticut State Parks and Forest Commission 1936). The Towns argue that it is significant 
that, "this action b:( the Commission represented the first time in the course of its 300-year 
relationship with its indigenous Indians that the central government of Connecticut established 
eligibility requirements for the determination of tribal membership" (Towns August 2001, 214). 
In 1939, the ConnEcticut General Assembly held public hearings concerning the reservations 
(Connecticut General Assembly Hearing 1939; #35 Pet., Laws; Second Criterion (a) Folder; 
# 113 Pet. NaIT., E)<. X; # 113 Pet. 1996, ETH DOCS 1II, Doc. 58). The main result of these 
hearings was the sllbmission of a proposal to transfer authority over the State's Indian 
Reservations to the Commissioner of Welfare (Connecticut Act 1939; #35 Pet., State; #113 Pet. 

4. Applicant :0 obtain from Mr. Williams (if Eastern Pequot) authorization 
or permiss on to be allowed to reside on the Eastern Pequot Reservation; 
or from M·. John George if a Western Pequot member desiring to reside 
on the Res ~rva1:ion at Ledyard. See Superior Court Order (New London 
County( [s'c] dated June 9,1933 (Squires Procedure 8/11/1954). 
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A-2; #113050 File; CT FOIA #18). This transfer was enacted but did not take effect until after 
November 1940. 

Apparently as a s ~condary result of the hearings, on May 18, 1939, Francis A. Pallotti, Attorney­
General of Conne cticut, by Joseph P. Smith, Assistant Attorney-General, issued an opinion to 
the State Board 0 C Fisheries and Game, to the attention of R. P. Hunter, Superintendent, in 
response to the Board's request for an opinion as to "whether full-blooded Indians have a right to 
hunt, trap and fish in this State without a license" (Towns August 2001, Ex, 122; Lynch 1998, 
5: 126-127). The ')pinion referenced the fact that "[ w]e do not find that the State of Connecticut 
or the Federal Government ever made a treaty with any of the Indian tribes inhabiting the State 
of Connecticut" a ld found that the Connecticut statute of 1796 provided in part that, "[i]t shall 
be the duty of the Civil Authority and Selectmen of such towns wherein are any tribes ofInciians, 
to take care that they be well acquainted with the laws of the State made for the punishment of 
immoralities as they may be guilty of; and make them sensible that they are liable to the 
penalties, in case 1 hey transgress the laws" (Pallotti to State Board of Fisheries and Game 
5/J 8/1939). The opinion continued: 

Whatever 1 he status of the Indian tribes may have been in the early days of this 
commonw ~alth by virtue of treaties or laws, it is apparent that we do not have at 
the present time any Indian tribal organizations. Their political and civil rights 
can be enforced only in the courts of this State, and they are as completely subject 
to the laws of this State as any of the other inhabitants thereof. While Indians are 
expressly exempted from the Fish and Game Laws of some of the States of the 
Union, no !,uch exemption exists in this State. 

Excepting :;uch rights as the Indians may have on their reservations, we arc of the 
opinion that Indians do not have the right to hunt, fish or trap in this State without 
a license therefor (Pallotti to State Board of Fisheries and Game 5118/1939). 

The 1941 act whic 1 transferred jurisdiction over Connecticut Indian tribes to the Commissioner 
of Welfare used pr~cisely the same terminology in regard to the duties of the office designated as 
overseer as had be(~n used by the 1935 act (Supplement to the Connecticut General Statutes, Title 
51, Chapter 272, S,~ction 5920. These provisions continued in the Connecticut statutes through 
the 1958 revision (Rev. Stat. Conn., Sec. 47-59,171). 

In 1961, on the hearing in regard to H.B. 2421, The Management of Indian Reservations, Rep. 
Fisher, speaking as Chairman of the Subcommittee of the Interim Committee on Public Welfare, 
stated: 

We jefined our responsibility as that of clarifying the responsibility of the 
state and thl! authority of the state for the four Indian reservations and for the 
persons who choose to reside on them. There are four of them and they are 
defined in the first Section of the bill. 
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Now, the present law provides only that the Commissioner of Welfare 
shall act m overseer of all tribes of Indians residing in the state, and the attorney 
General ha s ruled that this section does not give the Welfare Commissioner the 
authority tl) establish regulations for the administration of these reservations. The 
Welfare Commissioner does receive and extend an appropriation made by the 
General A!;sembly for the care of Indians. He also is responsible for the 
administra :ion of the tribal funds .... (CT Hearing on H.B. No. 2421 3/23./1951, 
23). 

The 1961 Act not )nly gave the general definition of "Indian" as "a person of at least one-eighth 
Indian blood of tht tribe for whose use any reservation was set out" but also continued that, 
among the four Ccnnecticut reservations enumerated: "'reservation' means the Eastern Pequot 
reservation in the lown of North Stonington, assigned to the use of the Eastern Pequot tribe; ... 
. " and noted in Sec. 5 that, "Tribal funds shall be under the care and control of the welfare 
commissioner ... Said commissioner shall annually settle his accounts of the affairs of each 
tribe with the cont'olkr, .... " (CT Public Acts, #304 1961). 

In 1973, Connecticut establ ished the CIAC and transferred jurisdiction over the State's Indian 
affairs from the W ~lfare Department to the Department of Environmental Protection (CT Public 
Act No. 73-660; signed into law June 22,1973; effective October 1,1973). 

On November 8, 1 n9, Ella Grasso, Governor of Connecticut, in a letter to Fred Williams, 
Intergovernmental Relations, made the following statements while declaring the Pallcatuck 
Eastern Pequot Tribe to be a Connecticut governmental unit eligible for revenue sharing: 

... the Pau ;atuck Eastern Pequot tribe has a recognized tribal governing body 
which exen:Jises substantial governmental functions. Data provided to my office 
by the Connecticut Indian Affairs Council indicates that the Paucatuck Eastern 
Pequot tribl! exhibits the following governmental functions: maintenance of a 
formal govl~rning structure with appropriate executive offices. Determination of 
tribal memhership and assignment of reservation land in accordance with the 
regulations of the Indian Affair Council. Operation of small tribal businesses. 
Maintenanc e: of revenue for internal tribal operations. Planning and 
implementation of economic development projects. Because of existing statutes, 
tribal governments relate directly to the state and are not an integral part of local 
governmenl. Connecticut tribes appoint a representative to serve on the Indian 
Affairs Council which is the principal state administrative body dealing with 
Indian matt~rs. The relevant tribal population by county, location of tribal trust 
land and ch .ef t:xecutive officer for the tribe is listed below. I request that this 
tribe be included as a unit of Connecticut local government for revenue sharing 
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purposes (Grasso to Williams 111811979; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/200 I, 
Ex. 44).35 

In 1981, the CIAC prepared a bill which was stated by Department of Welfare Commissioner 
Stanley Pac to recognize "each Tribe by the historical name deemed appropriate by the Tribe 
rather than a desc ~iptive label applied by a State agency in the distant and past and continuing 
into the current Statues" (Testimony on Raised Committee Bill 7272, An Act Concerning 
Connecticut Indians before the Government Administration and Elections Committee 
3/3011981). The testimony did not indicate the basis upon which the name "Paucatuck Eastern 
Pequot" was deemed appropriate. J6 The change of the state-recognized tribe's name to 
"Paucatuck Eastem Pequot Tribe" was incorporated into the Connecticut General Statues 47 -59a 
in 1982. 

In 1989, Connecti::ut passed Public Law 368, An Act Implementing the recommendations of the 
Task Force on lnd ian Affairs" (Ex. 44, Notebook H, EP Response to Comments 8/2/2001). 

35See also PEP's analysis of the significance of this letter (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/200 1,31; PEP 
Response to Comments 9/4/200 I). 

36EP stated tl) the Governor of Connecticut in 1992: 

Because ther~ has been some confusion regarding the tribe's name in the past, we would like to 
advise you It at the tribe has historically been known as the Eastern Pequot tribe, however, in 1982 
and again in 1989, the state legislature changed the name of the tribe in the Connecticut General 
Statutes. Thl~ name Paucatuck refers to the original location of the tribe in and around Stonington 
(formerly knnvn as Paucatuck) and the Paucatuck River. We did not approve of the legislature's 
change ofth(, historical name and we have chosen to use the name which we have always used (R. 
Sebastian to IVeicker 3/1 0/1992, 2). 

The language in the S:nate Report for the Federal bill in regard to Mashantucket Pequot land claims used both 
terms: "Section 2( e) finds that the Mashantucket Pequot Tribal Council as now constituted is the sole successor in 
interest to the aborigir al group known as the Western Pequot tribe. This finding is intended to make it clear that the 
Mashantucket Pequot Indian Claims Settlement Act in no way affects the interests, whatever they may be, of the 
Paucatuck Pequot Tribe (also known as the Eastern Pequot Tribe) (98'11 Congress, 125 Session, Senate Report No. 
98-222, Calendar No. 369, Authorizing Funds for the Settlement of Indian Claims in the Town of Ledyard, Conn. 
September 14, 1983, 10; PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 104). Identical language appeared in the House Report 
dated March 21, 1983 (98'11 Congress 151 Session, House of Representatives Report No. 98-43, 5; PEP Comments 
8/2/200 I, Ex. 104). 

"The Connecticut Indian Affairs Council (CIAC) appealed to the State Legislature to have certain tribal names 
changed on the State l.aw books. The request was to 'reflect their historically accurate names, rather than the State 
imposed designation.' The major part of this request (House Bill 7272) was to put the land in Colchester into trust 
status for the Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe. The bill passed and the land became State trust land; the tribal names 
changed are: Golden Hill to Golden Hill Paugussett; Eastern Pequot to Paucatuck Pequot; Western Pequot to 
Mashantucket Pequot' (Sarabaia to Sebastian 3/30/1985; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 40). 

The 1989 legislation once more modified the name from "Paucatuck Pequot" to "Paucatuck Eastern Pequot" (CT 
P.A. 89-368 1989, Sec. 22). 
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Most of this act de alt with the protection of archaeological artifacts and sites. Beginning with 
Sec. 16, the statute: repealed Section 47-59a of the general statutes; it continued the prior 
language in regard to citizenship (paragraph (a» and added the following provision: 

(b) The Stc te of Connecticut further recognizes that the indigenous tribes, ... the 
Paucatuck Eastern Pequot, ... are self-governing entities possessing powers and 
duties over tribal members and reservations. Such powers and duties include the 
power to d,~tenll1ine tribal membership and residency on reservation land, (2) 
deternline 1 he tribal form of government, (3) regulate trade and commerce on the 
reservation, (4) make contracts, and (5) determine tribal leadership in accordance 
with tribal practice and usage (CT Public Law 368, Sec. 16 1989). 

The Towns note a sentence in Sec. 17(b) which states: "Nothing in this chapter shall be 
construed to confer tribal status under federal law on the indigenous tribes" (Towns August 2001, 
265-266). PEP aQ;ues that the use of the term "Paucatuck Eastern Pequot" indicates that 
petitioner # 113 is I he state-recognized tribe (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001, 38; PEP 
Response to Comnents 9/4/200 I). Sections 17, 18, and 19 regulate the relationship between the 
state-recognized tribes. and the State of Connecticut. 

In 1995, an Offici, I Statement by John G. Rowland, Governor, designating November 1996 as 
Native American ~10nth in the State of Connecticut continued to use the terminology of the 1989 
Act: "WHEREAS, Connecticut further recognizes that the indigenous tribes, the Schaghticoke, 
the Paucatuck Easlem Pequot, the Mashantucket Pequot, the Mohegan and the Golden Hill 
Paugussett are self governing entities possessing powers and duties over tribal members and 
reservations; .... " (Rowland 1996, PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 57). 

Gavernment-to-Gevernment Relationship. The State and Towns note that, unlike the Federal 
government, the Slate and colony did not have criteria for determining that an Indian group was 
a tribe. However, :he State dealt with a fixed and defined set of tribes., which changed only 
through formal detribalization procedures under supervision of the legislature. Federal 
recognition generally required that a tribal political entity existed and that there was a specific 
Federal action, e.g., a law or treaty, which authorized Federal relations. In the case of 
Connecticut, the equivalents of those actions in relation to all the State's tribes occurred in the 
colonial period. 

The State 's Comm~nts combined discussion of two topics. One, asserted in various ways, is 
that, "State recognition cannot and did not control the decision to place an Indian tribe in a 
govemment-to-go\ernment relationship with the United States" (State o/Connecticut August 
2001, 15; see also ,Itate a/Connecticut August 2001, 17-20). This assertion is beside the point, 
since the proposed findings did not do this. Rather, the proposed finding concluded that a 
specifically defined form of State relationship (continuous recognition from colonial times to the 
present combined with continuous existence of a State reservation), provided the basis to assign 
additional weight t) other evidence. The State's second topic that, "Under the Regulations, State 
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Recognition Does Not Augment or Supplement Evidence for the Other Mandatory Criteria" is 
relevant to this gt!neral issue. 

Even though the State varied in its opinion concerning ownership of or legal title to the Lantern 
Hill reservation, the State consistently defined its obligation toward the Eastern Pequot tribe as 
being that of a tnste(!, looking out for the tribe's best interests. In 1939, at the legislative 
hearings in regard to a proposed sale of camp sites on the Lantern Hill reservation to the non­
Indian lessees, someone identified as "First Representative for Mr. Filley, Secretary of State 
Park and Forest Commission," presented the following statement: "I want to point out that this 
reservation is held in trust for the Indians .... This is the Indians' land, not the State's. We 
simply hold it in trust for them .... These Indians are not citizens of the town; they do not get 
much help from tIle town in the way of relief," subsequently adding, "They are not citizens of 
the town; they are state wards. We are looking after the interests of the Indians, and believe it is 
contrary to public int(!rest if this sale is made" (CT Hearing 1939 re: HB No. 347,6; PEP 
Comments 8/2/20Jl, Ex. 55). 

In 1941, Connecti ~ut legislation transferred the supervisory authority over the State's tribes and 
reservations from the Parks and Forest Commission to the Office of the Commissioner of 
Welfare. Clayton Squires, Director of that office, wrote a memorandum requesting clarification 
of his authority to Ernest E. A. Halstedt, Assistant Attorney General, on December 13, 1949; 
Halstedt replied to Squires on May 24, 1950. In regard to the authority and responsibility of the 
Commissioner of'Nelfare (PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 57; Towns August 2001, Ex. 37),37 he 
stated: "Broad aul hority is given by Section 7168 of the General Statutes, Revision of 1949, to 
the Commissioner of Welfare, as overseer of all the tribes of Indians residing in the state, to 
cause the property of such Indians to be used for their best interest" (Halstedt to Squires 
5/2411950,1). In legard to the Eastern Pequot, Halstedt's memo specifically referenced the 1683 
land purchase as n:corded in the Public Records of the Colony of Connecticut 3: 117 (Halstedt to 
Squires 5/2411950, 1-2) and the statute of 1824 (Halstedt to Squires 5/2411950, 2), leading to a 
conclusion that: 

This same protective tenor runs through the present applicable statutes. It 
therefore ar1pears that the lands comprising the Indian reservations of Connecticut 
do not belong to the various tribes, but are merely set aside for their use and 
benefit so long as there shall be an Indian to reside thereon, after which these 
lands will wvert to the state (Halstedt to Squires 512411950, 2). 

37 As a general principle, the BIA is aware that many documents have been submitted multiple times in the 
course of the processinl~ of this petition. The BIA will not attempt to cite to every occurrence of a document in the 
record, but will cite to either the first occasion upon which it was located and used or, in certain circumstances, to 
the best copy available. Th(~ evidentiary content of the document remains the same, no matter who submitted it, or 
when. 
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Although this opin:ion was somewhat at variance with the concept of trusteeship that had been 
expressed by the Director of the Parks and Forest Service at the 1939 hearings, both effectively 
stay that the land 'Nas owned by the State, effectively in trust for the Indian tribes. This is 
consistent with tht~ text of the various 19th and 20th century statutes. 

Analysis of Comn~~nts and Responses: Federal Views of the Status of State-Recognized Tribes. 
The Towns submi :ted documents from the Congressional debate immediately proceeding 
passage of the 1830 Removal Act which commented on the status of Indians in the original 13 
Colonies (Towns /!ugust 2001). They also cite later correspondence from the Department of the 
Interior which states that Department's view that the Indians in the 13 original states were not 
under Federal juri~:diction and had become citizens of those states, with the exception of certain 
tribes with whom Ihe Federal government had treaties (e.g., Cherokee and Iroquois). 

The Federal view in the 19th century was that the members of non-federally-recognized tribes in 
the 13 original states had become citizens and were the responsibility of the states in which they 
were located, and lherefore, by the definition at that time, not in tribal relations. This fact in 
itself made them n)t a Federal responsibility, even when, as can be seen in the case of 
Connecticut and scme others of the original 13 colonies, the members of the tribes under state 
guardianship were not considered by the states themselves to be citizens of the state in which 
they resided. 38 This point of view held even where the Federal government knew that tribes 
existed for which i ~ had not acknowledged a responsibility (e.g., in Maine, and elsewhere). 

For these reasons, ·.he material cited by the Towns concerning Federal views of State Indians in 
the 19th century is not relevant for purposes of evaluating the Eastern Pequots' status in 
relationship to the :~tate of Connecticut as it pertains to the acknowledgment regulations. The 
evidence concemir g a distinct State citizenship status for Indians from the tribes for which 
Connecticut maintc.ined reservations is discussed above. 

38 Massachusetts, Rhode Island, Virginia, and South Carolina were typical cases. Members of Slale­
recognized Indian tribes were not necessarily (or even usually) viewed by a given state as being state citizens, even 
when the Federal govelTlme:nt classified them as such. 

For Massachusetts, consult Ann Marie Plane and Gregory Button, The Massachusetts Indian 
Enfranchisement Act; Ethnic Contest in Historical Context, 1849-1869, Ethnohistory 40 (1993): 587-618; for 
Rhode Island, see the s~quence of reports issued by the Commissioners on Narragansett Indians from 1881-1883, in 
particular, as to determ nations as to maintenance of tribal relations, if a man had voted other than in tribal elections, 
whether in Rhode Island, Connecticut, or Massachusetts (Report of Commissioners on Narragansett Indians 1881, 
86-86, 103). 

For Virginia, (onsult the legislation and debates in regard to the detribalization of the Gingaskin and 
Nansemond. In regard to the Catawba as non-citizens of the State of South Carolina, see D. M. Browning, Letter 
From the Commissioner of Indian Affairs to R. V. Belt 8/28/1896 (reprinted in The Catawba Tribe of Indians, 
Senate Document 144, S4'h Congress, 2nd Session, 3-10); Office ofIndian Affairs, Report to Commissioner of 
Indian Affairs on Catavlba Indians of South Carolina 1/5/1911 (original NARA RG 75, 8990-1908-052, pt. I; 
Reprinted in Hearings c.n HR 2399, to Provide for the Settlement of Land Claims of the Catawba Tribe of Indians In 

the State of South Caro ina and the Restoration of the Federal Trust Relationship with the Tribe. Serial No. 103-34. 
Government Printing Office). 
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Analysis of Com Ilents and Responses: Precedents for Using State Recognition. In no previous 
acknowledgment case was there continuous state recognition since early colonial times 
(essentially since the tribe first was no longer independent ofa non-Indian political entity) up 
until the present. To that extent, the parties' comments on precedents from previous 
acknowledgment decisions are not applicable, since it is both the State's actions and the 
continuity throughout history that provided the rationale for giving greater weight to the 
evidence in the proposed finding. 

The Towns and State additionally argue that because the regulations only specifically mentioned 
state recognition mder criterion 83.7(a), concerning external identification as an Indian entity, 
that it cannot be (,therwise used as evidence. The regulations clearly state that the specific kinds 
of evidence mentoned in § 83.7 are not proscriptive lists (see statements in §§ 83.6(g) and 
83.7(b) and (c». 

They also cite the 1997 Official Guidelines to the effect that state recognition does not carry any 
special weight. ~'his advice was meant to address the idea on the part of some petitioners that 
any kind of state recognition was in effect an initial step towards Federal recognition. The 
advice was not m ~ant to foreclose the approach taken here. 

It is true that giving state recognition greater weight was considered and rejected in the early 
process of formul ation of the original, 1978 regulations. However, this rejection rested in part of 
the great diversity in character of state recognition, particularly the then-recent phenomenon of 
new state recogni :ions made on an uncertain basis. These recognitions are distinguishable from 
a consistent course of actions towards a distinct group, deriving from the point, more or less that 
the independently governed tribe came under the control of the Crown and Colony. The 
preamble to the 1978 regulations commented that "It should also be noted that recognition by 
State government officials or legislatures is not conclusive evidence that the group meets the 
criteria set forth herein" (43 FR 39361). [emphasis added] 

Analysis of Comr}ents and Responses: Government-to-Government Relationship. In the on-the­
record technical a~sistance meeting, BIA staff indicated specifically that a "govemment-to­
government relati )nship" parallel to the Federal relationship with tribes lay behind the 
assignment of gre lter weight to the evidence for criteria 83. 7(b) and 83. 7( c) in the proposed 
finding. "Govern 11ent-to-government" is indeed a modern term. It did not come into usage until 
the 1970's, but is consistent with and derived from Federal views on tribal status dating from the 
early 19th century which rested in part on the existence of tribes as distinct political communities 
(i.e., dependent domestic nations) within the United States. The central issue for the AS-IA in 
the proposed finding was not a specific relationship with a governing body of the Eastern Pequot 
tribe but rather th(~ continuous nature of the State relationship with the tribe defined by the 
existence of the rc: servation, the oversight responsibility of the State, and the unique status of the 
tribes under Conn ecticut laws, distinct from all other Connecticut residents. 

78 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement PEP-V001-D006 Page 88 of 207 



Final Dcternlination, I'aucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

Summation of Analysis of Comments and Responses. Connecticut's relationship with its 
recognized tribes \vas not a racial classification based on Indian descent of individuals. Non­
tribal Indians living in Connecticut (whether they were from other States, such as Rhode Island 
or New York, or themselves natives of Connecticut and descendants of aboriginal Connecticut 
tribes), even those living in New London County, and even those living in StoningtonlNorth 
Stonington were nl)t under state-appointed overseers and not under local guardians unless there 
was some other factor, such as mental incompetency, to be considered. The following major 
components show that there was a special relationship based upon the distinct nature of the tribes 
for which the colony/state bore responsibility. The relation between the State of Connecticut and 
the Eastern Pequot comprised the following elements: 

Historicity. The Sate inherited its obligation from the Colony and the evidence does not show 
that the State ever ~uestioned that it had such an obligation. The various items cited by the 
Towns in their sec: ion on Federal agreement with jurisdiction by Connecticut and other States 
succeeding to the (Iriginal 13 colonies over their tribes during the first half of the 19th century 
actually reinforce this point of view. There is no requirement in Federal law that such a 
relationship must tiC established by treaty. 

Legislation. Begir ning in the colonial era, Connecticut has regularly legislated concerning the 
tribes within its borders, including modifying the statutes as recently as 1989. 

Re~!Ularity. When there was no immediate activity, the laws remained in force and the 
reservation contim.cd 1:0 exist. When issues came up that required the legislature to take notice, 
it did so. Changes in State policy over time do not undermine this continuity, because no 
relationship continJing for over 350 years can be expected to remain static -- it may be affected 
by local circumstances, and sometimes even by ignorance upon the part of people trying to carry 
out the laws. 

Fiduciary ResponsUJili!y. A fiduciary responsibility began in the colonial era and included but 
was not limited toegal protection of tribal lands and funds, with certain consistent requirements, 
such as no sale oflndian land without consent of the legislature. While the State has expressed 
differences of opinion about the exact nature of its responsibility for its tribes and the exact 
nature of the land titles over the course of time, it has never denied that this obligation existed. 
The argument that Indians were solely the responsibility of the locality is completely 
unsupported by the evidence. When a Superior Court or a Town had an obligation, it held it by 
delegation from the State. Much of the time, the Towns did not recognize any obligation to the 
tribes within their borders -- as instanced by their appealing to the State for reimbursement from 
the Indian funds w len they did extend assistance. The argumentation that there were long 
periods of time when the State appeared to take only minimal notice of the Eastern Pequot is not 
valid in light of all fonns of documentation taken together, including the regular enactment or 
reenactment of statutes. 
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Oversight. The oversight function of the State operated continuously and generated large 
numbers of records. Beginning in the colonial era and involving at various times the publication 
of laws, appoin:rnent of indigenous governors operating in cooperation with non-Indian 
overseers, remaIld to the care of the governor and council, direct legislative appointment of 
overseers, delet:ation of oversight to the Superior Court of the county in which the tribe was 
located, and resumption of direct State oversight. 

Special Nature ortlle Continuous State Relationship Based on the Existence of Tribes. While 
organizations that were not Indian tribes certainly had right to petition the government, as the 
Towns point out their argumentation is inapplicable in that non-tribes were not petitioning about 
reservations and overseers for which the State bore responsibility. Neither did the State have to 
"detribalize" and allot private clubs or charitable organizations in order to shed a fiduciary and 
oversight respon ~ibility, nor did it need to specifically grant State citizenship to the members of 
such voluntary 0 ~ganizations. 

Citizenship. The actions of the State indicate that members of the State recognized tribes were 
not, at least under law, fully citizens of the State until legislation passed in 1973. The 
detribalization onhe Mohegan and Western Niantic in the second halfofthe 191h century had the 
granting of State citizenship specifically tied to it. The State was at best uncertain of the 
applicability of the 1924 Federal act granting citizenship to all Indians native to the United 
States, continuing to grant tax exemptions to reservation residents and limit their voting rights. 

Conclusion. A dl:tailed review of the history and documents indicates that Connecticut has 
maintained an un interrupted, continuous relationship with the Eastern Pequot tribe from colonial 
times to the present. Some of the aspects of that continuous relationship, such as the tax exempt 
status of the reservation land and the citizenship status of tribal members until 1973, indicate that 
Connecticut, thro Jghout the period, defined its tribes as distinct political entities. 

The nature of Connecticut's relationship with the Eastern Pequot tribe from the colonial period 
to the present, even without application of the modem phrase "government-to-government," has 
been such as to provide an additional form of evidence to be weighed together with other 
evidence. This eyidence exists throughout the time span, but is most important during specific 
periods where the other evidence in the record concerning community and political influence 
would be insuffici ent by itself. 
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ANALYSIS OF EVIDENCE UNDER THE CRITERIA 

83.7(a) 

83.7(a-g) 

The petitioner has been identified as an American 
Indian entity on a substantially continuous basis 
since 1900. Evidence that the group's character as 
an Indian entity has from time to time been denied 
shall not be considered to be conclusive evidence 
that this criterion has not been met. 

The Summary und~r the Criteria for the proposed finding and the associated charts analyzed 
evidence for extemal identification of the petitioner as an American Indian entity from 1900 to 
the present. The p ~oposed finding concluded that the combination of the various forms of 
evidence, taken in historical context, provides sufficient external identification of the historical 
Eastern Pequot trit,e as an American Indian entity from 1900 until the present, and of the 
petitioner as a group which has existed within that entity.39 

PEP, petitioner # I .3 has specifically rejected the evidentiary analysis upon which the positive 
conclusion for criterion 83.7(a) was based.40 Namely, it asserts that it was never at any point in 
time part of a single tribe to which the antecedents of petitioner #35, EP, also belonged.41 PEP 
also specifically r~iects the validity of residence on the Lantern Hill Reservation or inclusion 
upon Eastern PequJt overseers' lists or accounts as indicating that an individual so recorded was 
a member of the historical Eastern Pequot tribe (ef McMullen 9/4/2001, 5; PEP Response to 
Comments 9/4/20C 1, "This [1875-1881] is the period during which a sizable disjuncture between 

390ne passag l ! in the Towns' comments may have been meant to pertain to criterion 83.7(a), but was not 
designated as such: "e ne of the few descriptions by an olltside observer during that period was made by local 
historian Richard Anson Wheeler, who stated in 1900 that the reservation did not contain 'a residence of any Pequot 
descendants,' which C,in be interpreted as meaning that Wheeler did not consider its residents to be Pequot 
descendants" (Towns .tIl/gust 2001,335; no citation to source). This passage was already discussed in the proposed 
finding (PEP PF 2000, 80; citing Wheeler 1900, 195, as quoted in Lynch 1998a, 5:96). 

40"From 190C to the present, the petitioner's antecedent group, the Eastern Pequot tribe based on the 
reservation at Lantern Hill in North Stonington, New London County, Connecticut, has regularly been identified as 
an Indian entity. The lIlajority of the identifications specifically included the petitioner's direct or collateral 
ancestors as members )f that entity" (PEP PF 2000, 65). 

"From 1900 through the early 1970's, identifications indicated the presence of a single entity, although sometimes 
mentioning the presenl:t: oftt:nsions and conflicts within that entity" (PEP PF 2000, 65). 

41"lt is critical thalt the AS -lA accurately understands the evidence in this case, which demonstrates the 
fact that the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe and the members of Petitioner #35 have never, at any point in time, 
constituted a single Indian Itribe" (Austin Introduction 8/2/200 I, 5; PEP Comments 8/2/200 I). 
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the tribal community and the reservation community began to groW.,,).42 These assertions by 
PEP required ccmp.lete reanalysis of the evidence for external identification from 1900 to the 
present under criterion 83.7(a).43 

The evidence itself, as it was listed in the chart for criterion 83.7(a) that accompanied the 
proposed finding on PEP and analyzed for the proposed finding (PEP PF 2000,64-66), remains 
the same, since the petitioner neither submitted additional evidence in regard to external 
identification of it as an American Indian entity separate from identifications of the complete 
body of the histcricaI Eastern Pequot tribe for the period 1900-1973, nor presented 
argumentation t~ at showed its own antecedents as the object of external identifications other 
than those used for the proposed finding. It is therefore the applicability of the evidence used for 
criterion 83. 7(a) in the proposed finding for the period 1900-1973 to petitioner # 113 's direct 
antecedents ~hat . s at issue in the reanalysis ofthe evidence under criterion 83.7(a). 

External identifications that clearly encompassed a joint group by listing the antecedents of both 
current petitioners as members of the historical Eastern Pequot tribe, such as those by the State 
of Connecticut ard its subordinate agencies (for example, the overseers' reports )44 from 1900 
through 1973 (fol example, In re Ledyard Tribe 1933) do not provide external identifications as 
an Indian entity fi)r p'etitioner #113 separate from the remainder of the historical Eastern Pequot 
tribe. Specifical1:l" the activities of the State of Connecticut's agencies (the State Parks and 

42Petitioner'; researchers upon occasion misinterpreted some of the evidence in the overseers' reports, as, 
for example, in conflLting Gilbert Billings, who was overseer in the later 19th century, with Gilbert Raymond, who 
was overseer in the la tt! 1920's and early 1930's: "Unlike earlier overseers, Billings did not use any system of 
maiden names or parc::nthetical notations to remind himself of the family connections of those he listed. This is 
especially important t ecause 1910 to 1929 marks the disappearance of many long-established tribal surnames, 
largely through the mlrriage of Paucatuck women to non-Indians or non-Paucatucks, and Billings must have had a 
difficult time figuring it aLi out" (McMullen 9/4/200 I, 6; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/200 I). 

Billings was ,10 longer overseer during the 1910-1929 period of time; the overseer for this period was 
Charles Stewart. 

43It also, as ",ill be seen below, required reanalysis of the pre-I973 evidence for criteria 83.7(b) and 
83.7(c). PEP also clai Tied that the proposed finding "BAR researchers and staff have not had sufficient time and 
opportunity to comple; ely understand the complex and highly unusual circumstances surrounding the 
relationship-or lack th !reof-between the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot and the self-named Eastern Pequots" 
(McMullen 9/4/200 I, :'; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/200 I). 

44For example, June 13, 1919. Members of the Tribe; John Randall, Alexd. Randall, Phebe Jackson, Irene 
Jackson, Jeamie Jacksc n, Lucy Jackson, Wm. Jackson, Fannie Jackson, Ed. Jackson, Maria Simmons, Mary 
Simmons, Herman Sirr,mons, Russel Simmons, Dwight Goodhere, Jesse Williams, Mary Watson, Grace Gardner, 
Clarence Sebastian, Sarah Swan, Phebe Spellman, Mrs. Calvin Williams, Mrs. Rachel Silver. (#113 Pet. 1996, 
HIST DOCS I. Doc. 41; #35 Pet. Overseers Reports). 

All of the ove! seers' reports in the record from 1900 through the issuance of In re Ledyard in 1933 
included individuals an tecedent to both petitioner #113 and petitioner #35. All but one (1929) included members of 
the Sebastian family. tfnder PEP's hypothesis, these identifications do not constitute identifications of a tribal 
entity, or of itself. 
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Forest Commission 1935-1941, the Department of Welfare 1941-1973) until the transfer of 
jurisdiction over Connecticut's Indian reservations to the Department of Environmental 
Protection and the establishment of the Connecticut Indian Affairs Commission (CIAC) 
pertained to the Untem Hill Reservation and to all of its residents. The State's dealings with 
Atwood I. Williams did not constitute identification of any entity separate from the residents of 
the Lantern Hill reservation overall. This material, individual1y and collectively, did not 
constitute a separate identification of PEP as an American Indian entity. 

All of Connecticut's kgislation from 1900-1973 pertained to the State's responsibility for its 
Indian reservation~;, including the Lantern Hill (Eastern Pequot) reservation. It did not constitute 
an external identification of the antecedents of PEP, apart from that collective group, as an 
American Indian entity. 

The 1900 Federal Census (NARA T-623, Roll 149, ED 469, Sheet 14. 1900 June 30, Twelfth 
Census of the United States, Connecticut, New London County, North Stonington, Indian 
Population/Special Enquiries Relating to Indians) listed residents of the Lantern Hill reservation 
as a group. The enlries included two households containing members ancestral to petitioner 
#113: that of William Jackson and that of Leonard Brown, in which Eunice Gardner was 
resident. The entr)' for William Jackson indicated that his mother was Pequot (but not 
specifically Easten! Pequot); that for Eunice Gardner indicated that she was Narragansett, with 
both of her parents having been Pequot (but not specifically Eastern Pcquot). This does not, 
however, constitut(: an identification of petitioner #113 as an Indian entity under 83.7(a), since 
other residents on the reservation were not antecedent to petitioner # 113 and some of them, such 
as the Calvin Willi lms household, are antecedent to petitioner #35. 

The 1910 Federal Census (NARA T-724, Roll 142, ED 525, Sheet 13A: 1910, Thirteenth census 
of the United State ;., New London Co., Connecticut, Indian Population, North Stonington 
Reservation) falls into the same category of analysis. There were two households, those of 
William H. Jackson and William A. Gardner, for which the ancestry was identified as Pequot 
(but not speeifieall:1 Eastern Pequot). The reservation listing also included a household 
containing persons antecedent to petitioner #35. The identification of a reservation does identify 
an Indian entity, but one which included both PEP and EP antecedents. The remaining families 
antecedent to petiti )ner # 1 13 in 1910 were enumerated off the reservation and were not 
identified as Indian (NARA T-624, Roll 142, 1910 U.S. Census, North Stonington, New London 
County, Connecticllt, ED 525, Sheet 9A, #219/245; #218/244), which does not constitute an 
external identification of an Indian entity. 

Aside from the 1900 and 1910 Indian Population special schedules on the census, the only other 
Federal identification of an Eastern Pequot tribe prior to 1973, the 1934 Tantaquidgeon report 
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(Tantaquidgeon 1934), mentioned Atwood 1. Williams but did not identify the PEP antecedents 
as a separate American Indian entity.45 

Many of the newspaper articles for the period of the 1920s and 1930s (Last of Pequot Tribe of 
Indians Live on Lantern Hill Reservation, The Evening Day 8/5/1924; Pequots Seek to Name 
Overseer [unidentified, hand-dated c. 1930]), primarily discuss the Lantern Hill reservation and 
do not provide e)o ternal identifications as an Indian entity for petitioner # 113 separate from the 
remainder of the reservation residents. Those external identifications which indicated opposition 
by leaders who o:)posed the Sebastians, such as Atwood I. Williams, Sf. (Founders of Norwich 
Re-Elect Reginal j Reynolds President, Norwich Bulletin 6/1 011937) or Helen (Edwards) 
LeGault46 (Poor Hut Proud, Hartford Courant 7/911933; PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 99·n ), are 
acceptable as evidence under the self-definition established by petitioner # 113, in that they do 
depict the leaders antecedent to PEP. For Atwood Williams, the photograph caption describes 
him as, "sachem of the two [Eastern and Western] Pequot tribes which dwell on Connecticut 
reservations and through his untiring efforts the ancient culture and customs of his tribe are 
slowly being revi'!I:!d" (Poor but Proud, Hartford Courant 7/9/1933; PEP Comments 8/2/200 I, 
Ex. 99), but for H:!len LeGault the article emphasized that she "feels strongly against the 

45The research was accomplished during 1934 by Gladys Tantaquidgeon, a Mohegan. who submitted her 
report to COlA John Collier, dated at Norwich, Connecticut, December 6, 1934 (Tantaquidgeon 1934; United 
States, Bureau ofIndi an A ffairs. New England Groups. File No. 671-1935-150). In her "List of New England 
Indian Groups 1934," she included: 

8. Pequot, (a) Eastern and (b) Ledyard. 
Both groups mpervised by Gilbert S. Raymond, Norwich, Conn. 
Tribal organi~ation headed by Atwood 1. Williams, (Chief Silver Star) Westerly, R.I. 
"Atwood I. Vfl!I1iams (Chief Silver Star) claims to be the tribal chief of the surviving Pequot and is 
seeking to ga n legal recognition as such. This office is honorary and Mr. Williams acts as master 
of ceremonie; at tribal and public meetings" (Tantaquidgeon 1934, Pequot 4). 

A version of this report was published early in 1935, a section entitled, "The Connecticut Bands" in an article 
entitled "New Englanc Indian Council Fires Still Bum," Indians at Work: A News Sheet/or Indians and the Indian 
Service, February I, E 135. Washington, DC: Office of Indian Affairs. #95390 (Tantaquidgeon 1935; NP App. 47). 
It stated: 

The Pequot are located on two reservations in eastern Connecticut, in the towns of Ledyard and 
Stonington [SIC], New London County. Of the Pequot band, twenty-one are living on the two 
reservations. There are no cultural survivals to be noted. The Pequot have funds which have been 
built up from' he sale of wood and land. The State of Connecticut makes no appropriations for 
the maintenan ~e of the Pequot; their individual tribal trust funds are under the supervision of the 
overseer, who is appointed by the judge of the Supreme Court of New London County" 
(Tantaquidgecn 1935). 

46See, "The Life of Helen Dorothy Edwards LeGault" (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001,5-7; PEP 
Response to Comments 9/4/200 I). 

47Part of articll: missing at the bottom of the page. 
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intermarriage oft.1e Pequots with other races" (Poor but Proud, Hartford Courant 7/911933; PEP 
Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 99). 

On June 10, 1937, Gil.bert Raymond, the former overseer and current liaison between the State 
Park and Forest CDmmission and the Pequot reservations, gave an extensive talk on Pequot 
history to the Founders of Norwich (Founders of Norwich, Norwich Bulletin 6/10/1937). 
Raymond described the Lantern Hill reservation as a whole48 and also referenced the conflict 
between the antec,~dents of petitioners #113 and #35, but in a manner which provided 
considerably more data about the antecedents of#35. He described the marriage of "Tamer 
Brussels" to "an A friean Islander" in 1849 at the Road Church in the Town of Stonington and 
noted that it had p:'oduced more than 150 descendants, some of the children being still alive, 
notably Mrs. Calv n C. Williams, living on the reservation. Raymond then added that: 49 

The right of this strain to the tribal privileges is denied by Chief Silver Star who 
claims that the Indian girl, Tamer Brussels, was not a Pequot Indian, but as 
members of this family have been entered on the records of both tribes for over 
40 years I have never taken steps to have these names removed. Eighty-eight 
years have passed since that marriage and it is rather late in the day to find out 
very much about it (Founders of Norwich Re-Elect Reginald Reynolds President. 
Norwich Bulletin 6/1 0/1937). 

From the 1940's th ~ough the 1960's, records maintained by the State of Connecticut pertained to 
the Lantern Hill re~;ervation and its residents as a whole. While they reflected tensions between 
Helen LeGault and other residents, they did not distinguish the antecedents of PEP as an entity, 
in that Mrs. LeGault was shown as having tensions with the Hoxie/Jackson descendants, now 

48This reservation now consists of about 270 acres of wood, brush and pasture land, probably 
not over ten a';res of which can be cultivated, in the western part of the town of North Stonington 
southerly of Lantern Hill and on the eastern shore of Long pond. This is about the same size as 
when established, I:::xcept for about 60 acres which have been sold. The last sale was made about 
1880 when th(~ state legislature authorized a sale of 30 acres to Mrs. Sarah Mallory, who later sold 
the land to William L. Main. On this reservation there are six or seven houses, small frame shacks 
occupied by rr embers of the tribe, about 15 living there, the number varying from time to time. 
The children vlho go to school from there attend the country school on the Westerly road about 
one and one-hllfmiles this side of North Stonington village. There are also three cottage on the 
shore of the pClnd, the sites being leased by residents of Mystic, and which are used during the 
summer (Founders of Norwich, Norwich Bulletin 6/1011937). 

49See also, "Disputed Strain of Portuguese-Pequot marriage" (J.R. Williams Spiral notebook. # 113 Pet. 
ETH DOCS III, Doc. 6:;). 

In 1976, Arthur Sebasti 1I1 (born in 1910), grandson of Solomon Sebastian, testified before the CIAC: "Only at the 
time when I was rather ;mall. My grandfather, Solomon Sebastian, said that, told us that we belonged up on that 
reservation. He said We, they have always had arguments, pro and con, going on ever since, ever since he could 
remember .... " (CIAC hearing on membership in the Eastern Pequot Tribe of Connecticut 811 011976; #J 13 Pet. 
J 996, HlST DOCS II, Doc. 71; Lynch 1998, 5: 146). 
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claimed as a portic<n of PEP, as well as with the Brushell/Sebastian descendants (see more 
detailed discussior under criterion 83. 7( c». 

A 1947 article in the Westerly Sun identified Atwood I. Williams as chief of the Eastern Pequot 
tribe, but did not provide any description of a tribal entity, mentioning only that he opposed a 
proposed sale of n servation land. (Indian Chief Opposes Selling North Stonington Tribal Land, 
Westerly Sun Suncay, May 5,1947 [typed identification of name and date]; PEP Comments 
8/2/2001, Ex. 52). 

Since 1973, the mHjority of the external identifications by CIAC and the State have identified 
PEP as a subgroup within the larger, historical, Eastern Pequot tribe with claims to the Lantern 
Hill Reservation. 50 An example of this is the communication from CIAC coordinator Mikki 
Aganstata (Aganstlta to Sebastian 211311979). PEP argues that Ms. Aganstata was mistaken in 
her evaluation, indicating that she was "new to her Department of Environmental Protection 
position and the ccnflict between the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe and the Sebastians, and did 
not realize the hist<)rical depth or character of the problem" (Austin, Political Authority 
9/4/2001, 29; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). This does not change the nature of the 
external identification. Documents indicate that the 1982 legislation changing the official name 
to "Paucatuck Pequot Tribe" was not intended to identify PEP as an American Indian entity 
separate from the totality of the historical Eastern Pequot tribe. The action was meant merely to 
change the desigm tion. 51 

A subsequent lette' from the CIAC coordinator explained the intent of the 1982 name change as 
follows: "The Connecticut Indian Affairs Council (CIAC) appealed to the State Legislature to 
have certain tribal names changed on the State Law books. The request was to "reflect their 
historically accura'~: names, rather than the State imposed designation." The major part of this 
request (House Bill 7272) ... ; the tribal names changed are: ... Eastern Pequot to Paucatuck 
Pequot" (Sarabia tl) Roy Sebastian 3/3011985: PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 40). 

50There are e:((;eptions to this general rule, such as the letter from Ella Grasso, Governor of Connecticut, to 
Fred Williams, Intergc vern mental Relations, which declared the "Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe" to be a unit of 
Connecticut local govl:rnment eligible for revenue sharing (Grasso to Williams 11/811979; PEP Response to 
Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 44). See, however, the 1989 statement of the Appellate Court that, "The named Plaintiffis 
one faction of a tribe and the individual plaintiffs claim to be the true members" (Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians 
o/Con11ecticut v. Connecticut Indian Affairs Council 55 A.2d 1003 (Cl. App. 1989); PEP Comments 8/2/200 I, Ex. 
60). 

51 "Section 2«1 finds that the Mashantucket Pequot Tribal Council as now constituted is the sole successor 
in interest to the aboriginal group known as the Western Pequot tribe. This finding is intended to make it clear that 
the Mashantucket PeqllOt Indian Claims Settlement Act in no way affects the interests, whatever they may be, of the 
Paucatuck Pequot Trite (also known as the Eastern Pequot Tribe) (98 th Congress, 125 Session, Senate Report No. 
98-222, Calendar No. 369, Authorizing Funds for the Settlement of Indian Claims in the Town of Ledyard, Conn. 
September 14, 1983, 10; PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 104). Identical language appeared in the House Report 
dated March 21,1983 (98 th Congress 1" Session, House of Representatives Report No. 98-43, 5; PEP Comments 
8/2/2001, Ex. 104). 
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Petitioner #113 argues that its participation in the State of Connecticut Legislative Task Force on 
Indian Affairs52 (onstitutes identification of PEP as an American Indian entity separate from the 
"Sebastian group" (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001,38; PEP Response to Comments 
9/4/2001). Howf~ver, in February 1989, the Task Force's Report to General Assembly 
specifically refer'~nced the conflict and ensuing litigation: 

The Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe is one of two groups of Pequots 
[Western/Mashantucket Pequot and Eastern Pequot] who returned to their 
aboriginal homelands after the catastrophe of the Pequot War in 1637. In 1683 
they were assligned a reservation near Long Pond in North Stonington, where 
many of the members now live on the remaining 224.6 acres. The Tribe has 300 
to 500 me11bers, but is hindered in its efforts at development by a membership 
eligibility dispute now on appeal in the Connecticut courts. See Paucatuck 
Eastern PcqQ.Qt Indians vs. Connecticut Indian Affairs Council, Superior Court, 
Judicial District of Hartford, Docket No. 2906127 (July 17, 1987) (CT Legislative 
Task ForCI~ 1989,2). 

This statement do'!s not rise to the level of identifying petitioner # 113 as an American Indian 
entity separate from the historical context of the Lantern Hill reservation as a whole, but 
reinforces the idee that there was a continuous, single, tribe. The Task Force clearly refers to a 
single tribe involved in a membership dispute. Similarly, the petitioner cites the following 
instance and state~ that, "[tJhis evidence demonstrates that the State's CIAC accepted Helen 
LeGault as the Pallcatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe's duly selected representative in 1976" (Austin, 
Political Authority 9/4/2001, 27; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001): 

In 1976, th ~ State of Connecticut, Register and Manual included a list of 
representatives who had been appointed to the CIAC by the State's five 
recognized tribes: ... Eastern Pequot, Helen LeGault; ... there is no mention of 
the Sebastian family of its organization in this official publication of the State, a 
year after the Sebastians formed their organization in 1975 (see Response Exhibit 
#26) (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001, 27; PEP Response to Comments 
9/4/2001). 

First, the passage does not reference a "Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe," but merely says, 
"Eastern Pequot." Second, upon examination of the circumstances, in 1976, Alton Smith, a 
Sebastian descendant, was serving as Eastern Pequot alternate delegate to CIAC, and had been 
since 1973 (see mOrl;! detailed discussion below under criterion 83.7(c». Therefore, this material 
does not constitute an external identification of petitioner # 113 as an American Indian entity 

52Connecticut Stat~: Legislature, Special Act 87-108 (1987) commissioned an Indian Affairs Task Force to 
research and report on the status of Indians in Connecticut, including the legal status title to the reservations. 
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separate from petitioner #35, but rather provides extensive identification of the petitioner as part 
of the larger IndiHn entity. 

A limited number of the newspaper articles in the record for the period since 1973 did identify a 
separate group without reference to persons antecedent to petitioner #35, such as the one 
following the dea:h of Atwood I. Williams, Jr., which focused on the intention of his children 
and grandchildrer, thl;! core membership of PEP, to return to the Lantern Hill reservation (Bates 
6/12/1979). Simi arly, on November 9, 1980, an article included a photograph of Helen LeGault 
and stated: "One tribal chairman, Helen LeGault of the Eastern Pequots, claims that for years 
non-Indians have been living on the reservation in North Stonington" (Glassman 111911980; 
#113 Pet. 1994 A-6). A similar identification appeared in 1994 (Waldman 8/15/1994, A-I, A-5; 
CT FOIA #2; stamped Exhibit A-35, page I, page 2, and page 3). 

Some additional e vid(;mce submitted for the final determination, such as newspaper articles, 
provided additiomtl instances of identification of petitioner # 113, PEP, separate from the 
historical Eastern )equot tribe, as an American Indian entity for the period since 1973. 
Identifications from 1973-2001 were not consistent, with the majority identifying PEP as a 
subgroup within tt e wider historical Eastern Pequot tribe associated with the Lantern Hill 
reservation.53 The:c are, however, sufficient separate identifications, particularly in the form of 
newspaper articles, to conclude that PEP has been externally identified as a distinct American 
Indian entity from 1973 to the present in addition to the larger number of external identifications 
which described P::P as part of the larger Eastern Pequot historical tribe. 

Evaluation of PEP Arguments for Separate External Identification since 1900 
The evidence does not provide external identifications of PEP as distinct from the historical 
Eastern Pequot tribe: as a whole (including the antecedents of petitioner #35) from 1900-1929. 
From 1929 througt 1973, the evidence provides external identification of PEP or its antecedents 
primarily as a subgroup within the historical Eastern Pequot tribe, which is also depicted as 
including the antec~dents of petitioner #35. PEP's definition of their group as reiterated in its 
Response to Comrr ents on the proposed finding54 does not accept the validity of 
characterizations which depicted PEP's specific antecedents as part of a larger entity that also 
comprised the antecedents of petitioner #35. From 1973 to the present, the majority of external 
identifications depi ~t PEP as a subgroup within the historical Eastern Pequot tribe, but some do 

53See, for exar:1ple, the 1989 statement of the Appellate Court that, "[t]he named Plaintiff is one faction of 
a tribe and the individu:tl plaintiffs claim to be the true members" (Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians of 
ConnecticlIl v. Connect 'cut Indian Affairs Council 55 A.2d 1003 (Cl. App. 1989); PEP Comments 8/2/200 I, Ex. 
60). 

54" ... the Sebastians and the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe have always inhabited separate social 
spheres, and cannot be ,Iccurately characterized as two factions of a single tribal entity" (Cunha to McCaleb 
9/4/2001,2; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 

"The petitioner has the last say during comment periods" (Official Guidelines 1997,68). 
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identify it as a separate American Indian entity from 1973 onwards. For the full period from 
1900 to the present, PEP meets criterion 83. 7( a) only as part of the historical Eastern Pequot 
tribe. 

Conclusion: See conclusory section. 

83.7(b) A predominant portion of the petitioning group 
comprises a distinct community and has existed as 
a community from historical times until the 
present. 

Introduction. 55 He Towns challenge the conclusion in the proposed finding that an Eastern 
Pequot communit~1 as a whole existed in the colonial period and from the American Revolution 
to 1883 (Towns Al!gust 2001,110-111,119-120,124-125,132-143). The topics raised by the 
Towns were already addressed in the proposed finding, which concluded that upon the basis of 
precedent, the eviclence was adequate to show that the historical Eastern Pequot tribe met 
criterion 83.7(b) for these time periods (PEP PF 2000,67-79). No substantial new evidence was 
submitted. For discussion of the State's and the Towns' assertion of whether state recognition 
can be used as evidence under criterion 83.7(b), see the discussion above under "General 
Issues. ,,56 

The petitioner statfS: 

Aside from lack of evidence to support the AS - lA's tentative conclusion in the 
Proposed F nding that there may be one tribe with two factions, there are at least 
two other conclusions in the Proposed Finding with which the Paucatuck Eastern 
Pequot Tribe takes issue. For example, the Proposed Finding concluded that there 
was very little evidence demonstrating community (25 CFR 83.78(b» and 
political authoriity (25 CFR 83.7(c)) for the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe 
during some decades of the 1900s (Austin Introduction 8/2/2001, 9; PEP 
Comments B!2!200 1). 

55"Commllnity means any group of people which can demonstrate that consistent interactions and 
significant social relatic,nships exist within its membership and that its members are differentiated from and 
identified as distinct frem nonmembers. Community must be understood in the context of the history, geography, 
culture and social orgar ization of the group" (25 CFR § 83.1). 

56The BIA POillts out that in some instances, the Towns misrepresent the BIA's work, as in such statements 
as, "As the Technical R ~port confirmed, '[t]he others of the Tribe have scattered because the heads of the families 
are dead. Some are in ledyard, some in Preston, others in Providence, and then throughout various parts of the 
country'" (Towns Augw'( 2001, 137). This was not a conclusion reached in the draft technical reports on EP and 
PEP, but was a quotatio 1 from a mid-19th century book on Connecticut Indians (DeForest 1852). 
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Thc petitioner submitted additional evidence and analysis in regard to criterion 83.7(b) which is 
discussed here (for discussion of additional evidence and analysis for political authority, see 
under criterion 83 7(c). 

PEP petitioner in its Comments on the proposed finding specifically repudiates the evidentiary 
analysis upon whi~h the AS-IA issued a positive proposed finding on criterion 83.7(b) through 
1973 - namely th3 t there was a historical Eastern Pequot tribe which met the criterion and of 
which the petition~r's antecedents were part. 57 The petitioner states: 

The criteri,m in 25 CFR 83.7(b) requires a petitioner to demonstrate by evidence 
that it has maintained a separate community from surrounding non-Indians from 
historical times to the present. The AS - IA concluded that the evidence in the 
Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe's petition successfully demonstrated this point 
through 1973. But the conclusion is flawed in that the evidence for the PEP was 
considered together with evidence from the petition of Petitioner #35. The 
conclusion of the AS - IA, therefore, was that the evidence for Petitioner #35 and 
the PEP (Petitioner #113), when considered together, demonstrated that the two 
petitioners represented one single tribal community from colonial times to 1973 
(Austin Introduction 8/2/2001,11-12; PEP Comments 8/212001). 

In reachin§, this conclusion, it appears the AS - IA failed to distinguish between 
residents 01 a Reservation on the one hand, and a tribal community on the other. 
It is true that State appointed tribal Overseers and other officials allowed a few of 
the Sebastian descendants to reside on the Reservation starting in the very late 
1800s and ~arly 1900s. In that sense, a few of the Sebastians and many of the 
Paucatuck Eastern Pequot tribal members lived near each other, and even 
interacted ~;ocially with each other to a nominal extent, during the first half of the 
Twentieth~entury. But, on the whole, the Sebastians were never acknowledged 
as Paucatw:k Eastern Pequot tribal members by tribal members themselves. 
There has ,tlways been a difference between "tribal member" and "reservation 
resident" ill the Paucatuck mind set, and the mind set of most reservation Indians, 

57The petitioner's narrative utilizes the term "Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe" throughout this period from 
the 1870's through 19'13, although the word "Paucatuck" was not found in contemporary documents prior to the late 
1970's. It was not officially applied to the Lantern Hill Reservation until the legislation of 1982. While the usage is 
feasible when the peti' ioner is distinguishing the antecedents of PEP from other historical Eastern Pequots. it is not 
accurate when summarizing the content of documents submitted, or in many other contexts, sLlch as the statement, 
"the longtime First Se ectman of North Stonington, Ellsworth Gray (who was also en loco Indian Agent for the PEP 
Indians of the Lantern Hill Reservation from 1941 to at least 1951)" (PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Austin IV:70). 
Gray was the State's agent in regard to all residents on the reservation, whether they were PEP antecedents or not. 
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in general <Austin Introduction 8/2/2001, 12; PEP Comments 8/2/2001).58 
[footnote added] 

... there is no credible evidence that the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot tribe is a 
faction of petitioner #35, since no single political or social system encompassing 
both memt>ers of Petitioner #35 and the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe has ever 
existed; ... the Sebastians and the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe have always 
inhabited separate social spheres, and cannot be accurately characterized as two 
factions of 31 single tribal entity (Cunha to McCaleb 9/4/2001, 2; PEP Response to 
Comments 9/4/200). 

This repudiation by the petitioner of the hypothesis that underlay the AS-lA's positive finding 
through 1973,which \vas based on all of the evidence in the record at the time of the proposed 
finding, requires a complete reanalysis to determine whether or not PEP and its antecedents meet 
criterion 83. 7(b) \\ hen all evidence that includes the antecedents of petitioner #35 as part of the 
historical Eastern Pequot tribe is classified as inapplicable in accordance with the petitioner's 
self-definition. 

From First Sustaired Contact with Non-Indians to the American Revolution. The proposed 
finding concluded: 

-On the b:::sis of precedent, the available material is sufficient to meet 83.7(b) for 
a tribe duri 19 the colonial period (PEP PF 2000, 72). 

No named, identified, ancestors of PEP appear in the Eastern Pequot records for the colonial 
period, and, indeecl, the petitioner indicates that the Gardner family did not become associated 
with the historical Eastern Pequot tribe until the late 18th century (Austin II 8/212001, 11-12; PEP 
Comments 8/2/20(1]). Thus there is no evidence presented of a separate PEP community from 
first sustained conlact with non-Indians to the late 18th century. 

From the American Revolution through 1873.59 The proposed finding concluded: 

- Because 1 he community as a whole, throughout this period, had a residential 
focus on th ~ reservation, and still maintained a very high rate of intermarriage and 

58It is noted tilat the petitioner's discussion of temporary reservation residents such as William and Ella 
(Wheeler) Wilcox and John Hamilton (PEP Comments 8/2/2001, 12-13) are not on point, in that these individuals 
were never carried as members of the Eastern Pequot tribe on State records. 

59The final d( tl~rrnination has somewhat changed the periodization used for analytical purposes in the 
proposed finding. Because of the desirability of discussing, under 83.7(c), the petitions and other documents from 
the decade 1873-1883 from the perspective ofthcir relation to subsequent developments, the breakpoint has been 
changed from 1883 to 1873. This modification for the purpose of discussion does not require a modification of the 
conclusions reached in the proposed finding. 
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patterned outmarriage, particularly with the Western Pequot and with the 
NarragaIlsett, the Eastern Pequot tribe meets criterion 83.7(b) for the period 
through 1883 (PEP PF 2000, 79). [footnote in original omitted] 

PEP's response 0 the proposed finding stated: 

Because the Proposed Finding was positive with regard to evidence for the 
continuolls existence of the historical Eastern Pequot Tribe through the late 
1800s, that period of time is not addressed in the Tribe's comments on the PEP 
Proposed Finding, submitted this day, August 2, 2001. Rather, the focus in the 
comments is on the historical Eastern Pequot Tribe as it has continued to exist 
from the late 1800s to the present (Austin Introduction 8/202001, 4; PEP 
Response to Comments 8/212001). 

However, the petitioner in this statement takes advantage of the conclusion of the positive 
proposed finding through the late 1800's while simultaneously rejecting the proposed finding's 
conclusion that during the period from the American Revolution to 1873, the entity upon which 
the proposed fine ing's conclusion was based included the BrushelllSebastian lineage. The 
petitioner strongl y asserts the position that it was not, at any time, part of a historical Eastern 
Pequot tribal community that included the Sebastian family (Cunha to McCaleb 9/4/2001, 2; 
PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 

The earlier evidellce has, therefore, been reanalyzed to see whether, for the period from the 
American Revolution to 1873, there is evidence of a PEP community separate from the 
community of the historical Eastern Pequot tribe as a whole since the 19th century evidence 
accepted by the S;!crdary in the proposed finding specifically showed the Sebastians as members 
of the historical Eastem Pequot tribe with the name of Moses Brushell first listed in March 1825 
and continuing in the listing through his death in 1839, his daughter Tamar being listed in 1830 
and 1831 (#35 Pel. Overseers Reports; #113 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS II Doc. 41).60 During the 
same general peri,)d of the 1830's, the overseer's reports made two mentions of Charlotte 
(Potter) Wheeler. The Eastern Pequot overseer's report covering the period from June 16, 1835 
through January 6, 1836 (#35 Pet. Overseers Reports; #113 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS II Doc. 41)61 
mentioned, for the first appearance of the name in an Eastern Pequot overseer's report, "articles 
furnished Charlott [sic] Wheeler" on December 14,1835 (#35 Pet. Overseers Reports). A 

60"While Tamar Brushell's father, Moses BrusheIl, was resident on the reservation for a few years before 
his death in 1840, ther e is no reliable evidence that he was an Eastern Pequot tribal member" (Austin I 8/2/200 I, 
In 1; PEP Comments W21200 I). 

61lt mentioned: Hannah Shelly, Edward Nedson, Nancy Skesux, Prue Fagins, Tyra Nedson, Sam Shelly, 
Thos Nedsons childrell, Samuel Shun tap, Hannah Shelly children, Richard Ned'; 2 spelling Books for Hannah 
Shelley Children, 8 yds Callico for Tyra Daughter of ---; Betsey Robbins, B. Robins house, coffin for Betsy 
Robbins, schooling TlOmas Nedson, Tyra Nedson, coffin for Elsey Nedson, Cyrus ShelJys boy, Articles furnished 
Charlot! Wheeler 1.00 (#35 Pet. Overseers Reports; # I I3 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS Doc. 41). 
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continuation oft1e same document which began January 6, 1836, and continued through June 
14, 1836, also m~ntioned a payment for two loads of wood for Charlotte Wheeler on February 6, 
1836 (#35 Pet. Overseers Reports; #1l3 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS II Doc. 41).62 She was not 
mentioned in sue sequent reports, although she did not die until May 26, 1862.63 

While Eastern PE quot overseers' reports from 1849 through 1"872 listed Rachel (nee Hoxie or 
possibly Ned) Jad(son on the reservation, thus providing evidence for the existence of 
community betwl~l~n the Hoxie/Jackson lineage and the other historical Eastern Pequot families 
then residing on the Lantern Hill Reservation, they did not include Marlboro Gardner and/or 
Eunice Wheeler, so provide no indication of community between petitioner # 113's two 
antecedent family lines for the period.64 

By contrast, therE is some limited documentation that shows pre-1873 contacts between the 
Gardner and Brmhell families. The Eastern Pequot overseer's report which began June 14, 
1843, continuing through April 23, 1844, recorded Moses Brushell's sickness and payment for 
his coffin on October 9, 1843 (#35 Pet. Overseers Reports), On October 9, 1843, the overseer 
paid Han'Y[?] Gardner for keeping Moses Brushel, paid David Holmes for making a coffin for 
"M.B." and paid Primus Wheeler for digging his grave; grave clothes ditto; on November 15, 
1843, he paid Harry Gardner for keeping "M Brushel" (#35 Pet. Overseers Reports). 

There is documentation to show association between Eunice Wheeler, the future wife of 
Marlboro Gardner, and Calvin Williams, who later married (sequentially) Amanda (Nedson) 
Douglas and Tam~r Emeline (Sebastian) Swan (who was Tamar (BrusheII) Sebastian's 

62These two !l1tries took place shortly after Charlotte (Potter) Wheeler was widowed. Abstracts of Vital 
Records and Member!:hip Records As Found in North Stonington Congregational Church, 1720-1887 (Hartford; 
Connecticut State Lib'ary, 1968), 74. Prirnas Wheeler died May 15, 1835, at the approximately 45 years old ( PEP 
Comments, Genealogical Documents III, Family Group Sheet). The ethnicity of her husband, Primus Wheeler, is 
unknown. 

In 1880, Eun ce (Wheeler) Gardner testified that her mother, Charlotte Potter, was Narragansett: "Eunice 
[Wheeler] Gardner, (sNom.) -- I am connected with the tribe by my mother. Then, again Albert Gardner [Eunice's 
late husband] belonged here. My mother was Charlotte Potter. My father was not a member of the tribe. I have 
never lived on the rese rvation. I was there for the first time at the last meeting at the meeting-house" (Report of' 
Commissioner on Nar,'agansett Indians 188 I, 81). 

63Death recod May 26, 1862, Ulemic Ulceration, Charlotte Wheeler, 66, Colored, born Stonington, CT; 
no occupation, res. North Stonington, widowed (# 113 Pet. 1996, GEN DOCS IV). Another copy, Towns' Evidence 
July 1999. 

64Prior to her man'iage to Marlboro Gardner, Eunice Wheeler's partners were two Western Pequot, a 
Narragansett, and Calvin Williams, who is rejected by PEP as having been a member of the historical Eastern 
Pequot tribe. Marlboro Gardner did not appear on Eastern Pequot documents prior to 1873. 
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daughter). In the early 1860's, Calvin and Eunice had two children (for detailed documentation, 
see FTM file, EPPEPBarFD).65 

Beginning in 1870., there is documentation to show association between Marlboro and Eunice 
(Wheeler) GardnE r and some members of the historical Eastern Pequot tribe. The 1870 census 
for North Stonington listed Leonard Ned/Brown twice, both times closely associated with one of 
the petitioner's ant'ecedent family lines (but not with both of them simultaneously): 

1870 U.S. Census, North Stonington, New London Co., CT. Grouped together on 
NARA M-593, Roll 113, p. 436, as "Indians in North Stonington," all shown as b. 
in CT: 

4/4 Jackson, Henry, 45, m, I, farm hand, b. CT; Rachel, 39, f, I, keeping 
house, b. CT [i.e. b.c. 1831]; Isaac, 20, m, I, farm hand; Fannie, 8, f, I; Jennie, 6, 
f, I; Phebe E., 4, f, I; Lydia, 2, f, I; Anry, 8112, m, I; 

5/5 Andrew [Andson?], Isaac, 20, m, I, farm hand; 
7 /7 Gray, Issac, 20, m, I, farm hand; Boswick, Charles, 11, m, I, farm 

hand; Bakl:r, George, 35, m, I, laborer; Baker, Phebe, 28, f, I, domestic servant; 
Brown, Leonard, [age illegible], m. I, farm hand. 

Duplicate 'mtry: 

1870 U.S. Census, North Stonington, New London Co., CT, NARA M-593, Roll 
113, p. 43L., #357/382: 

Ga]"(iner, Eunice, 32, f, M, keeping house, CT; Williams, Elizabeth, 8, f, 
M, Rhode Island; Williams, John, 5, m, M, CT; George, Charles, 13, m, M, Farnl 
Hand, CT; Gardner, Lucy, 3, f, M, T; Gardner, Geo. W, 11112, m, M, CT; 
Gardner, Malbro, 32, m, M, Farm Hand, CT; Gardner, Charles, 18, m, M, Farm 
Hand, CT; Cuff, Ezra, 25, m, B, Farm Hand, CT; Brown, Leonard, 46, m, M, 
Farnl Hanel, Massachusetts; Simon [Simson?], Eliza A., 45, f, M, CT. 

This association h~tween Leonard Ned and the Gardner family continued into the post-1873 time 
period (see the 1900 census). Also,the 1880 census provided no direct evidence of interaction 
between the Hoxitllackson and Gardner/Wheeler family lines, as they were residing some 
distance from one another.66 

65NARA M-li53, Roll 1211, 1860 U.S. Census, Richmond, Washington Co., RJ, p. 343r, # 1831192: Calvin 
Williams, 28, m, B, b. CT; [illegible name, overwritten, possibly Catherine?] Eunice A., 32 [written over an 
illegible numeral], f, II, b. CT; Cimon, 5, m, B, b. CT; Charles H., 3, m, B, b. CT. This census record was not 
submitted or discussed by the Siefer Report April 1999. 

66:--JARA T-9, Roll 109, 1880 U.S. Census, North Stonington, New London Co., CT, p. 767: 
#21/22: Orchard, Hart~{, B, M, 50, CT; Rachel, B, f, 44, wife; Fannie E., J 7; Ida J., J 6; Pheba E., J 5; Lucy A., J 2; 
William H., 10; Jennie, 8; James, 6; Grace, I (see also Lynch 1998, 4:3-4). 
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The State quotes an interview with PEP chairman Agnes Cunha to the effect that Marlboro 
Gardner never interacted with the Indians in North Stonington (State of Connecticut AugusT 
2001, 36_39).67 The cited statement is ambiguous, but in context appears to refer to his not 
interacting at Narragansett rather than Eastern Pequot. In any event she appears to be reciting 
information from her review of documentary evidence rather than oral history. As such. the 
documents must speak for themselves. 

It is noted that since petitioner # 113 rejects residence on the Lantern Hill reservation as evidence 
of Eastern Pequot tribal membership, without the 1900 census68 there is no contemporary 
evidence in the record that Eunice (Wheeler) Gardner was ever identified as a member of the 

NARA T-9, Roll 109, 1880 U.S. Census, North Stonington, New London Co., CT, p. 776: 
#220/240, Almon ]onl!s household, I; 
#220/241, Gad W. Appes household, I; 
#221/242: Gardner, I\lalbro, I, m, 42, works on farm, CT; Eunice, I, f, 45; Charles H., I, m. 22; Nellie, I, f,30. 
daughter in law; Geoq W., I, m. 12; Eddie c., I, m, 6; Eunice A, I, f, 5; William A, I, M, 3; Emma E., I, m, Ilil2. 

It should be r oted that neither of the neighboring Indian households contained individuals from the 
historical Eastern Pequot tribe: they have been identified as Narragansett and Western Pequot. 

1880 census, North Stonington: Gardner, Malbro, Indian, 42; Eunice A., Indian, 39; Charles H., Indian, 
22; Nellie, Indian, 30; George N., Indian, 12; Eddie L., Indian, 6; Eunice A, Indian, 5; William A., Indian, 3 
(Lynch 1998, 88; see comments, Siefer Report April 1999, 8-9). 

67MS . CUNIc A: Eventually. I really couldn't tell you. Between two wives, he had II children. 
They might have married into other tribes andjust went with them. You know, we don't know. 
Like Harriet Gardner, she resided on our reservation once in a while but she was with the 
(indiscerniblf), and her grandchildren -- if you look at the hearings between 1880 and 1882 or 3, 
you will find her descendants there. Same thing with Clark Gardner. A lot of them intermarried 
there and the:' just stayed there. 
MR. ROTH: But you were saying the hearings show that Marlboro was not because he was 
(indiscerniblf ). 
MS. CUNHA; Marlboro never interacted here. He never stayed in. He never interacted here. He 
was more with us, even though he was claiming part (indiscernible), he was more with us. He 
was in Stonington and (indiscernible) this side. 
MR. ROTH: And then he --
MS. CUNHA: And he spent a lot oftime at sea. He was in the Navy. Matter offact, Lee has a 
picnlre of his cemetery plot with the Civil War (indiscernible) (BIA Interview with Agnes 
Cunha). 

It appears that in the allove passage that Mrs. Cunha was confusing Marlboro Garder with his father part of the time, 
since Marlboro is known to have had only one wife. 

68 1900 U.S. Census of the Indian Population Schedule, living in North Stonington (1900 U.S. Census, 
North Stonington, State of Connecticut): 
Leonard Brown Black M 80 
Lucy Hill Blac k F 70 
Eunice Gardner Black F 65 
(Siefer Report April 10 99, 9). 

Head Conn. 
Boarder Conn. 
Boarder Conn. 
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Eastern Pequot tribe (see under criterion 83.7(c) for discussion of the ambiguous name "Eunice 
George" on the 1 n3 petition). 

Based on interview evidence, petitioner # 113 asserts as evidence that: "When she [Tamar 
(Brushell) Sebastian] and her descendants started asserting rights in the Paucatuck Eastern 
Pequot tribe, they were not recognized as tribal members by the descendants of Rachel Hoxie 
Jackson" (PEP Comments 8/2/200 I, Austin I: 1-2n 1). The value of this evidence must be 
weighed in light (If the fact that there were also occasions when the descendants of Rachel Hoxie 
Jackson did not recognize the Gardner family as tribal members, as in Arlene (Jackson) Brown's 
statements in the Jrotest, dated September 26, 1973, against the appointment of Helen (Edwards) 
LeGault as Eastern Pequot representative on the CIAC (Brown to Wood 9/2611973) - see 
discussion below under criterion 83.7(c). In 1976, Arlene (Jackson) Brown and her supporters 
were asserting that only the descendants of Rachel Hoxie were actually Eastern Pequot, denying 
both Tamar Brush::lI and Marlboro Gardner as qualifying anccstors,69 while not mentioning 
Eunice Wheeler at all. It is inconsistent of the petitioner to cite occasions when the Jackson 
lineage repudiated Brushell/Sebastian identity as Eastern Pequot as being of evidentiary 
importance without also referring to those instances in which the Jackson lineage repudiated the 
Gardner identity as Eastern Pequot. Omission of this information makes the argument invalid. 70 

The evidence from the American Revolution to 1873 does not demonstrate a community of PEP 
ancestors. Rather the: evidence shows the existence of a historical Eastern Pequot tribe 
encompassing ankcedents of both EP and PEP. 

69]ohn E. Hamilton (Chief Rolling Cloud), Grand Sachem for Life, challenges the jurisdiction of the CIAC 
and claims that no agency in Connecticut other than his council was qualified to state who is and who is not an 
American Indian. "This Special Qualifications Commission is comprised of the following members of the Royal 
Mohegan-Pequot Am:rican Indian Council: Wounded Wolf(Rowland Bishop), Chairman, Mrs. Jane (Gray) 
Hennessey, Secretary: Mrs. Arlene (Jackson) Brown; Mrs. Jane Keeler, and Sagamore Chief Onoco (Albert 
Baker)." 

Of the Eastern Pequots living on Hereditary Mohegan lands in Lantern Hill, North Stoington [sic], 
only those who have proved descent from the Hoxie Family through the female line and who can 
thereby trace their ancestry to Esther Meezen (sister to the Great Sum Squaw Chief, Hanna 
Meezen ofth~ Groton-Ledyard Pequots) who were great granddaughters of Sassacus, are placed 
upon the Gra ld Sachem's Tribal Roll Book. Only three resident members of the Eastern Pequots 
can do this: Mrs. Arlene (Jackson) Brown: Her sister Rachel Crouch [sic]: and their cousin Paul 
Spellman. Their grandmother was a Hoxie and a descendant of Sassacus (Confederation of the 
Mohegan-Pequot American Indian Nation and Affiliated Algonquin Tribes. A Petition to the 
Governor of 1 he State of Connecticut 11/29/1976). 

This petition asserted lhat Tamar ''''Bru:;chel'''' was non-Indian from Cape Verde and that Marlboro Gardner was a 
non-American Indian of British West Indies origin. Both of these assertions were demonstrably false. 

70 Arlene (Jac:cson) Brown's statement that she and her family, and the Spellman family, had been excluded 
from the membership I ist prepared by Helen LeGault (PEP Membership List 1977) was correct-see more detailed 
discussion below under criterion 83.7(c). 
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From 1873 to the 1920's. For reanalysis of the documents from 1873-1883, see the more 
extended discussion of the documentary record under criterion 83.7(c). 

The proposed find ing concluded: 

• The Eastern Pequot tribe as a whole, including the ancestors of petitioner # 113, 
meets the requirements of criterion 83. 7(b) between 1883 and 1920 (PEP PF 
2000,94). 

For the final deter:nination, PEP, EP, and the State and Towns submitted additional 
documentation and comments applicable to the issue of maintenance of community by PEP 
(petitioner # 113) and Jits antecedents for the entire period from 1873 to the present. 

PEP criticized the BIA for not noting in the "Family Tree Maker database, relied upon by the AS 
- IA in the Proposed Finding, which merged information on Petitioners #113 and #35" that the 
household in whic 1 Atwood I. Williams was living in 1900 was that of cousins and thus 
"exemplifies the importance of kinship ties to members of this tribe" (PEP Comments 8/2/2001, 
19n2). However, 1he existence of the household had been added to the combined database by the 
BTA researcher dU'ing the evaluation for the proposed finding. The separate data base 
submitted by PEP ~)r the proposed finding, which was merged with Petitioner #35 did not make 
such a connection. The merging of the two data bases did not create the claimed deficiency. 

PEP states: 

Aside from lack of evidence to support the AS - lA's tentative conclusion in the 
Proposed Finding that there may be one tribe with two factions, there are at least 
two other c )nclusions in the Proposed Finding with which the Paucatuck Eastern 
Pequot Tribe takes issue. For example, the Proposed Finding concluded that there 
was very liHle evidence demonstrating community (25 CFR 83.78(b» and 
political au'hority (25 CFR 83.7(c» for the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe 
during som~ decades of the 1900s (Austin Introduction 8/2/200 I, 9; PEP 
Comments g/2/200 I). 

The following mah~rial reviews the evidence for 1873-1920. Aside from the 1873-1883 
documents discuss(:d in detail below under criterion 83.7(c) and the overseers' reports, the 
earliest documented associations between the Gardner and HoxielJackson lines are two 
marriages at the end of the 19th century, those of William Albert Gardner to Grace Jackson in 
1898 and of Agnes Eunice Gardner to Atwood Isaac Williams (son of Phebe Esther Jackson) in 
1899. These marriages clearly indicate interaction between the two families at the tum from the 
19th to the 20th cent'lry. 

To put the depth irrpact of these two marriages on overall family connections in perspective, of 
the four children of Marlboro and Eunice (Wheeler) Gardner who reached adulthood, one never 
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married; one married a non-Indian; two married members of the Hoxie/Jackson family. Of the 
eight children of Henry and Rachel (Hoxie) Jackson who reached adulthood, two never married; 
two married mem Jers of the Gardner family; and four married outside of the Eastern Pequot 
tribe (three oftho~:e marrying more than once). 

PEP recalls an evmt referenced in the Barbara (Spellman) Moore interview which revealed a 
connection between the Jackson and BrushelllSebastian family lines during this period, but PEP 
repudiates the val\lt~ of the recollection: 

The Pauca'uck tribal tradition is that William H. Jackson swore that Tamar 
Emeline "L:iney" Sebastian was a Pequot Indian because his wife's (Fanny 
Thornton f~oberts-Jackson 's) step-father was Moses Sebastian. Moses Sebastian 
was the elc er brother of Liney Sebastian. Once again, there is no kinship teml for 
the relatior:ship between William H. Jackson and Moses Sebastian (Austin 
Introducticn 8/2/2001, 16; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 

For further discus~ ion of this undated incident, see (Austin I 812/2001, 2-6; PEP Comments 
8/2/2001) and discussion in the EP final determination. Ifthe interviewee Barbara (Spellman) 
Moore's recollecti::ms were accurate, the incident probably took place some time between Phebe 
(Jackson) Spellman's return to the reservation in about 191271 and her death in 1922, when her 
daughter Alice Barbara (Barbara (Spellman) Moore) was 16.72 The PEP are arguing this is a 
very distant relationship, although Moore's interview suggests that kinship ties were William 
Jackson's motivati,m. William H. Jackson was the step-son-in-law of Moses Sebastian and that 
Tamar Emeline (SI~bastian) Williams was his wife's step-aunt. 

71 June 14, 1912 - June 13, 1913, account, Eastern Tribe of Pequot Indians. Assistance of Calvin Williams, 
Fannie Sebastian. Phebe Spellman and family, Wm. Jackson. Sadie Swan. Members of the tribe. John Randall, 
Alexd Randall, Phebe Jackson, Irene Jackson, Jeamie Jackson, Lucy Jackson, Wm. Jackson, Fannie Jackson, Ed. 
Jackson, Maria Simmcns, Mary Simmons, Hennan Simmons, Russell Simmons, Dwight Goodhere, Calvin 
Williams [crossed out], Jesse Williams, Mary Watson, Grace Gardner, Fanny Sebastian, Sarah Swan, Phebe 
Spellman. Calvin Wil iams confined to his bed; Mrs. Fannie Sebastian is the oldest member of the tribe and is a 
member of the Williams family. About a year ago, Mrs. Phebe Spellman, a member of the tribe, and a widow with 
nine children, moved t) the' reservation from Providence, R.1. Her children are all minors, and her condition is such 
as to require support from the funds of the tribe during the greater part of the year (#35 Pet. Overseers Reports). 

72If William H. Jackson made a fonnallegal declaration or affidavit, the most fruitful period for research in 
the records of New Lo ldon County Superior Court to locate this document would probably be immediately 
following the death of Calvin Williams on July 8, 1913. 

It should be noted that the Moore's interviewer referred to Atwood I. Williams as "yom brother" (Moore Interview 
12/811991, 62, 92; PEF' Comments 8/2/200 I, Ex. 86). Williams (born in 1881) was the half-brother of Moore (born 
1906). In the first instance of this, Moore continued the interview by discussing her brother Palll Spellman; in the 
second instance, she did discuss the Williams family, but did not have a detailed knowledge of them (Moore 
Interview 12/8/1991,92-94; PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex.86). 
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The petitioner also asserts: 

During the first half of the 1900s,73 there were some social relationships between 
a few indiuiduals in the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe's Jackson family and a 
few descendants of the Sebastian family who lived on the Reservation. But these 
social relal ionships, when understood in light of all the evidence, do not support 
the position of the AS - IA that the two petitioners comprised a single tribe before 
1973 (Aus:in Introduction 8/212001,17; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). [footnote in 
original] 

However, the undl~r1ying documentation does not fully support the petitioner's hypothesis. Alice 
Barbara (SpellmaJl) Moore's statements suggested confusion or lack of awareness that Tamer 
Emeline (Sebastian) Swan Williams was born a Sebastian: she identified her by the name 
Williams until corrected by the person who interviewed her on behalf of PEP (Moore Interview 
12/811991,55; PEP Comments 812/2001, Ex. 86). It isn't certain that Moore had Tamer Emeline 
Williams in mind during this part of the interview, because she states: "But she was sort of 
young - real young person. But it was - I think she was really related to Fannie, you know" 
(Moore Interview 12/811991, 56; PEP Comments 812/200 I, Ex. 86). Although Tamer Emeline 
Sebastian was bon in 1865, whereas Alice Barbara Spellman was born in 1906, the 
spontaneously ide 1tification of the former as a "real young person" may reflect her age at the 
time of the intervi ~w. 74 Moore does refer to the person in question as "Lonnie," and elsewhere 
identifies Tamer Emeline Sebastian as "Aunt Lonnie," similar to the common references to her 
as "Aunt Liney." (Moore Interview 12/8/91,47,55-56,68). 

The interview does show Moore's awareness that, according to her brother Paul, the Spellmans 
were cousins of C .,uenee Sebastian, but she identified the family connection as coming through 
his mother, Annie George75 (Moore Interview 12/8/1991, 50; PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 86). 
She also indicated that at least one other Sebastian family - in this case the wife was a 

73The Propo~ cd Finding states that any social interaction between Paucatuck Eastern Pequot tribal 
members anc. Sebastians seems to have been limited to individuals who were born before 1940. 
We agree, in part, with this finding. There is no evidence of cooperative social interaction 
between the Tribe and the Sebastians based upon shared ties of kinship or tribal descent. There is 
nominal evidence: that they occasionally interacted as neighbors due to the proximity of a few of 
their houses IAustin Introduction 7n8; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 

74Much of Spellman's data does not conform to the verifiable contemporary documentation - for instance, 
her repeated statemen: of a belief that Fannie Jackson was from Virginia and that Tamer was her relative and might 
have been from Virginia (Moore Interview 12/811991, 59), or her unawareness that Sarah (Swan) Hulland was a 
stepdaughter rather th m a daughter of Calvin Williams (Moore Interview 12.18/1991, 57). Specifically, evidence 
indicates that Ella (W lceler) Wilcox and Moore's mother Phebe (Jackson) Spellman, were not first coursins, as 
Moore asserted (Moore Interview 12/811991, 90-92; PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 86), but rather second cousins: 
the relationship was through Henry W. Jackson rather than through Rachel Hoxie. 

75 Annie Geo 'ge was a granddaughter of Eunice (Wheeler) Gardner through a prior marriage. 
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stepdaughter of William Henry Jackson - resided on the reservation - the date must fall 
between the 1908 fl1aJTiage and 1918 divorce of the couple under discussion (Moore Interview 
12/811991,51-55; PEP Comments 812/2001, Ex. 86).76 

The interview with Alice Barbara (Spellman) Moore, also, did not confirnl significant contact 
between the Hoxi(~/Jackson and Gardner lineages on the Lantern Hill Reservation prior to 1920. 
Concerning Willi, m Albert Gardner, Moore stated only that "Will Gardner was married to my 
Aunt Grace" and, "1 don't know of him being anything. He didn't have anything to do with the 
reservation as far as I know, only through my Aunt Grace ... That's the only - - I don't know of 
any other Gardner that belonged to the reservation ever" (Moore Interview 12/8/1991, 47; PEP 
Comments 812/200 I, Ex. 86). Indeed, Moore indicated that she "never kept close to" Agnes 
Eunice Gardner, Hie wife of her half-brother Atwood I. Williams (Moore Interview 12/8/1991, 
92; PEP Commenls 8/2/2001, Ex. 86), although the interview indicated some familiarity with 
their children, while;! she expressed disapproval of the wish of one of the younger members of the 
Williams family t(1 live in the house of her brother Paul Spellman after he had died, saying that 
she had tom up the letter (Moore Interview 12/811991,94-96). 

By contrast, she recalled Sunday meetings on the reservation, led by "a Dixon that used to live 
up over the hill from Aunt Lonnie Williams too" .. , "and he used to have those Sunday 
meetings and all, we'd go to. But I don't know of any Gardner's belonging. Maybe I'm wrong, 
I don't know. I don't know everything" (Moore Interview 12/811991,47; see also 84-85,108), 
thus referring to Tamer Emeline (Sebastian) Williams as "Aunt Lonnie" (Moore Interview 
12/8/1991,47,56) Elsewhere, she commented: "When we were older, the Sebastians was a fine 
looking family, a v cry nice looking people. Larry Sebastian, and his brothers and all, they were 
pallbearers for my brother and yeah, they were very helpful and they're fine (inaudible), fine 
looking people" (l\loore Interview 12/811991, 108). Thus, the evidence from the Moore 
Interview does not support PEP's position that all of the PEP antecedent lines socialized with 
one another, but nelt with the Sebastians. 

A conflict over the status of the Sebastians, at least concerning their presence on the reservation 
is probably an old one, though not necessarily originally phrased in racial terms. Oral history 
sources are enough to suggest significant time depth, back to the beginning of the 20th century, 
but are not adequate to characterize the conflict more specifically. 

In the oral history rcport cited by PEP, the interview of Barbara Spellman Moore, she states 
concerning "Aunt Lonnie" that "My Uncle Will go to the -- I don't know whether they went 
down to the Manes, or whether they went up to see a judge up in Norwich, the overseer. But she 

76The wife w, s Clara Roberts, daughter of Fannie, wife of William Henry Jackson: "She had green eyes 
and sort of brown hair, reddish-brown hair. And she was pregnant when I left home, and she was married to this 
Everett Sebastian, andle had one arm missing up to the elbow -- up to the elbow here. And they lived in this little 
place up there they kept an underground cellar ... I'm telling you they lived there" (Moore Interview J 2/8/1 99 J, 
51-55; PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 86). 
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[Clara Roberts] had him swear that she was a Pequot and he did" (Moore 1991, 56-57). Moore 
also refers to the upset this caused among family members. 77 Moore, in context. is identifying 
the person in dispute as "Aunt Lonnie," wife of Calvin Williams, i.e., as "Aunt Liney," even 
though she seems mcertain if this person is a Sebastian. She describes a conflict about this 
person's Eastern PI~quot identity which disturbed a number of people in the tribe. Certainly Aunt 
Lonnie was reasonably weIl known to her,judging by other parts of the interview. 

Other oral history :tbout conflicts over the Sebastians (not the specific incident Moore discusses) 
is provided by Arthur Sebastian, Jr. who quotes his grandfather, Solomon Sebastian, as stating 
that the conflict had existed a very long time. In 1976, Arthur Sebastian testified that "Only at 
the time when I wmj rather small. My grandfather, Solomon Sebastian told us that we belonged 
up on that reservation. He said "they have always had arguments, pro and can, going on ever 
since, ever since h,~ could remember. .. " (CIAC 1976 transcript. Hearing on Membership in the 
Eastern Pequot Tribe of Connecticut. 20). Solomon Sebastian, one of the children of Tamar 
Sebastian, was born in 1858 and died in 1938. 

The PEP cite testiflony of Richard Hayward, then chairman of Mashantucket Pequot, in support 
of their contention that Tamer Sebastian was not Indian. This testimony suggests conflicts 
which had a signif cant time depth. Hayward states he obtained his inforn1ation from his 
grandmother and t'\O of his great his aunts, but also talked with Helen LeGault on the topic. He 
states that his granjmother (Elizabeth George Plouffe, 1895-1973) was repeating what she heard 
from her mother ( 1862-1927) and grandmother (1844-1933). Hayward's testimony, though not 
good evidence con:eming Tamar Sebastian's ancestry, indicates significant time depth to the 
conflict. It implie~ that Tamar's moving back to the reservation might have initiated conflict 
(CIAC 1977,21). Tamar moved back to the reservation sometime between March 1884 and 
April 1889. Haywlfd's account indicates conflicts between the Sebastians and the Georges 
(from whom he is descended), from Mashantucket, as much as with other Eastern Pequots (see 
also PhyIlis Monroe's statements in CIAC 1977, 60). Helen LeGault stated that Jane Elizabeth 
Wheeler Durfee (I ~44·-1933) (grandmother of Hayward's grandmother), another Mashantucket, 
accused Tamar of casting a spell, that is, witchcraft, which suggests that the conflict, at that point 

in time, had other ,.speets to it than simply claims that she was not Indian (CIAC 1977,65-66), a 
story Hayward had also heard (CIAC 1977,95-96). 

Another source, which reflects the conflict though not of as great a time depth, is a statement 
Jane Fawcett, a Mdlegan, that her aunt Ruth Tantaquidgeon (born about 1910), an older 
Mohegan, had said "That the Geers and the Sebastians ... had been fighting over that 
reservation since I was a little girl. .. , she said to me that the Sebastians weren't Indians. And 
the Geers just weren't ... rough enough people to keep them off (Fawcett 1999)." 

77 The intervil:w does not provide significant evidence concerning Sebastian ancestry as Pequot. Records 
concerning the affidav t by Will Jackson, if such was in fact made, might provide more information about the 
context of the reported actions by Will Jackson.) 
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1920's to 1973: Introduction. The proposed finding concluded: 

-The historical Eastern Pequot tribe as a whole meets the requirements of 
criterion 8:l.7(b) for the time period between 1920 and 1940. (PEP PF 2000,94) . 

• As evalu Hed under the standard articulated for a historical state recognized 
tribe, the p~titioner meets criterion 83.7(b) from 1940 to 1973, based on the 
conclusion that there was a single community which included, but was not limited 
to, the Gardner and Hoxie/Jackson descendants (PEP PF 2000, 96). 

The proposed finding presented the following statements in regard to the petitioner's community 
from the late 1920 s through the early 1970's: 

The petitio 1er's description of community after 1920 is very general. The 
petitioner states that "even though most tribal members were no longer living on 
the North 5 tonington reservation in the early 1900's, it is clear that they were still 
sustaining !itrong social ties with other tribal members on and off the reservation" 
(Grabowski 1996, 150) (PEP PF 2000, 92). 

The petitioner's most substantial discussion of historical community in the 20th 

century is t) identify what it refers to as "kinship clusters," but the actual 
discussion I)f these, while introduced by a reference to 1930-1931 (Grabowski 
1996,165), focused on the 1910-1920 era (Grabowski 1998, 166-168) (PEP PF 
2000,92). 

The petitioll goes on to say that "there were also [ other] similar kin-based clusters 
of eastern F equots who continued to reside off reservation, primarily in North 
Stonington, Providence and Westerly" (Grabowski 1996, 166), but the more 
detailed dis::ussion of these also focused on 1910-1920 (PEP PF 2000, 92). 

The "kinship clusters" are not clearly defined, but appear to be no more than close 
family groups. They are defined at one point in the petition text as the 
"Wheeler/Williams, Edwards/Wheeler and Jackson/Spellman kin clusters" 
(Grabowski 1996, 202). Examined in the light of the available genealogical data, 
this consist~: of the two main branches of the Marlboro Gardner family, and, 
apparently, a portion of the Jackson line connected with them. However, the 
petition is not clear on this question (PEP PF 2000, 92). 

The petitior contains few descriptions of social events that brought members 
together, other than meetings at Helen LeGault's house on the reservation which 
were both social and political. It provides no clear dates for these--the only ones 
documentec took place in the 1970's and later (PEP PF 2000, 92). 
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PEP Comments. The PEP Comments layout several tacks for demonstrating historic and 
present-day community. These are the historical marriage patterns, the kinship distance among 
the members, and the geographical distribution of the members. 

The response to tt e proposed finding contains a report on community since 1900 originally 
submitted to BAR in February 2000 (Austin II, PEP 8/2/2001). Because it was submitted after 
the cutoff period for comments, it was not reviewed for the proposed finding. The report was re­
submitted in the response to the proposed finding without change. Consequently, while it makes 
general reference 1.0 the other materials in the petition (presumably as of that date) as providing 
data on social and political community, it does not address the questions raised in the proposed 
finding about the petition's statements about historical community. It also does not identify 
which data about community it is referring to in the petition. 

The PEP report on community submitted for the final determination does not present an 
argument for kinsltip clusters again (Austin II 8/2/2001; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). Instead, it 
focuses on the smdl size of the group and its relatively close kinship. The report argues that the 
PEP members are III reasonably close kin, i.e., that this is a very narrow kinship group, and that 
both community and political are supported by the fact that only some of the descendants of 
these lines are cun ently members (Austin II 8/2/2001, 16-20; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 

State Coml11ents.~egarding PEP community after 1920, the State's brief (State o/Connecticut 
August 2001, 36-39) mainly recites the specific factual conclusions included in the PEP 
proposed finding, and does not cite additional evidence or conduct additional analyses. The 
exception, based 0.1 excerpts from two interviews, is discussed below under the discussion of 
kinship links withi 1 the Gardners. For analysis of the issue of the extent of present and past 
contacts within the descendants of Marlboro Gardner, see below in the discussion of the 
interview with BeHTly (Geer) Kilpatrick and generally the discussion of modern community. 

Analysis 0/ Specific Points. 

Kinship Links betv~~en the Gardners and the Hoxie/Jacksons. There is consanguineal kinship 
between the Hoxieaackson line and the Gardner/Williams line; there is also consanguineal 
kinship between th~ Gardner/Williams line and the Gardner/Edwards line. There is no 
consanguineal kinship between the Hoxie/Jackson line and the Gardner/Edwards line. Since the 
two Gardner/Jackson marriages in 1898 and 1899, there have been no marriages between the two 
wider lineages, nor have there been any marriages within either the Gardner/Edwards or 
Gardner/Williams lineages, or between members of the two. In 1922, there was one marriage 
within the HoxielJc c:kson lineage, that of Reginald Spellman to his cousin Olive Jackson. 
Therefore, there We s' only minimal endogamy (one marriage which took place within a single 
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family line rather than between different family lines) among the PEP's antecedents during the 
entire 20th centu~,.78 

For the Gardners, the common ancestors are Eunice Wheeler (1835-1912) and Marlboro 
Gardner (1839-1 f93). The two main branches (Gardner/Williams and Gardner/Edwards) derive 
from two daughters, Agnes Eunice 1875-1962 who married Atwood Williams Sr., a 
Hoxie/Jackson, alld Emma Estelle (1879-1937) who married William Edwards, a non-Indian. 
There are no descendants of a sibling, William Gardner, who also married a Jackson. A 
historical questioll which may be posed is the extent to which the Gardner/Edwards and the 
Gardner/William~: wings have maintained contact with each other. One piece of evidence is that 
Emma (Gardner) Edwards, did not die until 1937. However, with the exception of the pan­
Indian material pertaining to her daughter Bertha's participation in the American Indian 
Foundation and a fe\v photographs, there is are few references to her at any point in the petition 
or the oral history. Her sister, Agnes (Gardner) Williams, lived until 1962, but the petition and 
interviews do not contain many references to her, either. 

In regard to socia contacts, Atwood I. Williams, Sr., was in a somewhat different position than 
the Edwards fami ly descendants (his wife's nieces and nephews-see the discussion of Helen 
(Edwards) LeGault, below). His mother was Phebe Esther (Jackson) Spellman and his wife was 
Agnes Eunice Gardner. Some of his children were born in North Stonington, but he was not 
listed on any overseer's reports prior to 1929, and he never became a permanent resident of the 
reservation, although he was there, at his mother's home, for a period of time around 1915 while 
recovering from a serious injury. His mother (at least sporadically before 1912 and regularly 
from 1912 to 192:!), his uncle William Henry Jackson (continuously), his Jackson aunts 
(frequently but not continuously), his uncle William Albert Gardner (continuously from 1898 to 
his death in 1927), and several of his half-siblings and their children (frequently but not 
continuously) were residents (see discussion above, #35 Pet. Overseers Reports; Williams 
Notebook c. 1941). A 1933 newspaper article summarized Atwood I. Williams's attitude: 
"Chief Williams t elieves in keeping the Indian blood as pure as possible and has endeavored to 
impress this impo·tant fact on the members of the two reservations" (Poor But Proud 7/911933). 

Connecticut sources noted that Elizabeth (George) Plouffe, one of the leading Western Pequots, 
had "great scorn £)r" Williams himself because of his partly black ancestry (Williams Notebook 

78 All person!: who have appeared on PEP membership lists since 1973 (omitting individuals who were 
deceased prior to that date; including individuals who have died or withdrawn from membership since that date) 
entered into a total of 72 known marriages (BIA calculation, based on genealogical and membership data submitted 
by PEP). None of these marriages were endogamous. 

The BIA wa!: unable to determine which marriages from 1900-1949 were defined as "endogamous" by 
PEP within its analysis of marriages from 1850 to 1949 (Austin III 8/2/200 I; PEP Comments 8/2/200 I). The raw 
data in Appendix Add not correlate with the percentages given in the narrative (Austin III 8/2/2001, 5, II; PEP 
Comments 8/2/200 I), nor was it clear whether, in the narrative, PEP was calculating the rate of extant marriages or 
new marriages. 
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c. 1941).79 Her si:;ter, Flora (George) Stenhouse, was still expressing the same attitudes at the 
end of the decade. Writing to the Governor of Connecticut in regard to the Lantern Hilt 
reservation, she stated that she wanted it used for the Ledyard (Western Pequot) Indians: "On 
this 'Lantern Hill Reservation' there is not one living there of Pequot blood but who claim to be 
Pequots. All of them are of negro blood and are 'squatters'. The old Pequots who lived there 
are now dead, but these people are getting the benefits from the reservation that should be for the 
Pequots" (Stenhollse to Bowles 511711950; Lynch 1998,5:135-136). This 1950 statement in 
regard to "not one living there" cannot have pertained only to the Sebastians. In the 1936 listing 
ofresidents by the State Parks and Forest Commission, eight of the total 13 reservation residents 
were members of :he Hoxie/Jackson family. By contrast, three were Sebastians; one was Helen 
(Edwards) LeGaut, a Gardner; and the last was a Western Pequot, Franklin Williams (also a 
Sebastian descendant), who had built a house on the reservation (Connecticut, State of. 
Thirteenth Bienniol Report of State Park and Forest Commission, December 9, 1936,30). 
Residency applicati.ons for the later 1940's and early 1950's showed a mixture of family lines,80 
and a substantial ~ ortion (five of seven, with one Sebastian and one Gardner) of the Lantern Hill 
residents in 1956, when yearly lists of residents resumed,81 were also of the Hoxie/Jackson line. 

79Elizabeth ('Jeorge) Plouffe's father was a son of Eunice (Wheeler) Gardner by a prior marriage to a 
Western Pequot; her noth'~r was a niece of Rachel (Hoxie) Jackson. Plouffe was thus referring to her first cousin 
once removed (on her mother's side) who was married to her half-aunt (on her father's side), and whose daughter 
was her sister-in-law. Her statement was little different in attitude from the attitude taken during the same period by 
Western Pequot Alice (Langevin) Brend (born 1905) toward the children of her half-sister Annie (George) 
Sebastian (bom 1887) -- both women were daughters of Martha (Hoxie) George Langevin. Barbara (Spellman) 
Moore referred to the families of Martha (Hoxie) George Langevin and Annie (George) Sebastian occasionally 
(Moore Interview I 2/l:/ 1991,46,50); Martha was her mother's first cousin on the Hoxie side of the family (Moore 
Interview 12/8/1991, 14). 

8061271!947, Connecticut, State of. Welfare Department. Report of construction on Eastern Pequot 
Reservation: Franklin, Jackson, and Harris residences. 

3/20/1950, C )nnecticut, State of. Welfare Department. Letter to Arthur W. Sebastian Jr. re: house on 
campsite on Eastern P~quot reservation. 

8/20/1950, C mnecticut, State of. Welfare Department. Letter re: Paul Spellman's request to reside on 
Eastern Pequot reservation. 

8/2311 951, Jackson, Harold C. Letter from Connecticut authorizing him to reside in the home of his father, 
William Jackson, on the Eastern Pequot Reservation. With attachments. 

6/4/1953, Letter f1~om Director to Arron E. Elbenbein, Attorney at Law, re: residence of Louis J. Sebastian 
on Eastern Pequot reservation. 

7/27/1954, C.mnecticut, State of. Welfare Department. Letter to Mrs. Charles Lewis re: permission to 
build a house on the Elstern Pequot reservation. 

81 12/1911 956 Summary of Indian Activities, Connecticut Department of Welfare; Division of Resources 
and Reimbursement, Christy Hanas, Commissioner, Herbert Barrell, chief. " ... Following is a detailed account of 
the physical make up (If the reservation, the amount of tribal fund, if any, and the present inhabitants: 

I. Eastern P~ quot Reservation, North Stonington, consists of two hundred twenty acres of land on which 
there are nine dwdlings, eight habitable and one uninhabitable. The tribal fund totals $5,792.25. Residing 
on the reserv1ltion, full or part time, are the following: 
a. Albert Carpenter, Indian, born 1905 and his wife, Anna Sebastian Carpenter, Indian. 
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The GardnerlWilliams family subline is the only one which has kinship ties to both the 
Gardner/Edward: descendants and the other HoxielJackson descendants. The current PEP 
chairman, Agnes (Williams) Cunha, is three generations back to the common ancestors, while 
Raymond Geer, fonner chairman is four generations back. The distance back for older 
individuals is thn~e or four generations and obviously more for younger adults. The distance 
between two indi viduals, on the two wings of the Gardners, is second or third cousins. This is 
not close enough to assume that these individuals know each other and recognize a relationship, 
but nonetheless quite close so that a recognized relationship may be established with limited 
data. 

Atwood 1. WilliaJ[l..§.....Sr., Gatherings. The proposed finding stated: 

The petition also states that Atwood Williams hosted gatherings of tribal 
members at his house in Westerly. It stated that his large house provided [sic} 
meeting pace for extended kin and tribal members alike (Grabowski 158-60). A 
limited re1liew of BIA interview data concerning Williams' activities did not 
provide infi:)fmation which would support the petitioner's position. A limited 
examination of BIA interview data did not indicate other tribal events or social 
gatherings beyond family affairs. However, it was not possible to complete 
review [SiI7] this body of data (PEP PF 2000, 92). 

The PEP Commellts state that Atwood Williams's gatherings were narrow because of the 
limitations of the <ins hip network to draw on (Austin IV 8/2/2001,1; PEP Comments 8/2/2001), 
indicating a total of 41 descendants of Rachel Hoxie (Hoxie/Jackson and Gardner/Williams 
combined) and 18 members of the Gardner/Edwards line who lived to adulthood between 1881 
and 1955, the total span of Atwood I. Williams, Sr.,'s lifetime (Austin IV 8/2/2001, 9; PEP 
Comments 8/2/201)1). However, it appears that the gatherings were significantly narrower than 
the "available" kill. See for example, Harold Jackson's statement that he had never been to 
Atwood William's fanm (Harold Jackson 1999). The material in the PEP comments does not 
alter the conclusion of the proposed finding that these gatherings were family affairs, not tribal 
or political events 

b. Arlene Jad,son Brown, Indian, born I120/09. 
c. Rachel Jackson Crumb, Indian, born 10115111. 
d. Grace Jac (50n Powell, Indian, born 3/20/04 and her husband, John Powell, non­

Indim. 
e. Paul Spellman, Indian, born 8/3/07. 
f. Edna Jack ion Watrous, Indian, born 7/30/02 and her husband, Harold Watrous, 

non· Indian. 
g. Helen Edwards LeGault, Indian, born 21I2/08. 
Three houses are occupied, one being assigned to a Mrs. Katherine Harris, Mystic, a Pequot Indian, one to 

Mrs. Franklin Williams, Norwich State Hospital, a Narragansett Indian, and one uninhabitable. Four lots on the 
shore of Long Pond are leased to Individuals who have cottages on them. Rentals aggregate $150.00 annually. 
Only one of the lessee;, Arthur Sebastian, Jr., is a Pequot Indian" (Lynch 1998, 5: 136-137). 
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Helen (Edwards) LeGault Gatherings. Based on her 1956 statement, Helen LeGault moved to 
the Lantern Hill reservation in 1 927--the year of her uncle William Albert Gardner's death 
(LeGault to Barrett 11l15/1956).82 The 1933 overseer's report indicated that there were seven 
houses on the rese'vation, with their occupants listed. One of the occupants was given as ·'Mrs. 
Grace [sic] LeGault" with the handwritten annotation, not typed "(not a tribal member)" (#1 13 
Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS I, Doc. 41). This was the earliest documentation concerning of Helen 
(Edwards) LeGaul:'s residency on the Lantern Hill Reservation. Subsequent documents 
indicated that Mrs. LeGault resided on the reservation in the house where her uncle, William 
Albert Gardner, had previously lived. 

She did not, howeH~r, remain there throughout the period after 1933, for in 1948-1950 she 
engaged in negotiations with the Office of the Commissioner of Welfare concerning her desire to 
return to the reservation and obtain assistance in repairing the house. 83 In the later 1950's, she 
ncgotiatcd with the Welfare Department for pern1ission to build another house on the site 
(Palmer to Squires and Barratt c.1955-1957; CT FOIA #68), while in 1959, she and her husband 
were described as "summer residents" (Connecticut Welfare Department, Richardson to Kelly 
8/511959). 

82 As can be Sf en {i"om the census records for 1910 and 1920, Helen Dorothy Edwards spent her childhood 
off-reservation. in the Iiousehoid of her non-Indian father. Therefore, the statement in the #35 (#35 Pet. Narr. 
1998b) narrative parall ~l ing her experience with that of Tamar (Brushell) Sebastian as having spent a childhood on 
the reservation. left for some time, and then returned, was not valid. 

In 1956, she (-Ielen Dorothy (Edwards) LeGault) wrote that she had been on the southern portion of the 
reservation property fo' almost 29 years, which would place the beginning of her residency as 1927, approximately 
the same date as her 1926 marriage and about the same date as the death of her uncle, William Albert Gardner 
(LeGault to Barrett III [:5/1956). However, the petitioner's description of her life states that she, "spent much of her 
married life in Naugatuck, Connecticut (in the western part of Connecticut, about three hours from North 
Stonington), but she always maintained a relationship to the Lantern Hill reservation and her fellow tribal members 
there" (Austin, Politica Authority 9/4/2001, 7; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 

836!14fl948. [dter from Clayton S. Squires to Helen E. LeGault re: return to reservation. Referral to Mr. 
Ellsworth Gray of Nort 1 Stonington who "has been agent for a number of years and any matter concerning 
assistance or your resid ence on the Reservation should be referred to him." 

1949 May 10, Memorandum, Clayton S. Squires, Pequot Reservations. Mrs. flora George Stenhouse, 16 
Dennison Avenue, Mystic, was in the office today with Mrs. Helen LeGault. Mrs. Stenhouse's statements 
concerning the Peters r: i [I cemetery in Shewville; statements concerning the history of the Lantern Hill reservation. 
"Mrs. LeGault stated th~t she has not asked for assistance of any kind but that her house does need repairs as the 
roof is caving in and termites have eaten into the sills. She will let me know when she goes to the Reservation for 
her vacation and I promised to either meet her there or send a representative to look over the situation." Complaints 
re summertime noises ['om the Arthur Sebastian house (Lynch 1998, 5: 134-135). 

7112/1949, lett!r from Clayton S. Squires to He[en LeGault re: visit on the reservation. 
1949-1953. C')l1necticut Welfare Department. Correspondence re: wish of Helen LeGault for Flora 

George Stenhouse to bu ild on Eastern Pequot reservation (see also Lynch 1998,5: 134-135). 
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In an undated entr;'" made between approximately 1935-1939 given the context of the record, 
overseer Gilbert Rlymond made a note in his ledger concerning: 

Mrs. Emma Gardner Edwards (Mrs. Williams [sic] Edwards) (sister84 of Grace 
Gardner Boss) not to go on List not a member of tribe (a Narragansett) (not a 
member) (mother of Helen Edwards LeGault. Mrs. Helen Edwards LeGault 
daughter of above (not a member of Tribe) (wife of George) Lives on the 
ReservatioJl., has been there about 2 years. Has 5 brothers Sisters - 2 sisters, 3 
brothers who do not live on the reservation (not members) of Eastern Tribe 
(Raymond Ledger 1932-1937). [footnote added] 

By 1933, Mrs. LeGault was actively publicizing her opposition to some of the other residents on 
the Lantern Hill re ;ervation. The July 9, 1933, article in the Hartford Courant, quoting Helen 
(Edwards) LeGaul:, stated: 

Why Pure ~;tock has Dwindled. Mrs. Le Gault, one-half pure Pequot, is proud of 
her original blood. She feels strongly against the intermarriage of the Pequots 
with other races. The Indian blood that is left is the weakest of alL she asserted. 
She attribu1 cd this intermarriage to stark necessity. The original Pequots could 
not make a living among themselves and it became necessary to take husbands of 
other races in order to exist. This has accounted for the dwindling of the tribe to a 
mere handful ... (Poor But Proud 7/9/1933). 

Concerning LeGault's parents, the article stated: "Mrs. Edwards mother was ofPeqllot and 
Narraganset Indiar; ancestry, while her father was a full-blooded Pequot. Her husband is of 
Yankee stock (Poor But Proud 7/9/1933). 

In addition to the above comments from Gilbert Raymond's ledger in the mid-1930's in regard to 
the tribal membersbip of the Edwards family, on June 29, 1938, Allen B. Cook, of the State Park 
and Forest Commi;sion, wrote Arthur L. Peale in regard to the family's status: 

During the past two years I have spent considerable time compiling geneological 
[sic] records of persons who claim or may claim to belong to the various Indian 
Tribes of which the Conn. State Park and Forest Commission is Overseer. 
While I bel ieve that, as far as they go, these records are correct, I have not 
absolute prl)of. 

These records show that Bertha Edwards' Father was a white man. Her mother, 
Emma (Gardner) Edwards was a daughter of Marlboro Gardner and Eunice 

84Sic, but in en'or: should read sister-in-law. In another place, in a list of houses on the Eastem 
Reservation, he wrote 'LeGault daughter of Mrs. Gardner-Boss, House on West side highway" (Raymond Ledger 
1932- I 937). This too lVas mistaken: Mrs. LeGault was a niece by man'iage of Grace (Jackson) Gardner Boss. 
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(Wheeler) (George) Gardner who were both Indians, probably full Bloods. 
Marlboro Gardner was at least part Pequot and possibly part Narragansett. 
Eunice WteeJer was Narragansett. As we were interested only in the Pequot I did 
not follow it farther. 

From the a Jove I believe that Bertha Edwards is probably one half Indian, Pequot 
and Narragans(~tt (Cook to Peale 612911938; CT FOIA #68; #35 Pet., LIT 80). 

Social Ties between the Gardner/Edwards and Hoxie/Jackson Lineages. The evidence does not 
show any significant social contact or interaction between the Hoxie/Jacksons proper (those who 
were not also Gardner descendants) and the GardnerlEdwards line, its two antecedent families 
between 1910 an 1970 outside of William Gardner, who was married to Grace Jackson. The 
interview with Ali(:e Barbara (Spellman) Moore did not confirm social ties between Helen 
(Edwards) LeGaul1 and the Hoxie/Jackson descendants. When asked by the interviewer, "Well, 
no - aside from tht, Indians, anybody else who lived on the reservation?" Mrs. Moore 
volunteered: 

Yeah, there was a family that lived over where Aunt Grace used to live, took her 
house over. Helen LaGault or something. She claimed to be some Indian. And 
Paul and thl:m, and all of them used to have to bus with her. 

But they uSI~d to do a lot of scrapping, Helen LaGault. She was (inaudible) used 
to do a lot a f scrapping there because she wasn't - then she claimed she was. 
And she was real sort of arrogant, an arrogant person. And but that's a lot of 
years. r don't know anything because I never met her, don't know her (Moore 
Interview U/81l991, 48; PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 86). 

While emphasizing that Moore asserted that the Sebastians were not Indians, a PEP researcher 
omitted reference to her belief that Helen LeGault also was not an Indian (Palma, On the 
Sebastian Assertior. s 9/4/2001, 6; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 

The petition notes tlat William Gardner (brother ofthe two women whose descendants form the 
two main branches )f PEP's Gardner lineage), married Grace Jackson, sister of William Jackson 
and thus aunt of Ha rold Jackson. However, the descriptions of the gatherings at Helen LeGault's 
house don't mention the Jacksons. 

Harold Jackson doesn't indicate a close social relationship with Helen LeGault. In describing 
moving in with her md her husband, he indicates that he had only recently met her. Nor did he 
appear to have kept up with her after he left the reservation, even though he was definitely in the 
area a good portion of the time (Harold Jackson 1999). Jackson refers to Helen LeGault as 
Narragansett and hi:; cousin Barbara (Spellman) Moore (a Jackson) refers to her as "some kind of 
Indian." This appears to represent an internal distinction within the group, rather than an actual 
statement that LeGault was not a member of the Eastern Pequots, and as an internal distinction 
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provides evidence for community. It apparently picks up on oral history without the group 
which identifies Marlboro Gardner as having originally come from Narragansett. Beverly 
(Geer) Kilpatrick'~: answers to questions indicate clearly that she was only marginally acquainted 
with the Jacksons, including Paul Spellman (Beverly Kilpatrick 1999). 

Kinship Ties withill the Gardner Descendants. The State highlights excerpts from two 
interviews with PEP members as evidence that kinship ties do not unite the entirc Gardner 
descendants in the PEP membership, but are and have been in the past 70 years limited to 
smaller portions (State of Connecticut August 2001, 36-39). One of the interviews is with a 
forn1er chairman c f the PEP (Strange 1999) and the other with another member(Tingley 1999). 
These, the State a:gues, indicate that certain events were limited to the Geers or were limited 
"family" (State of C~onnecticut August 2001, 38, 39n26). In the first of the cited interviews, the 
term "family" refers to more than the interviewee's immediate family, ifnot encompassing the 
entire body of Gadner descendants. The cited interview excerpt is unclear as to whether the 
speaker is viewing the PEP as a single family group, or is referring to a subset of that body. The 
other cited referen ~e does indicate that certain gatherings were limited to the Geer portion of the 
Edwards wing of the Gardners, without demonstrating there were no contacts between the two 
sides. 

The limited data about social gatherings before the 1970's among the Gardner descendants 
suggests that they ~lere primarily within one side or another of the Gardner descendants (Ray 
Geer 1999; Beverl y Kilpatrick 1999). Additional evidence for social community ties before the 
present are found in the interview with Beverly (Geer) Kilpatrick. The interview of Beverly 
Kilpatrick provide; useful evidence since she provides specific detail, in a reasonably neutral 
fashion, and provides enough information to tell when she was where. Kilpatrick, born in 1941, 
indicated she was dose to Helen LeGault. She describes gatherings at Helen LeGault's home 
when she was younger -- possibly before 1960, but these appear to be family affairs (of the 
Gardner/Edwards) and that the Gardner/Williams did not attend these. Perhaps less significant, 
although Atwood Williams, Sr., died in 1955, Beverly Kilpatrick did not meet him, for example, 
at one of the gathe'ings at Helen LeGault's on the reservation. She describes that growing up 
around North Ston ington, she really wasn't aware of the Sebastians before high school, 
indicating the 1950's. This statement about lack of contact is consistent with the historical 
patterns of division along family line lines described in this determination. Her answers also 
support the idea thft the Sebastians were an issue beyond Helen LeGault and Pat Brown in the 
1950's, supporting the PEP contentions. There is reasonable evidence for the same patterns from 
the interview with Ray Geer (Ray Geer 1999). 

Community 1973 te) the Present. The proposed finding did not reach a determination on criterion 
83.7(b) from 1973 to the present. Without reaching a conclusion in regard to the period since 
1973, it stated: 

The 1994 a:1d 1996 petitions submitted by #1l3 did not provide a description of 
the present· clay community or present clata or analysis to show that is a social 
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community. The ethnohistorical report (Grabowski 1996) provided only minimal 
data addre~ sing the period since the 1970's. The petitioner submitted a 
supplemen :ary report addressing modem community in January 2000. This has 
been held t'ecause the petition was already under active consideration and will be 
incorporate cl into the evaluation for the final detennination (PEP PF 2000, 140). 

The main prt of the present PEP membership is closely related. Of the 128 
members, I 1. 9 are descendants of Eunice Wheeler and Marlboro Gardner, who 
married in 187:5. The balance are from the Jackson family line. The 119 
Gardner/Wheeler descendants are more or less evenly divided between the 
Edwards branch (69 members), which includes the Geer family, and the 
descendant; of Atwood Williams Sr. (Gardner/Wheeler/Hoxie) (50 members). 
The latter s~gment is a link between the Gardner line and the Jacksons, since it 
dcrives from the marriage in 1899 between Agnes Gardner (born 1875), daughter 
of Marlboro Gardner and Eunice Wheeler, and Atwood Williams Sr, grandson of 
Henry Jack;on and Rachel Hoxie. Older adults are generally either three or four 
generations removed from their common ancestor, Eunice (Wheeler) Gardner 
(PEP PF 2000, 140) 

A limited review of BrA interview data indicates that the group divides along 
these kinship lines and that social contact in the period between 1970's and the 
present tencied, not surprisingly, to be strongest within each subline of the 
Gardners. BlA interview data indicated that members living away from the North 
Stonington region are in sufficient contact with those in the area of the reservation 
to meet the requirements of the regulations for showing that the portion of the 
membership that is geographically scattered is maintaining some contact with the 
most cohesive and active core (PEP PF 2000, 140). 

The petitior er indicated that in recent years it held an annual powwow or annual 
meeting. Th'~re was not sufficient description or analyses of these events to make 
an evaluaticn of them as evidence to demonstrate community (PEP PF 2000, 
140). 

In its Comments on the proposed finding, the petitioner stated: 

Chapter Tw) of these comments is a copy of a paper on the Paucatuck Eastern 
Pequot Trib ~'s "modern community." It was previously submitted to the BAR, 
on January' 0, 2000, but was not considered in the preparation of the PEP 
Proposed Fi nding. It is being resubmitted for the convenience of the BAR 
researchers. Since it is being resubmitted with these comments, it has not been 

, changed except that a new title page has been prepared for it. ... It will clearly 
demonstrate that PEP members have been a separate tribal community from the 
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Sebastiam from at least the late 1800s to the present (Austin Introduction 
8/2/200 I, 1-10; PEP Comments 8/2/200 I). 

This resubmittal neans that the BIA's files on petitioner #113 now contain two copies of the 
same item with di fferent bibliographical citations (Austin Report 1110/2000; Austin II 8/2/200 I; 
PEP Comments 8/2/2001).85 This final determination cites to the second submission. 

The primary demonstration for present social community for the PEP membership is intended to 
rest on the kinshir patterns described (see above) and on geographical patterns of the present 
membership (see below) but go beyond it. 

PEP contends that the Paucatuck membership distribution is comparable to that of the 
Snoqualmie and thus provides equivalent support evidence. It states that: 

The Sumrr: ary Under the Criteria for the Snoqualmie Final Determination 
continues on to describe a situation very similar to that of the Paucatuck Tribe, in 
ternlS of the closeness of kinship relations, a narrowing of the membership base 
during the past 100 years due to individuals abandoning tribal relations, a limited 
number of family lines, and evidence for a pattern of broad social and political 
interaction across family lines (Austin II, 82/2000 I, 21). 

It states, concernir g geographical patterns of PEP membership, that the Snoqualmie were also 
widely dispersed geographically, and quotes Snoqualmie proposed finding statements about the 
portion of the membership that was within a 50 mile radius. (The report incorrectly attributes 
these to the Snoqu :ilmie final determination rather than the proposed finding). The proposed 
finding stated that: 

The geographical distribution of the Snoqualmie membership has not changed 
substantial] y from that of the previous decades. There are no distinctly 
Snoqualmi,! settlement areas. About 70 percent lives within a 50 mile radius of 
ToIt/Carnal ion, most between Marysville and Monroe on the north and Auburn on 
the south, a distance of about 50 miles. This is not close enough to raise any 
presumption of significant social interaction, but is close enough that social 
interaction at a significant level is easily possible. A highly geographically 
dispersed mc:!mbership would require evidence to overcome a presumption against 
maintenance of community based on the geographic dispersion of a group's 

85 As explained in connection with submissions by the Towns, the BIA held submissions received after 
April 5, 1999, and the Summary under the Criteria did not reference them. Petitioners and interested parties were 
notified of this dccisio 1 by March 6, 2000 (PEP Minutes 3/30/2000; PEP Response to Comments 8/4/200 I, Ex. 94). 
Submitters were assun'cl at the On the Record Technical Assistance Meeting held August 8 and August 9, 2000, that 
these submissions would b(~ used in preparation of the final determinations. The BIA notes that since the items are 
the same, the use of on e version does not signify neglect of use of the other. 
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members over great distances with no concentrations in smaller areas 
(Snoqllalm e PF Sllmm. Crit. 1993, IS). 

The statement was context for detailed and specific evidence of the maintenance of community 
among the Snoqua :mic. 

The geographical patterns described by Austin's report use the reservation as their center point. 
Of 144 members 01 the version of the roll analyzed, 65 were within a 50 mile radius of the 
reservation (45 percent), of which 27 were within a 10 mile radius (Austin 118/2/201,24; PEP 
Comments 8/20200 I) (these figures include adults and children).86 Figures were not given as to 
where and of what character the balance were. There is some very general data adduced, from a 
1997 survey to whi eh 47 percent of the membership replied, that "many" who lived away had 
been born within the radius, were mostly younger and that it was "common for members to move 
outside and then move back." No data were supplied concerning this statement (Austin II 
8/2/2001, 25-26; P~P Comments 8/2/2001). 

PEP's basic argument for community divides the membership into three categories. Category I 
is those living on the reservation, described as having day to day interaction, and others with 
close kinship ties (parent-child or sibling) to the latter (Austin II 8/2/200 I, 26-27; PEP 
Comments 8/2/2001). These comprise 11 of the 76 adult members of the EP. 

Category II, 54 adllts, the bulk of the group, is defined as those are those who "regularly attend 
the monthly tribal Ineetings and/or participate in other regular tribal activities such as the annual 
business meeting, {:tc."· Data cited is the sign-in sheets. The report further states the "many of 
these are connected to Category I members by ties of primary kinship, defined as sibling, child, 
parent, or grandparent. A list of these is provided. The report notes also four adult members 
who "communicate regularly with the tribal council via telephone calls to the tribal office's toll 
free number." BA]~ interviews also indicated that this number was used frequently by out of 
town members, but no analysis was made as to whether the named individuals were included 
already within the :;4 (Hogan 1999). 

A third category, Category III, not otherwise accounted for, are related by primary kin ties to 
those in Categories 1 and II, as defined. The report provides a list of specific names. 11 states 
that "it can be assumed that they are at least keeping informed of tribal affairs, even if they are 
not actively participating. "(Austin II 8/2/2001, 29; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 

Of the membership of 144,113 fall within these three categories. Sixty five of76 adults, or 81 
per cent are includEd. A review of the lists indicates these patterns are accurate. The interview 

86 This is a somewhat larger membership roll than was submitted with the PEP petition and used for the 
proposed finding, which had 128 members on it. 
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data concerning social contacts, based on a partial examination, is consistent with this 
description. 

The PEP report sl resses the narrowness of its kinship lines and the fact that those in the present 
membership are Tlot all of the possible descendants even in these family lines, but "only those 
that have maintai led tribal relations." It states that those who married into other tribes have 
joined those tribes and others, have, presumably, dropped away. Thus it is arguing not simply on 
the basis of genee logical distance, but that this is a selection within a broader genealogically 
defined field. Th ~re was no specific demonstration of this. The statement is that descendants 
outside of the cur~ently enrolled ones would not be socially and politically part of the 
community. This argument is repeated at several points in the petition response. 

PEP also references as evidence for community the "steadiness" of membership in the group, 
from 1987 to the present, attributed to clearly defined criteria, carefully implemented through a 
thorough review. "No new family lines or individuals from hitherto unknown Indian families 
have been added 10 the membership roll."(Austin II 8/2/2001, 40; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). All 
are descendants 0 f the three PEP ancestors. 

The petitioner docs not present systematic data showing that kinship relationships are recognized 
throughout the en :ire span of Gardner descendants in the sense of individual statements 
describing a more distant kinsman as in fact a kinsman. There is some data to this effect in the 
interviews, plus d 1ta on gatherings and relationship. 

The genealogical ~eport makes repeats the claim that the present membership is only those 
descendants actualJ.y maintaining social and political relationships, while noting that 300 
membership applications are pending, to be processed after the PEP is recognized. Addition of 
these would inval date the above quoted statements concerning the "steadiness" of membership 
in the group. In (Ine interview, the present chief notes that they have "tons of people who are 
trying to come ino us ... " (Austin Interview with James Cunha, Jr., 42-44; PEP Comments 
8/2/2001, Ex. 75). He indicates they have been considering the applications or potential 
applications of aJ1i)ther branch of the Marlboro Gardner line, i.e., from Marlboro Gardner's sister 
as well as several :>ther families. Cunha and PEP minutes (PEP Minutes 10/3/1997) indicate 
their awareness oithe community criterion and the Department's advicc that adding individuals 
with no social connection with the community would affect the evaluation under criterion 
83.7(b) and that tr.e: council was divided on the issue. Cunha estimates the PEP could reach 700 
to 800 (for more detailed discussion of PEP views on potential membership expansion, see 
below under criterion 83.7(e». 

The PEP report on community also includes some general comments concerning modem 
community as an <Ispect of political processes, beyond the geographical and kinship arguments, 
stating: 
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Members cd' all three families participate in tribal events like the monthly council 
meetings, the annual tribal meeting, and the annual powwow. Members of these 
family groups know and gossip about each other, allowing for informal social and 
political cc ntrol (Austin II 8/2/2001, 20; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 

The report also states that: 

The memb ~rs usually come to the [council] meetings with some time to spare so 
that they cm'l catch up on gossip from other members. While attendance at the 
meetings tends to be relatively small, in terms of percentage of overall adult 
membership, participation is high. At the three monthly council meetings 
attended b~1 the anthropologist (August, September, and October 1999), about 12 
members ",'ere present on average, including the council. This is approximately 
14 percent of the adult membership (12 of84 adult members). The meetings 
usually entlillively discussions of both social and political interest (Austin II 
8/212001, ~ 9; PEP Comments 8/2/2001)." 

The report also states that "annual meetings are also held, and the participation at those meetings 
is much higher. Tle annual meetings are both social and political events" (Austin II 812/2001, 
39; PEP Comments 8/2/200 I). The report does not cite to specific interview or documentary 
evidence for these statements. 

Analvsis of PEP's Argument that They and their Ancestors Have Been a Historically Distinct 
Tribe fro 171 the Sebastialls. The PEP response to the proposed finding states throughout its 
fundamental argument that the PEP members and their ancestors have never been part of a single 
tribe together with the Sebastians, at any point in history (Austin I 8/2/2001,49; PEP Comments 
8/2/2001). The re"iiew of evidence for this proposed finding does not support this argument. 

The proposed find ng's conclusion is affirmed in so far that it states that there was a historical 
Eastern Pequot tribe which maintained community up to the date of the American Revolution. 
However, no name d, identified, ancestors of PEP appear in the Eastern Pequot records for the 
colonial period, and, indeed, the petitioner indicates that the Gardner family did not become 
associated with the historical Eastern Pequot tribe until the late 18th century (Austin II 8/2/200 I, 
11-12; PEP Comme:nts 8/2/2001). 

The proposed find ng's conclusion is affirmed in so far as it stated that the historical Eastern 
Pequot tribe as a whole met criterion 83.7(b) for the period from the American Revolution 
through 1873. Ho'.vever, the evidence presented does not demonstrate that the direct antecedents 
of PEP were maintaining a distinct community throughout this time period, distinct from the full 
body of the histori,;al Eastern Pequot tribe and excluding the antecedents of EP whom the 
petitioner does not accept as elements of the historical Eastern Pequot tribe. 
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The data between the American Revolution and 1872 provides some evidence in regard to 
maintenance of ccmmunity between both the Hoxie/Jackson and the Gardner family ancestors 
and other element; of the historical Eastern Pequot tribe. It does not, however, provide evidence 
of their having me intained a community with one another which was distinct from the larger 
entity that contained the antecedents of petitioner #35. The evidence only establishes the 
existence of the latter. The same is true of the decade from 1873 through 1883, where both 
families antecedent to #113 appear in Eastern Pequot documents, but sign or are listed in 
common with antfcedents of petitioner #35. 

For the period from 1883 through the 1920's, the two late 19th century marriages between the 
Gardner and Hoxi ~/Jackson families indicate that there was actual interaction between the two 
lines of PEP's antl~cecJents. In the same generation, however, five persons married out of the 
group and three did not marry. The total sample for this generation (12 persons, excluding the 
children from Eunice Wheeler's other marriages) is very small. Neither does the available 
evidence, including interviews, confirm close social ties among the members of the two lines 
antecedent to #1 U, while the same evidence does not indicate clearly that the Hoxie/Jackson 
antecedents of PEl uniformly eschewed social contact with the antecedents of petitioner #35 or 
maintained that th ~ BrushelllSebastian descendants were not Indians. 

From the late 1920's to the early 1970's, the evidence does not show substantial contact between 
those Jacksons, induding the Spellman family, who did not also descend from Marlboro Gardner 
and the Gardner/Edwards descendants who had no Hoxie/Jackson ancestry. The evidence does 
not show substantial contact between either branch of the Gardners (Gardner/Edwards and 
Gardner/Williams ~ and the Sebastians. In contrast, there is a reasonably large amount of 
evidence of contact between the Hoxie/Jacksons who did not also descend from Marlboro 
Gardner and the S~bastians. 

From 1973 to the present, the Gardner/Edwards and Gardner/Williams lines within PEP's 
community have teen increasingly separate from the antecedents ofEP. However, the level of 
separateness has not been constant throughout the time period. More significantly, throughout 
much of the period from 1973 to the present, until 1989-1990, the Hoxie/Jackson descendants 
were not comprised within the PEP membership and are not shown to have maintained 
community with PEP rather than with the full entity of the historical Eastern Pequot tribe. 

The evidence does not show that the antecedents of petitioner # 113 have maintained a distinct 
community from t istorical times to the present, apart from the larger body of the historical 
Eastern Pequot tribe, that meets criterion 83. 7(b). 

Conclusion. See conclusory section to this document. 
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83.7(c) 

Introduction. 87 

The petitioner has maintained political influence 
or authority over its members as an autonomous 
entity from historical times until the present. 

In response to the Jroposed finding, the petitioner states: 

Aside from lack of evidence to support the AS - lA's tentative conclusion in the 
Proposed Finding that there may be one tribe with two factions, there are at least 
two other conclusions in the Proposed Finding with which the Paucatuck Eastern 
Pequot Tribe takes issue. For example, the Proposed Finding concluded that there 
was very Ii :tle evidence demonstrating community (25 CFR 83. 78(b» and 
political authority (25 CFR 83.7(c» for the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe 
during some decades of the 1900s (Austin Introduction 8/2/2001,9; PEP 
Comments 8/2/2001). 

The firm bd ief of PEP members, from about 1890 to the present, that the 
Sebastians are non-Indians, negates the conclusion in the Proposed Finding that 
the two petitioners (#35 and #113) are two factions ofa single tribe up to 1973 
(Austin I 8,2/2001,49; PEP Response to Comments 8/2/2001). 

The petitioner submittl;:d additional evidence and analysis in regard to criteria 83. 7(b) and 
83.7(c). For discU!;sion of the evidence specifically in regard to community, see above under 
criterion 83.7(b). 

The petitioner states further: 

The AS - IA's conclusions in the Proposed Finding on the Paucatuck Eastern 
Pequot trib,~ were founded upon an inadequate understanding of history of the 
reiationshiJ:' between the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe and the descendants of 
Tamar Brw:hell Sebastian. .. Chapter One will discuss recently discovered 
evidence, as well as evidence that was previously submitted, which demonstrates 
that the cor flict is not of recent vintage. It is a long-standing dispute that began 
in the late 1800s, not in 1973 as the AS - IA concluded in the Proposed Finding 
(Austin IntmdUiction 8/212001, 17; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 

87"Political b11uence or authority means a tribal council, leadership, internal process or other mechanism 
which the group has w,e:d as a means of influencing or controlling the behavior of its members in significant 
respects, and/or makin g decisions for the group which substantially affect its members, and/or representing the 
group in dealing with outsiders in matters of consequence. This process is to be understood in the context of the 
history, culture and so(;ial organization of the group" (25 CFR Part 83.1). 
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This statement that the proposed finding concluded that the conflict began is 1973 is not an 
accurate restatemmt of the conclusion of the proposed finding, which discussed the conflict 
from the 1920s onward extensively (PEP PF 2000, 81-84). It should also be noted that the 
petitioner repudial es specifically the basis upon which the AS-IA issued a positive finding for 
the period througt 1973 (Austin Introduction 8/2/2001, 3, 5, 6, 8; PEP Comments 8/212001; for 
text of passages, see the General Issues section of this final determination). This final 
determination conside:rs the petitioner's argument asserted in the cited passages, that PEP is 
separate from EPmd has never been part of an entity that included the antecedents of EP. To do 
so, the final determination includes an analysis of the evidence in light of whether the petitioner 
meets criterion 83.7(c) from first sustained contact with non-Indian settlers to the present when 
only its own direc t antecedents are taken into consideration, eliminating all documentation which 
shows the petitioner's antecedents as part of an entity which also included the antecedents of 
petitioner #35. 

The Towns contend that a tribe must have existed at earliest point of sustained contact exactly as 
it exists now, rath~r than being a portion that has evolved from such a tribe (Towns August 2001, 
3,5-6,8-14,17, a1d many succeeding instances). The Towns also contend that once a tribe has 
been "conquered and dissolved," then it has to be regarded as permanently gone (Towns August 
2001. 41; see also 15-17,45,47,64, 87, 101 ff., 109, and many other instances), leaving only 
"colonial governnl(~nt over a conquered people" (Towns August 2001, 56) and arguing that 
"Complete goverrance by the Colony is the antithesis of tribal sovereignty" (Towns August 
2001. 60).88 The ~;tate also addressed this issue (State of Connecticut A lIgust 2001. 41ft). 

Some of the point, of argumentation in regard to the early period, such as those of the Towns in 
regard to the nature of a tribe at first contact89 or the impact of oversight by a colonial 
government,90 were already addressed in the proposed finding (PEP PF 2000, 98-99). Generally, 
the Towns' interp~etation of the evidence for the period from first sustained contact through the 
mid-19th century is not persuasive, particularly in light of the provision in the regulations that: 

Evaluatiors of petitions shall take into account historical situations and time 
periods for which evidence is demonstrably limited or not available. The 

88This paragraph constitutes a sampling, rather than an exhaustive listing, of the passages in which the 
Towns assert these points. 

89 Many now-recognized tribes are no longer in precisely the same organization or political conformation as 
they were at the time of first sustained contact. Tribes which evolved as parts of historical tribes which have been 
acknowledged through the 25 CFR Part 83 process (Jena Choctaw, Huron Potawatomi, MBPI). 

90"Autonom y" under the regulations is defined only in relation to other Indian tribes, not to non-Indian 
governmental authorities. The temporary assignment of the Pequots to supervision of the Narragansett, Mohegan, 
and Eastern Niantic tribes after 1637 was as an act of the colonial government, as was their subsequent removal 
from that supervision in 1654-1655 (EP PF 2000, 13-24). 
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limitatiom inherent in demonstrating the historical existence of community and 
political ir fluence or authority shall also be taken into account. Existence of 
communit:r and political influence or authority shall be demonstrated on a 
substantially continuous basis, but this demonstration does not require meeting 
these crite:'ia at every point in time. Fluctuations in tribal activity during various 
years shall not in themselves be a cause for denial of acknowledgment under 
these criteria (25 CFR 83.6(e». 

Colonial Developments. 

The Towns assert that: 

While the =:olony considered Harmon Garrett and Momoho to be its political 
authority ever the Eastern Pequot, it did not consider them to also represent a 
tribal political entity. In effect, the government over the Pequot survivors was 
merely an ~xtension of the civil government of the Colony. No evidence has been 
found that any independent tribal political leadership existed outside of this 
imposed structure. The Colony dealt with the Pequot survivors primarily as 
individual~: and treated them similarly to other poor inhabitants who required 
overseers (Towns August 2001, 102). 

For extensive discussion of this contention, see the survey of the relationship between the 
Colony and Connecticut's tribes, as reflected in the legislative provisions, above, in the General 
Issues section. Tl~ e Towns also contend: 

During the course of the 18th century, the existing evidence indicated that the 
Stonington Pequots directly addressed the Connecticut government on only seven 
occasions, through petitions in 1722, 1723, 1749, 1750, 1764, 1766, and 1788. 
None ofth~se petitions listed the signatories as having a leadership title or as 
being merrbers of any tribal governing or social body. Rather the signatories 
were described in the petitions as being "Momohos Squaw [no close quotes] 
(1722), "sl.bscribers in behalf of all ye Rest of ye Descent of Momohoe and his 
men" (172 3), "Indian natives, of the tribe of Momohoe" (1749), "Indian 
Inhabitant~ of the town of Stonington" (1766), and "Indians of the Pequod [sic] 
Tribe in St:mington" (1788). In and of themselves, the petitions do not provide 
evidence of internal tribal processes because they fail to explain how they were 
developed or indicate to what extent the signers were truly representative of the 
tribal group (Towns August 2001, 103) . 

. . . Connecticut never acknowledged the existence of a tribal government on the 
Stonington reservation. Throughout the 18th century, it recognized neither an 
Indian leac er by title nor a governing body on or near the reserve. Like any other 
Connecticut residents, the Pequots at Stonington could petition the General 
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Assembly ~Jr the redress of grievance, but they chose to do so only seven times 
during the course of the [18th

] century, and never as named or titled tribal leaders 
of a goverlllng body. Neither did they ever appeal during this period to the 
central gOH!rnments of the British Crown or the United States (once it was 
establishec). In short, the Connecticut government had no relationship with a 
tribal government on the Stonington reservation during this period and, indeed, 
there is no evidence that such a tribal political entity existed (Towns August 2001, 
106). 

The petitioner pro {ided a detailed response to the Towns' comments in regard to the colonial 
period (Duryea; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). Some of the argumentation presented, 
such as that which maintained that the Eastern Pequots after 1637 were "the remaining 
independent core of the Pequot Nation" rather than a "splinter group" (Duryea 12; PEP Response 
to Comments 9/4/:~OO I) was not directly pertinent to the 25 CFR Part 83 criteria. Similarly, the 
evidence in the record does not indicate that an indigenous leadership of Wequashcook over the 
Eastern Pequot was "affirmed by colonial officials through an official 'appointment'," (Duryea 
14; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001), nor is there any requirement in the regulations that 
such have been the case.91 

Political Influence or Authority, 1776-1872. 92 The Towns, in general challenge the finding that 
the historical Eastern Pequot tribe met criterion 83.7(c) for this period of time (Towns August 
2001,94-129). 

The content of the address of the Town of Norwich to the General Assembly on October II, 
1795 (Towns August 2001, Ex. 69), specifically mentions the "Pequod [sic] Tribe of Indians, in 
the Town of Stonington" and then references the money expended by the Town for "the support 
and removal of an Individual of that Tribe, who fell sick with in the Town of Norwich" and 
requested repayment (IP, 2nd

, 11:155; Towns August 2001, Ex. 69). This evidence is an 
identification of the tribal nature of the petitioner as of that date and specifically indicates that its 
members were not classified among the poor for whom the Towns considered themselves to bear 
responsibility. 

In regard to the 18)0 Eastern Pequot petition against intruders on the reservation (Connection 
Indian Papers 2, II 105; Towns August 2001, Ex. 74), the Towns assert: "Of course, had the 

91There is no n:quirement that the final determination address at any length argumentation, whether 
presented by a petitior er or by a third party, that is not directly pertinent to the acknowledgment regulations or 
reanalyze issues whd were fully addressed in the proposed finding and for which no new evidence has been 
submitted. 

92The petitiOI' er's narrative utilizes the term "Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe" throughout its analysis of 
criterion 83.7(c), and u:ncrally throughout the period prior to 1982, although the terminology is not found in 
contemporary documents. 
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group existed as :: functioning political and social entity with any degree of internal cohesion, 
those incursions (Into the small reservation could not have occurred" (Towns August 2001, 110). 
The Towns argue also that the evidence for #35 and #113 was handled differently from the 
evidence in regard to the Mohegan petition for criterion 83.7(c) (Towns August 2001,29-31). 
This is incorrect. It should be noted that, in fact, the Mohegan tribe submitted a petition to the 
New London County Court containing similar complaints during the first half of the 19th century 
(Mohegan Pet., E ... 341),93 and such petition did notprecludc it from meeting criterion 83.7(c). 

The evaluation in the proposed finding that the petitions of February 8, 1839 (Towns August 
2001, Ex. 80) and February 1841 (Towns August 2001, Ex. 81) indicate the existence of political 
authority or inflw::nce in the historical Eastern Pequot tribe stands, even though, as the Towns 
point out, no one ;pecific individual among the signers is designated as a leader (Towns August 
2001, 126-129). However, none of the identified ancestors of petitioner #113 were signers of 
these petitions. 

There is no carry)ver from criterion 83.7(b) to criterion 83.7(c) for the period between the 
American Revolu :ion and 1873 when the evaluation is limited to the antecedents of petitioner 
#113 only. The Eastern Pequot overseer's reports contain only two mentions of Eunice 
Wheeler's mother in 1835-1836 and no mention of Marlboro Gardner or Eunice Wheeler prior to 
1873. Thus, the r,~cords show an Eastern Pequot residential community on the Lantern Hill 
reservation of whi eh Rachel (Hoxie) Jackson is documented to have been a member from 1849 
through 1873, but this reservation community did not include petitioner # 113's other ancestral 
line, Gardner/Wh(:eler. Neither were there documented intern1arriages between the two family 
lines antecedent to petitioner #113 during the period prior to 1873, so there is no carryover from 
83.7(b) to 83.7(c) on the basis of endogamy. Thus, for the period from the American Revolution 
to 1873, the evidence presented does not demonstrate political influence within a PEP antecedent 
group separate from the full body of the historical Eastern Pequot tribe. 

Political Influence or Authority 1873-1920. The majority of the new analysis and evidence 
submitted pertained to the period from 1883 to the present. However, the BIA's detailed 
analysis for the final determination begins with 1873 for two reasons. The first is the presence of 
significant new infomlation in regard to the June 26, 1873, Eastern Pequot petition. The second 
is the following a~ sertion by the petitioner, which denies the underlying hypothesis of the 
conclusion reache j by the AS-IA in the positive proposed finding;94 

93 1834 comp laint of Mohegan to New London County Court, troubled with trespassers on their wood land 
by white people & also by colored people who live among us & continually cut & sell wood ... " (Mohegan Pet., 
Ex. 341). 

94The amour: t of data concerning political authority and influence in the record overall, including 
conflicts between the two groups, is considerably more extensive than that relating to internal 
political processes within petitioner #113 alone. As evaluated under the standard articulated for a 
historical sta e' recognized tribe, the petitioner meets criterion 83. 7( c) from 1883 to 1973, based on 
the conclusic n that there was a single tribe, the entirety of whose actions reflected political 
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The Pauc"tuck Eastern Pequot Tribe has always maintained its political and social 
distinctivmess from the individuals currently organized under the name "Eastern 
Pequot Tribe'" (Petitioner #35), in terms of tribal affairs, The evidence discussed 
in these comments clearly shows that the PEP has always had its own separate 
tribal community and its own political leaders. With regard to the critical 
evidence on political leadership (which is what factions are all about), the fact 
that the PEP and Petitioner #35 have never been unified is particularly clear 
(Austin Introduction 8/2/2001,6; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 

1873-1883. Of the antecedents of petitioner #113, Rachel (Hoxie) Jackson was first named on 
an 1849 overseer's list. From that naming until her appearance on the June 26, 1873, petition to 
the New London County Superior Court, there is no specific evidence in the overseers' reports of 
her participating in any activity that indicates political authority or influence.95 Her appearance 
on the 1873 petition is not in common with Marlboro and Eunice (Wheeler) Gardner, the other 
antecedents of petitioner #113, but rather in common with individuals antecedent to petitioner 
#35 (see detailed discussion following).96 

On May 19, 1873. Leonard C. Williams of Stonington, Overseer, petitioned the General 
Assembly for permission to sell a portion of the Lantern Hill reservation (Bassett 1938; #35 Pet. 
Petitions; see EP PF 2000, 106, for details). The proposed sale engendered protests by the 
Indians who wouj,j be: affected by it. On June 26, 1873, the "members of the Pequot tribe of 
Indians of North 5 tonington" remonstrated against the sale of lands and requested removal of 
Leonard C. Williams as overseer (Lynch 1998a 5:81-82; Grabowski 1996, 114). 

The proposed finding indicated that, "The names of signers on photocopy submitted to the BIA 
(#35 Pet. Petitions) were nearly illegible" (PEP PF 2000, 104) but stated that by combining the 
transcriptions in p,~tition #35, petition #113, and by the BIA researchers, the names had been 
deciphered as; 

influence, inc luding the Gardners as one subgroup, rather than as the entire entity evaluated ... 
The historical Eastern Pequot tribe, which includes the petitioner as one of its component 
subgroups, rr eets criterion 83. 7( c) through 1973 (PEP PF 2000, 119). 

95See, for ex, rnple, the 1865 list of names from Isaac Miner's overseer's report, North Stonington Superior 
Court Records, State Library, Hartford, CT: "Names of the Pequot Tribe of Indians of North Stonington as far as I 
can ascertain: Eunice Fagans Cotrell, Lucy Fagans, Charity Fagans, Lorry Fagans 5 Children, Murinda Ned 
Duglas, Caroline Ned, Lucy Hill, Rachel Orchard 4 Children, Abby Fagans or Randall 5 Children, Leonard Ned 
Brown, Calvin Ned, Joseph Fagans, James Kiness, George Hill, Andrew Hill" (#35 Pel. Overseers Reports). 

96 Aside from the 1873- I 883 documents discussed in this section and the overseers' reports, the earliest 
documented associaticns between the Gardner and Hoxie/Jackson lines are two marriages, those of William Albert 
Gardner to Grace Jackson in 1898 and of Agnes Eunice Gardner to Atwood Isaac Williams (son of Phebe Esther 
Jackson) in 1899. These marriages do not, in themselves, provide any data concerning political influence or 
authority. For discuss on of community, see criterion 83.7(b). 
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Calvin Williams, Amanda Williams, E. Cottrell, Rachel M. Jackson, Fanny", 
Irean ", Ph(~be ", Lucy", Wm. H ", Jane M J, Leanard Brown, [illegible], 
[illegible], Janes [James?] M Watson, Sarah J Watson; [following page, mayor 
may not represent a continuation] Mercy Williams her mark, [illegible], 
[illegible], [illegible] Hill «#35 Pet. Petitions; Lynch 1998a 5:81-82; Grabowski 
1996, 114) (PEP PF 2000,104). . 

EP, petitioner #35, submitted a better copy of this document for use in the final deternlination. 
Comparing the old copy to the new one submitted in 2001, the names now appear to be: 

Calvin Williams, Amanda Williams, E. Cottrell, Rachel M. Jackson, Fanny J, 
Irean J, Ph(~be.1, Lucy A J, Wm. H J, Jane[y?] M J, Leanard Brown[e?], Tamar S 
and Har nill cheldren [takes up two lines], James M Watson, Sarah J Watson; 
[next page] Me~rcy Williams her x mark, [illegible] H x, [illegible] x, George W 
Hill x, [illegible]san Randall, A. B. RAndle ("Errata and Addendum for 
Comments on the PF 'Being an Indian in Connecticut' submitted August 2, 2001," 
156; EP Response to Comments 9/4/200 I). 

Petitioner # 113 as~erts that the above evidence is not valid: 

In an attempt to position their lineage on the reservation, petitioner #35 also 
claims to p 'csent new documentary evidence concerning Tamer Brushel 
Sebastian (1822-1915) through the suggested inclusion of "Tam a [sic] sand Har 
nin children" on the June 26, 1873 petition to the overseer, . .. (Sebastian 
Comments, August 200 I, pp. 134-35). These claims are interesting for a number 
of reasons, not the least of which is the fact that no other reader of the 1873 
petition ha~; ever noticed the inclusion of a reference to Tamer Brushel Sebastian 
(McMullen 6; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 

The proposed find ng specifically stated that: "The legible portions of the document did not 
contain the names of Tamar (Brushell) Sebastian or of any of her older children; or of 
Marlborough or Eunice (Wheeler) Gardner or any of their collateral relatives. The BlA is not 
prepared to reach ::ny ,conclusion on what may have been contained in the illegible portions" 
(PEP PF 2000, 10L-). The "notice" of the additional names on this document is the result of there 
now being a better photocopy in the evidence. 

The June 26, 1873, pel[ition was also signed by members of the HoxielJackson family 
(antecedents ofpelitioner #113) and by Abby (Fagins) Randall, one of her children, and the 
children of Laura (Fagins) Watson (antecedents of petitioner #35). Petitioner #113 asserts that 
the evidence offen:d by the above petition does not indicate that their antecedents were part of a 
common tribal social community or political community with the other signers: 
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... Dr. McMullen concludes, among other things that: the State appointed tribal 
overseers ",en: not always and equally knowledgeable about the tribes whose 
interest tht:y were supposed to care for; there is no credible evidence that the 
Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe is a faction of Petitioner #35, since no single 
political oj' social system encompassing both members of petitioner #35 and the 
Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe has ever existed; ... the Sebastians and the 
Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe have always inhabited separate social spheres, 
and canno; be accurately characterized as two factions of a single tribal entity 
(Cunha to McCaleb 9/4/2001, 2; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 

Petitioner # 113 dd not offer specific comments on the appearance of names antecedent to both 
current petitioners on another 1873 document that did include the Gardners (#35 Pet. Overseers 
Reports; Lynch ]s'98a 5:83-84; see EP PF 2000, 107; for text see discussion under criterion 
83. 7( e)) nor did PEP comment on a March 31, 1874, "Remonstrance to Superior Court, New 
London, against sale ofland,,,97 although these are the first Eastern Pequot documents on which 
the name of PEP ancestor Marlboro Gardner appears and are, therefore, of some significance in 
understanding the development of the current petitioner.98 Since, on these documents, the 
Gardner and Jackson families (antecedent to petitioner #113) appear in common with members 
of the Sebastian, Fagins/Randall, and Fagins/Watson families (antecedent to petitioner #35) 
signing the same C ocuments for the same purpose, these provide no infornlation concerning any 
politicalleadershil' or influence in the PEP's direct antecedent group as distinct from the whole 
body of listees ane signers. They do, however, show political leadership or influence within the 
historical Eastern Pequot tribe comprised of both EP and PEP ancestors. 

nMarch 31, ] 874, "Remonstrance to Superior Court, New London, against sale ofland": "We the 
undersigned most respectfully state that we are members of and belong to the Pequot tribe of Indians of North 
Stonington." This pet tion again requested the removal of Leonard O. Williams as overseer. Signers were: 

Calvin Williams, Amanda Williams, Mercy Williams her X, Eunice Cottrell her X, Leanard 
Brownne, Abby Randall, Florance Randall, Ellice Randall, John Randall Jr., Jesse L. Williams, 
Sophia Williams, Elizabeth Williams, Harriet E. Williams, William L Williams, Jane M. [James 
M.?] Watson, Agustus E. Watson, __ Watson, Francis Watson, Mary A Potter X, Emily Ross?, 
Rachel Jacks(ln X, Issac Tracy X, Fannie Jacson X, Ireine Jackson, X, Phebe Jackson X, Lucy 
Jackson X, Wily Jackson X, Permic? Jackson X, Fansos Jackson X, Molbrow Gardner X. (#35 
Pet. Petitions; Lynch 1998,5:82-83). 

98The immediately subsequent overseers' reports did not include Marlboro Gardner or Eunice (Wheeler) 
Gardner: 2 August 18'16 - I April 1877, C. P. Chipman as Overseer for the North Stonington Tribe of Pequot 
Indians. "And report flakes that the following is a list or schedule of the members of said Tribe, as nearly as can be 
ascertained, viz: Eunice Fagan 1, Abby Randall & two Children 3; Amanda Williams 1; Lucy Hill 1; Rachael 
Jackson & 6 Children, 7; LI~onard Nedson, 1; Calvin Nedson 1; Joseph Fagan I; James Kinness, I; George W. Hill, 
1; Andrew Hill, 1; 5 Childr,en of Laura Watson, 5; Total 24. Goods furnished to: Amanda Williams, Eunice B. 
Cottrell, Leonard Nedson, Lucy Hill" (EP Comments 8/2/2001, Box 1, Folder 9). 
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The proposed finding stated that, "There are no overseer's reports in the record from 1875 until 
1889" (PEP PF 2()00, 103), and cited a document which appeared to indicate that these reports 
did not exist. 99 H~wever, some reports for these years were located by petitioner #35 and 
submitted for consideration in the final determination (EP Comments 8/2/200 1, Box 1, Folder 9). 

The Eastern Pequ)t overseer's report filed April 4, 1883, by Charles Chipman noted, "That the 
present number 0:' members of said tribe as known to said Overseer is now Thirty Three - two 
having been added the past year by order of Chief Justice Park" (EP Comments 8/2/200 1, Box 1, 
Folder 9). The seluence of reports preceding this event is summarized here. 'oo No copy of the 
pertinent court order was included in the evidence submitted by petitioner #35, by petitioner 
#113, or by the inerested parties. At the request of the BIA, the United States Attorney's Office 
in Connecticut att ~mpted to locate this document, but was not able to do so. The BIA thus does 
not have direct information as to the two names added by this order, or on what basis they were 
ordered to be added. However, the two names which appear on the sequence of overseer's 
reports immediately after 1883 that did not appear earlier are those of Marlboro Gardner 'o, and 
his sister, Harriet I:Gardner) Simons. ,o2 

9~ A Ictter from the North Stonington Town Clerk's Office to Connecticut Secretary of State Charles E. 
Searls, datcd Februar;' 4, 1881, stated that his office had received no report from the overseer of the Indians rcsiding 
in the town since that fiiled by Leonard Williams in 1875: Mr. Charles P. Chipman, the present overseer, had never 
made any return to thHt office (Hillard to Searls 2/4/1881; #35 Pet., B-02B). 

The Towns did not locate these additional overseers' reports and presented their comments upon the 
assumption that they were non-existent (Towns August 2001, 144-145). 

10°1878: Chas. P. Chipman, Overseer of Eastern Tribe of Pequot Indians Town of North Stonington: 
Eunice Cottrell, Leonmd Nedson, Amanda Williams, Lucy Hill, Mary E. Watson Sebastian (#35 Pet. Overseers 
Reports). 

1879 March Term, New London County Superior court, Chao P. Chipmen, Overseer of Eastern Tribe of 
Pequot Indians. Suppies furnished Eunice Cottrell, for Leonard Nedson or Gallows (#35 Pet. Overseers Reports). 

March 1881, Chas. P. Chipman overseer's account, Eastern Tribe of Pequot Indians, Town ofN. 
Stonington: Amanda Williams, Eunice Cottrell, Leonard Nedson, [different handwritng] Eliza Sebastian (#35 Pet. 
Overseers Reports). 

IOIApril1882 .. April 1883. Charles Chipman, Overseer of Eastem Tribe of Pequot Indians Located in the 
Town of North Stonin ~ton. "That the present number of said Tribe as Known to said Overseer is now 
Thirty-Three--two hay ing been added the past year by order of Chief Justice Park." . .. Receiving goods and 
services: Marlbro Gardiner, Amanda Williams, Eunice Cottrell, Leonard Nedson (EP Comments 8/2/200 I, Box I, 
Folder 9). 

102March TerTI AD. 1884, "Comes Charles H Brown Overseer of Eastern Tribe Pequot Indians in the 
Town of North Stonin:~ton Conn. "That the members of said Tribe are the same as reported by former overseer 
namely 33. Receiving goods and services: Eunice Cottrell, Harriet Symonds, Molbro Gardiner" (EP Comments 
8/2/2001 Box I, Folder 9). 

The Towns re~em:d to "children of Margaret Gardner Simons (Marlboro'S aunt)" (Towns August 2001, 
148). Marlboro Gardner did not have an aunt named Margaret Gardner Simons: it is not clear whether this was 
intended as a referencf to his sister, Harriet (Gardner) Simons. 

125 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement PEP-V001-D006 Page 135 of 207 



Final Determination, F aucl'ctuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

Marlboro Gardner had already been listed on, and signed, Eastern Pequot documents a decade 
earlier (see above), and continued to be listed on the Eastern Pequot overseer's reports until his 
death.,o3 The children of Harriet (Gardner) Simons continued to appear on the overseers' and 
State Parks and Fo -est Commission listings into the 1930's (#35 Pet. Overseers Reports), but his 
widow, nee Eunice Wheeler, was never listed as a member between 1893 and her death.,o4 

On December 3, 1 B83, the "Pequot Tribe ofIndians in the Town of North Stonington" presented 
another petition: 

I03March Terri A.D. 1885, Charles H Brown overseer of Eastern Tribe Pequot Indians in the town of 
North Stonington Con:1. to the Honorable Superior Court for New London County. "That the numbers of said Tribe 
31, two having died in past year." Paid Calvin Williams for clearing land. Goods and services for: Amanda 
Williams, Eunice Cotdl, Molbro Gardiner (EP Comments 8/2/2001 Box I, Folder 9). 

I April 1886, Charles H. Brown, overseer. Received goods or services: Amanda Williams, Eunice 
Cotrell, Molbro Gardiller (EP Comments 8/2/200 I Box I, Folder 9). 

April 1886 - April 1887, Charles Brown, overseer; 28 members; Paid or receiving goods or services: Lucy 
Hill Reynolds, Eunice Cottrell, Noyes Hoxie, Amanda Williams, Molbro Gardner (EP Comments 8/2/200 I, Box I, 
Folder 9, "Systematic .'urvey"). 

April 1887 - J\pril 1888, Charles Brown overseer, 26 members, 2 having died since the last report; Paid or 
receiving goods or ser';ices; Lucy Hill Reynolds, Eunice Cottrell, Amanda Williams, Molbro Gardner (EP 
Comments 8/2/200 I, Box 1, Folder 9, "Systematic Survey"). 

Eastern Pequot acwunt covering the period from July 2, 1889, through 1890, Gilbert Billing, overseer: 
Members of Tribe: Abby Randall, John J. Randall, Alexander Randall, Flora Randall, Lucy Hill, Francis Watson, 
Mary Watson, Edgar \vat50n, Munroe Watson, Molbro [?] Gardiner, Phebe Jackson, Irene Jackson, Jenny Jackson, 
Lucy Jackson, William Jackson, Fanny Jackson, Ed Jackson, [Three pages later in the photocopied document in the 
#113 petition, but appHently a continuation of the list: follows immediately in #35 Pet., Overseers Reports] Maria 
Simons, Mary Simons Herman Simons, Lucy A. Sawant [Lawan!':)], Russel Simons, Dwight Gardiner, Calvin 
Williams, Tamar Seba ,tian, Leonard Nedson, Mary Ann Potter. Account of provisions furnished each family: 
Molbro Gardiner. Cah in Williams, Tamar Sebastian (# 113 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS I Doc. 41; #35 Pet. Overseers 
Reports). 

1890-1891 re JOr!. "Eastem Tribe Pequot Indians North Stonington in account with Gilbert Billings 
overseer (#35 Pet. OVf rseers Reports). 

"Services ren,j'~red Marlbro Gardiner from 17 November 1892 until his death 16 May 1893" (Overseers 
Reports Eastern Pequct Indians of Connecticut, Overseer Gilbert Billings, from 1891-92 through 1904-05; EP 
Comments 8/2/200 I, Box 1, Folder 9). 

16 May 1893 Office of the Town Clerk, North Stonington [New London], Connecticut, "Birth, Marriages, 
Deaths, 1852-1920," page:51. Marlbro Gardner died on 16 May 1893 in North Stonington [New London], 
Connecticut at the age of 55. He was born in North Stonington [New London], Connecticut (PEP Comments 
8/2/2001, Genealogy F~ecords; Reference: Death Record, Doc. #20) 

I04Members cfTribe: Abby Randall, John J. Randall, Alexander Randall, Lucy Hill, Frances Watson, 
Munroe Watson (dead I. Mary Watson, Phebe Jackson, Irene Jackson, Jennie Jackson, Lucy Jackson, William 
Jackson, Fanny Jackscn, Ed. Jackson, Maria Simons, Mary Simons, Herman Simons, Lucy A. Sawant, Russel 
Simons, Dwight Gardm:r, Calvin Williams, Tamar Sebastian, Jessie Williams, Ed. Watson (dead), Leonard Ned 
Eastern Tribe Pequots Indians North Stonington In account with Gilbert Billings overseer 1901-1902, 27 June 1902; 
EP Comments 8/2/200 I Box I Folder 9). 

Photocopy of cleath record: August 29, 1912, artero-scierosis, mitral regurgitation, Eunice A. Gardner, 76 
yrs. 11 months, Colon: d, F,emale, born Maine, no occupation listed, res. North Stonington, Conn., Widow (# 113 
Pet. 1996, GEN DOC: IV). 
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To the Hor John D. Park Chief Justice of the Supreme and Superior Courts of 
Connecticl t. We the undersigned inhabitants of and belonging to the Pequot Tribe 
oflndians n the Town of North Stonington would respectfully represent to your 
honor that \1r. Chipman our former overseer being dead We would request your 
honor to a~'P0int Charles H. Brown of North Stonington for overseer .... Signed: 
Eunice Cottrel her mark, Calvin Williams, Molbro Garner, Mrs. Rachel Jackson, 
Phebe Jackson, Fannie Jackson, Irene Jackson, Henry Jackson, William Jackson, 
Jennie P. Jackson, Mrs. Abby X Randall, Mrs. Amanda Williams, Mrs. Mary E. 
Bastian, Wm. A. Bastian, Ella J. Bastian, Edgar W. Watson, Amon Potter, Harriet 
Potter, Nee [S~:sos?] Williams, Francis Watson (#35 Pet. Petitions; Lynch 1998, 
5:91-92). 

This document ag,.in shows antecedents of petitioner #113 (Gardner and Jackson) signing 
together with antecede:nts of petitioner #35 (Abby (Fagins) Randall and thc children of Laura 
(Fagins) Watson). It therefore, like the documents from 1873 and 1874, does not provide 
evidence of political kadership or influence within the delimited PEP antecedent group as 
distinct from the b )dy of historical Eastern Pequot petition signers as a whole but does show 
political influence within the latter. 

1884-1929. From 1884 through 1929, the contemporary documentation in the record in regard 
to historical Eastern Pequot political authority and influence is sparse. That which does exist 
pertains to the acti vities of Calvin Williams (see more extensive discussion in the final 
determination for EP 2002), whom petitioner # 113 rejects as having been an Eastern Pequot, 
while apparently a ;cepting the premise that he exercised leadership on behalf of the historical 
tribe (Austin 18/212001, 17nll; PEP Comments 8/2/2001), and his wife Tamer Emeline 
(Sebastian) Swan \Villiams, whom petitioner #113 does not accept as having been an Eastern 
Pequot (Austin 18,'2/2001, 2-3, 11n8; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 

The PEP Comments claim Phebe Spellman as an inforrnalleader for the period between her 
return to the resen ation full time, about 1910, and her death in 1922 (Austin IV 8/21200 I, 2; 
PEP Comments 81:U2001; see Moore Interview 12/8/1991,64-65). The cited basis appears to be 
actions in dealing 'I;'ith the overseers, which do not particularly indicate actions other than for her 
own family, as wa:; also the case for most of the actions of Catherine Harris which were cited by 
EP. Neither was there contemporary evidence of leadership activities of Phebe (Jackson) 
Spellman that wen: recalled in the available interviews. 
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No descendants oj' Marlboro Gardner ,05 were listed on Eastern Pequot overseers' reports 
between 1893 and 1929, when the Atwood I. Williams, Sr., family was listed (#35 Pet. 
Overseers Report~). The listing included Atwood 1. Williams, Sr., himself, who was a 
Hoxie/Jackson de~;cendant, and his children, who were Hoxiel1ackson as well as Gardner 
descendants; it did not include his wife, who was a Gardner descendant only. Petitioner # 113 
argues that this "oversight" was because these persons were not in need of financial assistance 
(Austin I 8/2/2001, 38-40; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). In 1933, the only member of the 
Gardner/Edwards lineage living on the reservation was annotated as "not a tribal member" 
(#113 Pet. 1996, HlST DOCS 1, Doc. 41).106 As noted in the proposed finding (EP PF 2000,87), 
in an undated entry, made between approximately 1935-1939 given the context of the record, 
overseer Gilbert Raymond made a note in his ledger that the Edwards family were not members 
of the Eastern Peq uot tribe (see text above under criterion 83. 7(b) (Raymond Ledger 1932-
1937). 

Thus, the overseers' reports for the period from the 1870's through the 1930's do not provide any 
direct contempora -:y documentation showing political influence or authority solely among the 
direct antecedents of the current petitioner #113 between 1873 and 1929, while the retrospective 
comments from the 1930's indicate that one of the petitioner's significant antecedent lineages 
(Gardner/Edwards) was not considered by the overseer to hold tribal membership. There is no 
contemporary doc Jmentation in the record that provides evidence concerning political leadership 
or influence solely within the PEP antecedent group for this time period separate from the 
historical Eastern :)equot tribe as a whole. 

1929-1940. The petitioner indicates that: "Between the successive deaths of two prominent 
tribal members and Reservation residents, Phebe Jackson (1922) and Will Gardner (1927), an 
opening developed for a new tribal leader, and Atwood Williams, Sr. stepped up to fill it" 

I05Not even 'Villiam Albert Gardner, husband of Grace Jackson, although she was included by the 
overseers; William Al Jert Gardner was listed as a resident of the reservation on the 1910 Federal census: NARA 
T-624, Roll 142, ED ';25, Sheet 13A: 1910, Thirteenth Census of the United States, New London Co., CT, Indian 
Population, North St01ing1:on Reservation: 

Gardner, William fl. .. , head, Mlln. 39, married 1st, POB, FPOB, MBOB CT, laborer; Pequot, father unknown, 
mother unknown, Y2 Illdian, 114 white, 1/4 Negro 

Grace E, wife, Milt, 34, married I st, laborer; unknown, unknown, unknown. 

I06The 1933 'lverseer's report indicated that there were seven houses on the reservation, with their 
occupants listed. One of the occupants was given as "Mrs. Grace [sic] LeGault" with the handwritten annotation, 
not typed "(not a triba member)" (# 113 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS I, Doc. 41). This was the earliest documentation 
concerning of Helen C:dwards) LeGault's residency on the Lantern Hill Reservation and thus the earliest 
documentation of the residence of any of Marlboro Gardner's descendants on the reservation. Subsequent 
documents indicated that Mrs. LeGault resided on the reservation in the house where her uncle, William Albert 
Gardner (died 1927, marri<:d to Grace Jackson), had previously lived. 
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(Austin, Political ,\uthority 9/4/2001, 5n4; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001).107 The 
petitioner submitt(~d an analysis, "Chapter Four: Political Authority and Leadership in the 
Twentieth Centur~': The Role of Chief Sachem Silver Star" (Austin III 8/212001; PEP Comments 
8/2/2001). 

The proposed finding analyzed the activities of Atwood Isaac Williams, Sr., (Chief Silver Star) 
in regard to the Eastern Pequot from 1929-1935 in some detail (PEP PF 2000, 83-84,90-91, 108-
113). By the late 1920's, Atwood I. Williams and Helen (Edwards) LeGault were actively 
opposing the presence of the descendants of Tamar (Brushell) Sebastian on the Lantern Hill 
Reservation (see F EP Draft TR 2000, 61_63).IOS 

Charles L. Stewarl 's overseer's report (Final Account) from June 25, 1928, to June 14, 1929, is 
the only one in the record up to that date that lists Gardner and Jackson descendants as "present 
members" while omitling Sebastian, Fagins/Randall, and Fagins/Watson descendants altogether 
(#35 Pet. Overseers Reports). Stewart's prior report dated June 8, 1923, included Jackson, 
GardnerlSimons, Fagins/Randall, and Sebastian family members (# 113 pet. 1996, HIST DOCS I, 
Doc. 41).109 Gilbert S. Raymond's subsequent report for June 24,1930, again included the 
Sebastians, as did that dated June 10, 1932 (# 113 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS I, Doc. 41). 

The 1931 overseer's report presented by Gilbert Raymond (PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 101), 
under the listing 0 C "Members of the Eastern Tribe of Pequot Indians (As near as can be 
ascertained)," coni ained the handwritten annotation, "Chief Silver Star objected to these names 
makes 7." Althou5h there are two sets of markings on the list, the "objected" names appear to 
have been Mrs. Sadie Holland, Mrs. Sylvia Sebastian Stedman, Clarence Sebastian, Mrs. Peter 
Harris (Catherine :;ebastian), Albert W. Carpenter, Mrs. Catherine Carpenter Lewis, and 
Franklin Williams Thus Atwood I. Williams, Sr. at this time, was not opposing the residence of 
the Hoxiel1ackson descendants. I 10 This listing once more omitted the Fagins/Randall 
descendants. 

I07Williams, born in 1881, was the oldest son of Phebe Jackson and a nephew of William Gardner's wife, 
Grace Jackson. The petitioner has not otherwise presented any arguments in regard to a leadership role for William 
Albert Gardner. 

I08This did n,)t prevent Mashantucket interview Kenneth Brown Congdon in 1988 from saying that he had 
"heard" that Atwood I. Williams was a son of Calvin Williams (Congdon Interview \0/1 988, [14]; EP Comments 
8/2/2001), although the two men were unrelated. Congdon remembered him as "Chief Silver Star," knew that he 
was related to the Jacksons and Spellmans, and knew that he had worked on the railroad 

I09lt also included a "Mary Watson," otherwise unidentifiable (# 113 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS I, Doc. 41). If 
it was meant to be Mary Eiliza (Watson) Sebastian, she was most certainly deceased, having died January 14, 1912. 
Stewart's overseer's r'~porls also carried this "Mary Watson" name from 1913-1919 (#35 Pet. Overseers Reports). 

110 Although 1 h.e petitioner's narratives blur the distinction, this remains a fairly consistent divergence 
between Atwood I. Williams and Helen LeGault - and subsequently, in the more recent period, between Helen 
LeGault and Agnes (Williams) Cunha. 

129 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement PEP-V001-D006 Page 139 of 207 



Final Determination, Paueatuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

Petitioner # 113 refers to a report written in 1935 [sic] for the Bureau oflndian Affairs by Gladys 
Tantaquidgeon, 01 nine New England Indian tribes (PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Exhibit #61). 
After mentioning that the report suggested that the position of Everett Fielding as Mohegan chief 
was "honorary" (PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Austin IV:32), the petitioner states that contrary to 
Tantaquidgeon's conclusions about other tribes, such as the Mohegan, Narragansett, Gay Head 
Wampanoag (Aquinnah), and Mashpee, "her conclusion about Chief Silver Star and the Eastern 
Pequot Tribe was firn1 and unqualified. Concerning the Pequot Tribes she wrote "Chief elected 
serving both tribe:;" (i.e., the Mashantucket Pequot Tribe and the Paucatuck Pequot Tribe; there 
is no mention of any Sebastian family leaders in her report" (PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Austin 
IV:33; see PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 61, table headed "New England Groups 1934"). 

This passage is accurate as quoted, but has been taken out of context and thus misrepresents the 
contents of the report, which stated that with the exception of her own tribe, which she 
designated as Mohegan-Pequot, "the other groups in Massachusetts, Rhode Island, and 
Connecticut (Pequot proper) have not kept up tribal organizations" (Tantaquidgeon Report 
12/611934, File No. 671-1935-150 [unpaginated]; PEP Comments 812/2001, Ex. 61). 

The petitioner goes on to argue that: 

Her contrasting conclusions about the political organization of the Eastern Pequot 
Tribe indie ates she believed the Eastern Pequot tribe had a functioning tribal 
organization with active, effective political leadership, while some of the others 
did not. While the BAR did not find the conclusions of Ms. Tantaquidgeon 
regarding the other three Tribes to be dispositive when it recommended the AS -
IA recognize them, Ms. Tantaquidgeon's positive conclusions regarding the 
Eastern Pe ~uot tribe should be shown deference. The weight given this evidence 
should be hased upon at least two factors. First, she was obviously not inclined to 
conclude the New England tribes that had continued to survive were still 
functioning as Indian tribes, even when it came to her own Tribe. Second, she 
was persor ally knowledgable [sic] about the Eastern Pequot tribe and the 
condition c,f its leadership and membership, since she grew up in the New London 
area and interacted with them personally (PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Austin 
IV:33-34). 

Tantaquidgeon's r ~search was accomplished during 1934. She submitted her report to COLA 
John Collier, datecl at Norwich, Connecticut, December 6, 1934 (Tantaquidgeon 1934; United 
States, Bureau of Indian Affairs. New England Groups. File No. 671-1935-150). In her "List of 
New England Indi m Groups 1934," she included: 

8. Pequot, (a) Eastern and (b) Ledyard. 
Both group supervised by Gilbert S. Raymond, Norwich, Conn. 
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Tribal orga lization headed by Atwood I. Williams, (Chief Silver Star) Westerly, 
R.I. ("Nam ~s of Agents, chiefs, overseers, Tantaquidgeon Report 12/611934, page 
stamped 671). 

In this listing, Tantaquidgeon did not describe the status of Everett Fielding as "honorary," but 
simply wrote: "7. \10hegan-Pequot, Chief Everett [illegible middle initial] Fielding, Laurel Hill 
A venue, Norwich, Conn. ("Names of Agents, chiefs, overseers, Tantaquidgeon Report 
12/6/1934). The report also included the passage: "Atwood I. Williams (Chief Silver Star) 
claims to be the tribal chief of the surviving Pequot and is seeking to gain legal recognition as 
such. This office i:; honorary and Mr. Williams acts as master of ceremonies at tribal and public 
meetings" (Tantaquidgeon 1934, Pequot 4).111 

Thus, her actual description of the status of Atwood I. Williams as "honorary" was parallel to 
her usage in the imtance of Everett Fielding, and her reference to his efforts in the American 
Indian Federation (AIF) was: "A similar organization was started a few years later by an Indian 
leader of the Pequc t tribe but a confederacy is short lived in this area" (Tantaquidgeon Report 
12/611934). The Tmtaquidgeon report does not provide any data concerning political authority 
and influence within PEP as distinct from the entire historical Eastern Pequot tribe nor by itself 
provide sufficient t vidence of political authority within the entire historical Eastern Pequot tribe 
in the mid 1930's. However, Tantaquidgeon's conclusions do not accurately describe the full 
extent of Atwood Williams, Sr.'s role. 

In 1938, the Conne ::ticut State Parks and Forest Commission was aware of the continuing 
objections by PEP antecedents to the Sebastian family, one of its employees writing in regard to 
Benjamin Harrison Sebastian: 

His grandfather, Sebastian, was a "black" Portugee who married a full blood 
Indian. Otber families on the Reservation claim that she was not a Pequot and 
therefore her descendants have no rights there. However, before the State Park 
and Forest (ommission was appointed as Overseer the Superior Court had 
recognized;ome of her descendants as members of the tribe and so there seems to 
be nothing jor the Commission to do but to assume that members of this family 
have rightsn the tribe (Cook to Gray 12112/1938; PEP Comments 812/2001, Ex. 
102). 

Atwood Williams, Jr. (born in 1910), testified in 1976 that Atwood Williams, Sr. was elected by 
the people from the reservation, dating that event to June 1933, and recognized by the State of 
Connecticut (CIAC Hearing 811011975, [83-84]; #35 Pet. LIT 1970s). Williams, Jr., testified 
that he had never lived on the reservation but visited William Gardner, his matemaluncle, quite 
a bit (probably in tbe 1920's, since Gardner died in 1927). He responded negatively to the 

I I I Omitted from PEP Comments 8/2/200 I, Ex. 61. 
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question whether lhey had met "as a tribal group" (CIAC Hearing 811 011976, [82]; #35 Pet. LIT 
1970s). 

Helen LeGault testified that she knew Atwood Sr., but that unlike her sister did not go out on the 
road shows. She (redits him as being a leader although she is a bit vague as to who voted him 
in. In response to a question, "was he looked upon as someone who made decisions for other 
people?" she repli,~d, "yes he did, he did a a great deal of work ... II (CIAC 1977a, 74-75). She 
said that her moth'~r had voted for him and that they "took many votes to vote him in because he 
did quite a bit of ~'ork." 

There was the lim: ted information or interview data from the Jackson side concerning Atwood 
Williams, Sr. Ha:'old Jackson stated that Silver Star (Williams) was chief of the Narragansetts, 
possibly a reflection of his referring to the Gardners as "Narragansett." Jackson said that "I 
didn't know him tCIO well at all. I remember seeing him. He was a nice looking man. He wasn't 
a big man, but he 'vas a nice looking man" (Harold Jackson 1999, 6). Yet for part of the time 
Williams was acti"e, Jackson should have been living in Helen LeGault's house (PEP Grabowski 
Interview with Jackson 1995, 14; cited in Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001, 9; PEP Response 
to Comments 9/4/:!001). As noted elsewhere, Jackson knew where Williams' Rhode Island farm 
was, lived near it ct one point, but never visited it. 

Petitioner #35 subnitted material which indicated that in 1939, during construction of a road in 
Noank, workers disturbed a salvage operation; Charles Stewart, who had been Eastern Pequot 
overseer until 1929, objected to her project; Atwood Williams and his family traveled to Noank 
to support Butler'~ efforts, as recorded in her diary (Burgess IIID 8/2/2001, 182-183; EP 
Comments 8/2/20(1). 

The material is suffici'~nt to conclude that for the period from 1929 through 1940, Atwood I. 
Williams, Sr., was providing leadership, recognized by the State, for the historical Eastern 
Pequot tribe as a whole. He was also, however, providing separate leadership for the Gardner 
family lineages sp,~cifically, and at least did not challenge the tribal membership of those 
members of the Hoxie/Jackson lineage who were not also Gardner descendants. 

1941-1973. In adc ition to Atwood I. Williams, Sr., Atwood I. Williams, Jr., and Helen 
(Edwards) LeGault, the PEP Response to Comments also claims Paul Spellman and Arlene 
Jackson as informal leaders (Palma, On the Sebastian Assertions 9/4/2001,2,5; Austin, Political 
Authority and Leadership 9/4/2001, 2; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). The evidence 
cited appears to be one or two complaints by Spellman to the authorities (Austin, Political 
Authority and Leadership 9/4/2001, 17; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001) and are thus not 
substantial. The dl)cuments do not indicate Spellman was acting for or on behalf of others. 
Some of the interview evidence recalls similarity of opinion between him, Arlene Jackson and 
Helen LeGault, bu t also that he had conflicts with LeGault (Moore 12/811991). 
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Atwood I. Williatm~:r., 1941-1955. During 1941, Atwood 1. Williams intervened with the 
Department of Welfare on behalfofhis aunt, Grace (Jackson) Gardner Boss. The data in the 
record did not indicate that he had been maintaining regular contact with the reservation: "There 
was a Mr. Atwood Williams in her [Mrs. Carroll's] office when she called who was looking for 
someone with the authority to take care of getting Mr. Boss off the reservation. Mrs. Grace Boss 
is Mr. Williams aunt, and he is also a Chief of the Pequots. Therefore he has a double interest in 
the case. . .. Mr. Williams went to see Mr. Stewart when in Norwich, and was told he was no 
longer in charge oi'the Indians." (Gray to Squires 8/2511941, EP Response to Comments 
9/4/2001, Ex. 5). Considering Williams' various clashes with Gilbert Raymond in the 1930's, he 
must have known 1hat Stewart had ceased to be overseer in 1929. On September 5, 1941, the 
Director of the State Aid Division noted that: "I telephoned to Mr. Atwood Williams, nephew of 
Mrs. Boss. I leam~d that she is now living with a Mr. Fred Hazard in Kenyon, R.1." (Director to 
Gray 9/5/1941; EP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 6). Similarly, his letter to Mrs. Boss 
also cited only the family relationship: "Mr. Atwood Williams, your nephew, has interceded in 
your behalf and has asked that your husband be removed from the reservation" (Director to Boss 
9/511941; EP Response to Comments 9/4/200 I, Ex. 8). A memorandum of the same month 
indicated that Mrs. Grace Boss "was staying temporarily in the home of Mrs. Calvin Williams" 
(Squires Memorandum 911811941; EP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 9).112 

For the final determination, the petitioner submitted an article written by David L. Stallman, 
"Indian Chief Opp:Jscs Selling North Stonington Tribal Land," which had at the top a typed 
identification, WesterZv Sun Sunday, May 5, 1947 (PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 52; no citation 
of source ).113 Petitioner used this article to argue that the active political leadership of Atwood I. 
Williams extended into the later 1940's: "This article provides evidence that, in 1947, Chief 
Sachem Silver Star was still working as a leader of the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe, 
protecting the trib~ 's rights to use and benefit from the resources of the Lantern Hill Reservation, 
as he had been doi1g since 1928" (Austin IV 8/2/2001,48; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). The 
article does not me ntion exactly what Williams may have done. It states, "The chief, according 
to his own statement, when interviewing legislators on the subject, is Atwood I. Williams, shown 
by unanimous con:ient of the tribal members taking part in the election and later confirmed by 
the superior court" (PEP Comments 8/2/200 I, Ex. 52), which may imply that he interviewed 
legislators, but does not actually say that he did so. The proposed bill to permit sale of 
reservation land th:it is. referenced in the article was not submitted. As of May 1947 the 

112 A memora ldurn of May 11, 1948, indicated that Grace (Jackson) Gardner Boss continued to maintain 
contact with the daughter of Tamer Emeline (Sebastian) Swan Williams on the reservation: "Mrs. Grace Boss, who 
is working for an Old \llys1~ic family goes up and spends week ends with Mrs. Holland" (Gray to Squires 511 111948, 
EP Response to Comlllents 9/4/2001, Ex. 17). 

IIJInternally, the article noted that Williams had been employed by the New Haven Railroad "for the past 
38 years," which tend~ to confirm the 1947 date, as does the statement that the Connecticut reservations were under 
the supervision of the . 'department of public welfare, with Clayton Squires, whose office is in Hartford, being 
responsible for the res. dent Indians' welfare, not only, but for anything pertaining to the tribe [sic} land" (Stallman 
1947; PEP Comments 8/2/200 I, Ex. 52). 
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documentation in the record included only discussion of extending the term of the leases - a 
request which the State refused. 1 14 

The other inciden': me:ntioned in the article was as follows: 

One of the North Stonington Selectmen was notified that two female dogs with 
puppies aI=panmtly belonging to the reservation were in starving condition. He in 
tum notifil:d the town dog warden. The dog warden, having previously been 
advised that he had no jurisdiction of the reservation, took the matter to the town 
legislative representatives, asking them to notify the Department of Public 
Welfare ... they were referred to Mr. Squires ... an assistant heard the complaint 
... and we nt along with the representatives to search out his superior, at the 
Capitol, across the way. Mr. Squires was found, heard the complaint and agreed 
to go down and look out for the pups (Stallman 5/5/1947; PEP Comments 
8/2/200 1, Ex. :52). 

The sequence of events thus narrated does not indicate that Atwood I. Williams was involved at 
any point. Indeed, the article does not indicate that Williams did anything in regard to the 
proposed bill auth )rizing land sales - only that he told the reporter that he was opposed to it 
(Stallman 5/5/1947; PEP Comments 8/2/200 1, Ex. 52). It does provide documentation that he 
still had an interest in the topic. 

After 1941, State documents showed no further indication of any intervention by Williams in 
Lantern Hill reservation matters until May 2, 1949, when his contact pertained, "among other 
things" (unspecifil:d) to his son-in-law. The memorandum noted that, "He apparently had no 
knowledge of the law, Section 7168, under which we operate and referred to hearings held in 
June of 1932 cone ~rning the appointment of an Overseer." Additionally"Mr. Williams 
promised to comp Ie and send me an up-to-date list of known members of the tribe" (Squires 
Memorandum 5/1 0 1949; Towns August 2001, Ex. 106), but the records obtained by the BIA 

Il"Letter fron C.H. Reynolds to Clayton Squires re: request for longer non-Indian leases of three 
reservation parcels (R:ynolds to Squires 51211 947; Lynch 1998, 5: 133-134). 

Letter, Clayton Squires to Attorney C.H. Reynolds re requested lease of three reservation parcels, refusing 
(Squires to Reynolds ~i/6/1947; Lynch 1998,5:134). 

No copy of the bill mentioned in the article as "introduced into the legislature earlier this session by 
representatives Hagga~d and Farnham of Groton, authorizing the sale ofthree cottage sites facing Long Pond to the 
owners of the buildin~s" (Stallman 51511947; PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 52) was located in the petitioner's 
submissions. The artide indicated that: "The measure was opposed by the welfare department and the North 
Stonington represental ives. An unfavorable report was subsequently made by the committee on state parks and 
reservation [sic], before which the hearing was held but the bill was slated for House debate, then referred back to 
committee at the request of a member, and has not since been heard from" (Stallman 5/5/1947; PEP Comments 
8/2/2001, Ex. 52). 

The only sale proposal mentioned in the documentation had been introduced several years earlier, in 1939, 
HB. No. 347 - the pet tionl~r submitted a typed transcript of thc hearings (PEP Comments 812/2001, Ex. 55). 
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from the State of Connecticut (CT FOIA) did not indicate that there was a follow-up to this 
conversation until the Squires memorandum of 1954. 

The 1954 memorandum indicates that at some time between 1949 and 1954, the Office of the 
Commissioner of Welfare followed up the memorandum of 1949 in regard to the 1933 Superior 
Court decision. On August 11, 1954, Clayton S. Squires, Div'ision Chief, recorded 
"PROCEDURE to be followed on Applications from Indians to reside or build on any of the four 
Reservations" (TolVns August 2001, Ex. 131). It contained the following provision: 

4. Applicalt to obtain from Mr. Williams (if Eastern Pequot) authorization 
or perml ssion to be allowed to reside on the Eastern Pequot Reservation; 
or from Mr. John George if a Western Pequot member desiring to reside 
on the Reservation at Ledyard. See Superior Court Order (New London 
County( [sic] dated June 9, 1933 (Squires Procedure 8111/1954). 

Conceming Helen LeGault's leadership activities, the petitioner notes that, "in 1948 and 1955 
she wrote letters to the Welfare Department objecting to the Sebastians' presence on the Lantern 
Hill reservation" (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001, 2; in regard to the 1948 letter exchange 
also, 9; in regard tc' the 1955 letter exchange also, 10; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/200 I). 
These letters do not indicate that she wrote as the representative of any political subgroup, or 
even that she wrot~ on behalf of others. 

1953 Proposed COl!.pecticut Legislation. For further discussion of the contents of this 
undertaking, see th~ General Issues section. As a background for this 1953 proposal to sell the 
Lantern Hill reserv Hion, the following data is relevant: 

This agency [Public Welfare Council] was directed by the 1951 general assembly 
to study the public welfare laws of the state and to report our recommendations to 
the Governor by October 1, 1952 .... According to the report of the 
Commissioner of Welfare for the year ended June 30, 1951, there were four 
Indian reservations in this state with the following number of persons living there 
during the) ear: E. Pequot (No. Stonington), 13 members of the tribe, 8 members 
of other tribes, not Indians 1, total 22. Value ofland $3000; value of houses 
$12,850, value of funds $3177.16; total value $19,027.16 (Hoover to Association 
of American Indian Affairs 811911952)."5 

115 "On June 10, 1952, according to the report of the Commissioner of Welfare for the year ended on that 
date, there were 9 persons in residence on the Eastern Pequot reservation" (Hoover, Albert C, Acting Director, 
Public Welfare Counci , Statement in Favor of Senate Bill 502 "An Act Concerning Indians" before the Joint 
Legislative Committee on the Judiciary. Prepared by the Public Welfare council as a result of its study of the state 
welfare laws made und ~r the provisions of Special Act No. 615 of 1951, 3/1811953). This statement did not match 
with his 1952 letter, no r did the amount of funds listed. 
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There was a respc nse to the proposal on the part of the Lantern Hill Reservation residents. 
Catherine Harris':; journal stated in regard to the proposed 1953 measure: "To the upholding to 
land Went to Hartford Mar. 18, 1953 Albert Carpenter, Moses Sebastian, Benjamin Sebastian, 
John Sebastian, Anna Carpenter, Hattie Sebastian, Grace Powell, Rachel Crumb, Betty 
Sebastian, Lili Sebastian, Catherine Harris, Marion Robinson, Gertie Grazer" (HalTis Journal 
N.D., 7; EP Comnems 812/2001, Box 1, Folder Harris). This listing included no one from the 
Gardner line - neither Atwood Williams nor Helen LeGault - nor from the Fagins/Randall or 
Fagins/Watson lir es: all were either Brushell/Sebastian or Hoxie/Jackson. 116 PEP asserts that: 
"There is no evidwce that Rachel Crumb and Grace Powell had coordinated their presence with 
the Sebastians, let along intended to show solidarity by their appearance at the hearing" (Palma, 
On the Sebastian Assertions 9/412001, 7; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). This does not 
appear to be valid given the introductory phrasing of the journal entry. 

Leadership 1955-~n=~. The proposed finding concluded concerning Helen LeGault as leader, 
that: 

A limited I eview of BIA interview data with members of the petitioner supported 
the petitioner's position that LeGault was a leader of the Gardner/Edwards and 
Gardner/Williams family lines. However, the evidence of the membership lists 
and the 19'73-1976 CIAC controversy indicates that her group did not include the 
Jacksons, who are currently listed as members of petitioner #113. The interviews 
describe meetings held at her house on the reservation as both social and political 
in nature. However, there was insufficient time under the procedures to analyze 
this data to determine how large the attendance was and the issues discussed or 
define the 1 ime span involved (PEP PF 2000, 119). 

Helen LeG'lUlt and the CIAC Controversies after 1973. The petitioner's stated 
position is that Helen LeGault became leader of their group after Atwood 
Williams J-.--i.e. after 1979. However, as can be seen above, the 1994 narrative 
cited to her activities in the 1960's. Most of the described actions concern her 
efforts to limit the residence of the Sebastians on the reservation and to have her 
group be the recognized tribe after the establishment of the CIAC. The written 
record, as r Dted above, does not provide evidence that she was selected by the 
members 0 f the group at the time. The written record as cited by the petitioner 
largely concerns the CIAC and associated events (PEP PF 2000, 140). 

In regard to Atwocd I. Williams, Jr., the proposed finding noted that there was no record of his 
appearing with a kadership designation until he testified before the CIAC in 1976, and that the 

116See also EJ Comments 8/2/200 I, Flowers III 235-238; Grant-Costa III, 239-242. Both cover the 
legislative history of this proposed bill. Flowers lists "from Aunt Kate's journal dated March 18,1953" (EP 
Comments 8/2/200 I, F lowers III, 235) the EP who attended the hearing in Hartford, Connecticut, to oppose the bill. 
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PEP 1994 narrative text had cited LeGault's activities in the 1960's (PEP PF 2000, 114-116, 
119). 

PEP now conclud(~s that Atwood Williams, Jr., did not succeed his father in any significant 
fashion. It descrit es his role as largely ceremonial, and indicates that he was unable to exercise 
significant leadership because he lived distant from the reservation and because he had a family 
to care for. "Much of his [Atwood Williams, Jr.] leadership was exercised by filling the role of 
Chief Sachem, which had become largely honorary after the death of Chief Sachem Silver Star" 
(Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001 3n3; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). The PEP 
Response to Comments thus modifies PEP's prior views of who were leaders of the "PEP," 
defined as the Hox ielJackson and Gardner families (noting the special case of the Atwood 1. 
Williams family, \.'hich by his marriage to a Gardner descends from both lines) before the 
cun'ent organizatic,n was formed. 

The BIA analysis of assertions has not assumed that the two lines, Gardner (both sublines) and 
HoxielJackson, ccnsistentIy were a single unit, but has examined evidence about their 
distinctness, as well as evidence about distinctions within the two main branches of Marlboro 
Gardner descendaIlts. Petitioner #113 presented the view that Helen LeGault led the PEP 
antecedent group from 1955 through 1973, in cooperation with Atwood 1. Williams, Jr. (Austin, 
Political Authority 9/4/200 I, 3-4; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001), stating that: 

The same t.vo political issues which focused the leadership career of Chief 
Sachem Silver Star were also the primary issues for Helen LeGault: 1. Fighting to 
maintain the Lantern Hill Reservation's resources for the exclusive use of the 
Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe members; and, 2. Exercising the Paucatuck 
Eastern Pequot Tribe's right to determine its own membership (Austin, Political 
Authority 9/4/2001, 7; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 

These are almost the same issue, except to the extent that she also sought to keep non-Indians 
who were not merr: bers of the Sebastian family from continuing to rent on the reservation. The 
PEP Comments now take the position that Helen LeGault was a leader from 1936 until 1987, 
shortly before she died (812/2001, 7; PEP Comments 812/2001). The earlier part of this period of 
leadership claimed for Helen LeGault corresponds with decline in the recorded activities of 
Atwood 1. Williams, Sr. 

PEP notes that LeGault occasionally represented her own interests or those of her family, as well 
as the tribe (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001, 10, 16; PEP Response to Comments 
9/4/2000 I), The isme throughout is whether, in her actions throughout this period, which were 
largely complaints about the Sebastians, declarations that they weren't Indians, declarations that 
they were black or Portuguese, and (after the mid-1970's) rejecting their applications for 
residence on the re:iervation, she was acting with the knowledge of, approval of, the rest of the 
PEP antecedent fanilies. LeGault is a visible figure in the interviews of PEP families. It 
appears, from the available evidence, that her ideas did in fact influence the next generation, 
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creating or reinforcing the group's common opinions. To the extent that the idea that the 
Sebastians are not lndian was found among all of the branches of the Gardner family line after 
the 1930's, this w(luld make her a leader to the extent she acted on issues of importance to the 
membership as well as influencing members. It is true, however, that there isn't direct evidence 
for the actions cite d and statements made that LeGault was acting in response to the 
"membership," although PEP asserts that she was (Austin II 812/2001,35; PEP Comments 
8/2/2001 ). 

The specific examples cited are the 1936-1937 notation in J.R. Williams notebook, a 1948 letter 
inquiring about returning to the reservation in which she objects to "non-Indians" being given 
reservation rights I Austin, Political Authority and Leadership 9/4/2001, 9; PEP Response to 
Comments 9/4/2001), and correspondence between 1955 and 1958 over who would be allowed 
to settle on the property that had been occupied by her uncle William Gardner and his wife 
Grace (Jackson) Gardner Boss, who did not die until 1959, but was no longer residing on the 
same property (Austin, Political Authority and Leadership 9/4/2001, 10, 12; PEP Response to 
Comments 9/4/20(1}). In those, LeGault made similar objections. LeGault also testified at a 
state legislative he lring on the 1961 reservations act (Austin II 8/2/2001, 34; PEP Comments 
8/2/2001; Austin, Political Authority and Leadership 9/4/2001, 13-16; PEP Response to 
Comments 9/4/20('1). In it, she got into a colloquy with the North Stonington representative, 
who took issue with her characterization of the Sebastians as not being Indian (Austin II 
8/2/2001,34-35; PE,P Comments 8/2/2001; Austin, Political Authority and Leadership 9/4/2001, 
16; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). In 1965, 1966, and 1969 she complained to the state 
authorities about the Sebastians living on and/or trying to move on (Lawrence Wilson Sf.) and 
also about non-Indians living on and utilizing the reservation for various purposes (PEP 
Comments 8/2/200 1, Ex. 39,26). These documents were all cited by PEP in its 1996 petition 
and reviewed for the proposed finding. None provided direct evidence of consultation with 
members nor of co 11munication with members about the specific issues and complaints (see also 
discussion of pre-1973 gatherings at "Aunt Helen's house"). That these are believable as issues, 
because the resource is. right there, and the conflict over whether they had something as concrete 
as the state relationship, given that their relatives lived on/had been living on the land, gives it 
greater presumpti01 to be an issue. 

In regard to PEP meetings, the proposed finding stated: 

The petitior contains few descriptions of social events that brought members 
together, other than meetings at Helen LeGault's house on the reservation which 
were both s')cial and political. It provides no clear dates for these--the only ones 
documentec took place in the 1970's and later (PEP PF 2000, 92). 

The PEP Response to Comments presents a count of the number of adults in the Gardner and 
Hoxie/Jackson lineages in 1955 (39) and today (84), noting how small these are (Austin, 
Political Authority 9/4/2001, 11; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/200 I). PEP argues that with 
such small absolute numbers, a small number participating, such as those signing Helen 
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LeGault's selectioll and Arlene Jackson's protest in 1973 (23 total signatures out of 40-50 
adults) would shovi widespread participation (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001, 11; PEP 
Response to Comments 9/4/2001). It does represent a large percentage--a substantial number of 
Sebastians were abo involved in the activities between 1973 and 1976 (IIIH; PEP Comments 
8121200 I). 

The State submitte:l an affidavit, dated July 27,2001, from Edward A. Danielczuk (State of 
Connecticut August 2001, Ex. 60). The document is retrospective rather than being 
contemporary evidence. In it, Danielczuk states that in the 1960's and early 1970's, he worked 
for the Connecticu: Welfare Department as a supervisor in the Resource Department, with one of 
his responsibilities being "to oversee the State's four Indian Reservations" (Danielczuk 
7127/2001, I). Dallielczukstated: 

9. I was net aware of any organized political activity by members of these groups 
or of any pOlitical leadership of these groups. I did not engage in, and was not 
aware of ary other State official or employee having engaged in, any effort to 
prohibit or Jbslruct political or other organized activity by persons qualified to 
use the resc rvations. Although I am not aware of any elections that were held, we 
would not have taken any action to prevent such activity, and we did not prevent 
those who were qualified to use the reservation to conduct [sic] a meeting there. 
Reservation residents were always free to meet off the reservation as well. 

If residents on the reservation wanted to have a meeting there with persons they 
said were members of their group who may not have met the Jl8 blood 
requirement and who lived off the reservation we would have no problem with 
that and I dJn't see how I could deny that request. However, as far as I can recall, 
this never came up with any of the Connecticut Indian groups (Danielczuk 
7/27 1200 I, 2-3). 

10. Pennission from the State was required for use of the reservation. Persons 
qualifying as Indian tribal members by demonstrating one-eighth Indian blood 
were readil y granted such pennission. Persons living on the reservation were 
always free 1.0 invite guests to their homes (Danielczuk 7/27/2001,3). 

Analysis of Comm ents and Responses. As noted in the proposed finding, there are no written 
records of the pre- .973 PEP meetings referred to in some of the interviews. The proposed 
finding's statemen1 that the interviews describe meetings held at her house on the reservation 
that were political ,is well as social in nature pre-1973, is not well supported by the further 
review of available, reliable interview evidence. This further review of meetings at Helen 
LeGault's house leaves the picture unclear whether pre-1973 meetings were overtly political. 
They do appear, vi ~wed from the present, as contacts with other Gardner/Edwards and 
Gardner/Williams Individuals in which they at the least learned and discussed Helen LeGault's 
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views on the excl usion of the Sebastians. The interview data does not indicate that these 
gatherings includ,~d the Jacksons. 

This activity wou Id not have occurred in a vacuum, as some Sebastians were resident on the 
reservation in the 1950's and 1960's (see discussion of apparent confrontation with Al 
Carpenter). The EP gatherings at Catherine Carpenter's place (while and after she was resident 
there) would hav<; been occurring more or less simultaneously. (See also the various complaints 
registered with St:lte authorities). 

After the death 0 0 Atwood I. Williams Sr. in 1955,117 the documentary record provides no 
indication that, for the period between 1955 and 1973, Helen LeGault provided leadership for 
any organization, or that her leadership extended beyond the Gardner family line to include any 
of the Hoxie/Jack:;on descendants who were not also Gardner descendants (see PEP PF 2000, 
113-116; see also Barrel to Hanas 12/1911956, Towns August 2001, Ex. 123, for a description of 
the Lantern Hill pJpulation as of that date).ll8 Although the petitioner's researcher at one point 
made the following statement: " ... the Jacksons, whom she knew and do appear, in some cases, 
to be - being typically they look more African-American than the [sic] do Indian of White, even 
though they do have Indian ancestry, she didn't have any problem accepting them as part of the 
tribe" (Austin in j,ustin Interview with James Cunha, Jr., 9; PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 75), 
the assertion that Hel<;:n LeGault accepted those Jacksons who were not also Gardner 
descendants is not borne out by the contemporary documentary evidence, nor by recollections of 
Hoxie/Jackson de~,cendants. 

In regard to Helen LeGault, Alice Barbara (Spellman) Moore stated that she "never met her, 
don't know her" (Moore Interview 12/8/1991,48; PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 86). Indeed, 
when asked, " ... asid,;: from the Indians, anybody else who lived on the reservation?" Mrs. 
Moore replied, "Yeah., there was a family that lived over where Aunt Grace used to live, took her 
house over. HeIer LaGault or something. She claimed to be some Indian" (Moore Interview 
12/8/1991,48; PEJ Comments 8/212001, Ex. 86). Cunha (born in 1962) recalled interaction 
between his grand :ather Atwood I. Williams Jr. and the latter's Spellman aunts and uncles when 
he was "about 13" -- i.e., in the mid-1970's (Austin Interview of James Cunha, Jr., 7/2112000,7-
8, 12-13; PEP Comments 8/212001, Ex. 75), but did not recall any such actual interaction 
between Helen LeGault and the Spellmans. 

117TI1e petiticner refers to the efforts of James Dumpson, beginning in 1958 and succeeding in 1960, to 
obtain a lease on the Lantern Hill Reservation, and argues that "Dumpson lease was ended [in 1973] in response to 
leadership provided by Chief Sachem Silver Star, Helen LeGault, and other tribal members, who had been fighting 
for years to end leases to non-tribal members and non-Indians" (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/200 1,24; PEP 
Response to Comments 9/4/2001). Silver Star (Atwood I. Williams, Sr.) cannot have been involved in this specific 
controversy, since he was deceased prior to its onset. 

118The distinction made here between Hoxie/Jackson descendants who were also Gardner descendants and 
Hoxie/Jackson descendants who were not applies globally throughout this determination to the assertion made by 
PEP that, "[t]he Williamses ARE Jacksons" (Palma, On the Sebastian Assertions 9/4/200 I, 13). 
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Additionally, until 1973 (see below), there is no documentation of the asserted cooperative 
political activity or interaction between Mrs. LeGault and the other claimed PEP leader for the 
period, Atwood I. Williams, Jr., although they were first cousins through their mothers, Agnes 
Eunice (Gardner) Williams and Emma Estelle (Gardner) Edwards. Atwood Williams, Jr. seems 
largely to have continued his father's Indian cultural demonstrations only (Jean Williams 1999). 
He signed the 1973 selection of Helen LeGault to represent the Eastern Pequot on the CIAC 
(Appointment of Helen LeGault to CIAC by the "Authentic Eastern Pequot Indians of North 
Stonington, Conn.' 7/17/1973; #35 Pet. LIT 70). There is no evidence to suggest that he did not 
support her efforts. 

1961 Connecticut L~islation. The legal status of Connecticut's Indian reservations was 
modified in 1961: "An Act Concerning the Management oflndian Reservations" (# 113 Pet. 
1996, HIST DOC~: II, Doc. 64; citing PUBLIC ACTS 338-339, #304). Oversight remained with 
the Commissioner of Welfare. The reservations were listed specifically, future leases were 
prohibited, and the powers of the welfare commissioner to manage buildings, make repairs, and 
establish health an j safety regulations were codified into legislation. The act defined eligibility 
for residency as follows: 

SEC. 2. Reservations shall be maintained for the exclusive benefit of Indians 
who may rcsid,;! on such lands, except that any pcrson, other than an Indian, who 
resides on ,I reservation on July 1, 1961, may continue to reside thereon. The 
lawful spolse and children of an Indian may reside on a reservation with such 
Indian for c s long as such Indian so resides. The burden of proving eligibility for 
residence on a reservation shall be on the claimant. A reservation may be used 
for recreati,mal and social purposes by Indians, descendants of Indians and their 
guests at such times as the welfare commissioner may provide (# 113 Pet. 1996, 
HIST DOCS II, Doc. 64; citing PUBLIC ACTS, (1961), #304). 

While the 1961 act defined eligibility to reside on a reservation, and Section 4 provided appeal 
provisions for "[a ]ny person aggrieved by a decision of the welfare commissioner in regard to 
admission to or eviction from a reservation," it did not establish any provisions for determining 
tribal membership Jther than stating that, "SECTION 1 .... 'Indian' means a person of at least 
one-eighth Indian blood of the tribe for whose use any reservation was set out" (# 113 Pet. 1996, 
HIST DOCS II, Dec:. 64; citing PUBLIC ACTS, (1961), #304). 

The petitioner argues that the testimony that Helen LeGault provided at a hearing on the above 
bill "is another example of Helen LeGault providing effective leadership for the Paucatuck 
Eastern Pequot Tribe" and that before its adoption it had "been revised in accordance with one of 
the changes suggested by Mrs. LeGault, specifically, to move the effective date of the bill 
forward to prevent further encroachment by Sebastian family members and other non-tribal 
members" (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001, 13; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 
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There was no indication in the record that Mrs. LeGault was chosen by the Eastern Pequot 
reservation residmts, or by the persons directly antecedent to PEP, to testify at the committee 
hearing held Mar~h 23, 1961, as their representative. She may have testified as an individual. 
She stated: 

... in Section 2 where it says that those who reside on reservations on Jan. 1, 
1962 may continue to reside thereon. That gives quite a time for people who 
don't belong there to come as they have in the past and recently more have been 
coming than we've ever had before. Of course, I've been there 33 years and I've 
been able to watch it. ... And there has to be someone there who is Indian to 
protect th"t part, and I have it and I'm sure there is no one else there who does ... 
. (Connecticut General Assembly Hearings, Testimony of Helen LaGault [sic], 
3/23/1961; HIST DOCS II, Doc. 65). 

At other points in the dialogue, Mrs. LeGault stated that, "everyone seems to be so afraid they'll 
hurt the feelings cfpeople that seem to be Indians, that are not. And I don't know why and 
that's the reason why I'm staying there because I don't mind hurting their feelings. I like to stand 
up for my own if: may" and "my uncle was there before me and my mother who was own sister 
to, it was her own brother, she didn't live there because she was afraid of these people and most 
of these people arl~ afi-aid of these people. I mean, they resent me too, but I must have what it 
takes, .... " (Connecticut General Assembly Hearings, Testimony of Helen LaGault [sic], 
3/2311961; HIST DOCS II, Doc. 65). There is no documentary evidence that her mother did not 
reside on Lantern HilI because of fear: throughout her married life, Mrs. Edwards resided on her 
husband's nearby farm (she predeceased her husband). 

After some further discussion concerning non-Indian residents, people whom she described as 
squatters, Mrs. Le<Jault entered into a dispute with James Allen of Stonington in regard to the 
Sebastian family, :;tating: 

Mr. Allen, you know very well that those Sebastians are not Indians, you know it 
just as well as you want to know it. IfI've got to bring up the name I will. It's 
Sebastian, is that an Indian name, an American name? It's a Portuguese name. I 
even know where the first Sebastian came from and how he came to this country 
and what h ~ married and who he married and who she was and you can't claim 
what kind oflndian she was because you don't know and no one else knows 
(Connectic Jt General Assembly Hearings, Testimony of Helen LaGault [sic], 
3/231196 I; HIST DOCS II, Doc. 65). 

LeGault subsequertly exchanged letters with the Office of the Commissioner of Welfare in 
regard to residence on Lantern Hill by both members of the Edwards family and members of the 
Sebastian family (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/200 I, 16-17,21-22; PEP Response to 
Comments 9/4/2001). 
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The next sequenC 1! of documents discussed by the petitioner revolved around Paul Spellman 
(Austin, Political A,uthority 9/4/2001, 17-19); there was no indication of cooperation between 
Spellman and LeGault in the mid- to late 1960's. Indeed, a meeting on the reservation held 
August 21, 1968, ::>etween a representative of the Department of Welfare and residents included 
Arlene (Jackson) :3rown and Paul Spellman, but did not include Helen LeGault (Austin, Political 
Authority 9/4/2001, 20; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/200'1). 

The evidence is sl.fficient to show that, although he became significantly less active after the 
mid-1930's, Atwo·)d I. Williams did continue to be recognized as the head of the historical 
Eastern Pequot tri)e by the State of Connecticut through 1954, although at times the significance 
of this office was downplayed. He also, during this period, intervened on behalf of members of 
the Hoxie/Jackson and Gardner lineages (to both of which he was related) from 1941 until 1955, 
there was political leadership on behalf of the families which are direct antecedents of petitioner 
# 113 membership. 

However, contra!) to PEP's assertions, the contemporary documentation does not support a 
conclusion that H(;len LeGault's political influence and leadership from 1955 through 1972 
extended to both the Gardner and Hoxie/Jackson lineages, or that the Hoxiel1ackson lineage was 
clearly affiliated," ith the Gardners rather than with the Sebastians. 

Assertion of Lead{IShip bv Non-Members. A 1971 dispute arose between John Hamilton, a 
Mohegan who pre~;ented himself as "Grand Chief Sachem of the Confederation of Mohegan­
Pequot American Indian and Affiliated Algonquin Tribes," based upon his assertion that in 1968 
the Pequot Indians had chosen him as their leader, and representatives of both the Eastern Pequot 
(Helen LeGault) allel Western Pequot (Norwich Bulletin 611911970; PEP Response to Comments 
9/4/2001, Ex. 35).119 One PEP analysis of the incident notes support of Hamilton by Paul 
Spellman and Arlene (Jackson) Brown in 1973 (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001,23), but 
omits the information that it was Helen LeGault who had allowed him to reside in her home on 
the Lantern Hill re:;ervation in 1970 (Connecticut Welfare Department 6/3/1970; # 113 Pet. 1996, 
HIST DOCS II, Delc. 75). This LeGault/Hamilton connection was acknowledged in another PEP 
submission, which stated that after the State's collection of reimbursement of Hamilton's rent 
payments from the LeGauIts, "Mrs. LeGault's relationship with Mr. Hamilton and his members 
deteriorated rapidl~', leading to the Hoxie/Jackson family's marginalization from the Paucatuck 
Eastern Pequot Tribe" (Palma, On the Sebastian Assertions 9/4/200 I, 4-5; PEP Response to 
Comments 9/4/2001). 

In 1972, a report SL bmitted to a class at the University of Connecticut, "The Connecticut Indian 
as He Is Today," indicated that, "Fred Tinney is chief of the Pequot Tribe. He is retired from 
business and make!, his home in New Haven. He states that, notwithstanding the state's division 

119pEP describt:d LeGault's cooperation with Western Pequots as responding to a "common threat that 
John Hamilton potenti2liy represented to the Pequot Tribes' sovereignty" (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001, 22; 
PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). There was no specific evidence for this characterization. 
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of the Pequot intc Eastern and Western, they are all one tribe" (Ferris 1972,47; #113 Pet. 1994 
A5; PEP Comments 8/212001, Ex.). Tinney did not appear in any internal documents generated 
by either EP or PEP, nor was he mentioned by the third parties. He has subsequently appeared in 
documentation relating to the Golden Hill Paugussett, petitioner #89. There is no evidence that 
his assertion was based on anything other than an unsupported self-identification. 

1973-Presenl. Without reaching a conclusion on the nature of petitioner #113's political 
processes since 1973" the proposed finding stated: 

Much oft1e PEP petition's discussion of and documentation about events 
between the 1970's and the present describes events but does not show how the 
individuals acting in the name of the group got their position and whether they 
were responding to the membership. It is to a significant degree, a recording of 
events external to the group, rather than the internal events which would show 
political illtluence and processes. Because the leaders are dealing with outside 
authoritie~, on matters which may be of consequence to the membership (see 
definition of political influence in 83.1) it would not take extensive evidence to 
show that the named leaders are acting with the knowledge and approval of 
members IPEP PF 2000, 141). 

The PEP petition offers the general position that "the dispute with the Sebastians 
served to c:nhance social and political cohesion among the Wheeler/Williams, 
Edwards/Wheeler and Jackson/Spellman kin clusters" (Grabowski 1996, 202). It 
also states that this "demonstrates the depth of their commitment to preserving the 
tribal land base exclusively for bona fide Paucatuck Eastern Pequot tribal 
members" (Grabowski 1996, 208) There was not sufficient data and description 
to demonstratle how the dispute had affected the internal structure of the group or 
how wide!'pread the opposition to the Sebastians was among the membership 
(PEP PF 2000, 141). 

The petitioner presented an analysis, Steven L. Austin, Political Authority and Leadership in the 
Paucatuck Eastem Pequot Indian Tribal Nation 1955 to the Present (Austin, Political Authority 
9/4/2001; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). The petitioner states its hypothesis in regard 
to political influellce or authority for the 1970's as follows: 

One of Mrs. LeGault's contributions as a tribal leader was that, in the early 1970s, 
she helpec the Tribe make the transition from the traditional style of leadership 
provided by Chief Sachem Silver Star to a non-traditional model of formally 
elected leHlers and council members ... In response to the changing needs of the 
Tribe in it; relationship to the State, and with the full support of the tribal 
membership, Mrs. LeGault changed this [informal leadership] when she helped 
the Tribe c:stablish a new formal relationship with the State of Connecticut 
through the Connecticut Indian Affairs Council, as was required by changes in 
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State law:Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001,2; PEP Response to Comments 
9/42001). 

Creation of the Cl.AC. By early 1973, a newspaper article noted an initiative to remove 
supervision of Connecticut's Indian reservations from the Welfare Department (Driscoll, Irene. 
Bills to End India 1S' Control by Welfare Unit in Works. Hariford Courant. [Hand-dated 
2/611973)].120 Hearings were held on March 26,1973 (Towns August 2001, Ex. 138).121 The 
1973 bill, part of a compromise package, did not create the new Connecticut Indian Affairs 
Commission (CIA C) as an autonomous commission, but rather as a liaison between the tribes 
and Connecticut's Department of Environmental Protection (DEP), which would take over 
administration oLndian Affairs from the Welfare Department (Public Act No. 73-660; Towns 
August 2001, Ex. [.39). It became law October 1,1973 (Bee 1990, 197): 

The new rq;ulations declared that the Indian Affairs Council would advise the 
Commissiciller of Environmental Protection on the administration of Indian 
affairs, but the commissioner's decisions were the binding ones. It would be 
made up ofrepresentatives of each of the state's five tribes and three non-Indians 
appointed hy the governor ... In addition to its role as advisor, the council would 
be responsible for drawing up new programs for the reservations, for 
recommending changes in regulations pertaining to Indians, and for determining 
'the qualifi ;ations of individuals entitled to be designated as Indians for the 
purpose of administration [of the statute] ... and shall decide who is eligible to 
live on reservation lands, subject to ... [statutory] provisions ... (Bee 1990, 198-
199). 

CIAC RepresentatiQll. A letter appointing/electing Helen LeGault to the CIAC, dated July 17, 
1973, was signed only by her close relatives (Authentic Eastern Pequot Indians of North 
Stonington, Conn. :0 CIAC, #35 Pet. LIT 70).122 Petitioner argues that: "Seven of the twelve 
signatories were descendants of Rachel Hoxie, through Phebe Jackson, four were descendants of 
Eunice Wheeler an:i Marlboro Gardner, and one was non-Indian spouse of a tribal member" 

120See Driscoll to Meheran, Annual Indian Report 8/7/1973, for a listing of the Lantern Hill residents at the 
time of these developments (Towns August 2001, Ex. 137). 

121Those speal;ers who identified themselves as being Connecticut Indians were Rolling Cloud (John 
Hamilton), Wounded \!lolf(Rowland Charles Bishop), Necia (Shanks) Hopkins, Bryan Myles, Irving Harris, 
Claudette Bradley, Free Tinney (who said that he was chief of the Pequots), Antoinette Nonnan, Catherine Velky, 
and Walking Turtle (Cl.ink Sands). Aside from Tinney, there were, among these, two Mohegan, four Schaghticoke, 
and three other persons 

I22Signers: Rl th E. Geer, Mildred Holder, John Holder, Byron A. Edwards, Helen L. Edwards, Atwood J. 
Williams Jr., Frances YJung, James L. Williams Sr., Agnes E. Cunha, Richard E. Williams, Helen E. LeGault, 
(Mrs.) Bertha Edwards Brown (Appointment of Helen LeGault to CIAC by the "Authentic Eastern Pequot Indians 
of North Stonington, C(lrm,'" 7117/1973; #35 Pet. LIT 70). 
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(Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001,24; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). This 
statement, while technically accurate, is a misleading presentation of the alignment. All of the 
signers other than the non-Indian spouse of Byron A. Edwards were descendants of Marlboro 
and Eunice (Wheder) Gardner - i.e., the only Hoxie/Jackson descendants who signed it were 
children and one grandson of Atwood 1. Williams, Sr., and thus also Gardner descendants. 

The ensuing protest, dated September 26, 1973 (Brown to Wood 9/2611973), was initiated by 
Arlene (Jackson) 3rown, I23 signed primarily by Hoxie/Jackson descendants, none of whom were 
also Gardner desc ~ndants, 124 and presented to the CIAC by Alton E. Smith, a Sebastian 
descendant who lived in the state capital. Charles J. Lewis, Jr., who gave permission for his 
signature to be affixed, was also a Sebastian. Petitioner #113 describes the Hoxie/Jackson 
signers of this document as a "faction" of PEP (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001, 12n8, 23, 
25; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 

The most importallt content of Brown's letter was the two-page "footnote," which identified the 
persons who had signed the endorsement of Helen LeGault as follows: 

Foot Note:·, I have before me a copy of the paper that Mrs Le Galt had signed at 
her meetin:~. The following people signed. 
1. Ruth Gcer, she is a non resident and non Indian living in the Mannville section. 
2. Mildred Holder and son John· living in Mystic. 
3. Baron Edwards - her brother living in California. 
4. Under baron Edwards is and Edwards - first name not plain, but can make out L. 
Edwards, ... does not live here and don't know who he is. 
5. Atwood Williams Jr. non resident. Never heard of him. 
6. Frances Young. non resident, never heard of her. 
7. Jams L. WiJIiams Sf. 

(over) 
never he; ard of him, also non resident 

8. Agnes E. Cunha - non resident and non Indian 

123The accompanying envelope was from [illegible off edge] Brown, [illegible] Hill Rd., Ledyard, Conn., 
to Mr. Kenneth A. Wo )d, Assistant Commissioner, Dept. of Environmental Protection (#35 Pet. LIT 70). 

124"We the un dersigned Pequot Indians, do protest and challenge the Appointment of Mrs. Helen Le Cialt 
and her sister Bertha Brown as representatives to the Indian Affairs Council." Signers: Alton E. Smith, Cheryl 
Jackson, Sharon Jackson, Harold Jackson Jr., Alice Brend, Martha Langevin, Richard R. Brown, Arlene Brown, 
Paul L. Spellman, Rachel Crumb, Lucy Bowers, Barbara Moore, Hazel Sneed, Rachel Silva, Harold C. Jackson, 
Ernest M. Jackson, Marion Jackson, [Udira?] Jackson" (Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut. Letter to 
Commissioner of Environmental Protection, Hartford, Connecticut 1011411973). 

The "signaturc:s" appear to be in same handwriting as the envelope and letter. Alice Brend and Martha 
Langevin were Mashar tucket Pequots, relatives of the Jacksons through descent from Rachel (Hoxie) Jackson's 
brother, John Noyes Hoxie, who married a Western Pequot. They were also relatives of the Gardners through a 
prior marriage of Eunic e (Wheeler) Gardner. 
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9. Richard E. Williams - non resident and non-Indian 
10 Helen Le Galt, here on squatters rights from Rhode Island and born in North 

Stc nington Ct 
II Mrs. Le Galt is an habitual trouble maker and should by removed from 
reservation. She is the main cause of my sickness (Mrs. Brown) Just for the 
record Mn;. Le Galt is non Indian according to confidential information that I 
have recei·red. First is claims she is white and next she is Narragansett Indians, 
she plays both sides of the [illegible]. Whichever side will give the most, that's 
what she i~;. I have since found out that the welfare dept has let John Holder in 
here He \\-3S born in westerly R.l. and does not belong here, has never lived 
here." 
"We the undersigned gave Mr. Brown permission to sign our names - signed 
1. Harold C. Jackson 
2. Marion F Jackson 
3. Charles J. Lewis Jr. (Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut to Commissioner 
of Environmental Protection 101141 1973). [spelling and capitalization sic] 

A subsequent letter dated September 26, 1973, from Alton E. Smith to Kenneth A. Wood, Jr., 
Assistant Commissioner, Connecticut Department of Environmental Protection, presented a 
formal challenge to Helen (Edwards) LeGault as the Eastern Pequot representative on the CIAC. 
The letter was pre:;(;!nted "at the request of Mrs. Arline Brown, a resident of the Pequot Indian 
reservation at No. Stonington" and stated that: 

The meeting called and conducted by Mrs. LeGault was not attended by long time 
residents 0 f the reservation. The reason for non-attendance was simply that no 
invitation was extended. Sec. 2 of Public Act 73-660 clearly states that one 
representative from each of the four tribes will be "appointed by the respective 
tribes". If a majority portion of the Eastern Pequots were excluded from the 
meeting th~n the selections made were in opposition to Public Act 73-660 (Smith 
to Wood 9,'2611973; #35 Pet. LIT 70; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 
64). 

Petitioner #113 as:;erts that the documentation associated with the Authentic Eastern Pequot 
appointment of Hi:: len LeGault, "precludes the possibility that the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot 
Tribe is a splinter~roup of the Sebastian family's organization which, by their 'leader's' own 
testimony, was nOi begun until 1975" and argues that, "[t]he Sebastians' claim to be the 
successors in inter;:st to the historical Eastern Pequot Tribe are spurious and should be rejected 
by the AS - IA" (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001,24; PEP Response to Comments 
9/412001). The pfi}posed finding did not conclude that petitioner #113 (PEP) was a splinter 
group of petitioneI #35 (EP), but rather that both petitioners evolved out of the historical Eastern 
Pequot tribe as it had existed through 1973 (see PEP PF 2000,62). 

The CIAC, on Dec ember 4, 1973, came up with the following interim measure: 

147 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement PEP-V001-D006 Page 157 of 207 



Final Detennination, Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

Challenge to the Eastern Pequot delegate. Testimony by the following given 
under oath and recorded: Paul Spellman, Arlene Brown, Alton Smith, Helen 
LeGault. CIAC went into executive session, with Mrs. LeGault disqualifying 
herself. 
The Council proposed the following steps to resolve the challenge to Mrs. 
LeGault as thl~ Eastern Pequot representative: . 

1. Mrs. LeGault will remain as the Eastern Pequot representative; with 
Mr. Alton Smith, as spokesman for the challenging group, serving 
as her alternate. 

2. At such time that a census of the Eastern Pequot people is completed, 
an election will be held with participation in such an election based 
upon census information. 

3. The tribal members of the lAC will work with the Eastern Pequots to 
assist them in developing an internal organization so that one body 
will in the future represent the Eastern Pequot people" (CIAC 
Minutes Amended Minutes of regular meeting 12/411973, [2]; #35 
Pet. LIT 70). 

This interim solution was still in effect as late as August 5, .I 975, as indicated by a joint letter to 
Eastern Pequot re;idents from Helen LeGault, Representative, and Alton Smith, Alternate 
Representative (LeGault and Smith to Eastern Pequot residents 8/511975; #35 Pet. LIT 70). 

PEP states that: 

The Sebastians' assertion that Alton Smith was acting as a tribal leader for Paul 
Spellman, Barbara Spellman Moore, and Arlene Jackson Brown is preposterous. 
It is well-1nown from correspondence in the Welfare Department files and the 
interview of Barbara Spellman Moore by Kevin Meisner, that all three of these 
individual:; did not think the Sebastians were Paucatuck Pequot Indians (Austin, 
Political Authority 9/4/2001, 25; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 

This argumentation is beside the point, insofar as evidence discussed elsewhere in this finding, 
submitted by petitiom~r # 113, indicates that Moore and Brown, at least, asserted that they did not 
think that Helen LeGault was a Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indian, either. 

PEP notes that: 

At the Junc~ 3, 1975, meeting of the CIAC, Helen LeGault presented a request 
from the Eastern Pequot Tribe (Paucatuck Eastern Pequot tribe) for approval of 
the CIAC 10 use money from the Eastern Pequot fund to provide emergency 
funding fo:· housing assistance to one of their tribal members, Rachel Jackson 
Crumb. A Jproval of the CIAC was granted for the use of money in the Eastern 
Pequot fund to purchase a mobile home and to make improvements to the water 
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and sewen.ge system for her home (Austin, Political Authority 9/412001, 26; PEP 
Response to Comments 9/4/2001; citing CIAC Minutes 6/3/1975; PEP Response 
to Comme:1ts 9/4/2001, Ex. 41). 

PEP asserts that "the Sebastian family's interference with the CIAC almost resulted in the failure 
of the CIAC to reI ~ase the badly needed money" (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001,26; see 
also Palma, On th(: Sebastian Assertions 9/4/2001, 11; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/200 I). 

Petitioner argues l1at: "With the demise of Hamilton's organization, members of the 
HoxielJackson family reconciled with Mrs. LeGault and resumed their interactions with the 
other members oLhe Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe" (Palma, On the Sebastian Assertions 
9/412001, 6; see al;o fi~iteration, Palma, On the Sebastian Assertions 9/4/200 I, 17; PEP 
Response to Comnents 9/4/2001) and, "This is an instance of Helen LeGault acting as a leader 
on behalf of the re;t of the Tribe, for someone who was not an immediate family member 
(LeGault was a Gardner; Rachel Jackson Crumb a descendant of Rachel Hoxie)" (Austin, 
Political Authority 9/4/2001,26; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). Austin continues with 
an argument that this was "excellent evidence of factionalism within the Paucatuck Eastern 
Pequot Tribe," since Rachel Crumb had opposed Helen LeGault's appointment in 1973 (Austin, 
Political Authority 9/4/2001, 26; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). As will be seen below, 
there is no documentary evidence of such a "reconciliation" and no documentary evidence of an 
effort by PEP to obtain the participation of Hoxie/lackson descendants who were not also 
Gardner descendarts until late 1989. 

At approximately the same date of August 1975, the CIAC requested that each of the state 
recognized tribes prepare and submit a list of members (#35 Pet. NaIT. 1998, 125). A newspaper 
article discussed the CIAC's proposed abandonment of the 1935-1941 tribal genealogical lists 
gathered by the St2 te Park and Forest Commission and 118 quota in favor of letting the tribes 
decide their own membership (Sandberg, Jon. Indians May Rule on Members. Hartford 
Courant 8/2811975; quoting Brendan Keleher of DEE PIC lAC). 

Petitioner # 113 argues that from 1975 through 1983, "Helen LeGault provided leadership for the 
Tribe, in concert with the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe's duly elected Tribal Chairpersons, 
including Linda Strange, Richard Williams, and Raymond Geer, by fighting to keep the 
descendants of Tamar Brushell Sebastian off the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot membership list" 
(Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001, 26; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 

In late 1975, Arlen'~ (Jackson) Brown and her supporters were seeking an appointment with the 
Governor on the mrtter, with the assistance of the Mohegan factional leader John Hamilton 

149 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement PEP-V001-D006 Page 159 of 207 



Final Determination, Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

(Richard R, Brown et al. to Hamilton, Grand Sachem Rolling Cloud 12/81l97S),125 A few 
months later, she strongly protested the impact of the CIAC measure to Governor Ella Grasso: 

The situation is very tense and getting worst [sic] everyday, and the D.EP. and 
the dept of welfare has given non-Indians permission to reside and build homes 
here. Our Indian coordinator, namely Brenden Keleher, refuses to cooperate with 
us in this respect I am a Pequot Indian, born on this Reservation 67 years ago, I 
understand that all of my family as well as myself and the Spellmans, also Pequot 
Indians, tbeir names have all been removed from the tribal rolls in Hartford and 
the word Negro substituted in place of Pequot Indian. I do know that they were 
on the rolls, when Mr. George Payne was our overseer, under the Dept of 
Welfare. [did not know that it was legal to change any birth records in Hartford 
or any other place. The state has in the last year or more, admitted five or six 
Portugues'~ familys [sic] on the Reservation and have them on the book or rolls as 
Pequot Indians. When Mr George Payne was our overseer, he would not give 
them pemlission to reside here because he knew they were non-Indians ... 
[Signed] Mrs. Arlene Jackson Brown, Mr. Harold C. Jackson, Mr. Ernest M. 
Jackson, Earbara Spellman Moore, Lucy Spellman Bowers, Paul L. Spellman, 
Rachel Sp ~llman Silver, Philip Silver to Ella Grasso 41l41l976; #35 Pet. B-02B 
SECOND, Sources cited; #113 Pet 1996, HIST DOCS I, Doc. 21). 

At this point, Arlene (Jackson) Brown and her supporters were asserting that only the 
descendants of Rachel Hoxie were actually Eastern Pequot, denying both Tamar Bnlshel1 and 
Marlboro Gardnel as qualifying ancestors: 126 

Of the Eastern Pequots living on Hereditary Mohegan lands in Lantern Hill, 
North Stoilgton [sic], only those who have proved descent from the Hoxie 
Family though the female line and who can thereby trace their ancestry to Esther 
Meezen (sister to the Great Sum Squaw Chief, Hanna Meezen of the Groton­
Ledyard Pc:quots) who were great granddaughters of Sassacus, are placed upon 

125Letter re: appointment with Gov. Ella Grasso. Signers: Richard R. Brown, Lucy Spellman Bowlrs, Paul 
L. Spellman, Barbara Spellman Moore, Rachel Spellman Silver, Olive F. Brown (Richard R. Brown et a!. to 
Hamilton, Grand Sad em Rolling Cloud 12/8/1975). 

Hamilton had resilded temporarily on the Lantern Hill reservation in 1970, in the cottage ordinarily used by 
Helen (Edwards) LeGault (Connecticut Welfare Department. Report concerning John E. Hamilton's residence on 
the Eastern Pequot reservation in cottage of Helen LeGault 6/3/1970). 

126John E. HHmilton (Chief Rolling Cloud), Grand Sachem for Life, challenges the jurisdiction of the 
CIAC and claims that no agency in Connecticut other than his council was qualified to state who is and who is not 
an American Indian. "This Special Qualifications Commission is comprised of the following members of the Royal 
Mohegan-Pequot Amt'ficall1 Indian Council: Wounded Wolf (Rowland Bishop), Chairman, Mrs. Jane (Gray) 
Hennessey, Secretary; Mrs. Arlene (Jackson) Brown; Mrs. Jane Keeler, and Sagamore Chief Onoco (Albert 
Baker)." 
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the Grand Sachem's Tribal Roll Book. Only three resident members of the 
Eastern Pequots can do this: Mrs. Arlene (Jackson) Brown: Her sister Rachel 
Crouch [SiC]: and their cousin Paul Spellman. Their grandmother was a Hoxie 
and a descendant of Sassacus. 

All other groups claiming Eastern Pequot blood are not on the Grand Sachem's 
Tribal Roll and are therefor [sic] impostors. One group claims their right through 
descent from a cape Verde Non-Indian woman named "Bruschel"; the other 
group claills their right through a man named Marlboro Gardner, (sometimes 
spelled GHdenir), a non- American Indian of British West Indies origin 
(ConfederHion of the Mohegan-Pequot American Indian Nation and Affiliated 
Algonquir Tribes. A Petition to the Governor of the State of Connecticut 
1112911975, 4-5; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 66). 

Both of these latt~:r assertions were demonstrably false. Arlene Jackson Brown and Paul L. 
Spellman both signed Hamilton's petition as "Member Royal Council." The data in the written 
record does not slpport PEP's contention that the Hoxie/Jackson descendants (other than the 
family of Atwood 1. Williams, who were also Gardner descendants) were at this point a part of 
an organization led by Helen LeGault that was the political antecedent of PEP. 

In the spring of 1~'76, EP, the antecedents of petitioner #35, submitted by-laws and a 
membership list to CIAC. On April 26, 1976, William O. Sebastian wrote the CIAC asking why 
the group had rect~ived no acknowledgment of its March 13, 1976, submission, and questioning 
the dual role of Hden LeGault in both representing the Eastern Pequots as a whole and 
organizing her own group. It also made the first reference to the CIAC's scheduling of a hearing 
on the Eastern Pequot membership issue: "We are questioning your reasons for a public hearing 
without a formal (harge or challenge to this organization" (W.O. Sebastian to Harris and Keleher 
4/2611976; #35 Pet. LIT 70). At close to the same time, he must have addressed a similar letter 
to Helen LeGault, for her May 15, 1976, reply stated: 

In answer:o your letter of April 1, 1976, I shall start by stating that I am the 
Represent~ltivt~ of the Eastern Pequots, elected legally by twelve Pequot Indian 
decendcnt~! [sic], not by the Indian Affairs Council. It really doesn't make a great 
deal of din~rence whether you recognize [sic] me as such or not, I'm still the 
Represent,.tive" ... "To keep you informed of all the correspondence pertaining 
to Tribal Business etc; one would spend one's time doing nothing else, sorry, but 
you will hHve to attend the Council meetings at Hartford each every month to be 
properly ir fonned, this is what I do (LeGault to W.O. Sebastian 511511976; #35 
Pet. LIT 70). 

One of the primar:( concerns expressed by the groups which opposed Helen LeGault's position 
on the CIAC was 1 hat on the one hand she was supposed to be representing the Eastern Pequot 
tribe as a whole, ill an official capacity in which she received official communications from state 
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authorities (Keleher to Eastern Pequot Representative 6/30/1975; Crosby to LeGault 
1112811975), including those pertaining to membership issues (Keleher to LeGault and Smith 
4/22/1976), whik on the other hand she was leading the specific organizational efforts of the 
"Authentic Eastem Pequot" and its successor groups. 

Developments as l?ef1ected in the Minutes of PEP and Its Antecedent Organizations, 1976-1988. 
For the final detelnination, petitioner # 113 submitted meeting minutes kept by Helen LeGault 
and Ruth Geer (P EP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 63). These indicated that the primary 
interest of the organization from 1976 through 1986 was CIAC representation. The first page of 
these (undated, bllt datable to 1976 by internal evidence; the petitioner dates this meeting as 
April 5, 1976, Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001, 27; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001) 
began with the words: "On March 21 5t eleven persons gathered at Helen LeGault's home to 
discuss the forming of a tribe" (Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut, Inc., Minutes 3/21/1976; 
PEP Response to Comments 9/4/200 I, Ex. 63). The officers elected were Linda Strange, 
President; Raymond Geer, Vice President; Ruth Geer, Secretary-Treasurer; and a Board of 
Directors consisti ng of Helen LeGault, John Holder, and Pat Brown. 

The petitioner asserts that "both families of the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe, the descendants 
of Rachel Hoxie (Atwood Williams, Jr., Richard E. Williams, and John Holder) and descendants 
of Marlboro Gardner and Eunice Wheeler (Linda Strange, Raymond Geer, Pat Brown, and Helen 
LeGault) participHted in the formation of the corporation" (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001, 
27; PEP Respons~: to Comments 9/4/2001). As noted on a prior occasion, this formulation is 
technically accurate, but misleading: all participants descended from Marlboro and Eunice 
(Wheeler) Gardner; there were no incorporators who descended solely through the 
HoxielJackson lineage. 

The minutes of thl: second meeting indicate that it was held on June 20th
• This meeting discussed 

incorporation of the Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut and adopted by-laws. The minutes 
stated: 

Next on the agenda was a detailed explanation of a meeting to be held on Aug. 
10th with the Indian Affairs Council. At this meeting all Eastern Pequots are 
urged to attend and present proof of ancestry. This will eventually determine 
eligibility I n the Eastern Pequot Indians of Conn., Inc. 

Th(~ last item on the agenda was a discussion dealing with the removal of 
Alton Smi1h as the alternate on the LA.C. The concensus [sic] being that he 
should be removed but action would be delayed until after the Aug. 10th meeti.ng 
when hopefully our group would be accepted by the lAC (Eastern Pequot Indians 
ofConneclicut, Inc., Minutes 6/2011976; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, 
Ex. 63). 

Notes for June 20, 1976, indicated 14 persons present and five absent; of the total, six were non­
Indian spouses (Notes 6/20/1976; PEP Response to Comments 9/412001, Ex. 63). On September 
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5, 1976, the group ele:cted Helen LeGault as CIAC Representative with Atwood Williams, Jr., as 
alternative, with some question raised about the latter's eligibility because he was an out-of-state 
resident, so those present elected Raymond Geer in case it should be detennined that Williams 
could not serve (Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut, Inc., Minutes 9/5/1976; PEP Response 
to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 63).127 On October 3, a meeting accepted a motion to "accept the 
amended By-Laws providing 15 of our 29 members signed" and "to send amended By-Laws to 
the lAC and [sic] questions them as to proof of 'practice & usage of the tribe' statement" 
(Eastern Pequot 0 f Connecticut, Inc., Minutes 10/311976; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, 
Ex. 63). These minutes ended with the following statements: 

Helen LeGault again reviewed the background of the "Sebastian tribe" 
since most of us do not know much about their ancestry. 

Th~ chief concern at this time appeared to be the loss of Helen LeGault as 
representa:ive on the lAC if our group is not recognized as "the tribe" (Eastern 
Pequot Inc ians of Connecticut Inc. Minutes 10/3/1976; PEP Response to 
Comment~ 9/4/2001, Ex. 63). 

At the November 14, 1976, meeting, "Helen LeGault summarized her 3 years on the lAC" and 
"Ray Geer questicned. the right of our lawyer to appeal the decision of the Council regarding the 
acceptance of our group as 'the tribe' to be recognized" (Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 
Minutes 11114/19'76; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 63).128 The next set of minutes 

127This new ~vidl~nce applicable to Atwood I. Williams, Jr., modifies the proposed finding, which stated in 
the Appendix: 

There is no rli~ntion in the written record of any leadership activities exercised by Atwood I. 
Williams Jr., prior to his presentation of testimony at the 1976 CIAC hearing in regard to Eastern 
Pequot repre ;entation on the commission. At that time, identified as "Alton" I. Williams Jr., he 
stated that he never lived on the reservation and neither did his father, but he had visited his uncle, 
Albert Gardr CT, there, probably in the 1920's (CIAC Hearing 81l 011976, [80-82]). 

There was no fUlther mention of him in the documents in the record until two obituaries at the 
time of his dl~ath three years later (Atwood I. Williams. The Westerly Sun. [Newspaper obituary, 
hand-dated 617/1979]; A.1. Williams Jr.; Chief of Eastern Pequot Indians. Providence Journal. 
[Hand-dated 6/8/1979]; # 113 050 File, # 113 Pet. 1994 A-6; # 113 Pet. 1996 HIST DOCS I, Doc. 
13; # 113 Pet 1996, GEN DOCS J). One obituary stated: "As Grand Chief Sachem, he was the 
leader of the Eastern Pequot Tribe, which has a reservation in North Stonington" and that he was a 
board membl~r of the Rhode Island Indian Affairs Council (A.I. Williams Jr.; Chief of Eastern 
Pequot India 1S. Providence Journal. [Hand-dated 6/811979]) (PEP PF 2000, 139). 

128The CIAC issued a decision on November 8, 1976. The essential features were that the CIAC required a 
1/8 Eastern Pequot blood quantum for tribal membership, by descent from either Marlboro Gardner or Tamar 
Brushell. The CIAC found that both were full blood Eastern Pequot, but did not address the issue of descent from 
Rachel Hoxie (Jackso 1 family). The decision was objectively inaccurate, in that Marlboro Gardner was at least Y2 
of Narragansett background by his own testimony (see PEP PF 2000, criterion 83.7(e)). 
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was for June 12, 1977, at which time the organization elected Helen LeGault as CIAC 
representative and Richard E. Williams as alternate; it also nominated officers for 1977-1978: 
Richard E. Willia ms, President; Raymond Geer, Vice President; Ruth Geer, Secretary-Treasurer, 
and Pat Brown, Felen LeGault, and John Holder on the Board of Directors. In accordance with 
the then-effective CIAC decision on membership, namely that Tamar (Brushell) Sebastian was 
defined as a Y2 blood Eastern Pequot Indian. 129 Under this provision requiring Jl8 blood 
quantum, this CIAC decision disqualified Alton Smith, a descendant of Tamar, for tribal 
membership and ;1 role on the CIAC. His mother, however, met the blood quantum requirement. 
PEP's antecedent organization took the following action: 

Since Mrs. Phoebe Smith did not attend the meeting, Richard Williams moved 
that Mrs. :;mith be sent a copy of our By-Laws and that she be requested to 
present her genealogical record & that she would meet regulations of 
membersh ip. Motion was passed (Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut, Inc. 
Minutes 6 /1211977; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 63).130 

The minutes for J Jly 17, 1977, noted that the CIAC requested the presentation of a membership 
list. "Raymond Ceer moved that our tribal roll consist of only those persons at least 118 Eastern 
Pequot. So voted " (Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut, Inc. Minutes 7/17/1977; PEP 
Response to Com:nents 9/4/2001, Ex. 63).131 

A BIA staff member Jrought the 1880 testimony (Report a/Commissioner on Narragansett Indians 1881,27,3 I, 
67, 7 I, 81) to the atte 1tion of PEP researchers in 1995, after having found it while preparing the T A letter for the 
1994 PEP petition. It is not known whether, in 1976 and 1977, PEP members were genuinely unaware of their own 
Narragansett heritage or not. For purposes of Federal acknowledgment, the blood quantum issue is not relevant. 

129In December 1976, Bertha F. (Edwards) Brown, Helen (Edwards) LeGault, and Byron A. Edwards filed 
a lawsuit in New Lonjon County, Connecticut, against the CIAC and the Sebastians. Apparently in response to this 
lawsuit, on Decembel 7, 1976, the CIAC filed notice of a new Eastern Pequot hearing. On April 14, 1977, the 
CIAC issued a seconei decision, which continued the prior finding that Marlboro Gardner was a full-blood Eastern 
Pequot, but found tha ~ Tamar (Brushell) Sebastian was only onelhalf Eastern Pequot. 

According to a later satement by PEP chairman Raymond Geer, only three members of the Sebastian family were 
eligible to vote in trib31 elections under this ruling (Salvage of Pequot Elections Dubious. The Sun, Westerly, 
Rhode Island, 2/1411 S 84; PEP # 1 13 Pet. 1994 A-6). The CIAC's determination that Marlboro Gardner was a full­
blood Eastern Pequot has not been substantiated by the documents generated in his lifetime. 

J30This translction was referenced subsequently as item 6, appended at the end of notes for the PEP 
meeting of December 10, 1982 (Notes 12/10/82; PEP Response to Comments 914/200 I, Ex. 63). 

131 Helen LeGault submitted the membership list on August 2, 1977 (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/200 I, 
27; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). Subsequently, PEP, apparently in response to documentation showing 
that Marlboro Gardne' was not a full-blood Eastern Pequot, and that therefore many of the PEP members as of 1977 
would not have met tt e 1/8 Eastern Pequot blood quantum requirement, placed in the currently effective (1993) 
governing document ~ provision that all those on the 1981 PEP membership list, and their descendants, shall 
continue to be eligible for membership (see discussion below under criterion 83.7(e». 
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The next minutes in this sequence were for July 16, 1978: 

Under old business Helen LeGault reported in depth as to the actions of the lAC 
One high Light of her report was that the injunction placed by the Sebastian group 
has been lifted. In essence, we may now proceed as "the tribe" and are the only 
recognized group of Eastern Pequots recognized by federal, state and lAC We 
just now fClrmulate rules and regulations for the tribe .... (Eastern Pequot Indians 
of Con necli cut, Inc. Minutes 711611978; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, 
Ex. 63). 

On September 3, 1978, with 13 members present according to the minutes (Austin, Political 
Authority 9/4/200 !., 28, indicates that 25 members were present; citing a September 18, 1978, 
letter, LeGault, BDwn, and Edwards to CIAC in regard to permission to JoAnn Rogers to reside 
on the Eastern Pequot reservation; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/200 I, Ex. #26), the 
following amendrr ent to the By-Laws was adopted unanimously in the matter of "those not 
eligible without Id P~:quot blood": 

An~' tribal member of the E.P.I. of Conn. Inc. may submit the name ofa 
direct desct!ndant of any E.P.1. for adoption. Such adoption shall be subject to the 
Adoption j,mendment. 

Membership in the E.P.1. of Conn. Inc., shall be made by application or by 
adoption. 

Adclption Amendment: 
I. Adoptee be a direct descendant of an E.P.! and of at least 118 
Indian blood. 

2. Adoptee shall present proofofE.P. blood. 
3. j~ll applications for adoption be presented to the Bd. Of Directors 
for investigation, and if approved, submitted to the tribe for final 
approval. 
4. All adopted members shall have the privileges and rights of all tribal 
menbers (Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut, Inc., Minutes 9/3/1978; 
PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 63). 

Subsequent minutes of April 22, 1979, indicated that the above minutes should have included the 
adoption of JoAnn Rogers into the tribe and "several members recalled a motion and its passing 
unanimously to adopt JoAnn" (Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut, Inc. Minutes 4/22/1979; 

. PEP Response to Comments 9/412001, Ex. 63). There was no mention of this procedure in the 
notes for September 3,1978 (PEP Notes 9/3/1978; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 
63). CIAC minute~: for December 5, 1978, indicate that the organization was also undertaking to 
remove Sebastian c esclendants from the reservation (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001, 28; 
citing CIAC Minut'~:s 12/5/1978; PEP Response to Comments 914/2001, Ex. 45). 
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At the April 1, 1979, meeting, John Holder was removed from the Board of Directors for non­
attendance, with Ralph Kilpatrick (a non-Indian spouse) named as his replacement as an 
alternate to Pat BJ"Own. The same meeting "appointed Atwood 1. Williams as chief - he is to be 
known as Grand Chief Sachem Leaping Deer" (Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut, Inc. 
Minutes 4/1/1979; PEP Response to Comments 9/412001, Ex. 63). 

Petitioner indicates that: 

In May 1979, Helen Edwards LeGault (who was then 71 years old) and Pat 
Edwards Drown discussed by phone the possibility of the Williams family (Agnes 
Williams Cunha and family, Richard Williams and family, and Francis [sic] 
Williams '(oung and family) moving onto the Lantern Reservation [sic] and 
taking up the lots that had been assigned to Pat Edwards Brown and Byron 
Edwards. Pat Brown wrote to her sister, Helen, on May 10, 1979, granting her 
permissior to have the Williamses moving onto the Reservation lots in order "to 
help the tribe people" by preparing them to take Helen's place in leadership after 
so many YI:ars (see letter, Pat Brown to Helen LeGault, May 10, 1979; Response 
Exhibit #4,5) (Austin, Political Authority 9/412001, 29; PEP Response to 
Comments 9/4/2001). 

Petitioner asserts that: 

Helen LeGault was concerned about preparing the next generation ofleaders for 
the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe, and wanted to place them strategically on the 
Reservatio:1 as part of the Tribe's effort to keep the Sebastians from moving onto 
the Reservation. Given her affection for the Reservation, the decision of Pat 
Brown to kt another tribal member (especially someone not from her own 
immediate family) use her lot would have been a personal sacrifice. But she was 
willing to co it for the good of the Tribe (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001, 29; 
PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 

The CIAC subseql ently granted the Williams family permission to reside (late Mayor early 
June 1979).132 

On June 17. 1979, because of the death of Atwood I. Williams Jr. on June 6, 1979, the group 
named Atwood I. 'Villiams III known as Hock-i-Nock-i as Grand Chief Sachem (Eastern Pequot 

J320ther examples, not cited in this PEP report, may be considered to be rejection of Sebastian requests to 
live on the reservation (Mary Sebastian interview) although LeGault and the PEP council were acting under color of 
state authority from 1973-1983. Authority was transferred from the State in 1989. Thereafter, each of the current 
petitioners' organizaticm separately reviewed the applications of its members. The balance of the examples 
concerned the formatie n of the first organization that included the Gardners, and subsequent actions by LeGault as 
leader of that organizal ion or as representative to the CIAC. 
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Indians of Connecticut, Inc. Minutes 6/17/1979; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 63). 
From 1979 onward, the minutes contained periodic discussions of the trading post and other 
business concerns. 133 

On August 19, 19~'9, after discussion of incorporation, the organization adopted a motion "that 
the tribe be goverr c:d by the present By-Laws until new tribal rules are written ... As soon as the 
incorporation pape rs are accepted we will be identified as the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians 
ofConn.,,134 (East(m Pequot Indians of Connecticut, Inc. Minutes 8/19/1979; PEP Response to 
Comments 9/4/20(1 I, Ex. 63). This meeting also added four members to the tribal council, after 
which it consisted of Agnes Cunha, Atwood I. Williams III, Helen LeGault, James Williams, Pat 
Brown, Richard Williams, and Ruth Geer; it elected Helen E. LeGault as CIAC representative, 
with Richard Williams as alternate (see correction in Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut Inc. 
Minutes 9/16/197£; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 63). In October of 1979, the PEP 
council requested CIAC approval for the release of $3,000 for the repair of wells on the Lantern 
Hill Reservation; tle approval was granted (Aganstata to Pac 10/2/1979; PEP Response to 
Comments 9/4/20(11, Ex. 48). 

The petitioner discusses extensively the November 30, 1979, ruling of the Superior Court of 
New London Courty in regard to the appeal of the April 18, 1977, CIAC decision in regard to 
Tamar (Brushell) ~:ebastian 's blood quantum as one-half Eastern Pequot (Austin, Political 
Authority 9/4/200 I, 31-32; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). The entire discussion by 
PEP focuses on the- inability of Roy Sebastian and other initiators of the lawsuit (Sebastian v. 
Indian Affairs CaU"lcii afthe Department of Environmental Affairs, No. 28949, 5; PEP Response 
to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 60) to convince the court that Tamar Brushell was a full-blood 
Eastern Pequot, anj the consequences for membership eligibility under CIAC rules. PEP does 
not address in this ~onnection, in any way, the circumstance that the CIAC determination that 
Marlboro Gardner was an Eastern Pequot full-blood was according to his own testimony, 135 in 

133 A bait and tackle shop, and a proposal for a baked good shop were included. The occasional references 
in the notes to a "craft shop" appeared to pertain to the trading post. Consideration of grant proposals began in 
1979. By the early 19HO's there were other economic proposals such as, using Richard Hayward of Mashantucket 
as a consultant, the de\elopment of a Housing Authority proposal. 

134Petitioner cid not start using this name until formally until 1982 (see below), but a set of meeting notes 
in Helen LeGault's ledger, dated May 29, 1980, was headed "Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Council Meeting" (LeGault 
Ledger 5/2911980; PEl' Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 63). The minutes and notes contained no information 
in regard to the choice of the name, and did not record that there was discussion of the change. 

135Mar1boro Gardner attended the Narragansett detribalization meetings and took an active part in the 
proceedings, objecting to the inclusion on the membership list of Daniel Primos, 71" (Objection by Malbro 
Gardner)" (Report oj Commissioner on Narragansett Indians 1881, 27) and subsequently withdrawing the objection 
(Report ojCommissior.er on Narragansett Indians 1881,67). He was, in tum, objected to: "Malbro Gardner, age 
42; lives at Stonington never lived on the reservation. (Ob:jection.)" (Report of Commissioner on Narragansel£ 
Indians 1881, 31). wt: en he testified on his own behalf, he stated: 
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error, and that consequently, as of 1979, PEP's members should have been equally affected by 
the blood-quantum issue under existing Connecticut law. 

PEP was aware 0 f this issue. Indeed, elsewhere it cites the 1938 letter of Allen B. Cook that 
referred to, "Marlboro Gardner and Eunice (Wheeler) (George) Gardner who were both Indians, 
probably full bloods. Marlboro Gardner was at least part Pequot and possibly Narragansett. 
Eunice Gardner vias Narragansett. As we were interested only in the Pequot, I did not follow it 
further" (Cook to Peale 6/2911 938; PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 39). Indeed, PEP cites this 
letter in its argumentation, as follows: 

In their comments on the Proposed Finding, the Attorney General of the State of 
Connecticut and the Towns (North Stonington, Ledyard, and Preston) deny that 
Marlboro Gardner was an Eastern Pequot Indian. They are ignoring infonnation 
in the State's own historical files regarding the ancestry of Marlboro Gardner. 
This letter by Mr. Cook clearly establishes his understanding, based upon 
genealogkal research that he himself conducted in his capacity as a State 
employee, that Marlboro Gardner was an Eastern Pequot Indian (Austin, Political 
Authority 9/4/2001, 41; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 

PEP, however, neglec:ts to mention that this letter also contained data directly in conflict with the 
1976 and 1977 CIAC findings that Marlboro Gardner was a full-blood Eastern Pequot. 136 

Malbro Gardner, swom. 
Q. (By Mr. Carm chad.) Mr. Gardner, have you ever voted at the tribe meetings? 
A. I never have. have been principally a seafaring man, and haven't been here except occasionally. 
Q. How long since YolL! lived here in Charlestown? 
A. I never lived h ~re to make it my home. 
Q. How old are you? 
A. 42. 
Q. Did your father eve:r live here? 
A. Yes, sir. 
Q. A member of the tribe? 
A. Yes Sir; Harry Gardner. 
Q. He voted here; 
A. Yes, sir. My grandfather was Stephen Gardner. 
(Still objected to by Mr. Cone.) (Report o/Commissioner on Narragansett Indians 1881, 71). 

He also stated: "I dorl't think I ever lived on the reservation, never voted anywhere. Father died when I was at sea. 
I have been here occasIOnally. Never voted in the tribe" (Report o/Commissioner on Narragansett Indians 1881, 
81 ). 

136There are other instances of omissions in the PEP Comments and Response. For example, PEP quotes 
that the 1979 decisior: found that "The CIAC did not act arbitrarily, capriciously or unreasonably in finding that the 
membership rules of the Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut, Inc. 'did not constitute sufficient evidence of 
authentic tribal custon and usage .... Rules of corporate membership can hardly be designated as an authentic 
tribal custom or usagt" (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001,32; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). PEP does 
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Neither does PEP's exposition of the 1979 decision explain clearly that the 1979 decision was 
based on the bloo j quantum issue (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001, 31-32; PEP Response to 
Comments 9/4/2001 ),' and did not adopt PEP's hypothesis that Tamar Brushell did not have 
Eastern Pequot ar c:esltry. 137 

In March 1980, Helen LeGault contacted the North Stonington Democratic Committee "to lobby 
for assurances from State Legislator Patricia Handel that proposed changes in the placement of 
the CIAC in the State government would not 'result in non-tribal members being housed on their 
land'" (Austin, Pc,litical Authority 9/4/2001, 32; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001; citing 
Kluepfel to Handd 3/22/1980; PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 39). Petitioner cites this as 
"another occasion on which Helen LeGault was actively leading the Tribe by forming alliances 
with non-Indian politicians to prevent more non-tribal members (the Sebastians and others) from 
moving onto the Lantern Hill Reservation" (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001,32; PEP 
Response to Comnents 9/4/2001). 

There were notes from a May 29, 1980, Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Council meeting in Helen 
LeGault's ledger. They mentioned a meeting schedule (council monthly and tribal meetings 

not point out that "Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut, Inc." was the organization antecedent to petitioner III 13, 
not the organization ,.ntecedent to petitioner #35. 

A similar aCl of omission occurred in PEP's submission of the Civil War pension record of John Noyes 
Hoxie, brother of PEl' ancestress Rachel (Hoxie) Jackson (Noyes J. Hoxie, Ledyard, Co. K 29th (Colored) Regt. 
Inf. Military record sllbmitted; pension record submitted (Record of Service 1889; # 113 Pet. GEN DOCS I; Civil 
War pension record; PEP Comments 8/2/200 I, Ex. 5). PEP submitted and discussed some of the affidavits in this 
packet: Fred W. Smart, March 12, 1891, res. Old Mystic, has known him 27 years; Gad W. Apes, July 12,1901, 
has known him 30 ye Irs; and Charles E. Colebut, July 12, 190 I, has known him 7 years. PEP omitted from its 
submission, i.e. did nl)t include in the copy of the pension file that it submitted, two additional affidavits by Frank 
Sebastian, Sr. and Frank Sebastian, Jr. (photocopies in EP Comments 8/2/2001, Box 2, Folder Joyce [sic] Noyce 
Hoxie Civil War Pen~ ion ;[nfo.), which showed social ties between the Sebastian and Hoxie families. 

EP also presl!l1ted discussion: " Likewise Pequots attested to the character of John Noyes Hoxie (also 
known as Noyes John Hoxie). Layman Lawrence, a Mashantucket, indicated that he served in the same unit, the 
29th Company K, with Hoxie. Gad Apes, a local native with Eastern Pequot kinship ties, claimed to have known 
him for 30 years, and to have seen him just about once a month. Mashantucket spouse Charles Colebut knew Hoxie 
for seven years and Ii'led in the same house with him for two years (1898-99), "I have had to cut his firewood," 
Colebut wrote, "and carry it to him as he was unable to go down stairs." Eastern Pequot Frank Sebastian, Sr. was 
well acquainted with-Ioxie, knowing him for 20 years. Frank Sebastian, Jr. added his remarks that he knew the 
veteran for the last se'len years. An 1897 pension increase identified Hoxie as Indian and added that he needed 
glasses to read" (Gaz~ and Grant-Costa Report III, 141; EP Comments 8/2/200 I; citing John Noyes Hoxie, 
Certificate No. 927, 222, Company K, 29th Connecticut Volunteers, Civil War and Later pension Files, 1861-1934, 
Rec. of the veterans P.c1m .. , R. 15, NARA, Washington, ED). 

137pEP no longer presents the issue as a matter of blood quantum under the 1977 CIAC decision and 
asserts that Tamar (BlUshdl) Sebastian's descendants are not eligible for residence on the Lantern Hill reservation 
even though Connecticut has subsequently abandoned the legally determined blood quantum requirement. See, for 
example, its reference to Ray Geer's 1986 objection to the 1983 CIAC decision as being, "yet more evidence of the 
Tribe's continuous et'ort to maintain its membership list and prevent interference from the State on this issue" 
(Austin, Political Authority 9/4/200 I, 38; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/200 I). 
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semi-annually in March and August), work on by-laws, a question about adoption, and 
referenced conflict with Howard and Larry Sebastian and stated, "Larry & Howard will destroy 
house on ledge b{ fore they will sell" (LeGault Ledger 5/2911980; PEP Response to Comments 
9/412001, Ex. 63) The formal book contained no further minutes until August 20, 1981, at 
which time Ray (leer served as acting Chairman and the minutes of the September 16, 1979, 
meeting were voted upon. On September 6, 1981, "it was decided to maintain the Tribal Council 
composed of the dders of the tribe" with Ray Geer as chairperson; Ruth Geer as secretary­
treasurer; and a vice-chairperson to be named (PEP Minutes 9/6/1981; PEP Response to 
Comments 9/4/20) 1, Ex. 33). There was no indication in these minutes whether the 
incorporation plar ned on 1979 had taken place; the acting chairperson appointed the following 
committee for corlstitution and by-laws: Linda Strange, Agnes Cunha, Ruth Geer, and Ray 
Geer. J38 

In February 1982, in consultation with Richard Hayward of the Mashantucket Pequot Tribe, PEP 
began the process of applying for a Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) 
grant for the purpclse of establishing an Indian Housing Authority and constructing 10 to 15 units 
of housing on Lan :t:rn Hill (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001, 33-34; PEP Response to 
Comments 9/4/200 I). This initiative continued to be mentioned in PEP documents through the 
1990's. 

The first mention of a Hoxie/Jackson descendant in this sequence of minutes came on April 5, 
1982: "Received a letter from Arlene Brown requesting residency on Reservation. Voted to send 
her a letter request ing proof of ancestry - form enclosed" (PEP Minutes 4/5/1982; PEP Response 
to Comments 9/4/~OOl, Ex. 63). Petitioner asserts that: 

After her house burned down in the 1970s, Arlene Brown took residence at 
Grasso Gadens, a retirement home. She was hospitalized before she sought to 
re-establish residence on the reservation in 1982. Reluctantly, however, the Tribe 
determined that her needs would be best attended to in a nursing home. For a 
month and a half, while they searched for a suitable facility, Arlene Jackson 
Brown lived with Agnes Cunha on the reservation. With her agreement, she 
joined her sister Rachel Crumb at the Groton Regency, where they spent the rest 
of their day;; and were often visited by members of the Tribe (Palma, On the 
Sebastian Assertions 9/4/2001, 6-7; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 

Palma cited no docllmentary (written or oral) evidence to support the above assertion. There is 
no evidence of it in the minutes, and it does not conform with the indication of the minutes that 
the only action taken by PEP was to ask her to provide proof of her ancestry, which was not a 

-----------
138From this p,)int onward, sequentially, the BIA researcher examined data from both "Meeting Minutes 

Vol. I" and "Meeting N inutes Vol. II" in chronological order. The material in "Meeting Minutes Vol. II" appears to 
have been the secretarys notes, not written into final foml. The notes have been utilized for dates when no formal 
minutes were submitted. 
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requirement of the 1976 CIAC decision in regard to persons who were "lawfully resident" on 
Lantern Hill as of fuly 1, 1973 (CIAC Special Meeting Minutes 9/15/1976). Indeed, the minutes 
imply that the position taken by PEP in 1976 was that the Hoxie/Jackson descendants had not 
been "lawfully" resident. 

The notes indicate,j that on March 17, 1982, "5. We voted to examine the number of houses 
occupied 'illegally'" (PEP Notes 3/17/82; PEP Response to Comments 9/412001, Ex. 63; for 
discussion of this initiative, see Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001, 34-36; PEP Response to 
Comments 9/4/20(11). On June l3, 1982, the meeting "Voted to send letters of expulsion to the 
following individuals and that they have 90 days from the date of the letter 7/23/82 to comply. 
a) Mrs. Josephine Wynn; b) Mrs. Anna Carpenter; c) Mr. Lawrence Sebastian, Mr. Howard 
Sebastian, Mr. Artmr Sebastian, Ms. Barbara Moore (Paul Spellman's sister); d) Miss Lillian 
Sebastian; e) Wm. & Idabelle Jordan (PEP Minutes 611311982; PEP Response to Comments 
9/4/2001, Ex. 63). This again indicates that as of 1982, the leadership antecedent to the current 
petitioner did not r;:gard itself as including the Hoxie/Jackson descendants, but rather was 
attempting to expe I Ms. Moore, as well as the Sebastians, from the Lantern Hill reservation. 
Similarly, the unde ted genealogical notes from Helen LeGault's journal (prepared about 1980 
from internal evidwce) included only descendants of Marlboro Gardner (LeGault Ledger c. 
1980; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 63). 

The minutes of July 18, 1982, referenced both "Eviction procedure for 'illegal' residents" and 
"Land held by persons who are non-Indians and who purchased sites in good faith" (PEP 
Minutes 711811982; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 63). There was no further 
definition of the lalter category. The same officers were retained in office. The minutes for 
September 5,1982 recorded approval of Chairman Ray Geer's application to reside on the 
reservation on the (omler Paul Spellman property and indicated that, "Sebastians continue to 
refusc to recognize the authority of the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Conn. regarding 
residency" (PEP M inUites 9/5/1982; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 63). PEP 
evaluates the eviction initiative as follows: "This evidence demonstrates the Paucatuck Eastern 
Pequot Tribe was exercising its sovereignty by protecting its land base from encroachment by 
non-tribal member!;" (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001, 34; PEP Response to Comments 
9/412001 ). 

A December 10, 1 S 82, meeting first mentioned a "land claim issue" and stated that the Native 
American Rights F md "recommend that we seek Federal Recognition" which was then passed 
unanimously (PEP Minutes 1211 011982; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/200 I, Ex. 63). It then 
noted: 

5) Sebastian Issue: There are several questions 
a) Who does the State recognize? 
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b) Was Tamer Brashel5 [illegible] or ?139 
c) What about the Gardner line? 

Don Levenson said at the CIAC meeting that the 1979 decision cannot be 
challenged" 

[ilegible], Larry Sebastian was asked ifhe wished to challenge 
Helen LeGault's seat on the CIAC. His reply was, "No, not at this time" 
(PEP Minltes 12/10/1982; PEP Response to Comments 914/2001, 
Ex. 63). [fo,otnote added] 

The chairman, Ray Geer, also requested Helen LeGault "to ask George Stone for an affidavit on 
Mary McKinney" (PEP Minutes 1211011982; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 63). On 
January 9, 1983, Helen LeGault announced that there would be a special CIAC meeting on 
January 22, 1983, "to review the new evidence which the Scbastians have." It was also recorded 
that, "Helen leGault was able to get an affidavit from George Stone on Mary McKinney Randall. 
However, he was reluctant to sign it; therefore it is signed' Anonymous '" (PEP Minutes 
11911983; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 63). The February and March meeting 
minutes did not address this issue (PEP Minutes 2/2011983, PEP Minutes March [illegible] 1983; 
PEP Response to Comments 9/412001, Ex. 63). 

At the April 1983 meeting, Helen LeGault requested to be relieved as CIAC representative; the 
group designated :{ichard Williams in her place (PEP Minutes April [illegible] 1983; PEP 
Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 63). On May 8, 1983, "Ray Geer reported that he and 
'Skip' Hayward had conversation relative to our recent problems with the Sebastians. 'Skip' 
said that a Jack C, mpeezie (sp?), a noted anthropologist and genealogist may be of some 
assistance to us" (lEP Minutes 5/8/1983; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 63).140 The 
minutes for the Ju: y 3" 1983, meeting did not address the CIAC hearing that had been scheduled 
for June 4 (PEP Minutes 7/3/1982; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 63). 

1391n the notes, undated but corresponding in content to this date, the line reads: "2. Tamer Brashel - blood 
line 50 % more" (PEP Notes n.d.; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 63). 

140Hayward tad tl!stified before the CIAC that Tamar (BrushelJ) Sebastian was not Indian (811 0/1976, 
CIAC hearing on merr bership in the Eastern Pequot Tribe of Connecticut 8/ I 0/1976; (# 113 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS 
II, Doc. 71). The To\\- ns referenced this testimony of Richard Hayward, Mashantucket Pequot, saying that his 
grandmother Elizabetr George; her mother and grandmother, asserted that Tamer Brushell was not Eastern Pequot, 
but West Indian (Lynch 1998,5:152). 

By contrast, in a 1988 interview, Kenneth Brown Congdon indicated that he regarded Hayward's ancestors, the 
Mashantucket George family (related to the Eastern Pequot Gardners through their maternal line) as "white" 
(Congdon Interview IO! 1988, [I)), but referred to Tamar (Brushell) Sebastian as a Pequot (Congdon Interview 
1011988 (Congdon Intl:rview I Oil 988, [6-7)). 
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The following sel of minutes, for July 17,1983,141 indicated the retention of the same officers 
and that: "Ted [no surname provided], one of the guests, spoke at length on the establishment of 
a tribe and the do~uments necessary. Jack Campisi spoke on Federal Recognition and Richard 
Dauphinais spoke on National Indian Rights Foundation" (Minutes 7/17/1983; PEP Response to 
Comments 9/4/2C01, Ex. 63). The September meeting discussed the CIAC hearing to be held on 
September 28 CP[P Minutes 9/23/1983; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 63). The 
October 16 meeti:1g indicated that Jack Campisi was working on the Sebastian genealogy and 
would pursue the Gardner genealogy at a later date, as well as referencing the land claim and 
other business issles (PEP Minutes 10/16/1983; PEP Response to Comments 914/2001, Ex. 63). 

On December 19,1983, [all members were given a copy of the Gardner geneology [sic] as 
compiled by Lind:! Rodgers" and "[t]he remainder of the meeting was spent discussing a reversal 
of the decision by the CIAC as to the membership issue of the Pequot Tribe. Those present 
voted unanimousl y to appeal this decision as the first step to be taken" (Minutes 12119/1983; 
PEP Response to '::omments 9/4/2001, Ex. 63). 

Most of the minutes DDr July 1, 1984, and August 27,1984, dealt with the residency application 
ofa PEP member, as did those for April 7, 1986 (PEP Minutes 7/1/1984; PEP Minutes 
8/2711984; PEP minutes 41711986; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 63). 

The next set of minutes, for November 25, 1984,142 indicated that, "Ray Geer then opened a 
discussion on the :;tatus of the tribe by stating that the December 3, 1983 decision stated only the 
qualification for membership is changed. At this point in time we have no seat on the CIAC 
because of our seat being challenged. A lengthy discussion of Tamer Brushel followed." The 
notes also indicated discussion of PEP's denial that the State had jurisdiction on the reservation 
(Minutes 11/2511984; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 63). 

An agenda distributed by Raymond A. Geer, with handwritten notes by Ruth Geer dated July 20, 
1986, indicated that of the six items of business, three dealt with the appeal of the CIAC's 1983 
membership decis: on, "3. Review of the research work done by Dr. Jack Campisi for the Native 
American Rights rund at my request concerning the Sebastian family's claim to membership,,,143 
and a "4. MotionlVote from Tribal Members which will direct the Tribal Council on how they 
are to pursue the Sebastian's [sic] claim to tribal membership" (Agenda 7/20/1986; PEP 
Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 63). The notes stated: "Re: #4 above: It was decided to 
have a committee I ook for more proof of the Sebastians' lineage. This was done by 2 of the 6 

141The various minutes are sequential, often on facing pages of the notebook, so it does not appear that the 
petitioner omitted to submit extant minutes for intervening meetings. 

142The corres xmding notes were dated Dec. 25, 1984 (PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 63). 

143Campisi, Jack. Memorandum to Richard Dauphinais re: Report on the Tribal Status of Tamar Brushel 
121111985. 
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volunteers. Proof of lineage remains dictatorial [sic] - conflicting - and proves nothing more 
than what we aln~ady had been told" (Meeting Notes 7/2/1986; PEP Response to Comments 
9/4/2001, Ex 63) For discussion of the accompanying memorandum from Richard Dauphinais 
to Raymond Gee', dated November 5, 1984, see below under criterion 83.7(d). While indicating 
that the petitioner had originally contacted the Native American Rights Fund (NARF) in regard 
to a land claim, most of it dealt with the membership controversy in regard to the Sebastians 
(Dauphinais to G eer 111511984; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 63). 

The notes dated January 4, 1987, read in their entirety as follows: 

Helen LeGault - Ray Geer - Ruth Geer 
Jim Williuns Agnes Cunha -

Rey Seb - Ashbow - William - Genevieve 
John Pe~1 - Shelley Jones - Winifred 
Jones - Dnvn Sebastian 

Introduction -­
Purpose -
Merger -

Suggestioll -
OLicial document stating that 2 groups are trying to work out problem. 

(PEP Notes 114/1987; PEP Response to Comments 914/2001). 

Petitioner specifically noted that Helen LeGault "participated in the 1987 meeting when 
Chairman Raymond Geer proposed a merger plan for the Tribe. She was a major force in 
objecting to that proposal" (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001, 25-26n 1 0). Raymond Geer 
resigned as PEP p ~esident in February 1987 after failure of this merger attempt. The 
submissions do net contain PEP minutes between February 1987 and February 1989. 144 

Petitioner states H,at, "[a]fter Raymond Geer, Jr. resigned as Tribal Chairperson, Helen LeGault 
encouraged Agne5 Cunha to step in as chairperson; .... At the next tribal election, in 1988, 
Agnes Cunha was elected Tribal Chairperson, and has been reelected in every Tribal 
Chariperson contest ever since" (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001,40; PEP Response to 
Comments 9/4/20(1). 

Another account S':Cltes, though not citing documentation or interviews, that there was a 
discussion of a merger proposal in 1987 at "Ray Geer's home. Political opposition from 
Paucatuck tribal eld.ers was so strong, that Chairman Geer didn not allow the issue to come to a 
vote. .. Tribal members present at this meeting included Beverly Kilpatrick, Hazel Geer 

144pEP Minues from February 5,1989, through January 5,1996, were submitted with the 1996 Response 
to T A letter (# 113 Pet. 1996, Supplemental Documentation); those from 1996 through the present were submitted in 
the PEP Comments on the proposed finding. 
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McVeigh, Linda ~;trange, Helen LeGault, Pat Brown, Ruth Geer, Agnes Cunha and James 
Williams, Sr. Other tribal members registered their opinion by telephone" (Examples of 
Misstatements in Petitioner #35's August 200 I Comments, 2; PEP Response to Comments 
9/4/200 I, Ex. 23) The account did not cite any specific sources, did not assign an exact date to 
this meeting, and probably overstresses the degree of negativism towards the proposal. It is 
unlikely that Geelwould have proceeded with a series of meetings and proposals over a 
sustained period c f time if there were not a significant amount of political support, even if not 
whole hearted. G ~er's account of the events indicated that the merger did have significant 
political support, however reluctant (BIA Interview, Raymond Geer). 

CIAC MembershiQ Hearings and Decisions: Connecticut Court Decisions and Legislation in 
Regard to Tribal ~1embership, 1976-1989. Between 1976 and 1983, the CIAC held a series of 
hearings that precl~ded its issuance of three decisions in regard to Eastern Pequot membership. 
The Towns have asserted that: "The transcripts of these CIAC hearings were not submitted to the 
BIA by either petitioner group, although they were readily accessible, most likely because they 
seriously undermile the acknowledgment claims" (Towns August 2001, 180). This is not tme, as 
indicated by the n levant portions of the consolidated documentary finding aid on petitions #35 
and # 113 which t~ e BIA prepared and furnished to the petitions and third and which listed the 
submissions of thfse hearing transcripts. 145 

The first hearing vias held on August 10, 1976. The CIAC issued a decision in September, but 
revised it after the filing of a lawsuit by the Sebastian group. The CIAC issued a final decision 
on November 8, 1976. The essential feature was that the CIAC required a 118 Eastern Pequot 
blood quantum for tribal membership, by descent from either Marlboro Gardner 146 or Tamar 

145Consolidaed list of submitted documentation: Petition #35, Petition #113, and CT FOIA 
Virginia DeMarce, be.~un 31 August 1998. Version 27 March 2000. 

In addition to the follcv~ing transcripts, the finding aid indicates that many associated documents were also 
submitted. 

811011 976 

1/18/l977 

9/28/1983 

1 O!l 51l 983 

Hearing Transcript. Connecticut Indian Affairs Council Hearing on Membership in the Eastern 
Pequot Tribe of Connecticut. August 10, 1976. Typescript. [Submitted by both petitioners and 
incltlded in the CT FOlA.] 
Hearing Transcript. Connecticut Indian Affairs Council Hearing on Membership in the Eastern 
PeqLOt Tribe of Connecticut. January 18, 1977. Typescript. [Submitted by both petitioners and 
inclt.ded in the CT FOlk] 
Conllecticut Indian Affairs Council. Paucatuck-Eastem Pequot Hearings. Hartford, Connecticut. 
Sept~mbc~r 28 th

, 1983. Typescript. [Submitted by #113 and included in the CT FOlk] 
Conllecticut Indian Affairs Council. Paucatuck-Eastem Pequot Hearings. Hartford, Connecticut. 
Octcber 15th

, 1983. [Submitted by both petitioners and included in the CT FOlk] 

146The ClAC based the blood quantum on the hypothesis that Marlboro Gardner was a full-blood Eastern 
Pequot because he appeared on the 1873 Eastern Pequot petition. His father was Narragansett, and Marlboro 
Gardner participated ir the 1880-1880 Narragansett detribalization proceedings (Report of Commissioners on 
Narragansett Indians 881, 71). 
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Brushel!. The CI A.C found that both were full blood Eastern Pequot, but did not address the 
issue of descent f'om Rachel Hoxie (Jackson family) (CIAC Minutes 911511976; CIAC Proposed 
Decision 9116119'76; CIAC Minutes 10/5/1976; CIAC Minutes 10/2011976; #113 Pet. 1996, 
HIST DOCS II, Doc. 71).147 

PEP now asserts that in the first half of the 1970's, the Jackson family was part of its antecedent 
group and was lee by Helen LeGault. The following action recorded in the CIAC minutes does 
not support PEP's contention, 

Di~cussion: No evidence was submitted by any party claiming 
membersh p in what is described in the State genealogies as the Jackson family. 

Arr.os George moved that no evidence was submitted by the descendants 
of Harry J c.ckson and Rachel Hoxie. It is the finding of this Council that the 
Jackson family, so descended, failed the burden of proof and are not recognized 
as memben of the Eastern Pequot tribe for the purposes of residing on the 
reservation and the selection of a representative to sit on the Indian Affairs 
Council. 

Thi:; decision does not affect the residence of those persons who lawfully 
resided on rhe Eastern Pequot reservation on July 1, 1973. Second. 

MOl ion carried: 5 in favor 1 abstention (Piper) (CIAC Special Meeting, 
15 Septemb{!r 1976. Minutes). 

There is no eviden(~(~ in the discussion that Helen (Edwards) LeGault in any way opposed this 
move to exclude aramily line, the Jacksons, which PEP now claims to have been, even then, 
politically a part of PEP. 

The focus of the ensuing CIAC hearings, decisions, and lawsuits was only on the Sebastian 
line's eligibility.148 In December 1976, Bertha F. Brown, Helen E. LeGault, and Byron A. 
Edwards filed a lawsuit in New London County, Connecticut, against the CIAC and the 
Sebastians. No members of the Hoxie/Jackson lineage (not even the descendants of Atwood I. 

----------------------
147See also: Dccuments relating to ClAC Eastern Pequot hearing 6/l 4/l 976 - 817/1976; CIAC List of 

Exhibits, Hearing of the Easltern Pequot Indians of Conn. 811 011976; CIAC Hearing Transcript. CIAC hearing on 
membership in the Eastern Pequot Tribe of Connecticut 811 011 976 (# 1 13 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS II, Doc. 71). 

1480n Septemb ~r 15, 1976, an attorney representing the PEP antecedents wrote to the attorney representing 
the EP antecedents that: "Mrs. LeGault has given me a 'Notice of membership Meeting' ... enclosing a copy of the 
Appeal ... We do not in any respect recognize any lineal descendants of Tamer Brushel Sebastian as being Eastern 
Pequot Indians nor do we recognize any authority or right for them or for you as their attorney to hold a tribal 
membership meeting to establish an official tribal rule or adopt by-laws for the Eastern Pequot Indians of 
Connecticut" (Wilson to Shasha 91151 1976; PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 2). 
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Williams who w~re also Gardner descendants) were named as parties to this suit. 149 Apparently 
in response to th s lawsuit, 150 on December 7, 1976, the CIAC filed notice of a new Eastern 
Pequot hearing to be held January 18, 1977. On April 14, 1977, the CIAC issued a second 
decision, which continued the prior finding that Marlboro Gardner was a full-blood Eastern 
Pequot, but found that Tamar (8rushell) Sebastian was only one/half Eastern Pequot. lSI This 
decision did not address the membership qualifications of the Hoxie/Jackson lineage, which had 
been excluded from eligibility in a prior CIAC proceeding (see above). 

PEP notes that in September 1982, CIAC again took up the issue of membership eligibility: 152 

Apparently, Larry Sebastian had been scheduled for removal from the 
memberstip list maintained by the CIAC by October 23, 1982. At the regular 
Septembe - 1982 CIAC meeting, the CIAC requested that the Paucatuck Eastern 
Pequot Tr~be provide Mr. Sebastian with a 60-day extension before excluding him 
from the nembership list. The CIAC requested that the Paucatuck Eastern 
Pequot Tr be provide the grounds for denying the Sebastians membership in the 
Tribe ... (Austin, Political Authority 9/412001, 34-35; PEP Response to 
Comment~: 9/4/2001). 

PEP argues that tLese procedures show the "complete separateness of the Paucatuck Eastern 
Pequot Tribe and :he Sebastian family" and that the Sebastians did not vote in PEP elections or 
sit on the PEP tribal council "contradicts the claims of the Sebastian family that the Paucatuck 
Eastern Pequot Tribe and the Sebastians are factions of a single tribe. Mr. Sebastian was not 
being selected penonally, but was being evicted from the Reservation because he was not a 

149 
Bertha (Ec wards) Brown was not related to Arlene (Jackson) Brown. Bertha Brown and Byron 

Edwards were sister a1d brother of Mrs. LeGault. 

150"Mrs. LeGeault [sic] filed suit in December, charging the first council decision, ruling Tamar 
"Bruschel" [sic] was an Indian, was based on insufficient evidence and was improperly made. .. Mrs. LeGeault 
said the ruling was illegal since it was not made by the majority of the full membership of the Council. The 
attorney general, in an informal opinion, agreed with Mrs. LeGeault's last charge and recommended the council 
conduct another public hearing and go through its procedures a second time" (Tribe Membership Requirements 
Deliberations Will Be!:in March 1 [newspaper article hand-identified NB [Norwich Bulletin] 2/2/1977; # 113 Pet. 
1994 A-6). 

151"Brenden KI~leher, the Indian Affairs coordinator the Department of Environmental Protection, said 
Friday the councilors tad no explanation attached to their decision on why they changed their minds about Mrs. 
Bruschel [sic). 'They just wanted to put it simply,' he said. The chairman of the council, Irving Harris, could not 
be reach for comment Friday night" (Indian Council's Ruling Dampens Heirs' Claims [unidentified, undated 
newspaper article]; #113 Pet. 1994 A-6). 

I52 PEP contends that, "No Sebastians who applied membership [sic], formally or informally, were ever 
rejected" (Austin, Politic:al Authority 9/4/2001, 34n12; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). This assertion is not 
fully congruent with th,! narTative in regard to CIAC and the Larry Sebastian proceedings in 1982. 
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tribal member" (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001,35; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001).153 

The third CIAC decision issued on December 3, 1983, stated that, " ... it is not reasonable to assume that a onl~··eighth blood quota is a valid single criterion in the Eastern Paucatuck tribe," and said that add'ltional criteria should include evidence that an individual's family was 
historically accepted in the Eastern Paucatuck Pequot tribe or other tribes that had a historical relationship with it. It also declared the Eastern Pequot seat on the CIAC vacant until a 
government could be established that included the "whole tribe" (CIAC Eastern Paucatuck Pequot Decision 12/3/1983; PEP Response to Comments 9/412001, Ex. 40).154 News coverage at the time of the 1983 CIAC decision focused on its impact only upon the Gardner and Sebastian family lineages (with no reference to Hoxie/Jackson, Fagins/Watson, or Fagins/Randall), 155 as 
did the ensuing lawsuit against the CIAC filed by PEp l56 and a further CIAC procedure of 
December 3, 198\ and January 13, 1986, which led to the failed merger attempt of January and February 1987 (fcll' discussion, see PEP PF 2000,142-147).157 

Petitioner # 113 a5 serts: 

While viewed as unfair by the CIAC in 1983, the fact that the Sebastians had not 
been allo\\, ed to vote on the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot tribal constitution and by­
laws was consistent with Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe's historical practices of 
not recognizing the Sebastians as tribal members. It was also consistent with the 
decisions cf the CIAC for the preceding ten years. In 1989, the CIAC and the 

153 Another P f:P submission was aimed at the argumentation submitted by petitioner #35 (Palma, On the Sebastian Assertions c f Factionalism 9/4/200 I; PEP Response to Comments 9/412001), 

154pEP raises the issue of the broader "color" politics on the CIAC and among the various Connecticut tribes, attributing changes in 1983 as a result of the chairmanship of Stilson Sands and the opposition to PEP of Kenneth Piper (Austin, Political Authority and Leadership 9/4/2001, 36-38; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001) rather than court actioJls of the Sebastians forcing CIAC's hand. 

155Regarding the dispute as to who may live on the Lantern Hill reservation. a newspaper reported that, "The Connecticut Indian Council has ruled that the [Gardner and Sebastian] families should join forces, fonning one tribe which will be known as the Eastern Paucatuck Pequot tribe. The council's decision gives both families full tribal membership and calls for the construction of a new tribal government." . .. "The investigation took a year and a half to complete" (McDonald, Maureen. Peace Made in Pequot Clan Feud; hand-identified and hand­dated Norwich Bulletin 12/i16/1983; #113 Pet. 1994 A-6). 

156Paucatuck Eastem Pequot Indians of Connecticut v. Connecticut Indian Affairs Council. Appeal from Indian Affairs Council. New London Judicial District. Superior Court 12/23/1983. 

1570n March 28, 1989, a Connecticut Appellate Court found that the CIAC did not have the jurisdiction to decide the qualification, of individuals entitled to be Indians (Connecticut, State of. Appellate Court. 18 Conn.App.4. Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut v. Connecticut Indian Affairs Council. No. 6292. Argued Jan. 17, 1989. )ecided March 28, 1989. Cite as 555 A.2d 1003 (Conn.App. 1989». 
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Attorney General acknowledged that the 1983 action of the CIAC was improper, 
as is discussed below (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001, 37; PEP Response to 
Comments 9/4/2001). 

In the matter of "improper," PEP states subsequently: 

On January 5, 1990, the Connecticut Attorney General filed a brief on behalf of 
the CIAC with the Superior Court for Hartford and New Britain as part of that 
Court's fnrther proceedings in the Paucatuck case. 

In the brid, the Attorney General stated that the CIAC now conceded that it had 
acted improperly in reaching the December 3, 1983 decision to vacate the 
Paucatud Eastern Pequot Tribe's seat on the CIAC. The Attorney General urged 
the Supenor Court to sustain the Tribe's appeal because the CIAC did not have 
the factua I basis for its 1983 action and had not provided the Tribe with proper 
notice ane an opportunity to present evidence (Austin, Political Authority 
9/4/2001, 42; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 

Petitioner states that: 

The Tribe's prosecution of its appeal of the December 1983 CIAC decision 
demonstrates the Tribe's tenacity. It pursued its legal action to detennine 
Reservation rights and tribal membership for seven years in the face of changing 
tribal leadership and through appeals to several courts. This is an indication of 
how stron§ly the tribe has continuously felt about these issues for over 100 years 
(Austin, PCllitieal Leadership 9/4/2001,43; PEP Response to Comments 
9/4/2001). 

Essentially, the 19)0 clecision (Memorandum of Decision. DN 2906l7. Paucatuck Eastern 
Pequot Indians of Connecticut vs. Connecticut Indian Affairs Council 1 O/24/l990) declared that 
the 1989 legislati01 had rendered the whole fight moot, as PEP itself indicates: "Judge Hale 
concluded that the 1989 amendments to the CIAC statute rendered the Paucatuck Appeal moot 
because the CIAC ::ould not grant any practical relief in the event that the appeal was sustained" 
(Austin, Political P.uthority 9/412001, 43; citing Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians ~f 
Connecticut v. Connecticut Indian Affairs Council, No. CV 84-02906175; PEP Comments 
8/2/2001, Ex. 60). It did not have the effect of, as PEP asserts, "restoring the status quo which 
had existed prior to December 3, 1983" (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001, 43). The 1990 
decision was not the end of the matter (Memorandum of Decision. DN CV 92 09522833S. 
Paucatuck Eastern :)equot Indians of Connecticut v. Weicker, Lowell, Governor State of 
Connecticut. Judicial district of New London at New London. Superior Court 3/1/1993). 

Petitioner notes tha: "Raymond Geer, Ruth Bassetti (who appeared for Helen LeGault) and 
Agnes Cunha from the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe" testified on March 20, 1989, before the 
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Environment Comm:ittee of the State Assembly at a hearing on HB. 7479, which would 
subsequently be : mplemented as Public Act 89-363, while there was "no participation in the 
hearing from the Sebastians" (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001, 41; PEP Response to 
Comments 9/4/2001 Jr. 

While a 1989 inkrview with Helen LeGault focused on the Sebastian issue, she was still 
maintaining that ,)nly her own family, i.e. the Gardner descendants, had a right to reside on the 
Lantern Hill rese:'vation: LeGault said, "My family is the only legal Indian family that can live 
on the reservatioll. We have documented proof that we are native American Indians. But now 
we have squatten: on our reservation who claim that they are Pequots." (Tomaszewski, Lea, 
Portland Powwow Airs Indians' Woes, History. Newspaper article, hand-identified, hand-dated, 
The Middletown ,~ress 8/26/1989; #113 Pet. 1994, A-6). 

1989-Present. The proposed finding stated: 

1987 to the Present. The petition does not provide a discussion of the political 
processes in the group as it exists today, beyond the recitation of the events in the 
conflicts \vith the Eastern Pequot and dealings with the CIAC. There is no 
presentation of how the council and leadership have functioned in relation to the 
memberst ip, what functions they have carried out and how they may have 
responded to the opinions of the membership. The petitioner did submit a 
substantia i number of minutes of meetings, but with no accompanying analysis or 
summary I)f these (PEP PF 2000, 150). 

Under the Februa:-y 2000 Directive, no analysis was made of this body of documents for the 
proposed finding, because the Directive stated that the BIA would not do extensive analyses of 
data submitted but not analyzed. This material, along with additional minutes, has been utilized 
for the final detennination (see below). 

There is s(lme current tendency for political alignments within PEP to follow the 
division bdween the two Gardner sublines. This, with further data and analysis, 
could pro\< ide evidence to show significant political processes within the 
petitioning group by demonstrating that issues dealt with are of importance to the 
membership and that there is substantial political communication among 
members in connection with these. A limited analysis of BIA interview materials 
indicates that the petitioner may be able to establish that there is substantial 
political communication between the membership and the leadership. The 
petitioner also has documentation which might make it possible for it to evaluate 
the extent I)f membership participation in the political processes of the group 
(PEP PF 21)00, 150). 

Much of tt e PEP petition's discussion of and documentation about events 
between the 1970's and the present describes events but does not show how the 
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individual:; acting in the name of the group got their position and whether they 
were respclnding to the membership. It is to a significant degree, a recording of 
events extl~l11al to the group, rather than the internal events which would show 
political in fluence and processes. Because the leaders are dealing with outside 
authorities on matters which may be of consequence to the membership (see 
definition I)f political influence in 83.1) it would not take extensive evidence to 
show that 1 he named leaders are acting with the knowledge and approval of 
members. ?F ]l40 (PEP PF 2000, 141) 

PEP' Comments stated: 

Members clf these family groups know and gossip about each other, allowing for 
informal social and political control. When there are tribal elections, or there is 
conflict wi thin the tribe, members of these family lines sometimes form alliances 
with memt'ers of other family lines, forming factions that are an important part of 
the tribe's :)oliticallife (Austin II 8/2/2001, 20; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 

The tribal council meets monthly. The monthly council meetings are open to all 
members. The members usually come to the meetings with some time to spare so 
that they cal catch up on gossip from other members. While attendance at the 
meetings te nds to be relatively small, in terms of percentage of overall adult 
membership, participation is high. At the three monthly council meetings 
attended by the anthropologist (August, September, and October 1999), about 12 
members \\ ere present on average, including the council. This is approximately 
14 percent )fthe adult membership (12 of84 adult members). The meetings 
usually entail lively discussions of both social and political interest. The 
members \\ ho come to the meetings seem well-informed on the issues. As 
already discussed, annual meetings are also held, and the participation at those 
meetings is much higher. The annual meetings are both social and political 
events (Aw:tin II 8/2/2001, 39; PEP Comments 8/2/2001) 

The PEP report do(~s not cite to specific interview or other data for these conclusions. 

The State commen's concerning political influence within the present-day PEP are primarily 
quotes of statemems by PEP leaders that attendance at council meetings by members was often 
sparse, that council meetings in some periods were closed and that information on attendance at 
annual meetings was limited (State a/Connecticut August 2001, Appendix 19-20). 

Developments as R~f1ected in PEP Minutes, 1989-1993. In February 1989, the PEP chairperson 
was Agnes Cunha. 

The petitioner asserts t!hat when Pat Brown, Helen LeGault's sister, at some time between 1989 
and 1993 wrote to the AS-IA requesting that "she and her relatives 'be formally recognized, 
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pursuant to the Ir1dian Reorganization Act of 1934, as a community of half-bloods, and that our 
Reservation be taken into trust by the United States for our benefit' ," she did this as a "tribal 
elder and leader" and that this was "an issue that was oflongstanding importance to Paucatuck 
Eastern Pequot Tribe members, the removal of the Sebastian family from the Lantern Hill 
Reservation." PEP indicates that as a fonner BrA employee, Ms. Brown knew about the IRA 
"and the possibility of organizing as a community of half-bloods under its provisions" (Austin, 
Political Authority 9/4/2001, 40; Brown to Brown n.d.; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, 
Ex. 27). PEP's argumentation fails, however, to point out that of the PEP membership at the 
time, only the writer of the letter and her brother (possibly also her sister if the letter was written 
before April 13, 1990), thus two or three individuals out of approximately 144 PEP members 158 

were "half-blood" and that the remainder of "her relatives" did not meet the prerequisite for such 
an organization. 

The PEP Tribal Meeting minutes of February 5, 1989, the first set in the record since February 
1987, noted that members of the council 159 were to get lists of tribal members "or to keep lists 
where they are centraly [sic] located and easy to get at a request" and "a need for a tribal 
genealogy." This meeting adopted several amendments to the membership by-laws, discussed 
the activities of Connecticut's American Indian Task Force, discussed various financial 

158pEP stated that there were about 100 total members, including adults and chi Idren, in 1987 and are now 
153 (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/200 I, 39; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). This does not accord with 
the count from the membership list submitted for the final determination. 

159The officers ekcted at this meeting were: Agnes Cunha, Chairman; Lisa Parker, Vice Chairman; James 
Cunha, Secretary; Ruth G~,er and James Cunha, Treasurer. Ruth Bassetti, the newly accepted member, was 
designated as CIAC n presentative, with Agnes Cunha as alternate. At the July 30, 1989, meeting, James Williams 
was appointed Chief ill place of the late Atwood Williams Ill; Beverly Kilpatrick was "placed on the Tribal 
Council. She will be, life time member" (PEP Minutes 7/3011989; # 113 Response 1996, Supplemental 
Documentation). 

The notes for the same date indicated that when a vacancy occurred in the PEP Elders, the annual meeting 
would elect a replacement who would serve in such position for life (PEP Meeting Notes 7/3011989; #113 Pet. 
1996, Supplemental 0 )curnentation). This procedure was modified February 28, 1991, by a "motion to have elders 
earn their life time positions on tribal council" (PEP Meeting Notes 2/28/1991; #113 PET 1996, Supplemental 
Documentation. 

From 1989 th ~()ugh 1991, non-Indian spouses voted in PEP meetings and, one served at least temporarily 
as secretary. As of 19(1:1, all elected officers were from the Gardner/Williams Lineage (Agnes Cunha, Chairperson 
and CIAC Representat ve; Chris Cunha, Vice-Chair; Jim Cunha, Secretary and Treasurer; Jim Williams. Alternate 
CIAC Representative) ~PEP Meeting Notes 7/2111991; #113 Pet. 1996, Supplemental Documentation) 

The specific notation that the governing document had been changed to eliminate voting by associate 
members "per B1A" appeared in the annual meeting minutes of July 18, 1993 (PEP Minutes 7fl81l993; #113 Pet. 
1996, Supplemental documentation). 
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transactions, and admitted a non-Eastern Pequot individual to membership (PEP Minutes 
2/5/1989; # 113 Pe .. 1996, Supplemental Documentation). 160 

The move to include Hoxie/Jackson (non-Gardner) descendants in the organization appears to 
have been developing in late 1989 (PEP submitted no membership lists between that of 1981 and 
that of 1992). The meeting notes for November I, 1989, in addition to the continuing 
controversy with the Sebastians over the CIAC seat and about the Brushell genealogy,161 referred 
to "Spellman will come at our request about Sebastians; Ron Jackson not related to Browns or 
Spellmans; Arlene Brown to verify legally" (PEP Meeting Notes 111111989; # 113 Pet. 1996, 
Supplemental Doc Jmentation). However, it was not until the August 9, 1990, meeting that the 
notes indicated: "Jlckson & Spellman. Contack Desendents [sic]. See if they want to 
participate. Find them and get them involved" (PEP Meeting Notes 8/9/1990; # 113 Pet. 1996, 
Supplemental Doc Jmc:ntation).162 On December 27, 1990, the minutes listed two members of 
the Jackson family as potentially eligible for tribal housing (PEP Meeting Notes 12/27/1990; 
# 113 Pet. 1996, Supplemental Documentation). On January 3, 1991, Harold Jackson was elected 
to a one-year term as a commissioner of the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Housing Authority. The 
same meeting had :1 "motion to remove Ashbow from Spellmans house" (PEP Meeting Notes 
11311991; # 113 Pet. 1996, Supplemental Documentation). On February 28, 1991, a motion was 
made to "have Sebastians removed from tax exempt at town hall with the new law" (PEP 
Meeting Notes 2/2 ~! 1991; # 113 Pet. 1996, Supplemental Documentation). 

The minutes for July 26,1992, had a follow up of the issue of the Spellman house: "Ray asked 
about Ashbow. Di5cussed how he received permission through B.S. More" [sic] (PEP Minutes 
7/2611992; # 113 p(~t. 1996, Supplementary Documentation). The same meeting indicated that a 
"Group of people from Mashtuckets. Wanted us to merge. No merging - trouble there" (PEP 
Minutes 7/26/1992; # 113 Pet. 1996, Supplementary Documentation). 163 

160The PEP IT inutt~s from 1989 through July 1993 were not in completely chronological order; some were 
meeting notes rather than adopted minutes; some pages were undated (# 113 Pet. 1996. Supplemental 
Documentation ). 

161These therr es continue throughout this sequence of minutes and meeting notes, as does discussion of 
finances (business acti'lities, grants, pow wows, etc.) and Federal acknowledgment. For example, September 28, 
1992, "Working with D.E.I'. to get our seat back. D.E.P. Backing us on Reservatlon. Stop electricity coming into 
Sebastians .... Tamar Brushell found in library as Black servent" (PEP Minutes 9/2811992; # 113 Pet. 1996, 
Supplementary Documentation). 

162Helen LeG mIt died in May 1990 (Helen LeGault, 82. Served on Indian council [unidentified 
newspaper obituary]; # 113 Pet. 1994, A-6). The first PEP membership list which included Hoxie/Jackson 
descendants who were not also Gardner descendants was dated 1992, after her death (see discussion in PEP PF 
2000, criterion 83.7(e). 

163New Officers: Agnes Cunha, Chainnan; Brenda Geer, Vice Chairman; Jim Cunha, Treasurer; Jeanie 
Potter, Secretary; Jim Cunha, CIAC Representative; Agnes Cunha, Alternate CIAC Representative. 
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These meeting nctes continued to be rather cryptic. For example, on August 27, 1992, the 
minutes indicated: 

Court cast:. 
State ofCt wants case dismissed. They have sovgn amunity [sic]. 
Sebastian~, want it dismissed because they are the recognized tribe, and we are the 
outsiders. 
Now it call be told - Letter to Geraldo about our situation. 
Letter to J :lck Kemp and President Bush 

Take on Weicker - he doesnt want gaming lets try that approach. 
Mashentikets, Narragansetts used Silver Star to gain federal acknowledgment, 
we are going to use it in our favor (PEP Minutes 8/27/1992; # 113 Pet. 1996, 
Supplemental Documentation). 

There is no evidence :in BIA files that either the Mashantucket Pequot or Narragansett tribes 
"used Silver Star 10 gain federal acknowledgment." 

The minutes for January 28, 1993, were accompanied by a one-age list of "OPTIONS 
w/Sebastian Stitwltio"[sic], which included such possibilities under "2) Deal with State" as "Get 
diff. Land base (Reservation ... Make Sebastion 6th Indian Tribe, give them our land base, give 
up Title 3 Gaming, give up land claim for Cash Settlement .... " (PEP Minutes 1128/1993; #113 
Pet. 1996, Supplemental Documentation). The "motion to go into gaming Industry" was passed 
on April 15, 1993 (PEP Minutes 411511993; #113 Pet. 1996, Supplemental Documentation). At 
the tribal meeting of July 18, 1993, Mildred (Spellman) Jones was elected to the tribal council­
the first non-Gardner descendant to fill such a role in PEP or its antecedent organizations since 
1973 (PEP Minutes 7/18/1993; #113 Pet. 1996, Supplementary Documentation). 164 She ceased 
attending council meetings in the spring of 1998 (PEP Minutes 5/2811998; last attendance signed 
in on March 26, 1 (198; PEP Comments 8/4/2001, Ex. 94). 

Developments as Reflected in PEP Minutes, 1996-200 l.165 No significant new themes appeared 
in the minutes for this period, although they were kept in much greater detail. 

The PEP Comments and Response to Comments do not attempt to quantify extent of political 
participation. Bec lUse the total number of adults is so small (82 as calculated by PEP; Austin, 
Political Authority 9/4/2001, 11; PEP Response to Comments 9/412001), rates of participation 
were not calculated here. As far as participation per se, officers and meeting participants are 

I64After this meeting, the 1996 petition submission contained attendance lists through 1996, but no minutes 
or meeting notes (# 11:1 Pet. 1996, Supplementary Documentation), 

165The next s·:quence of minutes (formal, typed minutes) covers from January 21,1996, through April26, 
200 I (PEP Comments 8/2/200 I, Ex. 94). 
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drawn almost entirely from the two Gardner branches. The Atwood Williams, Jr., and Hazel 
(Edwards) Geer slbbranches are represented by numerous individuals who were officers, 
committee membl~rs, or visible in council meetings. 

The Town notes occasional mentions in the PEP interviews of "little membership interest" 
(Towns August 2UDI, 289). These references are not good evidence of a lack of interest, given 
that small organizations often have trouble getting unpaid positions filled, regardless of the level 
of interest. 

The PEP response also states that, "[a]s already discussed, annual meetings are also held, and the 
participation at those meetings is much higher. The annual meetings are both social and political 
events" (Austin II 8/2/200 1,40; PEP Comments 8/2/200 I). Additional data specifically about 
annual meetings was not cited or described. The proposed finding indicated that annual 
meetings might bE a useful additional area to analyze. A limited review of signup sheets for the 
annual meetings illdicatcs attcndance by members is substantially higher than for the average 
council meeting, t LIt but BIA did not prepare a quantification of this. There was no substantial 
data about the activities at annual meetings which might provide evidence concerning 
community or poL tical influence. 

Political Issues. The same issues that are described for the post-1930 historical period are 
described by the PEP Comments for 1976 to the present, namely access to the reservation and 
rejection of the Sebastians as Pequots. 

Conflicts. PEP did not respond to the proposed finding's suggestion that internal conflicts be 
examined for evid'~nce of political processes (PEP PF 2000, 120, 150), other than in brief 
comments in one report (Austin, get cite; PEP Comments 81212001). An analysis of the 
available data pro"ides two examples which support the petitioner's general statements of 
internal divisions ,md conflicts within the PEP membership in the modem era. This evidence is 
the best evidence that political alignments occur within the membership that go beyond the 
immediate leaders active in them, as well as there being political issues of significance. 

One example is a J,olitical conflict in 1996 led by one of the Geer portion of the Edwards, Jeffrey 
Tingley (Tingley 1999). Allied with him was the Linda Strange, also a Geer, who had been the 
first chairman of the organzation. The interview descriptions of the events indicate that there 
was a conflict in which the supporters divided more or less along family lines. A council 
member, a Geer, tbat sided with the Williams on this matter said she felt like an outcast from her 
relatives because of the antagonism from what she called "her side" (Kilpatrick 1999). The 
conflict revolved ill part at least around concerns with how the organization was being mh, as 
well as possibly some of its immediate goals, and whether its affairs were sufficiently open to 
the scmtiny of members. One result is a continued practice of reviewing practically every piece 
of correspondence and e-mail in council meetings, which are open all members to attend (and 
which, at least fron 1996 to the present, were attended by 4 or 5 members at a given meeting). 
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There are probat Iy additional issues to this conflict that a more complete investigation could 
have uncovered. 

The descriptions of the political sides taken within PEP in regard to Ray Geer's working with EP 
in late 1986 and I~arly 1987 also indicate that sentiment was mobilized beyond the immediate 
leaders, as well as being an issue of significance. The interview description by then chairman 
Raymond Geer s',ates his calculation of the political possibilities of gaining approval if the issue 
had been put to a vote. He stated that he and Richard Williams, with whom he had a personal 
friendship, raised th(~ issue with William Sebastian. He stated that probably half the 
membership would have left if it had gone through. He indicated that he would have had the 
strongest support on the Geer side, but that members of the Gardner/Williams family were 
mostly against it, along with, not surprisingly, Helen LeGault and Pat Brown, who were his great 
aunts (Raymond Geer 1999). This evidence is useful because it is in conflicts that the structure 
of an organizatioll tends to become clear. 

Analysis of PEP l~Ig!lment Concerning a Single Historical Eastern Pequot Tribe Which Did Not 
Include the Sebas0an~. The conclusion of the proposed finding is affirmed in so far as it 
concluded that th(~re \,vas a historical Eastern Pequot tribe that continued to have political 
influence or auth(,rity over its members during the colonial period. However, there is no 
evidence that this influence or authority extended to the petitioner's major antecedent family 
line, Gardner/Whl:I:.:ler, during that time period, since no named, identified, ancestors of that 
family appear in he Eastern Pequot records for the colonial period. 

The conclusion ofthe proposed finding is affirmed in so far as it concluded that there was, from 
the American Revolution to 1872, a historical Eastern Pequot tribe that continued to exercise 
political influence within the tribe and among its members. However, there is no evidence for 
this time period that the Gardner family, ancestors of the largest PEP antecedent lines, were 
taking part in the tribe's activities. Therefore, although the Hoxie/Jackson family was taking 
part, there is no e\ idence that the direct antecedents of the current PEP membership exercised 
such influence or authority over a subgroup made up of their members, as distinct from the 
larger entity of the Eastern Pequot tribe, which also comprised the antecedents of petitioner #35. 

The documents fre'ill the period 1873-1883 show antecedents of petitioner #113 (Gardner and 
Hoxie/Jackson) listed or signing together with antecedents of petitioner #35 (Brushell/Sebastian, 
Fagins/ Randall Fc:gins/Watson), the antecedents of both modem groups appearing in the same 
documents as other Eastern Pequot families. The proposed finding is affirmed in concluding that 
these documents p:ovide evidence of political influence or authority within the historical Eastern 
Pequot tribe as a \\ hole. However, these documents do not provide evidence of political 
leadership or inflw!nc{! within a separate, delimited group made up solely of PEP ancestors. In 
the documents for this decade, and prior periods, the ancestors of PEP's current members either 
do not appear at at or appear only as part of a larger entity that included the antecedents of 
petitioner #35 and well as other members of the historical Eastern Pequot tribe. 
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There is no contenporary documentation in regard to leadership within a distinct group 
antecedent to PEP and comprising the Gardner and Hoxie/Jackson lineages for the period 1884-
1929. The intervic~w evidence indicated that there was some leadership within these two 
lineages, but is no' sufficient to detennine that this reached the level of tribal leadership, 
particularly when State documents of the period define the historical Eastern Pequot tribe as also 
encompassing the antecedents of petitioner #35. Additionally, there is only minimal evidence 
that during this period the lineages antecedent to PEP, namely Gardner and Hoxie/Jackson, acted 
cooperatively in allY political arenas. Thus, the evidence for this period does not show that PEP, 
as distinct from the entire Eastern Pequot tribe, meets criterion 83. 7( c). 

As of the late 192('s through the 1930's, the activities of Atwood I. Williams, and his recognition 
as chief of the Easl em Pequot tribe by the New London County Superior Court, provide some 
data in regard to the exercise of political influence and authority. Williams's activities appear to 
have diminished th roughout the second half of the 1930's. 

From 1929 to the Fesent, there is evidence that there was a group within the Eastern Pequot 
tribe which defined itself by opposition to the presence of the BrushelllSebastian descendants on 
the Lantern Hill re!;ervation. It is not clear from the evidence, however, that this group, 
throughout much of thl;! period, comprised the family lines that today make up PEP. It did, 
throughout almost :111 of the period, include prominent members of the Gardner/Edwards and 
Gardner/Williams i ineages but did not clearly include the Jacksons. 

The limited evidenl~e that does exist for 1941 to 1973 in regard to the activities of Atwood 1. 
Williams and Helen LeGault shows that from 1929 to 1955 and from 1991 to the present, the 
leadership of AtwoJd Williams, Sr. and Agnes Cunha has encompassed members of the 
Hoxiel1ackson line 1ge who were not also Gardner descendants. In 1954, additionally, the Office 
of the Commission'~r of Welfare recorded that an applicant to reside on the Eastern Pequot 
reservation must or,tain authorization or pennission from Williams, ratifying the appointment 
that the Superior Court for New London County had made in 1933. It is not clear, however, that 
in the 1950's and 1960's, the activities of Helen LeGault represented any supporters. 

For a significant period, however, from 1955 through 1990, there is no evidence that Helen 
LeGault provided kadership for the Hoxie/Jackson subgroup and there is significant evidence 
that she excluded tt em from membership in PEP's antecedent organizations. From 1973 
through 1989, although there was political activity among the Gardner/Edwards and Williams 
(Hoxie/Jackson-Gardm:r) descendants in organizations antecedent to petitioner #113, it is not 
clear throughout most of this period, certainly from 1973 through 1982, that these groups 
encompassed both tbe family lines now asserted to be antecedent to petitioner # 113. 

The evidence does 1I0t indicate that PEP and its antecedents exercised political influence or 
authority over its m~mbers, as an entity distinct from the historical Eastern Pequot tribe, from 
historical times to the present. 
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Conclusion. See conclusory section of this document. 

83.7(d) A copy ofthe group's present governing document, 
including its membership criteria. In the absence 
of a written document, the petitioner must provide 
a statement describing in full its membership 
criteria and current governing procedures. 

The proposed finding stated: 

The petitioner has submitted its Articles of Government, dated July 18, 1993 
(Articles cf Government of the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indian Tribe of the 
Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indian Reservation 1993; #113 Pet. 1994, Narr. Ex.). 
Article II of this document contains a statement on membership eligibility. 

The 1993 constitution was not separately certified as the current governing 
document ::>f the petitioner by the governing body. However, the governing body 
of#l13 did certify the petition as a whole (Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indian 
Tribal Nat on, Resolution 2/24/1996). In the absence of any more recent 
governing document in the submission, and in light of the background material 
submitted ror the 1993 Articles of Government in the 1996 Response, the BIA has 
made the assumption that they are the current governing document of the 
petitioner (PEP PF 2000, 121). 

The Towns, alleghg "irregularities" in the proposed finding, asserted that the BIA did not 
provide a summation of the petitioner's eligibility requirements in either the Summary under the 
Criteria for the prcposed finding or in the Federal Register notice (Towns August 2001,314, 
372). The Summary and the Federal Register notice contained only the information that these 
documents had be<:n submitted in accordance with the requirements of criterion 83.7(d) (PEP PF 
2000, 121; 65 FR, 7298). However, the charts for criterion 83.7(d) that accompanied the 
proposed finding contained the information on the current eligibility requirements (PEP PF 
Chart 83.7(d», cOTltaining the following two statements: 

Articles of Government, July 18, 1993, Article II, Membership. This consists of 
eight sections, covering eligibility, the filing of membership applications, review 
of memben.hip applications, burden of proof, handling of applications for 
residency on the reservation, dual enrollment, and relinquishing membership. 

The basic eligibility consists of: (1) all persons whose names appear on the 
Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indian Tribal Roll as of August 20, 1981, and their 
descendant:.; (2) all persons who prove that they are of one eighth (118) according 
to Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indian law. 
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The membership criteria do not provide a definition of "Paucatuck Eastern Pequot 
Indian law" nor does any other portion of the governing document (PEP PF 
2000, Chart (d». 

The Towns receivl~d a copy of the PEP governing document through FOrA. Additionally, the 
Towns were furni~ hed with a copy of the draft technical report on PEP prepared by a BIA staff 
member, of which section VIII. #113 PAUCATUCK EASTERN PEQUOT GOVERNING 
DOCUMENTS, E~IROLLMENT ORDINANCES, AND MEMBERSHIP LISTS, comprising 
pages 120-145, induded the current enrollment provisions on pages 133-134. Thus, the Towns 
had the document itself and the BIA's analysis of it. 

The April 6, 1976, Articles of Incorporation for The Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut, Inc. 
(predecessor group of PEP) provided: 

Persons de;iring to become a member of the Eastern Pequot Tribe of Indians shall 
submit to the Tribe an application for membership accompanied by a birth 
certificate and legal proof that he or she is directly related to an Eastern Pequot 
Indian and that said applicant is at least one eighth (1/8) Indian (Articles of 
Incorporation 1976, PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 39). 

On February 22, 1 ')80" testifying in regard to an "Indian Definition Study, Office of Assistant 
Secretary for Education," Helen LeGault stated: 

Our tribal membership is determined by the fact that we go back to the old tribal 
rolls of 18L16. lOne's family must have been registered and show legal 
documenta :ion proving Indian ancestry. Our tribe is small, we know who our 
people are, but we certainly don't need others to tell us who our membership must 
be (LeGault Testimony 2/2211980; PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 39). 

PEP has not submitted "old tribal rolls of 1846" to the BIA, nor did any of the governing 
documents submitled by PEP reference such a membership standard. 

A PEP meeting on January 9, 1983, indicated that, "[ w]e must develop guidelines for reviewing 
applications for membership in the tribe, criteria for reviewing applications for residency and 
possibly rewriting the application for membership" (Notes Jan 9 1983; PEP Response to 
Comments 9/4/20C I, Ex. 63). A memorandum submitted by petitioner #113, from Richard 
Dauphinais to RaY:110nd Geer, dated November 5, 1984, in regard to an October 30, 1984, 
meeting, did not indicate that the organization was using the standard referenced by Ms. LeGault 
in 1980, but rather indicated that: 

On October 301
\ we talked about the Sebastians' claim to tribal membership in 

light of the need to petition for federal recognition. The first point to come out of 
the discussi on was that a dispute about tribal membership would probably be fatal 
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to recognition. What needs to be done, then, is for the Tribe to establish criteria 
for acceptance of persons as tribal members that would be acceptable to F AP and 
a procedue to deal with applications for membership. 

As to membership criteria, the Tribe will need to decide on (1) a baseline list of 
historical tribal members, (2) the means of descent from baseline list members, 
and (3) whether to have a blood quantum requirement and if so, what quantum. 
As to applications, the Tribe will have to specify the documentation necessary to 
demonstrate descent from a baseline list member and blood quantum (Dauphinais 
to Geer 1 ./511984; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 63). 

In so far as the Bi A could determine from the submissions, the current governing document of 
petitioner # 113 re mains the 1993 Articles of Government of the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot 
Indian Tribe of the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indian Reservation. 166 It contains the following 
prOVISions: 

ARTICLE II - MEMBERSHIP 
Section 1. Eligibility - the membership of the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indian 
Tribe shaL consist of the following: 
(1) Voting Members- Those persons eligible for full rights of membership, 

including voting, office holding, and housing include: 
1. All persons whose name appear on the Paucatuck Eastern 

Pequot Indian Tribal Roll as of August 20, 1981, and their 
descendants. 

2. '\11 persons who prove that they are of one eighth (118) or more 
Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indian blood, according to 
Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indian law. Such persons and 
their descendants will be added to the Tribal Rolls of 
August 20,1981 (#113 Pet. 1994, NaIT. Ex.). 

Section 2. Membership Application Filing-Applications for membership of the 
Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indian Tribe shall be accompanied with certified birth 
records and genealogical proof of Paucatuck Eastern Pequot decent [sic]. All 
documenta1ion shall be filed with the secretary of the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot 
Indian Trib;!. 

Section 3. :leview of Membership Application- Applications for membership 
shall be pre ;ented to the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indian Tribal Council for 

166The minutes of February 24, 2000, mentioned the Articles of Government, mentioning that they had 
been approved in 1993. with a suggestion that revisions be considered (PEP Minutes 2/24/2000; PEP Comments 
8/21200 I, Ex. 94). The minutes of July 27, 2000 also indicated that the Articles of Government "need to be revised 
at some point" (PEP M nutes 7/27/2000; PEP Comments 8/41200 I, Ex. 94). 
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consideration and acceptance or rejection. Membership decisions of the 
Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indian Tribal Council shall be final and non­
reviewable; provided that an unsuccessful applicant may seek one (I) 
reconsidewtion of his/her rejection before the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indian 
Tribal Cou lcil if such request for reconsideration is made in written form and 
filed with the Secretary of the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indian Tribal Council 
within sixt:! (60) days of the applicant's receipt ofhis/her membership rejection 
by the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribal Council. 

Section 4. Burden of Proof- The burden of proof of eligibility for membership in 
the Paucatu:k Eastern Pequot Indian Tribe rests solely on the applicant or others 
acting on tlte applicant's behalf. 

Section 5 and Sect Ion 6 pertained to residency applications; Section 7 to dual enrollment; and 
Section 8 to the reli nquishment of membership (Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Articles of 
Government 1993,2-3). 

This document wa:; accompanied by blank copies of the Application for Membership and the 
Application for Residency (#113 Pet. 1994, Narr. Ex.) This document did not define the 
meaning of the phrase "according to Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indian law" in Article II, Section 
I (a)(2). Scction 8 made no provision concerning the handling of children or grandchildren of a 
member who relinquished membership. All of petitioner #113's members met the above 
eligibility requirements at the time the proposed finding was issued. 

For the final deternination, the petitioner did not submit any additional governing documents, so 
it is assumed for purposes of the final determination that the 1993 document submitted for the 
proposed finding n~mains the petitioner's governing document at present. 

Conclusion. Therefore, the conclusion of the proposed finding that the petitioner meets criterion 
83.7(d) is affirmed 

See also the conclusory section of this document. 

83.7(e) The petitioner's membership consists of 
iindividuals who descend from a historical Indian 
ltribe or from historical Indian tribes which 
.~ombined and functioned as a single autonomous 
political entity. 

Descentfrom the Historical Eastern Pequot Tribe. The proposed finding concluded: 
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Extensive genealogical material submitted by the petitioner, by petitioner #35, 
and by the third parties indicates that the petitioner's current members are 
descendar.ts of Marlboro and Eunice (Wheeler) Gardner and of Rachel (Hoxie) 
Jackson. <\.S those individuals were, during their lives, members of the Eastern 
Pequot triJe as ascertained by evidence acceptable to the Secretary, the 
descendar.ts of these individuals descend from the historical tribe. 

The lines of descent for individual families from these three key ancestors have 
been verif ed through the same types ofrecords used for prior petitions: Federal 
census rec Jrds from 1850 through 1920; public vital records of births, marriages, 
and deaths; and to a lesser extent through church records of baptisms, marriages, 
and buriah:, as well as through use of state [sic] records concerning the Lantern 
Hill reservation (PEP PF 2000, 137). 

The Towns challel1ged in detail the petitioner's descent from the historical Eastern Pequot tribe 
within the meanin:s of the 25 CFR Part 83 regulations (Towns August 2001,286-287,308-313). 
These same argurr ents were advanced by the Towns prior to issuance of the proposed finding 
(Lynch 1998a, 3) Hnd were addressed then (PEP PF 2000,122). The BIA used the Towns' pre­
April 5, 1999, submissions for the proposed finding (Lynch 1998, Lynch 1998 Ex.; Lynch 
1998a, Lynch 199~»). The Towns submitted additional material after April 5, 1999, received by 
the BrA between Apri.! 19, 1999, and August 2, 1999, which was held by the BIA and which has 
been considered for th,e final determinations. 167 

The State did not directly address the issue of descent from the historical tribe in its comments 
(State afConnecticut August 2001).168 The State submitted an affidavit, dated July 27, 2001, 
from Edward A. Danielczuk (State of Connecticut August 2001, Ex. 60). The document is 
retrospective rathel than being contemporary evidence. In it, Danielczuk states that in the 1960's 
and early 1970's, he worked for the Connecticut Welfare Department as a supervisor in the 
Resource Departmt~nt, with one of his responsibilities being "to oversee the State's four Indian 
Reservations" (Dar ielczuk 7/2712001, 1). Danielczuk made the following points: 

6. The Stah~'s main function with respect to the four Indian reservations and 
those residing thereon was to oversee the reservations, to provide the Indians 
living there with assistance and ensure that the reservations were preserved for 

167See listing above in the Administrative Chronology section. 

168The State's argumentation, "It follows from the requirements of substantially continuous community 
and political authority that even petitioners with common tribal ancestry, 'but whose families have not been 
associated with the tribe or each other for many generations' are ineligible for acknowledgment. 59 Fed. Reg. 9282 
(stated in the context of prior Federal acknowledgment, but applicable with even greater force here)" (State of 
Connecticut August 200', 9) was aimed not at the issue of descent, as such, but rather at the nature of the petitioning 
group under criterion 83.7(b). 
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and used by only qualifying Indians who could demonstrate at least one-eighth 
(1/8) Indi'.B blood of the tribe for which the reservation was maintained. 

7. Whell determining whether a person was qualified Indian under this 
requireme 1t, we used a genealogical chart maintained by our office. We did not 
require or make any investigation into whether the person maintained any sort of 
social or political relationship with the other Indians but rather based our 
deterrninal ion solely on the basis of the office's genealogical chart (Danielczuk 
7/27 /2001. 2). 

The above stateffii:nts are in accordance with the conclusions reached by the proposed findings in 
regard to EP and PEP. 

The Towns would establish a requirement that EP and PEP show individual genealogical descent 
from a historical t"ibe as it existed at the time of first sustained contact with non-Indians (Lynch 
1998a, 3; Towns.li ugust 2001,286-287,308-310), although they are aware that in prior cases 
Federal acknowledgment determinations have used 19th and early 20th century rolls as a basis for 
establishing descent from a historical tribe under 25 CFR Part 83 (Towns August 2001,315). 
The BIA previous ly responded to this argument in the proposed finding (PEP PF 2000, 121). 

The Towns also a~ serl that to meet the standard of descent from a historical tribe under 25 CFR 
Part 83, current m:mbers must descend through individuals who themselves "maintained 
consistent 'tribal r~lations.' It is not enough for those individuals to have made momentary or 
periodic appearances on the reservation or as part of the tribal community" (Towns August 2001, 
311; see also Towns August 2001,366; see also (Towns August 2001, 311-312, 321,326). The 
standard advocated by the Towns has never been required under criterion 83.7(e), which looks at 
descent from a strictly genealogical point of view. The Towns' issues properly arise under 
criteria 83.7(b) and 83.7(c). This aspect of the Towns' argument was already addressed in the 
proposed finding (PEP PF 2000, 122). 

The Towns desire to establish a requirement for documentation equivalent to the detribalization 
lists used in the Naragansett, Mohegan, and Gay Head determinations (Towns August 2001, 
319-324), which is impracticable, since in this case the historical Eastern Pequot tribe was never 
detribalized and the reservation land was never allotted to individual families. 

Prior to issuance 0 f the proposed findings, the third parties challenged the existence of descent 
from the historic tribe for both petitioners (Lynch 1998a, Lynch 1998b, Lynch 1999). The 
Towns continue to repudiate the validity of the overseers' lists and accounts compiled under the 
supervision of the State and of the New London County Superior Count (Towns 200 J, 124, 130, 

183 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement PEP-V001-D006 Page 193 of 207 



Final Detem1inatior, Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

139-140, 316-317, 32 1),169 of the 19th century tribal census records compiled by the overseers 
(Towns 2001,31 D-3 II), of the Federal census records including the special Indian Population 
Schedules of 19(10 and 1910 (Towns August 2001,325), and of petitions submitted to the State 
and to the New London County Superior Court (Towns August 2001, 117-118, 147), as well as of 
20th century membership lists accepted by the New London County Superior Court and by the 
Connecticut State Park and Forest Commission (Towns August 200J, 317)170 as being acceptable 
documentation [(if' showing a connection between the petitioner's current members, their 19th 

century ancestors, and the historical Eastern Pequot Tribe. This final determination affirms the 
conclusion of the proposed finding that such documents do constitute evidence of tribal descent 
acceptable to the Secretary under 25 CFR Part 83 (PEP PF 2000, 120). 

The Towns also assert at length that the reliance upon the overseers' reports in the proposed 
findings was inappropriate (Towns August 2001, 121,124,286-287,321) and that previous 
cases had not relit:d upon them to an equivalent degree. In the evaluation of any petition for 
federal acknowledgment, the handling of the evidence is to a great extent dependent upon what 
evidence is availaJle. More overseers' reports were available for the historical Eastern Pequot 
tribe than existed f<)f other petitioners (some successful petitioners had none at all, never having 
had overseers). Overseers' reports have also been utilized heavily in the proposed findings on 
petitioners #69A 2nd #698, The Nipmuc Nation and the Chaubunagungamaug Band ofNipmuc 
Indians, because s Jch documents were in the record. The regulations state explicitly that the 
evaluation will take: historical circumstances into account. The nature of the available evidence 
is one of those circumstances. 

PEP accepts the vclidity of the 19th century petitions and overseers' reports as showing Eastern 
Pequot membership for the ancestors of its own members (see comment in regard to the 
overseer's description of Rachel Hoxie: Cunha in: Austin Interview of James Cunha, Jr. 
7/2112000,53; PEP Comments 81212001, Ex. 75), but does not accept the validity of the same 
reports as showing Eastern Pequot membership for EP ancestors (PEP Comments 8/2/2001, 
Austin Report II: 1:1,,1140; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, McMullen 4-6), stating that, 
"the accuracy of some overseers' reports is questionable or indicates a lack of first-hand 
knowledge oftriba, me:mbers" (McMullen 9/4/2001,5; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001) 
and attributing to t1\t: overseers of the 1870's and 1880's "confusion over the very different 
concepts of 'reservation resident' and 'tribal member'" (McMullen 9/4/2001, 6; PEP Response 
to Comments 9/4/21)01). PEP posits that this is the case even when the names of the ancestors of 

169"The overseers' reports and lists in this case did not list 'descendants,' were not based on descendancy, 
and were never intended to be inclusive of 'tribal membership.' Rather, they were lists of welfare recipients whose 
composition was influellced in large part at any time by the desire of town governments to minimize its [sic] 
responsibility for the poor" (Towns August 2001,317). 

170"Those in the 20,h century that claimed to be a genealogical record only established linkage to the 
previous unreliable link!: and records" (Towns August 2001,317). 
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both petitioners ar'pear in the same document. 171 PEP asserts that: "the advent of problems with 
defining the membership and controversies over this begins around the time of the stewardship 
of Charles Chipman and Gilbert Billings" (PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, 5).172 Of note, 
these were the OVe rseers of the Eastern Pequot at the time Marlboro Gardner first appeared in the 
tribe's records (sel~ discussion above under criterion 83.7(c)). 

PEP also addressd the issue of multi-tribal descent as raised by the Towns (PEP Comments 
8/2/2001, Austin 11:2-4,9-12).173 

171 PEP takes the same stance in regard to 20 th-century Connecticut State lists that include both its own 
antecedents and those of petitioner #35 (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/200 I, 9; PEP Response to Comments 
9/4/2001). 

172Lack of ch,e, personal oversight may explain some of these problems, but the poor records of 
1875 to 1881 and the oversight of Charles Chipman-who did not record a "list of the tribe"-made 
it difficult fOI subsequent overseer Gilbert Billings to know or determine who was or was not a 
tribal member: he had to rely on the contemporary claims of individuals to a far greater extent 
than had his predecessors. And since Billings does not appear to have really understood the 
detailed gene~logies of tribal members or their family connections, he may have been a "softer 
touch" than s)me of the earlier overseers (McMlillen 9/4/200 I, 5; PEP Response to Comments 
9/4/200 I). 

McMullen attributes the appearance of Calvin Williams, Jesse Williams, Mary Ann Potter, Tamer Emeline 
Sebastian, and Tamer Brushel Sebastian, to this oversight on Gilbert Billings' part (McMullen 9/4/200 I, 5; PEP 
Response to Commenl S 9/4/2001). It was he, however, who also first placed Marlboro Gardner on the overseer's 
lists. Petitioner #113', assertion: "Despite the suggested inclusion of Tamer Brushel Sebastian on the 1873 petition 
and other Sebastian fa Tlily members on later overseers' reports, such inclusion is not sufficient evidence that the 
Sebastians were deel11t~d Eastern Pequots by actual members of that historic tribe" (McMullen 9/4/200 I, 8; PEP 
Response to Commenls 914/200 I). is, in essence, the same argumentation utilized by the Towns. with the exception 
that the Towns apply it to both petitioners, whereas PEP applies it only to the antecedents of EP. 

\73Regarding the Siefer Report, the petitioner states that: 

There is a vital link between criterion 83.7(e), which requires descent from a historic Indian tribe, 
and 83. 7(b), which requires the maintenance of a distinct social community from historic times to 
the present. ~'hat link was ignored in Ms. Siefer's report because she chose to concentrate on the 
topic of gene"logical descent through the male line only. While this may be understandable given 
her position as a genealogical researcher, the resulting evaluation is both erroneous and 
misleading (P.lIstin II 8/2/200 I: 14; PEP Comments 8/2/200 I). 

Of note, the BlA's ger ealogical researchers trace Indian tribal ancestry through both the paternal and maternal lines. 
This has been the prec ~dent in all acknowledgment decisions. 

Petitioner did not defiLe thl~ "vital link" mentioned in the above passage. Descent under criterion 83.7(e) does not 
require that all intervening ancestors have maintained tribal relations. It is a genealogical assessment, and thus 
distinct from the petitioner"s own membership requirements, which were stated as: 

One of the most important points that can be made about the Paucatuck Pequot Tribe in this 
century is tha it has maintained consistent, unwritten rules about the criteria for membership in 
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The BIA does not accept PEP's methodological approach as valid. To accept it would require 
applying different standards to the same evidence for different petitioners. As the proposed 
findings indicated, the evidentiary material for the Eastern Pequot ancestry of both petitioners is 
essentially equiva ent l74 

The proposed findings were not, as PEP asserts, based solely upon an assumption that, 
"overseers of the later nineteenth century were in fact completely knowledgeable about the 

the tribe. Th: primary rule has been to include as members only those who have continued to 
maintain tribal relations with the Paucatuck Pequot Tribe (Austin II 8/2/200 I, 15; PEP Comments 
8/2/2001 ). 

No such requirement concerning the maintenance of tribal relations, however, is stated in the petitioner's 
constitutional eligibili y requirements (1993 Articles of Government of the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indian Tribe 
of the Paucatuck Easte rn Pequot Reservation). See under criterion 83.7(d) above. 

While the petitioner is correct in stating that the acknowledgment regulations do not impose any blood quantum 
requirement under 83. 7( e) (Austin II 8/2/200 I, 6-7; PEP Comments 8/2/200 I), it should be noted that the 
petitioner's constitution does impose one. See discussion under criterion 83.7(d) above. 

l74As a techn cal correction, in regard to the June 27, 1873, document, the proposed finding read as 
follows: 

... another document, dated June 27, 1873, "A list of the names of those belonging to the Pequot 
tribe ofIndiaJls of North Stonington. On file in Superior Court Records, New London County, 
located in the State Library, Hartford" (#35 Pet. Overseers Reports) ... contained the following 
names: 

Fran,:is __ . Watson, Mary C. Watson P], Edgar Ross, Mary A. Potter, Harriet 
Merriman, Jesse I. [L.] Potter, Amman Potter, Wm. Merriman, John Brushel, 
Calv n Nedson, Lucy [?urey E., Percy?] Williams, Harriet Williams, Wm 
Williams .. Emily Brushel, John Randall, Charity Fagins, Hannah Brushel, 
Joseph N,edson, Caroline Nedson, Fanny Sherley, Lucy George, Lucy A. 
George, Harriet Simon, Eunice Gardner, Marlboro Gardner, Dwight Gardner, 
Mart n Nedson, Lucy Hill, Thomas S. Skesux, [Gusey?] Skesux. "These are the 
names and there is others may the Lord have mercy and healp us and give for 
Jesus Sake" (#35 Pet. Overseers Reports; Lynch 1998a 5:83-84). 

This second d)cument from the summer of 1873 included representatives of both the Brushell and 
the Gardner famili,es, as well as several collateral relatives of Calvin Williams (EP PF 2000, 107). 

A better copy of this de,eument submitted in petitioner #35 's response allows transcription of the names as follows: 
"Frances P. Watson, Mary E. Watson, Edgar Watson [not Ross, with an illegible two-word name or remark 
beginning with B next 10 it], Emily Ross, Mary A. Potter, Harriett E. Merriman, Jesse L. Potter, Ammon Potter, 
Wm. Merriman, John Erushel, Calvin Nedson, Mercy E. Williams, Harriett Williams, Wm. Williams, Emely 
Brushel, Hannah Brushiel, Joseph Nedson, Caroline Nedson, Fanny Sherley, Lucy George, Lucy A. George, 
Harriett Simon, Emer ['I, with something written above the name] Gardner, Malbrow Gardner, Dwight Gardner, 
Martin Nedson, Lucy f ill, Thomas S. Skesux, Gracy Skesux." The following page, before the concluding sentence, 
contained the names of John Randall and Charity Fagain (EP Comments 8/2/200 I, Items ACDE). 
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people under their stewardship" (PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, McMullen 4). Evidence 
from the overseers' reports was not, as the Towns assert, used instead of "certified vital 
documents such ,5 birth, marriage, and death records" (Towns August 2001, 317) but in addition 
to them (PEP PF 2000,137). The evaluation of the evidence also utilized Federal census 
records. 

No significant ne'N genealogical information was presented for the final determination in regard 
to the three key ancestors of petitioner #113, Marlboro Gardner, his wife Eunice Wheeler, and 
Rachel (Hoxie) Jc cksoniOrchard. The evidence acceptable to the Secretary that was in the 
record at the time of the proposed finding was surveyed there (PEP PF 2000, 123-126). 

The researchers for the Towns presented a considerable amount of unsubstantiated speculation 
(see sample in foe tnote). 175 Some of the speculation was based on inaccurate readings of the 
documents. 176 

Petitioner #113 asserted that the following entry pertained to Eunice (Wheeler) George who later 
married Marlboro Gardner: "June 29, 1854: Pequot Tribe ofIndians in Account with Isaac W. 
Miner of North St [illegible in margin, transcriber read as Stonington]: S Shunt up; Maranta 
Douglas; Thomas Need; Samuel Shunt up; November 17 four quarts of meal for Eunice George, 
Leonard Brown (#35 Pet. OVERSEERS)" (PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Genealogical Records III, 
Family Group Sheet). However, the overall context and pattern of the overseer's reports for this 
time period makes it more probable that this entry referred to Eunice Fagins, wife of George 
Cottrell. It does nl)t, therefore, provide evidence of Eastern Pequot membership for Eunice 
(Wheeler) Gardner. 

17S"The I 840 Census for North Stonington had Hoxie Nedson listed with 5 members in the family (1840 
U.S. Census New Lon jon Co., No. Stonington, CT). Since the name Ned Hoxie and Hoxie Nedson are so similar 
and basically reversed. lit could be that they are the same person. Hoxie Nedson was shown as Free Colored Persons 
with 2 males and 3 females. There was one female under 10 years who would have fit the age of Rachel Hoxie 
(born circa 1833). It i~ a possibility that Rachel could have been the daughter of Hoxie Nedson. Ifshe was this 
could explain where Sf e' came by the names of Hoxie and Ned. Rachel also used the name of Anderson. It is 
unclear why she used this surname. Perhaps her mother's surname was Anderson. She had a child and a conjecture 
was made that the child's father's last name was Ned which was why she used this name. There was no 
documentation to indicate this would be accurate. Also it would be questionable as the North Stonington Overseer 
stated ... If the father ,)f Rachel'S child had been a member of the tribe, most likely the Overseer would not have 
issued a note. The 1839 Public Statute Laws of the State of Connecticut prohibited rendering a judgement against 
any Indian other than f)f rent of land (1839 Public Statute Laws of the State of connecticut: p. 357). The 1849 
Revised Statutes of the State of Connecticut also declared no judgement could be made against an Indian except for 
rent of land (1849 Revised Statutes of Connecticut: p. 442)" (Siefer Report April 1999, 16). 

176"Ned Hoxie was listed on the Groton 1800 Census under 'All other free person excluding Indians and 
not taxed'." (Siefer Report April 1999, 4nI). The researcher also presented a copy of the census record in question 
(Siefer Report April 19~9, Exhibit 44). It clearly says "Ned Hops," - not Hoxie - with 3 persons in the home; this 
man was Edward or Ned Hops aka Edward or Ned Jeremy, a pensioned Revolutionary veteran (Brown and Rose 
1980,186-187; see alsc Hopps/Hops, Edward, Black, WIOII I, SECT:186 (NSDAR 2001,61)). 
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In light of the arguilll~ntation by the Towns that Rachel (Hoxie) Jackson was more probably 
Narragansett thar Eastern Pequot (Siefer Report April 1999, 11-13, 15-19), the following 
infonnation from the 1900 Federal census in regard to her surviving brother, John Noyes Hoxie, 
is pertinent: 

NARA T-623, Roll 149, ED 469, Sheet 14. 1900 June 30, Twelfth Census of the 
United States, Connecticut, New London County, North Stonington, Indian 
Populatioll/Special Enquiries Relating to Indians 

Jackson, William, head, Black, male, DOB Nov. 1869, 30, married, POB 
CT, FOB~.I, MOB CT, Carpenter, reads/writes/speaks English, rents farm. Half 
breed, father unknown, mother Pequot, no white blood. 

Hoxie, Noyes, Uncle, Black, male, DOB May 1830, 70, widower, POB 
CT, FOB RI, MOB R.I, no read/write/speak English. Narragansett; father 
Narragans ~tt; mother Pequot, no white blood .... [other household members 
omitted] 

This record indicates that the family'S Pequot ancestry lay in the maternal line. 177 

I77In the 1991 interview, Alice Barbara (Spellman) Moore referred on several occasions to the ghost of an 
"Uncle Leonard" whc used to walk through the Jackson house on the Lantern Hill Reservation (Moore Interview 
12/8/1991,43-45, 10L; PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 86). "My mother said that's actually where this (inaudible) 
whoever tells this was. We never asked questions, but she said that's your Uncle Leonard .... But she knew him. 
So it must've been on ~ of the - one from my grandparents or both or brothers or somebody or, I don't know. But 
she said that's your U lde Leonard. So that's our side of the Hoxies" (Moore Interview 12/811991,44). 

If Leonard NedlNedsc n/Brown actually was the uncle (rather than a "courtesy uncle") of Phoebe and William 
Henry Jackson, then this would indicate that the appearance of the name "Ned" for the woman usually called Rachel 
Hoxie indicated that s:1C~ was a descendant of the Ned family. 

August 28, 1858 - Pequot Tribe of Indians: Than Ned, Eunice Cotrell, Thomas Ned, Marinda Douglas. 1859, 
Names of the Tribe so far as I can ascertain - Thankful Ned, Thomas Ned, Eunice Fagans, Lucy Fagans, Abby 
Fagans, Charity Fagans, Lucy Ann Fagans, Lorry Farens, Marinda Douglas, Rachel Skeeux, Caraline Ned, Lucy 
Hill, Rachel Andison, Leonard Brown, Calvin Ned, Joseph Fagens, James Kiness, George Hill, Andrew Hill. Lorry 
Watson wife Albert Watson 5 Children; Rachel Ned Anderson 1 Child (#35 Pet. Overseers Reports). 

1861 overseer's report Names of the Tribe as far as I can Asertain on of North Stonington Tribe Indians: Thankful 
Ned, Eunice Fagins, L )rry Fagins 4 Ch, Abby Fagins, Charity Fagins 5 Children, Lucy An Fagins, Lucy Fagins, 
Maranta Ned Dec, Rachel Skeesux, CaITUtin[?] Ned, Rachel Ned et, Lucy Hill, Thomas Ned ["1861 Decest" added], 
Leonard Brown, Ezra i-Jed Dec, Calvin Ned, Joseph Fagins, James Kiness, George Hill, Andrew Hill, Isaac Ned 
(#35 Pet. Overseers R~ ports). 

1861, another list: George Hill, Leonard Brown, Calvin Ned, Joseph Fagens, James Kiness, Andrew Hill, Eunice F 
Chrell, Maranda N Du:~, Luey a Fagans, Charrity Fagern, Lorry Fagans 5 Children, Lucy Hill, Abby J Jack 5 
Children, Rachel N ore hard 2 Children, Aroline Ned, Rachel Skeesux Dec. Same year, mention of coffin for 
Thankful Ned (#35 Pet. Overseers Reports). 
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Her paternity has 110t been identified, though several clues are now available. 178 

Membership Lists. 

Prior MembershipJ~ists. Petitioner #113 submitted minutes from the period 1976-1984 that 
included a list headed "Membership - 1978". One page had 21 numbered names; the second 
page contained 34 unnumbered names, with considerable duplication, followed by a two-page, 
undated, list of names and addresses, both of which the BIA researcher added to the Family Tree 
Maker data base (Membership 1978; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 63 ).179 All but 
one of the 1978 numbered names appeared on the July 15, 1979, list discussed in the next 
paragraph; ten of the 34 names on the unnumbered 1978 list did not appear on the July 15, 1979, 
list. 

InWhile the BIA was unable to confinn the paternity of Rachel Hoxie during preparation of the final 
determination, some documentation submitted by the Towns provides clues which indicate that it would be 
profitable to trace the ~amily of Charles Hoxie/Hoxey (who does appear on Narragansett tribal records) and his wife 
Lydia (nee Cook?), wlto were residents of North Stonington during the first third of the 19'h century. The following 
data is provided for th: convenience of researchers: 

Town of Stonington T:>wn Accounts 1792 to 1872 Book I Call number 70286 - Connecticut Historical Society. 
January 2, 1826. "At a meeting of the Selectmen at the Boro' Hotel Monday Jany 2nd 1826. The Selectmen entered 
into a complaint to the lusteries(sp) to remove the following persons, they having been warned. To Wit -- ... 
Charles Hoxie col'd m m. Jack Noyes col'd man, ... " (Siefer Report April 1999, Exhibit 41). 

5 May 1831, Petition (of the Naragansett Tribe of Indians in Charlestown County of Washington to the General 
Assembly of Rhode Is and:, whereas James Kinyon and others in regard to the 1811 law in regard to Debt: ... 
Charles X Hoxsey (Towns Comments on the Eastern Pequot and Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Petitions, Siefer Report 
April 1999, Exhibit 40) .. 

Town of Stonington T,)wn Accounts 1792 to 1872 Book 1 Call number 70286 - Connecticut Historical Society. 4 
March 1833. "At a mfeting of the Selectmen at the Town met. 4 March 1833 upon the petition of William Lord an 
others that "Sundry fam :Iys [sic] in the town of Stonington. Viz .... Charles Hoxie & Jack Noyes - all inhabitants of 
other state and are Liable to become chargeable to said town and that the selectmen would caus them to depart said 
town whereupon the sdectmen fired (sp) a warnings to the aforesaid inhabitants unanimously warning them to 
depart" (Siefer Report April 1999, Exhibit 41). 

The following document apparently reversed the surnames of Charles Hoxie and his wife: NARA R. 75. Entry 903. 
New York Indians, Kansas Claims. #2871, Eliza L. Hilton, 38 Harris Av. Arlington R.I.; Providence Co., b. 
Charleston, RI. I I March 1847; her parents are Benjamin Thomas and Mary Hokey, father b. Rl; mother b. CT. 
Their children Frederick D, Thomas, Benjamin F. Thomas, Hannah M. Hazzard; father D.C. 188'1; mother d.c. 
1878; grandparents on fath'~r's side, Augustus Thomas Narragansett and Hannah M. Niles Narragansett and Brother 
town; on mother's side Charles Cook and Lydia Hokey; resided Rhode Island. 

In regard to Lydia (nee Cook?), some slight clues indicate that further investigation of the Tocus/Tokus/Toad family 
of North Stonington might prove useful. 

179 All of the I sts in these minutes had columns designating "P" or "A." These apparently indicated 
presence or absence at meetings rather than being a membership code. 
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This submission also included a numbered list headed "Paid Membership - 7/15/79" containing 
24 names (two names were stricken off as duplicates and the number 22 and 23 re-used). All 
were adults; eight were non-Indian spouses, leaving II members. This list was entered into the 
Family Tree Maker data base by the BIA researcher: it contained no Hoxie/Jackson descendants 
who were not also Gardner/Wheeler descendants ("Paid Membership 7115179; PEP Response to 
Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 63). 

The meeting note s for September 5, 1982, were followed by a list headed "Membership" which 
included some addresses and phone numbers, but was not sufficiently well-organized beyond the 
first page to be pla.ced in the Family Tree Maker data base (PEP Notes 9/5/1982; PEP Response 
to Comments 9/4 12001, Ex. 63). The first page, on which individuals were marked "Pd." 
accorded with th{ lists for 1978- I 979 in that the 24 names included eight non-Indian spouses. 
There were no names that had not appeared on prior lists, and two names of persons who had 
previously been roted in minutes as removed from the membership at their own request. 

Petitioner #113 submitted one additional prior membership list, dated January 1,2000, for the 
final determinatic n (PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Genealogy Records. Volume I). This list was 
intermediate in d,.te between that used for the proposed finding and the one submitted for the 
final determination. The BIA researcher entered this list into the FTM data base for comparison 
with earlier membership lists and the July 19,2001, membership list used for the final 
determination. There were no significant variations from the list used for the final determination 
(see below). 

PEP Membership Ijsit for the Proposed Finding. The # 113 membership list used for preparation 
of the proposed fi1ding was submitted by the petitioner on February 15, 1996 (Supplemental 
Documentation for Criterion 83.7(e). The Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribal Nation: Data on 
Present Membership; Minutes of Tribal Council Meetings, 1989-1996. February 15,1996; #113 
Pet. 1996). This I ist, cited in the proposed finding as "Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Membership 
List 2/15/1996," contained 128 members. It was not separately certified by the petitioner's 
governing body. However, the governing body did certify the petition as a whole (Paucatuck 
Eastern Pequot Indian Tribal Nation, Resolution 2/2411 996). 

PEP Membership l.ist for the Final Determination. The Federal acknowledgment regulations 
under criterion 83.7(e) (2) require that "The petitioner must provide an official membership list . 
. . of all known CU:Tent members of the group." For the final determination, petitioner # 113 
submitted "PaucatJck Eastern Pequot Tribal Nation Tribal Rolls as ofJuly 19,2001" (PEP 
Comments 8/2/2001, Genealogy Records. Volume I), certified by a resolution of the petitioner's 
council (PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Genealogy Records, Volume 1. Resolution of the Tribal 
Council of the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribal Nation, July 19, 2001, RS000077). This 
membership list W1S numbered from 1001 through 1150. Four individuals who had appeared on 
the February 15, 1996" list were marked as deceased; two individuals who had appeared on the 
February 15, 1996. list were annotated as, "Removed from rolls no birth certificate." The total 
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membership pres,~nted ~or the final determination is thus 144 persons. The list contained birth 
dates, but no addresses. 

The BIA researcher entered this list into the FTM data base for comparison with prior 
membership lists. The 22 persons numbered # 1129 through # 1150 did not appear on the 
February 15,1996, membership list. Of these, 17 persons had been born since February 15. 
1996. All of thesc! were children of individuals who appeared on the February 15, 1996, list. 
The other five persons, in one family, were born in 1960, 1978, 198 I, 1982, and 1993. The 
progenitor of this family unit was the daughter of a man who appeared on the 1996 list. All of 
the additional members met the petitioner's own membership criteria and are descended from 
persons who appelreci on 19th century lists of the historical Eastern Pequot tribe. 

Potential for Membership Expansion. The proposed finding stated: 

The genealogical charts submitted by the petitioner indicated that all identified 
descendants of the Gardner/Edwards and Gardner/Williams lines are included on 
the membership lists. Further potential for membership expansion may exist in 
the different lines of Hoxie/Jackson and HoxielJacksoniSpellman, as the records 
did not acc )unt for all of the descendants of these families. In the absence of a 
definition c,f "Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indian law" in the membership 
provisions )f Article II in the Articles of Government, there is no way for the BIA 
to evaluate how PEP would treat applications from members of such 19th century 
Eastern Pequot families as Simons, Hill, or Ned if descendants applied (PEP PF 
2000, 137). 

PEP states that there are approximately 300 individuals whose membership applications are 
pending (PEP Comments to PF 8/2/200 1, Nell 5).180 However, one of the interviews indicated 
that the possibility ft)r '~xpansion exceeds that number, including not only Hoxie/Jackson 
descendants, but al:;o descendants of the line of Harriet (Gardner) Simons, whose children 
appeared on Connecticut lists of Eastern Pequots as late as 1935 (Austin Interview of James 
Cunha, Jr.).ISI The current official position of PEP was taken by resolution: 

180"Prospectiv~ members have continued to apply for tribal membership. The applicants have been placed 
on a pending status until the Federal recognition process is completed. Approximately three hundred applicants are 
requesting tribal membl:rship. Currently one hundred forty-seven members comprise the tribe" (PEP Comments 
8/2/200 I, Nell 5). 

181Transcription of Steve Austin's interview with James Cunha, Jr. 7/21/2000 (PEP Comments 8/2/2001, 
Ex. 75,42-44): 

MR. CUNHA: ... You know what, we've got tons of people who are trying to come into us, like 
the Gardner family and the SPELLMAN coming back. 

I (inaudible) E:lsers (inaudible). I anticipate this tribe to be close to about 700 or 800 people by 
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TRIBAL MEMBERSHIP 

On 3 October 1997 the Tribal Council of the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indian 
Tribal Nc tion approved the following: 

Tribal Rolls will be closed from this day of October 3, 1997, until 
after we receive our Final Determination of Federal 
A ~knowledgment unless Council deems to do something different 

the time we're done. 

MR. AUSTIN: Why don't you talk a little bit about the family that's thinking about coming in, 
they're in tf e process of making applications just to get that story on the record because again, 
this is a family that in terms of the race issue, shows that racism is not the point. It's who belongs 
to the tribe. 

MR. CUNHA: A family who descends through Ha'p'orth Gardner who are predominantly Black, 
who (inaudi )Ie) I wish they had done this a little earlier. Our requirements are like the old 
(inaudible) you have to prove one-eighth Paucatuck blood or descend from people who are here. 

The tribe is In a dilemma because they stem from (inaudible) Gardner; the family last appears on 
the reservati)n up until 1935. From 1935 to current for MIA, the oldest living member right now 
ollly can prove one-sixteenth. Jfthey had done this 10 years earlier, there would be no question, 
they'd make the one-eighth criteria and be in. 

But we're in the dilemma and being where we are in the process, we're worried about the 
community "spect because they're gone. It's not like we're (inaudible) having the Mashantucket 
(inaudible) tllis yl~ar. Okay, poof, you're in. We don't care, we've got (inaudible) year or the last 
90 years, YOt can just come in. 

We're looking at this family very seriously and I think that not only is the Tribal Council, I think, 
divided on the issue, J think we're just confused and I think the tribal membership is a little 
confused, toe, because we're worried about the criteria of them making to recognition and we 
don't want to risk that precedent (Austin Interview of James Cunha, Jr 7/2112000,42-43; PEP 
Comments 81212001, Ex. 75). 

It should be noted that the applying family descended from Gardner was on the overseer's and State Park and Forest 
Commission lists to I S35, but was never, as far as the documentation shows, "on the reservation." 

Cunha also referenced the Hill family and asked, "If they come back, how are we going to deal with that. Don't 
know. They've missing [sic] from our community for a long period of time and I think that makes a difference 
(Cunha in: Austin Interview of James Cunha, Jr. 7/2112000,44). Additionally, he stated: "And not only that, we 
also have another fami y who are trying to claim - - are claiming that they come through Fannie Jackson, who are 
700 strong, who are pmdominantly all Black but we don't feel that they have a case built up as well as the Harriet 
Gardner line does" (Cunha in: Austin Interview of James Cunha, Jr. 7/2112000,45-56). This individual referenced 
by Cunha would presumably be Fannie E. (Jackson) Crumb Com, but this identification was not specified in the 
interview. 

See also the PEP minutes for August 31, 2000, re: other applications and for February 24, 2000, which mentions 
putting a "community clause" in the constitution (PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 94). 
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at Ihat point (Weekly Tribal Council Meeting Minutes, Friday, 3 
October 1997 [Report Document #2]) 

The Council's intent in "closing the roll" was that they would add children born 
to members already on the roll and no one else until the Federal recognition 
process was completed (PEP Comments 8/2/200 I, Nell 5). 

lfany of the current applicants demonstrate ability to meet petitioner #113's current membership 
requirements, it appears that the petitioner plans to accept them into membership after 
completion of the Federal acknowledgment process: 

MR. AUS"rIN: How many people does the Harriet Gardner line represent? 

MR. CUN:-lA: Two hundred and seventy-three, I believe. 

MR. AUS~'IN: So this would, I mean, even the fact that you're considering this 
seems significant to me. This would not double but basically triple your 
membership or nearly triple your membership. 

MR. CUNHA: Absolutely. 

MR. AUSTIN: But you're willing to consider bringing them in but - -

MR. CUNHA: We're not worried about bringing in large numbers, Steve. Large 
numbers don't bother us because we believe in equal representation as we 
discussed his year at the annual meeting of the members went for is that family 
grouping (inaudible) and each family grouping has three votes on the Council and 
depending ,m what family comes in (inaudible) only keep you out of the Tribal 
Council. 

If you have 10 families then obviously you're going to have a 30-member Trial 
[sic] counc:l. If you have five families. you're going to have a IS-member Tribal 
Council. If you have two families, you have a six-member Tribal Council. You 
can do things where everybody gets their fair share or fair say (Austin Interview 
ofJames Cunha, Jr. 7/21/2000,45-46; PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 75). 

it also appears that the petitioner is giving serious consideration to altering its membership 
criteria and abolishing the current requirement that a newly-entering individual (one not included 
on the 198 I PEP membership list, through whom descendants with a lesser blood quantum can 
qualify), must have 118 Eastern Pequot blood quantum. This would be a change from the 
provisions of the governing document used for the proposed finding and final determination: 
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MR, CUNHA: This tribe has actually looked at doing a core list from 1845 to 
1866 and then people who descend from those people also would have rights to 
come in and doing that for a time period and opening up the rolls and saying, 
okay, ify:m can prove (inaudible) or descent 

Or we lock at - - or being lateral, Eunice Wheeler, Barbara [sic - should be 
Marlborol Gardner and Rachel (inaudible) then you'll be able to come in. 
Illustrate I inaudible) of the tribe. But we're looking at different ways to do this, 
it'sjust that, you know, we're in a dilemma because we're in this process and 
don't real y know how to change it and we're in the process of getting (inaudible) 
on it and nill being pressured by lots of families who want applications (Austin 
Interview of James Cunha, Jr., 7/2112000,45; PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 75). 

However, Cunha stated, for the time being, PEP is continuing to maintain its constitutional 
prOVISIOns: 

MR. CUNHA: ... We look at our regulations; what they say today; you know, if 
they say ole-eighth, I can't take you in if you're one-sixteenth. I guess I've to 
bend that lUle (inaudible) I've got to bend it for everybody and that actually takes 
a power of the government to change and what will (inaudible) we'll keep you on 
file. If (inwdible) going to change, we'll do it. 

And you know, (inaudible) and we change it later, we will still grandfather you 
because when they (inaudible) and we'll (inaudible). But I just want to make sure 
- - may (imud:ible) (Austin Interview ofJames Cunha, Jr. 7/2112001,47-48; PEP 
Comments 8/21200 I, Ex. 75). 

While apparently being willing to consider applications from the Harriet Gardner and Fanny 
Jackson descendar,ts, PEP has apparently excluded the FaginslRandall and FaginslWatson 
descendants from I!ligibility for PEP membership on the grounds that their members have broken 
tribal relations - ir the case of the Randalls, specifically at some time between 1935 and the 
present (Austin IV 8/2/2001, 8n3; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 

PEP asserts that th~ membership of petitioner #35 consists solely of those Sebastian family 
members who did :10t qualify for membership in the Mashantucket Pequot Tribe (Austin I 
8/2/2001, 37n27). This argument is not material to criterion 83. 7( e). Of note, since a number of 
persons who appeared on prior PEP lists are now enrolled with either Mashantucket or 
Narragansett, the same could be said in regard to petitioner #113. This assertion by PEP is not 
persuasive. 

Analysis a/Comments and Responses. The enrollment presently is 144 by the BIA's calculation 
from the memberstjp list submitted for the final determination, although PEP's researcher stated 
that there were 147. The petitioner did not submit a list of the pending applicants and the BIA 
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has no data on which to base an evaluation of these pending applicants' ancestry and descent 
from the historica: Eastern Pequot tribe. However based on the description of these applicants in 
the interviews, acceptance of these applications by PEP would effectively make it a different 
group than the ont: reviewed for acknowledgment. 182 The regulations prohibit such an expansion 
and require the su Jmission of a complete list of members as a prerequisite for evaluation under 
the criteria. 

The Department's position is that changing the membership roll after acknowledgment to the 
extent that the adc i tion would fundamentally alter the character of the group being recognized so 
that the group is effectively no longer the group that was reviewed for acknowledgment is not 
pemlissible. In ac opting the present regulations, the Department commented, concerning 
§ 83.12, that: 

Section 83 .12(b) 

CO:Tlments: Several commenters approved of the limitations prescribed 
by this sec:ion on the base membership roll ofa newly acknowledged tribe. 
Others considered the limitation an infringement on tribal sovereignty. 

Re~;ponse: The provision was included to clearly define tribal membership 
prior to acl~nowledgment. It was also included so that membership for purposes 
of Federal funding cannot later be so greatly expanded that the petitioner 
becomes, in effect, a different group than the one acknowledged. The 
acknowledgment decision rests on a determination that members of the petitioner 
form a cohesive social community and exercise tribal political influence. If the 
membership after acknowledgment expands so substantially that it changes the 
character c f the group, then the validity of the acknowledgment decision may 

1820ne of the most important points that can be made about the Paucatuck Pequot Tribe in this 
century is the t it has maintained consistent, unwritten rules about the criteria for membership in 
the tribe. Th ~ primary rule has been to include as members only those who have continued to 
maintain tribll relations with the Paucatuck Pequot Tribe. This membership rule, in conjunction 
with differen :ial fertility, has resulted in there being only three confirmed Pequot ancestors for the 
tribe as it exi its today: Marlboro Gardner (d. 1893), his wife Eunice Wheeler (d. 1912), and 
Rachel Hoxie Anderson-Jackson (d. 1884; a descendant of the Ned family) (Austin II 8/2/200 I, 
15; PEP COllments 8/2/2001). 

It is importart that the BAR researchers bear in mind that, because of the limited number of 
Paucatuck Pequot ancestors, the family tree for this tribe is fairly narrow. For example, there are 
no descendar ts of John Hoxie, brother of Rachel Hoxie, in the membership of this tribe. This is 
because his descendants are part of the Mashantucket Pequot tribe, as a result of his daughter'S, 
Martha Ann :-Ioxie's, marriage to a Western Pequot, or they have otherwise broken tribal relations 
with the Pauc atuck Pequot Tribe. Likewise, there are no descendants of the siblings of Marlboro 
Gardner or E Jnic,~ Wheeler on the current membership list. That is because their siblings either 
produced no )ffspring or they broke tribal relations with the Paucatuck Pequot Tribe (Austin II 
8/2/2001,15; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 
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become questionable. The language of this section does allow for the addition to 
the base [(III of these individuals who are politically and socially part of the tribe 
and who meet its membership requirements. (59 FR 9292). 

The entire PEP petition is premised on the narrow definition of the group's membership. The 
petitioner's presented case under criteria 83.7(b) and 83.7(c) rests heavily on the proposition that 
the 144 present enrollees form a small, closely related kin group limited to those who have 
actually maintained social and political relations (see, for example, Austin, Political Authority 
9/4/2001, 11; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). There are many descendants of the same 
family lines, tracing back to the mid-1800's, who are not on the membership roll submitted with 
the petition (see discussion of Harriet (Gardner) Simons and Fannie E. (Jackson) Cmmb Corn, 
above). The alten.tion of the membership to include those referenced in the interviews would 
fundamentally change the nature of the group that has been evaluated under criteria 83.7(b) and 
83.7(c) and is not :)ermissible. 

The BIA brings to the petitioner's specific attention the following provision of the 25 CFR Part 
83 regulations: 

§ 83.12 (b) Upon acknowledgment as an Indian tribe, the list 
of members submitted as part of the petitioners 
[sic] documented petition shall be the tribe's 
complete base roll for purposes of Federal funding 
and other administrative purposes. For Bureau 
purposes, any additions made to the roll, other 
than individuals who are descendants of those on 
Ithe roll and who meet the tribe's membership 
I:riteria, shall be limited to those meeting the 
Irequirements of § 83.7(3) and maintaining 
significant social and political ties with the tribe 
(i.e., maintaining the same relationship with the 
tribe as those on the list submitted with the 
~~roup's documented petition). 

Conclusion. The pditioner's current membership, on the basis of documentation acceptable to 
the Secretary, descwds from the historical Eastern Pequot tribe (PEP PF 2000, 137). 

Therefore, the conclusion of the proposed finding that the petitioner meets criterion 83 .7( e) is 
affirmed. 

See also the conclw;ory section of this document. 
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83.7(1) The membership of the petitioning group is 
composed principally of persons who are not 
members of any acknowledged North American 
Indian tribe. However, under certain conditions a 
petitioning group may be acknowledged even if its 
membership is composed principally of persons 
whose names have appeared on rolls of, or who 
have been otherwise associated with, an 
acknowledged Indian tribe. The conditions are 
that the group must establish that it has functioned 
throughout history until the present as a separate 
and autonomous Indian tribal entity, that its 
members do not maintain a bilateral political 
relationship with the acknowledged tribe, and that 
its members have provided written confirmation of 
their membership in the petitioning group. 

The proposed finding concluded that the petitioner met criterion 83.7(t) (PEP PF 2000, 138). 

No comments were received or new evidence was submitted pertaining to criterion 83.7(f). 

Therefore, the conclusion of the proposed finding that the petitioner meets 83.7(f) is affirmed. 

See also the conclusory section of this document. 

83.7(g) Neither the petitioner nor its members are the 
subject of congressional legislation that has 
expressly terminated or forbidden the Federal 
relationship. 

Under criterion 83 7(g), the proposed Finding concluded that neither the petitioner nor its 
members were the subject of congressional legislation that had expressly terminated or forbidden 
the Federal relatiollship (PEP PF 2000, 138). 

No comments wert received or new evidence submitted in connection with criterion 83.7(g). 

Therefore, the conclusion of the proposed finding that the petitioner meets criterion 83.7(g) is 
affirmed. 

See also the concJusorj section of this document. 
Jt 
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